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#onthemove
Key Figures grAMMer group  
according to iFrS

CoMMerCiAl VehiCles DiVision

in eur M

2019 2018

Revenue 607.4 599.8

EBIT 44.1 55.5

EBIT margin (%) 7.3 9.3

Operating EBIT 42.7 53.5

Operating EBIT margin (%) 7.0 8.9

Capital expenditure  
(without M&A and financial assets) 20.6 16.6

Employees (number, average) 3,786 3,775

 

AutoMotiVe DiVision

in eur M

2019 2018

Revenue 1,479.8 1,312.6

EBIT 51.0 37.7

EBIT margin (%) 3.4 2.9

Operating EBIT 48.9 36.8

Operating EBIT margin (%) 3.3 2.8

Capital expenditure  
(without M&A and financial assets) 70.2 39.8

Employees (number, average) 10,910 9,381

 

in eur M

Q4 2019 Q4 2018 2019 2018

Group revenue 488.9 502.1 2,038.5 1,861.3

Automotive Division revenue 367.5 369.9 1,479.8 1,312.6

Commercial Vehicles Division revenue 132.8 143.8 607.4 599.8

Income statement

EBITDA 35.2 37.4 159.8 101.0

EBITDA margin (%) 7.2 7.4 7.8 5.4

EBIT 12.6 20.8 74.5 48.7

EBIT margin (%) 2.6 4.1 3.7 2.6

Operating EBIT 17.8 19.2 77.0 75.8

Operating EBIT margin (%) 3.6 3.8 3.8 4.1

Earnings before taxes 22.8 13.1 63.6 34.5

Net profit 15.1 8.3 43.5 23.2

Consolidated statement of financial position

Total assets 1,474.4 1,441.4 1,474.4 1,441.4

Equity 342.2 314.8 342.2 314.8

Equity ratio (%) 23 22 23 22

Net financial liabilities 285.0 253.3 285.0 253.3

Gearing (%) 83 80 83 80

Capital expenditure (without M&A and financial assets) 43.5 24.5 132.8 73.9

Depreciation and amortization 22.6 16.6 85.3 52.3

Employees (number, average) 14,910 13,439

Share data Dec. 31, 2019 Dec. 31, 2018

Prices (Xetra closing price in EUR) 31.95 37.70

Market capitalization (EUR m) 402.8 475.3

Dividend per share (EUR) 0.111 0.75

Earnings per share (EUR) 3.56 1.90

1 Proposed.



gRouP PRoFile

grammer ag is a globally active stock-listed manufacturer of seating systems and 

automotive interiors. The Commercial Vehicles Division develops and manufactures 

technologically sophisticated seating systems for commercial and offroad vehicles as 

well as for trains and buses. grammer’s Automotive Division engineers and produces 

high-quality headrests, center consoles, armrests and interior components as well as 

innovative thermoplastic solutions for passenger vehicle oems. grammer has 

operations in 20 countries worldwide with a workforce of over 15,000 employees 

across its 42 subsidiaries.
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QuaRteRlY oveRview  
oF the gRouP aNd diviSioNS

gRouP

Q1
2018   2019

Q2
2018   2019

Q3
2018   2019

Q4
2018   2019

group revenue development by quarter

in eur m

454.4

534.1
473.2

517.4

431.6
498.1 502.1 488.9

+ 17.5% + 9.3% + 15.4% –2.6%

Q1
2018   2019

Q2
2018   2019

Q3
2018   2019

Q4
2018   2019

group ebit development by quarter 

in eur m

20.4
24.0 21.5

26.2

11.7

20.8

12.6

+ 17.6% + 21.9% + 183.6% –39.4%

–14.0

autoMotive

CoMMeRCial vehiCleS

Q1
2018   2019

Q2
2018   2019

Q3
2018   2019

Q4
2018   2019

automotive revenue development by quarter

in eur m

313.9
378.3

332.8
366.7

296.0

367.3 369.9 367.5

+ 20.5% + 10.2% + 24.1% – 0.6%

Q1
2018   2019

Q2
2018   2019

Q3
2018   2019

Q4
2018   2019

commercial vehicles revenue development by quarter

in eur m

153.8
168.5

154.5 163.7
147.7 142.4 143.8

132.8

+ 9.6% + 6.0% – 3.6% –7.6%

Q1
2018   2019

Q2
2018   2019

Q3
2018   2019

Q4
2018   2019

automotive ebit development by quarter

in eur m

9.7
12.3 12.7

16.1

3.6
5.9

11.7

16.7

+ 26.8% + 26.8% + 63.9% + 42.7%

Q1
2018   2019

Q2
2018   2019

Q3
2018   2019

Q4
2018   2019

commercial vehicles ebit development by quarter

in eur m

15.3
17.2

15.9 15.3
13.0

7.8

11.3

3.8

+ 12.4% – 3.8% – 40.0% – 66.4%



oFFRoad
 Driver seats for commercial 
 vehicles (agricultural and 
 construction machinery, forklifts)

tRuCK
Driver seats for trucks 

Rail & BuS
Driver and passenger seats 
for trains and buses

CoMMeRCial vehiCleS diviSioN

In the Commercial Vehicles Division GRAMMER develops and produces driver and passenger seats for agricultural and construction 
machinery, forklifts, trucks, buses and trains worldwide. With “Design for use”, GRAMMER Commercial Vehicles creates products that 
are ergonomic, user-friendly, comfortable and safe. Thanks to its innovative seating systems, GRAMMER is the global number 1 in 
offroad vehicles and one of the leading producers of seats for trucks, buses and rail.

autoMotive diviSioN

In the Automotive Division, we supply headrests, armrests, center consoles, high-quality interior components and control systems 
as well as innovative thermoplastic solutions to premium automakers and automotive Tier-1 suppliers. Our interior components 
feature top comfort, design and safety. Leading automotive OEMs and Tier-1 suppliers appreciate GRAMMER as a source of inspiration 
and ideas in interior design due to its competitive and high-quality products.

headReStS

aRMReStSCeNteR CoNSoleS

iNteRioR CoMPoNeNtSFuNCtioNal PlaStiCS
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1  Addendum from March 22, 2020: 

At the beginning of March, we had announced that consolidated earnings for the first three 

months of the new year would likely be well below the previous year, and that we expect less 

revenue and earnings for 2020 as a whole. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has 

continued to spread throughout Europe and the United States, all major car  manufacturers 

announced in mid-March that they would temporarily halt their production. Due to this 

development, we – the Executive Board – decided on March 19, 2020, to also either limit or halt 

production at our European locations. At locations that supply customers outside of Europe or 

commercial vehicle manufacturers, production will be continued accordingly. In light of these 

exceptional circumstances, the economic impact on GRAMMER for the current fiscal year can 

neither be sufficiently determined nor reliably calculated.

It is my pleasure to present the Annual Report 2019 as new CEO of 
GRAMMER AG to you. The report contains not only a look back at 
the past year, but also a look forward at current developments in 
our industry and how we, as a company, are preparing ourselves 
for it.

The automotive industry is currently being confronted with 
significant challenges, both in terms of technology as well as from 
the  market. This was the case even before the outbreak of the 
COVID-19  virus, whose increasing spread around the world is 
 continuing to weaken the market demands for passenger cars and 
commercial  vehicles.1 

Although our company – with its products for vehicle interiors 
and seating solutions for commercial vehicles – is only 
indirectly  affected by changes in the powertrain technology, 
the developments on the path toward autonomous driving and 
the increasing level of digitization will impact the future of our 
business. As a globally active system manufacturer for seats in  
on- and off-road  vehicles, we will however benefit from the 
growing demand from the bus and rail sector and the high level 
of interest in professional solutions for use in agricultural, 
construction, and logistics vehicles.  Accordingly, we have placed 
our focus on the two segments of Automotive and Commercial 
Vehicles clearly: the concentration on business operations and the 
strategic realignment of the company for the upcoming challenges 
are the top priority for myself and my fellow board members. 

But please allow me to first look back at the last year. After 
stabilizing our shareholder and management structure in 2019, 
the GRAMMER Group began laying the foundation for its future 
direction. In the past fiscal year, our group revenue totaled 
2,039 million euros and was thus significantly higher than in the 
year prior. The Automotive segment with its interior components 
for passenger cars contributed particularly to the revenue growth, 
mainly driven by the first-time full consolidation of the American 
supplier Toledo Molding & Die, Inc. (TMD), which we had acquired 
in October 2018. 

Foreword by the  
Executive Board

thoRSteN SeehaRS 
ChieF exeCutive oFFiCeR (Ceo) 

2 FoReWoRd by THe execuTIve boaRd
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The operating EbIT, which is more informative regarding the real performance of GRAMMER, 
met our expectations and totaled 77.0 million euros; return on operating EbIT was 3.8 percent. 
Overall, we achieved the our forecasted figures that had been adjusted during the reporting period. 
Earnings before interest and taxes (EbIT) in accordance with IFRS totaled 74.5 million  euros and 
were impacted by special expenses, for example for relocations and production launches in Europe 
and China. Considering of the challenging market conditions, this result is satisfying for a start.

You can see that 2019 helped stabilize the GRAMMER Group; however, we must continue to 
systematically ensure the sustainability of the company and orient ourselves more on our 
customers, new products, and on strengthening our operations. What does that mean specifically? 
Let’s start with ourselves: we will scrutinize our internal processes and workflows. We should be 
able to make and execute decisions faster. We have to think on a larger scale and as one corporation 
by sharing improvements and innovations with one another around the world, for example, as well 
as between our two segments and among the global functions. Externally, we must come closer to 
our customers: each customer has specific requirements and needs in their region that, in turn, 
can be understood and thus acted upon better by employees working in that same region. With 
regards to our products, we need to get ready for the future of mobile society. GRAMMER has plenty 
of great people and potential, which we are going to leverage through more clarity and focus. 

We have also determined that GRAMMER should make some changes to its structure and set-
up. We are an international company that works around the world with leading manufacturers 
of passenger cars as well as on- and off-road commercial vehicles. However, our thinking and 
management approach is still coming too much from Germany. This is going to change through the 
transfer of more responsibility to the  regions, where our employees are in direct contact with the 
customers and the local operations. We plan – and need – to make better use of this proximity: the 
regions need to have more independent decision-making processes and full responsibility for the 
management of day-to-day operations in the future.

We also have to establish a more stable financial structure. We refinanced the acquisition of TMD 
in October 2018 – which was the largest in the company’s history to date – within the framework 
of a new consortium loan in February of this year. To increase our flexibility to act considering 
the current challenges, we have decided to recommend a significantly lower dividend of € 0.11 per 
dividend- entitled share to the Annual General Meeting in July. 

We will also have to make further improvements regarding our new products and the research 
and development activities. Regarding the seats for professional users, we want to solidify our 
strong market position and expand to new markets with new groups of customers. With the 
necessary focus on greater sustainability in all segments, our products can help us make a positive 
contribution in a myriad of ways, for example by using alternative materials. The  topics of weight 
optimization and the longevity of our products even under heavy use are factors to ensure the 
GRAMMER's success over the long term. We also take environmentally friendly processes into 
 account for our manufacturing processes and use recyclable materials whenever and wherever this 
is possible.

3
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This year, we are going to make an innovative leap specifically in the automotive sector: as part 
of special TechDays events at our most important customers’ facilities, we will present our 
concept for the vehicle interior of the future. As a partner for mobility solutions, with our study 
under the title of “PURE,” we are taking the next step towards a development partnership with the 
car manufacturers. PURE puts our vision of the world of autonomous driving on display, when 
passengers can use driving time in a number of different ways.

This new strategic direction of the GRAMMER Group is accompanied by the completion of our 
campus site, with a large technology center and the company headquarters, in Ursensollen. 
The geographical merge of our employees from different functions also intends to improve the 
collaboration between the various divisions of the company.

All our plans are, of course, dependent upon a positive development of the global economy. The 
COVID-19 virus is causing significant distortions right now and, as of the beginning of March, it is 
still not possible to predict how long these effects will last and how deep their impact will be in 
2020 and beyond.

Ladies and Gentlemen, the abovementioned measures are aimed at an ambitious goal: for 
GRAMMER to become the preferred provider of seating and interior solutions for the mobile world. 
For us, that specifically means offering innovative concepts for the interior of the future – while 
maintaining convenience and functionality as well as ergonomics and design. Those are our 
strengths and we will continue to use them in the future! I look forward to continuing this journey 
with you.

Finally, together with my two fellow board members, I would like to express my heartfelt thanks 
to all GRAMMER employees worldwide – thank you for your strong commitment and your excellent 
support in the global re-alignment of the GRAMMER Group. We would also like to thank our 
customers and suppliers for the reliable partnerships upon which we can always rely. 

Yours sincerely,

Thorsten Seehars
Chief Executive Officer of GRAMMER AG

4 FoReWoRd by THe execuTIve boaRd
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jeNS öhleNSChlägeR
ChieF oPeRatiNg oFFiCeR (Coo)

thoRSteN SeehaRS
ChieF exeCutive oFFiCeR (Ceo)

juRate KeBlYte
ChieF FiNaNCial oFFiCeR (CFo)
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the iNteRioR oF 
the FutuRe
 
Autonomous driving, connectivity and 
digitalization – these are the major mega-
trends in the automotive industry. We 
have launched the “PURE” project to lever-
age these trends. The study on the auto-
motive interior of the future focuses on 
the core issues of functionality, comfort 
and safety.

ReSeaRCh PRojeCtS
GRAMMER is a member of “ISV Intelligent Safety View” research project 
consortium. The consortium has launched a research project whose re-
sults were presented to the public for the first time in November 2019 at 
Agritechnica the leading trade fair for agricultural machinery technology. 
The ISV project aims to enhance safety in the operation of agricultural 
machinery through the use of augmented reality. With the help of data 
goggles, information is superimposed over the user’s field of vision, 
 enabling the driver to look “through” visual obstructions and blind spots 
and to detect real dangers or obstacles. 

exPaNSioN oF the PRoduCt PoRtFolio
We returned to city and intercity bus business with a comprehensive 
range of passenger seats. In developing our sophisticated solutions, we 
were able to harness diverse synergistic effects with the Commercial 
Vehicles Division. The strategic goal is to evolve into a full-line supplier 
in the bus sector as well and to offer integrated solutions enhancing 
comfortable and safe travel by bus. 

New MaNageMeNt teaM
Since the summer of 2019, the GRAMMER Group Execu-
tive Board has been complete again following the ap-
pointment of Thorsten Seehars as the new CEO. At the 
same time, Jurate Keblyte also commenced her duties 
as Chief Financial Officer (CFO). Chief Operating Officer 
(COO) Jens Öhlenschläger took up his position at the be-
ginning of 2019.

SuCCeSSFul YeaR FoR tRade FaiRS
Once again, we participated in key trade fairs this year, 
presenting new products:

• Detroit Auto Show in January: GRAMMER show-
cased product innovations for the US market at the 
Detroit Auto Show

• Bauma in April: GRAMMER with new products and 
innovative ideas at the world’s largest construction 
machinery fair

• Auto Shanghai in April: GRAMMER exhibited 
 product innovations for the Chinese market

• Agritechnica in November: GRAMMER presented 
seating innovations for the agricultural sector

HighlightS

Review of 2019

6 HIgHlIgHTS
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iNteRNatioNal CoMFoRt CoNgReSS
GRAMMER organized the Internation-
al Comfort Congress in August 2019 in 
 cooperation with three universities from 
Italy, Great Britain and the Netherlands 
for the second time. The participants dis-
cussed methods for assessing and quanti-
fying comfort. In addition, systematic ap-
proaches and application examples were 
explored and developed in greater detail. 

New joiNt veNtuRe iN ChiNa
In November 2019, we signed an agree-
ment to establish a joint venture with 
Changchun FAWSN GROUP CO., LTD. The 
two parties each hold 50 percent of the 
joint venture GRAMMER FAWSN Vehicle 
Parts Co., Ltd., which will be developing 
and assembling a wide range of interior 
components for passenger vehicles. The 
establishment of this joint venture marks 
an important milestone in our growth 
strategy in China.

euleR heRMeS iSSueS iNveStMeNt 
gRade BBB- RatiNg 
In its latest report, Euler Hermes con-
firmed GRAMMER’s investment grade rat-
ing but downgraded it to bbb-. The main 
rationale for this was the higher debt 
levels following the acquisition of Tole-
do Molding & Die Inc. and the mounting 
market challenges facing the Automotive 
Division. 

awaRd-wiNNiNg 
PRoduCt deSigN
 
GRAMMER was awarded the renowned 
Red Dot Award for good product design in 
recognition of the Roadtiger truck driver’s 
seat. The jury attaches particular impor-
tance to criteria such as innovativeness, 
functionality, formal quality,  durability 
and ergonomics. Only products that 
 additionally exhibit outstanding design 
 quality are eligible for the award.

SuCCeSSFul  
ReloCatioN
 
In December 2019, the first employees 
moved to their workplaces on the new 
campus in Ursensollen. The new tech-
nology center, where both Divisions’ re-
search and development activities will 
be pooled at a single location for the first 
time, will be opened in mid-2020. More 
than 700 employees will then be work-
ing at the new site for GRAMMER Group, 
which has been developed and built with 
sustainability in terms of materials, ener-
gy consumption and emissions in mind.

7
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#onthemove

Recognizing challenges –  
providing answers  

and solutions

a CoNveRSatioN with the  exeCutive 
BoaRd
gRaMMeR’s Executive Board has been complete again since summer 2019. 
The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief 
Operating Officer offer an outlook of the future strategy. 

page 10
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MaRKetS aNd  
RegioNS
gRaMMeR has been steadily 
widening its global presence. The 
task is now to focus more clearly 
on the specific characteristics of 
the various markets and regions 
and to reinforce the Group’s local 
presence.

page 14

ReSeaRCh aNd 
develoPMeNt 
New products ensure our future 
viability. A number of awards 
testify to gRaMMeR’s high 
innovative strength. 

page 20
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10 InTeRvIeW WITH THe execuTIve boaRd

MR. SeehaRS aNd MS. KeBlYte, You’ve BeeN oN the 
gRaMMeR exeCutive BoaRd SiNCe auguSt, aNd 
MR. öhleNSChlägeR, You’ve BeeN a MeMBeR SiNCe 
jaNuaRY 2019. what aRe YouR FiRSt iMPReSSioNS?
Thorsten Seehars: GRAMMER is an innovative com-
pany with employees who are motivated and loyal. We 
have products that clearly benefit from the changes 
in our industry, because vehicle interiors and innova-
tions in seating are becoming increasingly important. 
At the same time, however, we are seeing and hearing 
that, at GRAMMER, topics were always in the spot-
light in recent years that aren’t really a part of busi-
ness operations. So we’re now going to put the focus 
back on the actual core of our business as well as our 
customers.

Jurate Keblyte: I’ve gotten to know the company and 
in particular the different teams through a number of 
conversations and joint projects, and I am very pleased 
by what I’ve learned. But it would still seem that we 
think and manage from a primarily German perspective, 
 although GRAMMER is a global company that is growing 
in particular through its local activities in other regions. 
We have to enable and promote this global thinking and 
local action across all levels.

grammer’s Executive Board has 

been complete again since last 

summer. In December 2019, the 

new executive team made up  

of CEO Thorsten Seehars, CFO 

Jurate Keblyte, and COO Jens 

 Öhlenschläger answered questions 

about the challenges faced by the 

industry, on the future strategy 

and reorganization of the group, 

and how the focus once again is to 

be placed more squarely on the 

customer and business operations.

iNteRview with the exeCutive BoaRd

“Getting gRaMMeR  
on track for the future”

Thorsten Seehars (Ceo) 
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InTeRvIeW WITH THe execuTIve boaRd

Jens Öhlenschläger: I’ve been with the company for a 
while, and I’ve been on the Executive Board since Janu-
ary 2019. It seems to me that the new management team 
brings a lot of momentum and new initiatives to the com-
pany, and they have also introduced a new, modern way 
of working together.

the autoMotive iNduStRY iS FaCed with SigNiFiCaNt 
ChalleNgeS: New dRive teChNologieS, SelF-dRiviNg 
CaRS, aNd the iNCReaSiNg Need FoR loCal tRaNSPoR-
tatioN. what do You See aS the ChalleNgeS FoR the 
gRaMMeR gRouP?
TS: GRAMMER has to reposition itself as part of this 
transformation. We not only have to be present in the 
different regions, but we also have to allow them greater 
responsibility and independence. Additionally, there is a 
need to grow closer to the local customers and to better 
understand their needs, which will enable us to increase 
the added value for our customers, all while improving 
GRAMMER’s competitiveness.

JÖ: An increased ability to react quickly and greater flexi-
bility in the group will come with giving the regions more 
local responsibility. We have to respond more quickly to 
our customers as well as to changes in the market. This 
also includes better communication throughout the 
entire company and among the divisions, regions, and 
departments. We sometimes get in our own way in this 
regard. We also have to push the local customer-oriented 
development in the regions. Our ultimate goal has to be 
that we are so flexible that we can even produce small 
orders – lot sizes as low as single orders – at attractive 
prices, which is why we are reviewing all development 
and production steps to determine what steps need to be 
taken. And it is extremely important to us that we don’t 
make these changes to the detriment of our employees – 
we want to make the changes with them. That is the only 
way that we can continue be successful in the future.

Jurate Keblyte (CFo)
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aNd how do You PlaN to aChieve that?
TS: We rely on the empowerment of our employees, i. e. 
strengthening our employees’ ability to make decisions 
on all levels. We can no longer afford to make all of the 
regional decisions centrally from Amberg. Our  employees 
on-site are closer to the action – they are familiar with 
the local situations and talk to our customers, suppliers, 
and colleagues every day. We want to put more deci-
sion-making power in their hands, but this also requires a 
rethinking across all levels and a change in the processes 
involved. This local empowerment will significantly 
strengthen our company in the long run. The foundation 
has to be a clear strategy for the group as a whole that 
also allows the regions to decide how to implement this 
strategy in detail. Clear, coordinated, and above all com-
prehensible goals are a key requirement for this.

JK: These changes ultimately mean a fundamental shift 
of our corporate culture and the way we work. We started 
a program in the fall of 2019 to address employees across 
all levels by the name WoW: “Way of Working”. Imple-
menting this across the entire company promotes our 
shared values and improves collaboration. Our commu-
nication will excel through transparency, active dialogue, 
and regular exchange across countries and departments, 
which also includes sharing information and knowledge. 
And all of this has to take place in an environment of 
 mutual respect and appreciation – Using our “Way of 
Working” program, we will transform the expertise and 
experience of all of our 15,000 employees into a com-
petitive advantage, thereby making GRAMMER fit for the 
future.

aNd what doeS that MeaN FoR You aS the exeCutive 
BoaRd?
TS: As the Executive Board, we have to set a good  example: 
our communication is transparent, and we actively seek 
out dialogue and conversations with employees and all 
other stakeholders. As the new Executive Board, last year 
we sought to talk with the employees and managers in 
all of our regions and at many locations. Together with 
the global management team, we are taking these  values 
to the regions, to each division, and to the individual 
 departments. We see ourselves as role models for the 
whole company in this regard.

BeiNg FaSteR iN ReSeaRCh aNd develoPMeNt – what 
doeS that MeaN?
JÖ: We currently have two divisions, Automotive and 
Commercial  Vehicles, which operate largely inde-
pendently. We want to integrate and optimize this 
structure. Expertise needs to be shared better between 
the departments, because we can benefit greatly from the 

Jens Öhlenschläger (Coo)
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InTeRvIeW WITH THe execuTIve boaRd

So MoRe thaN juSt develoPiNg aNd 
MaNuFaCtuRiNg PRoduCtS?
TS: GRAMMER will continue to evolve. Strategically 
speaking, we want to not only remain a component 
manufacturer, but also offer concrete solutions in both 
divisions. The GRAMMER Group of the future is a mo-
bility supplier: we offer solutions for both individual 
as well as so-called mass transportation. GRAMMER 
has the capability to transform itself from product 
supplier to provider of solutions, and both the Auto-
motive and Commercial Vehicles divisions can benefit 
from this.

how do You PlaN to haNdle the tRaNSitioN?
JK: It’s a classic question of the right allocation: we 
have to use the available capacities and resources in 
a more target-oriented way. In doing so, we benefit 
naturally from our already-excellent positioning on an 
international level and from the fact that our products 
are hardly be affected by the transition in terms of 
drive technologies. But the entire industry is currently 
in transition and is, to a certain extent, being viewed 
with skepticism. Access to resources is corresponding-
ly challenging. In this regard, we already benefit from 
our position as a renowned provider in the commer-
cial vehicles industry and our intended orientation 
as a provider of solutions for the mobility sector, 
as well as the synergy effects already mentioned 
between the two divisions. Within the GRAMMER 
Group, we have dubbed it “solutions for  people on the 
move” – regardless of whether they’re moving from 
A to B (individual or public transportation), or whether 
they’re on a mission in an agricultural or construction 
vehicle or truck.

NiNgBo jiFeNg haS BeeN a PoweRFul MajoR 
ShaReholdeR SiNCe 2018. how iS that goiNg? 
TS: The collaboration is very positive. Ningbo Jifeng 
has provided us with additional opportunities to gen-
erate revenue on the important Chinese market. We 
are also able to benefit from the company’s many years 
of experience in the development and production of 
certain products. For 2020, we are planning to expand 
our joint activities significantly on the basis of the ex-
isting business combination agreement (bCA).

thaNK You veRY MuCh FoR YouR tiMe!

knowledge of other divisions. The first big step in this direction is the 
joint technology center on the new campus in Ursensollen, where the 
two divisions will work together in the future to provide the organiza-
tion with significant development impetus.

aNd theN develoP Both SegMeNtS at the SaMe tiMe?
TS: That’s a good question. To date, we haven’t realized enough oppor-
tunities for synergy between the two divisions. We are often seen as 
an automotive supplier, although our market position and innovative 
strength in the commercial vehicles sector is surely perceived more 
strongly by those who know the industry. And even in the commercial 
vehicles sector itself we are sometimes seen primarily as a manufacturer 
of seats for trucks and tractor trailers. The market for off-road commer-
cial vehicles and, in particular, our significant expertise in regional and 
long-distance rail and bus transportation are too often overlooked. But 
those are important global growth markets – so we will emphasize that 
more clearly in the future.

what Should the iNduStRY exPeCt wheN it CoMeS to iNNovatioNS?
JÖ: Over the next year, in the Commercial Vehicles division, we’ll be pre-
senting new offers for public regional and long-distance transportation. 
The current debate surrounding mobility demonstrates the growing 
need for innovative solutions. Ergonomics in particular will take center 
stage when it comes to off-road vehicles.

JK: In the Automotive division, we generally work on orders from our 
customers. However, in 2020, we are going to present our own concept 
for passenger cars. This pioneering concept specifically addresses the 
future challenges associated with autonomous driving and the resulting 
problem areas – for example is motion sickness, which afflicts more than 
half of all vehicle passengers.
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aMeRiCaS

~ 4,600
eMPloYeeS oN aveRage

> € 600 MillioN 
ReveNue

14 MaRkeTS and RegIonS

MaRKetS aNd RegioNS

Global network
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aPaC

~ 1,300
eMPloYeeS oN aveRage 

> € 300 MillioN
ReveNue

eMea

~ 9,000
eMPloYeeS oN aveRage 

> € 1,100 MillioN
ReveNue
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No RegioN iS liKe 
aNotheR

leveRagiNg the advaNtageS oF a gloBal FootPRiNt
GRAMMER has adopted a course of internationalization in recent years 
and now has operations in the key regions of the Americas (North, Cen-
tral and South America), EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa) and 
APAC (Asia-Pacific). This includes not only production facilities but also 
all essential functions along the value chain such as purchasing, sales, 
project management and, above all, development capacities as it has 
become clear that a broad-based presence in worldwide growth hubs 
offers clear advantages. Components such as center consoles, headrests 
or seats for commercial vehicles can be adapted more easily to regional 
requirements, while lower labor costs yield competitive advantages. Our 
aim is to provide the local units with the competence and capacities that 
they require to implement the Group’s strategic objectives independently 
and autonomously.  

FlexiBle aNd CReative 
ReSPoNSe to CuStoMeR ReQuiReMeNtS
After all, no one knows the local customer requirements 
better than the local GRAMMER employees. Their flexibil-
ity and creativity are essential prerequisites for providing 
our customers in the automotive and commercial vehicle 
industries with the best possible support during develop-
ment, production start-ups and volume production. They 
are seeking partners such as GRAMMER that can supply 
parts not only worldwide but also for specific regional 
models. They must also be able to manage parallel de-
velopments on global platforms and the series start-ups 
in the various regions. GRAMMER has demonstrated that 
this complex task can be mastered reliably. 

grammer  employees around 
the world  implement the 
Group’s guidelines inde-

pendently and autonomously. 
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a SougHT-aFTeR paRTneR To THe 
auToMoTIve InduSTRy 

The Americas comprise all GRAMMER companies in 
North, Central and South America, although our activi-
ties are clearly focused on the United States. In 2018, we 
completed an important step in our worldwide growth 
strategy with the acquisition of the automotive supplier 
TMD Toledo Molding & Die Inc. This acquisition now gives 
us additional production capacity in the northern United 
States, where the major US OEMs operate their production 
facilities. 

The TMD Group also includes Toledo Molding de  Mexico, 
which is located in Queretaro in the state of Central 
 Mexico. This means that in addition to GRAMMER 
 Automotive Puebla S.A., we now also have a further com-
pany in Mexico operating in the Automotive Division. By 
contrast, the GRAMMER subsidiary in Brazil is  primarily 
active in seat production for commercial vehicles. 

PlaStiCS oN the advaNCe
The TMD Group has made a name for itself as a leading 
specialist in the development and production of thermo-
plastic components. Automotive OEMs are increasing-
ly using these innovative and weight-saving materials, 
since more than 15 percent of a passenger vehicle is now 
made of plastic. 

Including TMD, GRAMMER generates about 30 percent of its revenues in 
the Americas, primarily as a supplier to the automotive industry. As in 
many other developed countries, automotive OEMs are under constant 
pressure from stricter environmental and safety standards. Never-
theless, with annual sales of around 16 million light vehicles per year, 
the market is likely to remain in second place behind China in global 
terms. 

FoCuS oN PRoCeSS oPtiMizatioN
GRAMMER is addressing these challenges by optimizing its operating 
processes and cost structures. With their greater autonomy, the local 
subsidiaries will also be able to operate successfully even in a more 
difficult market environment. New, up-and-coming producers of electric 
vehicles will offer additional business potential provided that we can 
leverage the high growth rates of these manufacturers by  providing them 
with our innovative products. GRAMMER sees itself as being ideally posi-
tioned to meet the associated requirements with respect to innovation, 
flexibility and learning ability.

aMeRiCaS
Via its subsidiary tmd, grammer has a solid mainstay 

in the world’s second largest automotive market. 

Plastics and plastic composites, for which tmd is 

known, are increasingly being used.

The expertise of tmd Group employees in the area of thermoplastic components 
is strengthening grammer’s position in North America.
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eMea
Europe is and remains at the core of grammer’s 

activities. We are increasingly relying on interdisci-

plinary teams to better coordinate processes and 

procedures and to enhance the product range.

a STRong pRoducTIon neTWoRk 

While the importance of the Americas and Asia is con-
tinuing to grow, the GRAMMER companies generating the 
greatest volume of revenue are still located in Western 
and Eastern Europe. In total, the EMEA region accounts 
for around 55 percent of Group revenue. Europe remains 
an important market for the German premium OEMs, who 
are among our main customers. Many manufacturers of 
trucks and off-road vehicles are also based here. Overall, 
one third of the revenue arising in the EMEA region is 
generated by the Commercial Vehicles Division and two 
thirds by the Automotive Division.

CRoSS-SegMeNt CooPeRatioN 
Over the years, GRAMMER has made great efforts to op-
timize its presence in Europe in order to improve its 
production network and lower product costs. The most 
recently reached milestone is the construction of our 
new campus and technology center in Ursensollen. For 
the first time, the development activities of the Automo-
tive and Commercial Vehicles Divisions and the Group 
headquarters will now all be under a single roof, creating 
optimum conditions for cooperation between the various 
departments. 

The new technology center will play an important role 
in securing and expanding our technology and inno-
vation leadership. Our engineers will be conducting 
research into new materials as well as innovative new 
manufacturing processes. The interdisciplinary teams 
can play out their advantages when it comes to designing 

products, processes, procedures and the use of materials even more 
effectively. In addition, there will be a more intensive exchange 
 between our two Divisions. Depending on requirements, the spec-
ifications defined by the teams will then be adapted in the light of 
the country-specific and customer-specific requirements at the local 
R&D centers based in China, the United States, Turkey and Brazil. 
This will makes it easier for us to prepare competitive offers in com-
petition with local suppliers and also to work with our customers as 
a creative development partner and source of impetus. 

grammer’s main headrest production plant for Europe is 
located in Česká Lípa in the Czech Republic.
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Shaking hands to mark the commencement of a worthwhile 
 partnership: The joint venture with the FaWSn Group will be 
building components for car interiors in the future. 

aPaC
China plays a special role in grammer’s strategic 

planning. Thanks to the close ties with our customers 

and joint ventures with local partners, we are able to 

drive market-specific developments and seize growth 

opportunities more swiftly.

gRoWTH THRougH paRTneRSHIpS 

The APAC region with China, Japan and India has long 
played a special role in GRAMMER’s growth ambitions. 
APAC is an important market, accounting for around 
15 percent of revenue, partly because we have reposi-
tioned and expanded our plant network there in recent 
years. As a genuine local supplier, we can now respond 
to regional requirements to optimum effect. This applies 
both to the production of truck seats in the joint ven-
ture with Shaanxi Automobile Group, the fourth-largest 
manufacturer of heavy-duty trucks in China and to the 
Automotive Division. In 2017, we found a strategic partner 
in the Chinese automotive supplier Ningbo Jifeng which 
went on to become the majority shareholder of GRAMMER 
in 2018. Ningbo Jifeng specializes in the production and 
assembly of headrests as well as seat and door armrests 
predominantly for passenger vehicles. This partnership 
has given us better access to the Chinese market and 
opened up additional local potential. 

New joiNt veNtuRe exPaNdiNg CuStoMeR BaSe
In 2019, we reached another milestone in our expansion 
in China with the establishment of a joint venture for au-
tomotive interior components. Our partner is  Changchun 
FAWSN GROUP, a member of the FAW Group. As one of 
China’s largest automotive OEMs, FAW produced more 
than 3.2 million passenger cars in 2018 for the domestic 
market and for export markets in Asia, Africa and Latin 
America. With FAWSN as its new partner, GRAMMER has 
gained an excellent platform for expanding its customer 
base in China while at the same time achieving greater 
penetration of other Asian markets.

New teChNologY CeNteR iN iNdia
At the end of 2018, a new site was added in Pune, India, 
located some 150 kilometers from Mumbai. The AllyGram 
Systems and Technologies joint venture was opened as 
a tech center with our business partner AllyGrow, an 
engineering service provider for the automotive and 
aerospace industries. The joint venture is to engineer 
 products and solutions for the automotive and commer-
cial vehicle industry and thus make a significant contri-
bution to boosting GRAMMER’s global R&D performance. 
The team in Pune provide support for global GRAMMER 
product development in line with requirements and have 
so far been actively supporting projects in Germany, 
 China, the United States and Brazil. 
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Movable center console design 
for the future.

iNNovatioNS aNd MoRe
What makes GRAMMER so appealing to automotive OEMs 
is the combination of a forward-looking source of ideas 
with broad-based expertise in implementing these ideas. 
We are working on numerous development projects in 
order to continue offering automotive OEMs innovative 
and high-quality solutions in the future. We focus on 
such aspects as the integration of electronic components, 
lightweight construction and surface finishing. 

The fact that GRAMMER receives invitations to workshops 
and technology days is proof that the automotive OEMs 
see GRAMMER as a valued partner in the development of 
new ideas. The focus is not only on series development 
of a product but also on the necessary production pro-
cesses. In this respect, the ability to bring together core 
competencies from different areas, as we will be doing 
at the new technology center in Ursensollen, offers a de-
cisive advantage.

we aRe deSigNiNg the “MoBile liviNg RooM”
In times of increasing digitalization, the customer experience beyond 
driving pleasure and body design is gaining importance in automotive 
engineering. The focus is on infotainment and communication systems 
as well as the comfort and look & feel of the vehicle interior. There is 
a growing trend towards autonomous vehicles. The more the driver is 
relieved of the need to actively drive the vehicle, the more he can devote 
himself to other tasks. Comfort and additional forms of use are turning 
the car into a “mobile living room”.

MultiFuNCtioNal CoMPoNeNtS iN deMaNd
These include surfaces with a pleasant look and feel as well as a cockpit 
in which decorative components are transformed into multifunctional 
components through the integration of sensors. GRAMMER is already 
installing more and more electronics in center consoles, replacing 
switches with touch-sensitive components. Electronics are also find-
ing their way into headrests. Automatic motorized adjustment and dis-
plays for rear-seat passengers are virtually standard in the luxury car 
class these days. The next trend is communications equipment such 
as loudspeakers and microphones, which allow each passenger to use 
media individually.

ReSeaRCh aNd develoPMeNt

Our strengths:  
Ideas and expertise
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dRiveR’S CaB oF the FutuRe
In the Commercial Vehicles Division, GRAMMER is the 
market leader in the premium segment for suspension 
seating systems thanks to its groundbreaking products. 
Our developers are working to isolate the seats from cabin 
vibration even more effectively. In the interests of maxi-
mum customer benefits, we are maintaining an ongoing 
dialog with commercial vehicle OEMs to understand their 
needs even more closely. Weight reduction also plays 
an important role in components in the  Commercial 
 Vehicles Division. We possess great expertise in the use 

of high-strength steels and modern joining techniques. In addition, we 
use simulation methodologies to achieve high structural strength in 
the components right from the development stage. Ergonomic seating 
systems in which multifunctional electronic armrests are integrated 
are increasingly in demand.

We are working closely with universities to design the driver’s cab of the 
future. The aim is to move into a completely new dimension in terms 
of the integration of vehicle and cab functions and in the ergonomic 
design of the driver’s workplace.

THe FolloWIng caSe STudIeS SHoW juST SoMe oF ouR MoST IMpoRTanT 
InITIaTIveS In THe FIeld oF ReSeaRcH and developMenT. 

grammer has launched the 
pure project in order to 

play a leading role in 
megatrends such as 
autonomous driving, 

connectivity and digitaliza-
tion. Working together with 
an internationally acclaimed 

automotive design studio, 
we are developing the 
interior of the future.

Page 22

grammer and the Indian 
tech service provider 

AllyGrow Technologies have 
joined forces to establish 

the joint tech center 
AllyGram in the city of Pune. 
Looking forward, it will be 

developing top-class 
products and solutions for 

the automotive and 
commercial vehicle industry.

Page 23

The new building in 
Ursensollen unites the 

development departments 
of the Automotive and 
Commercial Vehicles 

Divisions together with the 
Group headquarters under a 
single roof for the first time. 

With the new technology 
center, we are expanding 
our leading position as a 

provider of innovative 
solutions. 

Page 24

grammer was once again 
able to display many impres-
sive product innovations at 
numerous trade fairs and 

events last year. In the 
future, our expanded 

product portfolio will also 
include passenger seats for 

city and intercity buses. 

Page 25

CaSe 1 CaSe 2 CaSe 3 CaSe 4

New standard in seating  comfort: 
The pneumatic suspension fitted 

to the roadtIger driver seat 
for commercial vehicles leaves 

nothing to be desired.
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CaSe 1

ReSeaRcH and developMenT

autoNoMouS CaRS:  
the dRiveR BeCoMeS a PaSSeNgeR 
The major automotive incumbents as 
well as industry newcomers are working 
intensely on self-driving vehicles in which 
technical systems autonomously perform 
all driving-related tasks. This means that 
the driver can sit back and work, sleep or 
relax. 

What is clear is that the interior of the 
future will take on a completely different 
look as a result. OEMs and components 
suppliers must develop solutions that 
meet the changing demands of users. To-
day, comfort and functionality are becom-
ing more and more important as distin-
guishing features and competitive factors.

PURE – Rethinking 
mobility

deSigNiNg the iNteRioR oF the FutuRe todaY
For this reason, GRAMMER launched the PURE project to-
gether with an acclaimed automotive design studio. We 
are contributing our expertise in the core competencies 
of comfort, ergonomics and safety together with ideas for 
the integration of multifunctional systems. The aim is to 
conduct research into the requirements for the modular 
design of interior components or the mobile workplace 
and to find solutions. One challenge in the age of auto-
mated and, later, autonomous driving, for example, is the 
problem of motion sickness, which afflicts around two 
thirds of all “passive” passengers in cars. 

The knowledge gained from the project is not limited to 
the Automotive Division but will also flow into all busi-
ness areas across the GRAMMER Group. This is because 
developments in autonomous driving will not stop at the 
driver’s cabs fitted to commercial vehicles such as trucks 
or tractors. With PURE, GRAMMER is already preparing 
for the high demands that will be made of the interiors 
of autonomous vehicles. 

The automo-
tive interior 
of the future 
will have little 
in common 
with today’s 
interior. 
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MoRe thaN

90
eMPloYeeS

CaSe 2

SuCCeSSFul joiNt 
veNtuRe SiNCe

2018

exeCutiNg develoPMeNt PRojeCtS eveN MoRe 
SwiFtlY
Flexible and efficient global research and develop-
ment (R&D) structures are essential for GRAMMER 
to bring innovations to market as quickly as pos-
sible. Last year we took another important step in 
this direction with the establishment of the Ally-
Gram joint technology center in Pune, with which 
we are broadening our skills. Our partner is the 
Indian company AllyGrow Technologies, an en-
gineering service provider for the automotive and 
aviation industries, among others, with around 
300 engineers based at six locations worldwide. 
Pune offers several advantages: Not only are nu-
merous GRAMMER customers based there, but this 
large Indian metropolis also has many excellently 
trained engineers. 

develoPiNg exPeRtiSe iNteRNallY iNStead oF 
SouRCiNg it exteRNallY  
The idea behind the joint venture is to consolidate 
and optimize our worldwide development projects. 
Pune is the center for external support. The team 
based there has a wide range of skills and will be 
handling design activities that until recently were 
sourced externally. The advantages are obvious: 
We are harnessing potential for lowering our costs, 
 reducing our dependence on external service pro-
viders and amassing our own expertise, while at 
the same time becoming faster. 

Under an employee exchange program, three em-
ployees from Pune will be sent to GRAMMER in 
 Germany for a period of three months at a time. 
Here they can deepen their knowledge, build net-
works and use them in their project work. We are 
optimizing our development processes via our ac-
tivities in India. At the same time, we are not only 
strengthening our competitive position in the im-
portant markets of Europe, Asia and North America 
but also expanding our market position with inno-
vative products and technologies.

Joint Technology Center  
in India 

Our development team from Pune.
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GRAMMER campus and technology 
center in Ursensollen

22,000m²
FoR oFFiCe SPaCe

47,000m²
oF laNd

MoRe thaN

700
eMPloYeeS

CaSe 3

oPtiMuM Co-oPeRatioN BetweeN the 
vaRiouS dePaRtMeNtS
One milestone on GRAMMER’s future tra-
jectory is the new construction project in 
Ursensollen, about ten kilometers away 
from the former Amberg site. The result is 
a modern building complex that includes 
design and ergonomics laboratories in 
addition to administration. Consolidating 
the development activities of the Automo-
tive and Commercial Vehicles Divisions 
as well as the corporate headquarters at a 
single site offers several advantages: The 
various departments can work together to 
optimum effect, while synergistic effects 
can be harnessed and the efficiency of the 
development process can be increased.

attRaCtive woRKiNg eNviRoNMeNt FoR MoRe thaN 
700 eMPloYeeS
With a budget of around EUR 75 million, the new building 
is the largest construction project in GRAMMER’s history. 
This is a worthwhile investment, as we want to use the 
new campus to additionally expand our leading position 
for innovative interior and seat solutions. A total of more 
than 700 GRAMMER employees will be based in Ursensol-
len. The primary goal is to create an attractive, healthy, 
sustainable and modern environment in which employ-
ees can work efficiently. Professional sharing, sponta-
neous communications, short distances – this is what the 
new building in Ursensollen is all about. And, of course, 
it is a place of encounter that stimulates creativity and 
brings together different ways of thinking and working. 
The first employees were able to move into the building, 
which is designed for sustainable use, at the end of 2019.
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New products 

2
INteRNatioNal 
AwaRdS

MoRe thaN 

20
FaiRS aNd 
teChdaYS  
iN 2019

CaSe 4

exPaNded PoRtFolio aNd  
New develoPMeNtS
GRAMMER's innovative strength is undimin-
ished, as the large number of new products 
shows. Take the United States, for example: At 
the industry-leading North American Interna-
tional Auto Show 2019 in Detroit, we presented 
enhanced multifunctional center consoles and 
a swivel single seat equipped with special func-
tions for the premium car segment. Take China, 
for example: Auto Shanghai 2019 gave us an op-
portunity of presenting new interior components 
from the entire product range for the automotive 
and commercial vehicle industry. These included 
a hybrid glass design for loudspeaker covers and 
an instrument panel with an intelligent ventila-
tion flap control. Take Europe, for example: At 
bauma 2019, the largest trade fair for the global 
construction machinery industry, GRAMMER un-
veiled the well-known Actimo Evolution driver 
seat in a new design and with new functions such 
as a more powerful seat climate control system. 

eNtRY iNto the BuS MaRKet,  
CoNtRaCt FoR the Next tgv 
Last fall, we staged a return to city and in-
tercity bus business with a wide range of 
passenger seats. GRAMMER showcased im-
portant innovations at Busworld Europe 
in Brussels at the end of October. Our goal 
is to evolve into a full-line supplier in the 
bus sector as well and to offer integrated 
solutions enhancing comfortable and safe 
bus travel. The market is promising, as 
 local and long-distance public transport 
is set to grow in importance in view of 
the climate debate. In the rail segment, 
we will be developing an innovative pas-
senger seat system for the next-generation 
French high-speed train TGV, setting new 
standards in comfort, ergonomics, weight 
reduction and life cycle costs. 

At Bauma in Munich, 
grammer unveils a new 

generation of driver seats for 
commercial vehicles. 
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Combined separate  non-finanCial report

For us, sustainability begins with the people who work 
at our Company and are linked to it. It covers such as-
pects as research and development, procurement and 
production as well as the finished products and the 
end-of-life recycling of product components. With 
the expansion of our global presence and the Group’s 
broad footprint, we are also supporting this message 
internationally. 

This combined separate non-financial report (NFR) 
has been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of sections 289 b to e and 315 c of the German Commer-
cial Code (HGB). It contains the disclosures required by 
law on material matters pertaining to the environment, 
employees, social concerns, observance of human rights 
and anti-corruption and anti-bribery precautions. In 
addition, it discloses material risks in accordance with 
section 289c (3) No. 3 and 4 HGB where these are nec-
essary for an understanding of the Group’s business 
performance, results of operations and position as well 
as the impact on non-financial aspects. This report is 
the combined separate declaration for the GRAMMER 
Group and GRAMMER AG for 2019 in accordance with 
sections 289b and 315b HGB, which is made available to 

Combined separate  
non-finanCial report

the general public at the Company’s website under Com-
pany > Sustainability > Separate non-financial report. 
Unless otherwise stated, the contents refer to the entire 
GRAMMER Group including GRAMMER AG. In this report, 
the term GRAMMER Group also includes GRAMMER AG.

The GRAMMER Group has defined solely financial pa-
rameters and financially significant performance indi-
cators. For this reason, there are no non-financial perfor-
mance indicators pursuant to section 289c  3) No. 5 HGB 
that are of significance for the business  activities of the 
GRAMMER Group. Detailed information on provisions 
can be found in the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements starting on page 91. Otherwise, there 
is no direct link between the amounts reported in the 
annual financial statements of the GRAMMER Group in 
accordance with section 289 c (3) No. 6 HGB and the non- 
financial aspects. In some cases, reference is made to 
the content of the Group management report in accor-
dance with section 315 b (1) sentence 3 HGB. The NFR has 
been reviewed by the Supervisory Board, which has sat-
isfied itself of its legality, propriety and suitability for 
its intended purpose.

The combined separate non-financial report has been 
prepared on the basis of the Global Reporting  Initiative 
(GRI) standards. Looking forward, reporting in accor-
dance with this standard is to be expanded step by step. 

1  sustainability at Grammer

GRAMMER is a global group specializing in the develop-
ment and production of components and systems for 
automotive interiors as well as driver and passenger 
seats for trucks, trains, buses and offroad commercial 
vehicles. GRAMMER is committed to sustainability and 
has firmly entrenched economic, ethical and ecological 
principles in its corporate guidelines. For us, accepting 
responsibility for people, society and the environment 
means minimizing strain on people and nature as far 
as possible and furthering their ability to regenerate. 
We seek to balance all our stakeholders’ interests, 
further our employees’ interests and strive for uniform 

Further details of 
our business model 
can be found in the 
Management Report 
on page 60. 

Sustainability has many faces at GRAMMER Group.  
Everyone contributes to making the company more 
 sustainable in the long term.

Combined separate 
non-financial report: 
www.grammer.com  
>Sustainability 
> Separate non- 

financial report
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environmental management at all locations. In its two 
divisions – Commercial Vehicles and Automotive – 
GRAMMER is already putting sustainability into practice.

1.1 organizational struCture of sustainability
Sustainability forms part of GRAMMER’s strategy as well 
as its operating activities. We have issued policies, in-
stalled management systems and created organizational 
structures to ensure the observance of our rules as a 
basis for coordinating sustainability aspects internation-
ally across the entire GRAMMER Group. In view of its high 
importance for the GRAMMER Group’s business activities, 
responsibility for sustainability is assigned directly to 
the Executive Board. The CSR team supports it, coordi-
nating GRAMMER’s activities in this area. A CSR council 
was established in 2015 to entrench sustainability even 
more firmly within the GRAMMER Group. This council 
includes executives from all relevant parts of the Group 
such as legal, accounting, finance, controlling, compli-
ance, supplier management,  human resources, R&D, 
communications, quality assurance, IT, environment 
and production. Institutionalized dialog and regular 
meetings ensure that sustainability as an overarching 
issue is firmly rooted in the Group and operationalized 
in accordance with the corporate strategy and business 
requirements. The individual business units represented 
on the CSR council are responsible for implementing the 
strategic CSR objectives. This involves close communi-
cations with the individual plants to operationalize the 
objectives.

1.2 materiality analysis
Using a systematic multi-stage process, we have intensi-
fied the uniform Group-wide approach to sustainability 
matters. This was preceded by a materiality analysis in 
which GRAMMER identified the main aspects of rele-
vance. As a result, this report now covers eight mate-
rial matters, which are illustrated in the diagram on 
the following page. In addition to the matters defined 
as material, “social commitment” has been included 
as a further relevant issue in this separate combined 
non-financial report in order to provide information on 
social matters within the Company. GRAMMER considers 
social commit ment to be a central part of its corporate 
strategy and systematically promotes it in its day-to-day 
activities. Sustainable procurement at GRAMMER is also 
described to provide a comprehensive overview. 

A new materiality analysis will be conducted in 2020 
to update these topics. To this end, three dimensions will 
be incorporated in the evaluation of these matters in the 
future. In order to involve the stakeholders even more 
closely in the process, an online survey will be conduct-
ed on the main aspects. In addition, the impact of the 
Company’s activities on the environment, society and 
the economy as well as the relevance of the matters for 
GRAMMER are included in the evaluation. 

1.3   support for sustainable development goals 
As a company operating internationally, we actively con-
tribute to the achievement of global sustaina bility goals. 
Adopted at the beginning of 2016, the United   Nations’ 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) comprise 17 con-
crete objectives aimed at making the world more sus-
tainable and fairer by 2030. In order to underline the rel-
evance of the SDGs and to make our contribution to the 
individual sustainability goals visible, we have identified 
13 SDGs on which we as a supplier of automotive compo-
nents are able to exert influence. These are summarized 
in a table on the next page.

csr-organization

csr-team
· Coordination

· Processing of stakeholder 
requests

business units
Implementing strategic objectives

task forces
Working on

thematic priorities

plants
Operational implementation of objectives

csr-council
Strategic orientation of the GRAMMER Group
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material aspeCts for the grammer group

aspeCts of relevanCe for the grammer group material aspeCts non-finanCial aspeCt

Economic stability 1. Economic performance Cross-cutting issue

Corporate governance 2. Compliance
Cross-cutting issue particularly 
anti-corruption 

Human rights 3. Child and forced labor Observance of human rights

Environmental protection 4. Air/water/soil emissions Environmental footprint

Product and process responsibility 5. Innovative product and process solutions Cross-cutting issue

Employees

6. Employee satisfaction
7.  Employee development  

(including development of young potentials)
8. Health and Safety

Employee matters

impaCt of material aspeCts on sdgs

sdg-goal
eConomiC 
 stability

Corporate 
governanCe human rights

environmental 
proteCtion

produCt and 
proCess respon-

sibility employees

No poverty

Good health and 
well-being

Quality education

Gender equality

Clean water and 
sanitation

Affordable and clean 
energy

Decent work and 
economic growth

Industry, innovation 
and infrastructure

Reducing 
inequality

Responsible con-
sumption and 
production

Climate action

Life on land

Peace, justice and 
strong institutions

  Strong influence

  Medium influence
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1.4  inClusion of all stakeholders
GRAMMER attaches particular importance to dialog with 
and the inclusion of its various stakeholders. These com-
munications are mostly handled by the relevant parts of 
the Group. By systematically tracking these activities, 
it is possible to access the results of such communica-
tions centrally in order to address corresponding inqui-
ries from outside the Company or to convey messages 
from within the Company to the general public. As we 
maintain very close contact with our stakeholders, we 
were able to take account of the expectations and needs 
of the individual groups in the formulation of our sus-
tainability goals.

1.5  risk evaluation of non-finanCial matters
Business always entails opportunities as well as risks. 
Our risk strategy defines various principles relating to 
the Group’s risk policy. In this connection, GRAMMER 
defines opportunities and risks in the context of risk 
management as any positive or negative deviations from 

a plan or target defined in circumstances of  uncertainty. 
Risk management thus contributes to value-based 
manage ment within the GRAMMER Group. GRAMMER 
Group has implemented a uniform Group-wide risk 
management system to detect risks at an early stage, to 
analyze and to assess their causes and to avert or at least 
mitigate them. The risk management process ensures 
early identification, analysis and assessment of risks, 
along with coordinated implementation of suitable 
measures to manage risk as well as risk monitoring and 
control. This also entails the early detection of risks to 
the Group’s going-concern status. 

Under the CSR Directive Implementation Act govern-
ing the disclosure of non-financial and diversity- related 
information, companies must not only report on the 
material aspects but also explain the related risks. The 
concept of risk has been expanded and integrated in risk 
management to map the non-financial risks in the pro-
cess. Internal experts have assessed the qualitative im-
pact of our corporate activities. GRAMMER views risk in 
net terms, i.e. after risk mitigation. No material risks that 
are linked to the Company’s own business, business rela-
tions or products and are liable to have severely adverse 
effects on non-financial aspects have been identified in 
connection with non-financial aspects. However, there 
are fundamental risks which may impact individual 
non-financial aspects. Among other things, this applies 
to ecological risks which we address by implementing 
management systems in accordance with ISO 14001 and 
ISO 50001.

the grammer group’s stakeholders

Employees

Customers

Business partners  
and suppliers

Politics and 
associations General 

Pubilc

Shareholders

Further information 
on our risk manage-
ment process can 
be found in the Op-
portunity and Risk 
Report on page 82.
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Csr award 2019

Corporate social responsibility, i.e. responsibility for 
employees, the environment and society, is of great im-
portance for the GRAMMER Group and, moving forward, 
is to be additionally intensified. For this reason, a deci-
sion was made to introduce a GRAMMER Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) Award starting in 2019.

This is an internal award to acknowledge our plants 
that have displayed a particularly high degree of initia-
tive in the area of sustainability. In this way, GRAMMER is 
seeking to set an example for greater sustainability and 
acknowledge the strong commitment within the Group. 
Awards were presented in three categories: “Environ-
ment”, “Employees” and “Society”.

The projects on which the 2019 CSR Award was be-
stowed are described below.

environment Category: grammer do brasil ltda., 
atibaia (brazil) 
Project: Recycling of water 
A recycling process has been established to recycle the 
process water at the Atibaia plant after it has been used. 
The waste water is processed in a biological treatment 
plant so that it can be reused in sanitary facilities and 
for cleaning purposes. This promotes the careful use of 
natural resources.

employee Category: grammer ad,  
trudovets (bulgaria)
Project: Mutual help for the first day at school and books 
are precious
Two Bulgarian projects with a similar background were 
given awards. In the first project, the employees collected 
items such as sneakers, school bags, clothing etc., which 
were needed for the first day of school but which they 
personally no longer used. The items were then given to 
employees who needed them more urgently, thus help-
ing disadvantaged families. The second project collected 
books which could be taken home as a gift for the family. 

This is a reminder of the importance of knowledge and 
the value of books.

soCiety Category: grammer automotive puebla, 
s.a. de C.v., Querétaro (mexiCo)
Project: Christmas godparents
The “Christmas Godparents” project in which several 
companies participate is carried out year for year. All 
employees can voluntarily support a child from the lo-
cal community who lives in poverty. For this purpose, 
GRAMMER employees pack gifts containing clothes, 
washing utensils and toys. At a charity event, the gifts are 
handed over in the hope of providing a little  Christmas 
cheer.

2  responsible Corporate 
GovernanCe

GRAMMER is committed to specific values that are ob-
served by our employees day for day and shape our busi-
ness activities. We communicate clearly and openly, thus 
creating a high degree of transparency for our customers, 
shareholders and employees. In addition to achieving 
transparency, GRAMMER attaches key importance to ba-
lancing the interests of our stakeholders and ensuring 
a respectful approach. In this way we are creating the 
deep-seat trust that is required for business success and 
our corporate culture.

 2.1 eConomiC stability
Day for day, GRAMMER works with the utmost care to 
supply the best possible products. What drives us as a 
company is our passion for developing new ideas. There 
are two thrusts to this: On the one hand, we set ourselves 
ambitious strategic goals to achieve a prominent position 
in the international market for automotive components. 
On the other hand, we work on improving comfort and 
safety for the people all around the world who use our 

At the General Management Meeting, the CSR Award was 
presented to the plant managers for the first time.
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products. Their trust in our quality makes a decisive 
contribution to our business success. We must respond 
flexibly and creatively to market requirements if we are 
to continue earning this trust. This we do by supplying 
exactly what gives our customers in the automotive 
industry as well as the final users the greatest possible 
added value. We are convinced that the combination 
of a global footprint and innovative high-quality prod-
ucts will assure the GRAMMER Group of long-term and 
profitable growth. At EUR 2,038.5 million, GRAMMER 
Group revenue was up 9.5% on the previous year (2018: 
EUR 1,861.3 million). 

 2.2  ComplianCe and anti-Corruption
Our binding Group-wide code of conduct defines the 
values and conduct expected of all employees. It forms 
the basis of our business activities. All new employees 
are briefed on this code of conduct, while existing ones 
undergo regular training to refresh their knowledge of its 
contents. The code of conduct is available in 16 different 
languages and is currently being revised.

To be published in 2020, the new version will focus 
even more keenly on aspects such as human rights, data 
protection and the rejection of forced labor and child 
labor in the future. GRAMMER attaches importance to 
observing all laws particularly those governing fair trade 
practices and anti-corruption. In addition, we are com-
mitted to the prohibition of insider trading, the confiden-
tial handling of information, the avoidance of conflicts 
of interest, protection of the environment, health pro-
tection, occupational safety and social responsibility. 

The Group takes different approaches for ensuring com-
pliance with external rules and regulations as well as 
GRAMMER’s own policies. Comprehensive measures have 
been firmly in place for many years. All specialist and 
management staff undergo regular anti-corruption and 
anti-bribery training including the appropriate response 
to such occurrences. In particular, decision-makers are 
required to take part in online training.

Our internal control system (ICS) safeguards the effica-
cy and economic viability of our business activities and 
ensures due and proper internal and external account-
ing operations and compliance with the applicable legal 
requirements. Moreover, regular compliance audits are 
performed by Internal Auditing to identify any compli-
ance or corruption risks to which individual plants may 
be exposed. For this purpose, the Transparency Interna-
tional corruption index for specific countries provides 
an important indicator for determining the frequency 
of audits at individual locations. Should an audit con-
ducted at a specific GRAMMER location give rise to initial 
suspicion, further investigations are performed and any 
necessary consequences taken. 

Established whistleblowing mechanisms ensure that 
possible breaches can be readily reported. Thus, a code 
team has been established to accept any reports. Internal 
Auditing examines any specific suspicions in accordance 
with the instructions of the Executive Board or the code 
team. If investigations relate to individual employees, 
the findings are forwarded to the Human Resources 
depart ment, which processes them and takes any nec-
essary measures under employment law.

Together with our open corporate culture, the avail-
ability of points of contact for whistleblowers and regu-
lar training, we want to continue ensuring in the future 
that any breaches of the code of conduct including the 
anti-corruption guidelines are detected and addressed 
within the GRAMMER Group with the appropriate 
response.

20% of all employees
take part in the biannual compliance and  

cartel law training.

target
Awareness of compliance and corruption risks is to 
be raised at 100 percent of business sites every two 
or three years. In addition, compliance audits are to 
be performed at sites exposed to compliance/corrup-
tion risks by 2020.

39 plants
underwent compliance audits in 2019 and 2018 

(mostly in the form of self-audits).

Code of conduct: 
www.grammer.com 
under Company  
> Sustainability 
> Code of Conduct
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 2.3 sustainable proCurement
GRAMMER views its suppliers as an extension of the 
Company and as an important part of its value chain. 
We select suppliers who are committed to a clear system 
of values and to ethical principles. We expect our direct 
and indirect suppliers to comply with the solid business 
practices that we promote, observe laws and standards, 
perform their duties in accordance with the applicable 
rules and regulations and also provide documentary evi-
dence of this. A supplier code of conduct was published 
and additionally integrated in the supplier portal in 2019 
to address all sustainability criteria and to do justice to 
our stakeholders’ extensive requirements.

In 2020, GRAMMER will be launching a new digital 
platform to integrate and network all components re-
quired for global procurement management. This will 
include aspects such as the observance of international 
legal and ethical standards, administrative requirements 
and our own corporate guidelines. The supplier’s eligibil-
ity for bidding for new business opportunities depends 
on its compliance with and acceptance of the standards 
we have described in our value-based approach to sus-
tainability in GRAMMER’s global supply chain. Of the 
currently 1,400 suppliers of direct materials, only those 
that agree to comply with our sustainable procurement 
requirements will be able to remain part of our global 
supplier basis in the long term. 

In the fourth quarter of 2019, we established a new 
“Risk Management and Corporate Social  Responsibility” 
position in our supply chain management system. This 
position, which was previously distributed across vari-
ous functions within the procurement and supplier qual-
ity team, is responsible for implementing and ensuring 
compliance with all sustainability issues relevant to the 
supply chain. 

In the past, we have used forums such as supplier 
partner and collaboration days to inform our suppliers of 
our expectations with respect to the observance of stat-
utory, ethical and environmental requirements. Moving 
forward, we will continue to use such forums because 
channels for personal contact and communications are 
also essential in order to reach out to our very broad 
supplier base. Over time, however, we will  increasingly 
 also be making use of digitalization as the main tool 
for implementing corporate social responsibility across 
our supplier base as modern IT tools offer the swiftest 
and most effective method of communicating with all 
regions of the world in which we purchase components.

In this connection, we will also be paying particular 
attention to what is known as “conflict minerals”, such 
as zinc, tantalum, tungsten and gold, which are often 
mined in regions exposed to high conflict potential. We 
are working systematically on our processes to exclude 
the use of conflict materials, the financing of conflicts 
and the violation of human rights. The origin of the met-
als are determined in consultation with our suppliers as 
the materials concerned are not sourced directly from 
mines or smelters but may be contained in the products 
that we procure. An annual report based on the conflict 
mineral reporting template is prepared so as to create 
transparency across the supply chain. The results are 
made available to our customers on request.

 2.4  observanCe of human rights
Manufacturing companies are exposed to a greater risk 
of human rights violations than service companies. 
Risks of potential human rights violations may primarily 
arise along the previous value chain and in the procure-
ment of resources. We are aware of our responsibility 
and have therefore adopted the industry-related code of 
conduct issued by the German Federal Association of 
Materials Management, Purchasing and Logistics (BME), 
which governs conduct with respect to the observance of 
human rights as well as child and forced labor. This code 
of conduct applies across the entire Group. 

As already explained in Section 2.2, the forthcoming 
revision of the code of conduct will devote even more 
space and importance to the observance of human 
rights. In this way, GRAMMER wants to underscore the 
significance of human rights.

We are heightening our employees’ awareness of 
human rights issues by means of the “Compliance” 
 e-learning module and local training at our plants. 
GRAMMER provides its employees with more detailed 
information on the code of conduct via the Intranet. 
Moreover, we are committed to the core labor standards 
defined by the International Labour Organization (ILO) 
and the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

CSR guideline for 
suppliers:
https://www.
grammer.com/ 
supplier-support/ 
purchasing.html

target
Employee awareness of human rights is to be raised 
in compliance training sessions (online and also 
through local training on all employee levels).

MSA Statement 2018: 
www.grammer.com 
> Company  
> Sustainability 
>  Social 

Responsibility
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We also strive to monitor and ensure the observance of 
human rights along our supply chain by imposing corre-
sponding obligations and performing checks. At supplier 
days and meetings, our suppliers undergo training and 
are expressly informed of our Code of Conduct for sup-
pliers and its relevance and contents. CSR guidelines for 
our suppliers were published and additionally integrated 
in the new supplier portal in 2019 to address all sustain-
ability criteria in the code of conduct for suppliers and to 
do justice to our stakeholders’ extensive requirements.

 3  Company environmental 
proteCtion

3.1 overview and management approaCh
The GRAMMER Group assumes responsibility for the 
environment and, in doing so, takes an integrated 
 approach. Our mission statement defines active environ-
mental protection as a key goal. We are making a contri-
bution to this by designing and assembling our products 
in such a way as to ensure environment-friendly produc-
tion as well as safe utilization and disposal on the basis 
of their life cycle. 

Overall responsibility for environmental manage-
ment has been assigned to the Quality, Services and 
HSE, which reports to the Chief Operating Officer. This 
unit devises strategic parameters for environmental 
protection across the entire Group under the guidance 
of the Senior Manager, Health and Safety. A local envi-
ronment, health and safety manager is assigned to each 
plant to implement the measures. We are also aiming to 
reduce business-induced environmental impacts as far 
as possible. Accordingly, material goals and measures 
relating to company environmental protection entail in-
creased energy efficiency, a reduction in emissions from 
production and the value chain and the optimum use of 
resources along our value chain. The targets pursued by 
and the progress made in our environmental activities 
including observance of all relevant legal rules are reg-
ularly audited and assessed both internally and exter-
nally. By making appropriate adjustments, we are able to 
achieve continuous improvements in our environmental 
and energy management systems. 83% of all the Group’s 
facilities around the world have already installed an en-
vironmental management system in accordance with 
ISO 14001 and defined local environmental targets and 
measures.

We have already rolled out an energy management sys-
tem in accordance with ISO 50001 at our German plants, 
thus ensuring compliance with the statutory require-
ments. With these measures, we are able to monitor, 
control and, if necessary, adjust energy consumption 
and identify potential for savings.

In order to achieve our goals, we encourage, train and 
motivate our employees by means of specific training 
measures, allowing them to perform their duties respon-
sibly and in the light of our environmental targets. We 
keep our employees, customers and general public in-
formed of the current status of our environmental and 
energy management systems with the aim of fostering 
open and transparent communications and cooperative 
relations with government authorities and the general 
public.

target
We plan to have all GRAMMER facilities certified in 
accordance with ISO 14001 by the end of 2020.

83%  
of our production sites have installed an 

 environmental management system certified  
in accordance with iso 14001.

target
We plan to have all GRAMMER facilities certified in 
accordance with ISO 50001 by the end of 2020.

91% 
of the German production facilities are certified in 

accordance with iso 50001.

Environmental  
and energy policy: 
www.grammer.com 
under Company  
> Sustainability
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3.2 emissions
One important aspect concerns the emissions which en-
ter the air, water or soil as a result of production activi-
ties. As part of its environmental management system, 
GRAMMER has implemented extensive measures at its 
facilities for reducing emissions and monitoring their 
implementation. In addition, we have individual plans 
at numerous facilities that take account of the specific 
nature of the local activities and processes as well as 
national requirements. We are currently pursuing the 
goal of documenting the various local approaches cen-
trally, collecting historical data and defining uniform 
benchmarks.

One particular focus is on reducing air pollutants, such 
as CO2 emissions and volatile organic compounds. These 
are continuously measured in the emission-intensive 
systems at our plants. In this context, we have calculated 
the CO2 emissions of the sites according to the Green-
house Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol) this year for the first 
time. This involves determining the Scope 1 emissions, 
i.e. direct emissions occurring during the Company’s 
own energy production and the production process, as 
well as Scope 2 emissions, i.e. indirect emissions that, for 
example, arise when externally sourced electricity and 
heat are used. The calculation process will be  undergoing 
further optimization and expansion over the next few 
years. 

GRAMMER’s Automotive Division uses emission- reduced 
foam materials in the EMEA, APAC and Americas regions 
to lower emissions of volatile hydrocarbons by up to 
70% in some cases. Likewise, emissions from the use 
of  water-based foam release agent have been cut by 
around 75%. This has been implemented at seven out of 
18 plants, with further sites to follow in 2020. 

Another project worthy of mention is the significant 
reduction of solvents at one site in Germany (Zwickau). 
By optimizing the processes and using water-based coat-
ings in combination with solvent-based hardeners, it was 
possible to achieve a considerable reduction in emissions 
in the painting process for plastic parts for car interiors. 
In fact, with the improvements achieved it is now pos-
sible to dispense with exhaust gas treatment systems in 
the production process.

In the interests of conserving resources, we apply a 
waste material hierarchy to minimize waste during the 
production phase. Seat upholstery materials are cut in 
such a way as to reduce wastage as far as possible. If it is 
not possible to recycle waste, it is disposed of properly. 

This year, our site in Bulgaria (Trudovets) took part in 
World Cleanup Day to raise awareness of the need for en-
vironmental protection, avoidance of waste and a healthy 
use of our natural resources worldwide. Thanks to the 
active support of the employees, the immediate  vicinity 
of the plant site was cleared of rubbish and waste.

A significant re-
duction in solvents 

was achieved at 
one  German site 
by changing the 

processes in a  
paint shop.

target
The key emission indicators, targets and mea-
sures are to be recorded centrally for 100% of our 
 production sites by 2020.



35

GRAMMER   AnnuAl REpoRt 2019

Combined separate  non-finanCial report

 4  proCess and produCt 
responsibility

4.1 overview and management approaCh
The GRAMMER Group attaches key importance to pro-
cess and product efficiency, quality and safety. Product 
responsibility commences in the development phase and 
continues during production (use of material) and subse-
quent utilization by the customer. Examples of important 
criteria include quality, resilience, safety, ergonomics, 
product innovation and sustainable procurement. 
Process responsibility addresses the question as to how 
processes are developed, rolled out and monitored. In 
this respect, the focus is on efficiency, compliance with 
standards, new and innovative production methods and 
high quality. These aspects must be intermeshed within 
the value chain at all times. Our high-quality seating 
systems and premium interior products are currently 
being produced at 48 (2018: 48) production and logistics 
facilities around the world. In order to meet the high 
quality requirements which our products must satisfy, 
we have also established a uniform quality management 
system. All our GRAMMER sites are regularly certified 
under the ISO 9001 quality management standard or 
the IATF 16949 quality management standard for the 
European and American automotive industry.

Innovations in products and production processes 
form a key determinant of the GRAMMER Group’s busi-
ness success. At the same time, they seek to minimize 
the strain on the environment. At EUR 64,119 thousand, 
non-capitalized research and development costs re-
mained steady compared with the previous year (2018: 
EUR 60,634 thousand).

4.2 innovative proCess solutions
The assembly of high-quality seating systems and pre-
mium interior products calls for production excellence. 
To this end, GRAMMER has defined core processes and 
spent substantially on these in the last few years. At the 
same time, we are increasingly migrating our standard-
ized core processes to the individual regions to achieve 
low local production costs, reduce logistics costs and 
minimize currency-translation effects. In addition, we 
are seeking to deploy the best technology available in 
order to reduce energy requirements and emissions in 
the production process. 

For example, foaming, painting and gluing systems 
now use solvent-reduced materials on a large scale. At 
the same time, we are working on reducing the number 
of components in our products. Comprehensive testing 
on the basis of guidelines and internal specifications 
ensures that standards going beyond the legislative 
requirements are observed. In efforts to harmonize 
develop ment, production and series standards and pro-
cesses, it is necessary to take account of the differences 
in the individual segments. Whereas the Automotive Di-
vision must generally observe comprehensive OEM-spec-
ified requirements, the Commercial Vehicles Division 
has considerably more discretion of its own due to the 
large volume of proprietary developments. 

The Industrial Engineering department continued to 
standardize production processes and equipment and 
developed or implemented innovation and automation 
initiatives step by step to secure the Company’s ongoing 
competitiveness.

The purpose of the GRAMMER production system (GPS) 
is to achieve a continuous improvement in our value 
flows by systematically minimizing work and resource 
requirements. This is done through the improved use of 
material resources in order to reduce rejects (raw mate-
rials), inventories (space) and transportation (energy). 
At the same time, we structure workplaces to help our 
employees achieve the desired results with the least 
possible effort in an accident-free and healthy working 
environment. This entails:

• the avoidance of unnecessary and unhealthy 
movements (ergonomic workplace design)

• the avoidance of unnecessary work steps 
( standardized work)

• the balanced distribution of processing steps  
(line balancing)

100% 
of our production facilities are certified in accor-
dance with iso 9001, iatf 16949, iso/ts 22163.

3.2% 
was the share of non-capitalizable research and 

development costs in total revenue.

Quality policy: 
www.grammer.com 
under Company  
> Sustainability
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In order to accelerate the ongoing development and im-
plementation of the GRAMMER Production System, a 
Lean Training Center was installed in each of the EMEA, 
Ameri cas and APAC regions. The training centers address 
all elements of the GRAMMER production system by 
means of a “lean factory”. In order to render the system 
tangible, we familiarize our employees with lean produc-
tion, particularly by means of practical focus training, 
and jointly develop approaches for holistic implementa-
tion and continuous improvement.

The continuous improvement process (Kaizen) serves 
to optimize the organization as well as to enhance the 
GRAMMER Production System. Our employees are sys-
tematically involved in the improvement process. Kaizen 
workshops were held at all GRAMMER plants in 2019. The 
main focus here is on the identification and elimination 
of waste (muda) in our production processes and related 
areas. In addition to business factors, it also integrates 
measures aimed at motivating employees and further-
ing environmental protection. We place planning and 
implementation in the hands of our employees, who 
are supported by the management, in order to promote 
 active participation at all levels.

target
The number of patents is to be increased and inno-
vation performance reinforced in the long term. To 
quantify our innovation performance, we measured 
the number of innovations in the development 
process in a pilot phase in 2019. This number of 
new parts is systematically determined via our PDM 
(development document database) and SAP system 
and serves as a basis for achieving corresponding 
comparability in the following years.

4.3 innovative produCt solutions
The GRAMMER Group has established research and de-
velopment (R&D) units in key regions in order to offer 
customers high-quality solutions meeting their require-
ments. Our engineers work on the further development 
of GRAMMER products at a total of 15 locations. In ad-
dition, R&D is present at selected production plants to 
provide the necessary support. The number of patents 
pending and granted rose by 10% to 1,376 in 2019 (2018: 
1,251) as a result of this.

In the interests of the continuous development of our 
product range, we use a modern innovation manage-
ment system that has been adapted to our needs in re-
cent years. At the core of this approach are semi-annual 
innovation camps (“InnoCamp” for short), which adapt 
our innovation activities to meet the constantly chang-
ing needs of the market. Product ideas are jointly coor-
dinated in international teams consisting of product and 
process experts, employees from sales and purchasing 
as well as managers from the divisions and functions 
and incorporated in the decision-making process. This 
is professionally overseen by Strategic Product Planning 
“SPP” in close cooperation with R&D. 

The “One Day in 
Production” initiative 
offers managers 
an opportunity of 
gaining insights into 
the production and 
logistics areas.

target
Continuous avoidance of waste in processes through 
Kaizen workshops and events.
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The GRAMMER Group has already entrenched sustain-
ability in the product development process. An internal 
environmental manual sets out the rules for environ-
mentally friendly product development and includes, for 
example, stipulations concerning the use of materials 
as well as a list of banned substances and materials. In 
addition, we record all necessary materials and fabric 
components for a component to facilitate end-of-life re-
cycling of our products.

Rapid technological process is being accompanied 
by the steadily growing demands made of components 
suppliers by OEMs (original equipment manufacturers). 
Drive trains, vehicles concepts and the level of driving 
automation alongside safety and digital interfaces are 
defining the framework for future development. Thus, 
new developments in autonomous driving are also call-
ing for a new approach to cabin and cockpit design. In 
addition, there is demand for heightened comfort in the 
truck and offroad segment together with a growing trend 
towards electronic integration of various functions in 
seats. Further challenges entail the human-machine in-
terface, which calls for highly modern user interfaces, 
as well as the integration of different functions in more 
and more components. Thus, there is growing demand 
for components that are not only highly stable but also 
exhibit outstanding functional, aesthetic and haptic 
qualities. We are observing further progress in interior 
upgrading in new vehicle concepts and are able to offer 
appropriate innovative solutions. 

light-weight ConstruCtion
Our products help our customers to act in an environ-
mentally responsible manner. Innovations such as light-
weight construction allow weight savings to be achieved 
as a means of reducing fuel consumption. Light-weight 
construction plays a key role in the development of 
center consoles, armrests and headrests. For one thing, 
 reduced material requirements lowers resource input 
and, for another, cuts CO2 emissions during the vehi-
cle product life cycle. We achieve weight reductions by 
means of function integration and design, for example. 
Material is additionally saved through the use of foam 
injection molding and the partial reduction of the den-
sity of PUI foam parts.

reCyCling
The seat structures made of high-strength steel are re-
cyclable and the plastics used can be easily separated 
and recycled according to type at the end of their life 
cycles thanks to clear labelling. What is more, our “Smart 

Textile” project is conducting research into recycled 
textiles (e.g. materials made from recycled PET bottles 
and intimation leather made from fruit peels) for use in 
vehicle interiors and with seating systems in order to 
additionally lower resource requirements. In addition to 
recycling, measures aimed at increasing the service life 
of our products also help to ease the strain on the econo-
my. In the case of driver seats, this means optimizing 
the kinematics and preventing any softening of the seat 
suspension as the product life cycle progresses despite 
the very high strain to which it is exposed. At the same 
time, we are continuing to explore the use of more robust 
textiles to overcome the effects of wear and tear on seats 
at an early stage.

ergonomiCs
In our development activities, we attach particular im-
portance to ensuring that the driver’s health is preserved 
through ergonomically optimized products. Moreover, 
our headrests are an important safety feature for very 
largely preventing injury of or strain on the cervical 
spine in the event of an accident. Products that are not 
only height-adjustable but also permit the distance from 
the head to be modified and then store these personal 
settings in a memory function provide especially effec-
tive protection. In addition, our crash-active headrests 
protect passengers from the risk of whiplash injury. The 
ergonomic design of our multifunction armrests for 
commercial vehicles featuring an optimum arrange-
ment of the control elements eases the strain on the 
spine, prevents overstraining of the forearm, shields 
the driver from excess mental pressure and heightens 
the seat comfort. Our suspension seating systems for 
all kinds of commercial vehicles also meet the highest 
ergonomic requirements, thus helping to preserve the 
driver’s health. The GRAMMER Group regularly reviews 
the status of its products on the basis of customer feed-
back, internal testing, user studies and discussions with 
leading biomechanics and spine researchers.

In this connection, we use biomechanical measuring 
methods to test the impact of new features on the human 
body. Using electromyography (EMG), we measure elec-
trical muscle activity in strain situations for example. 
Efficient and safe use of a vehicle calls for physically and 
mentally sound drivers. For this reason, the GRAMMER 
Group is particularly committed to promoting basic 
spine research. For this reason, we have established the 
GRAMMER European Spine Journal Award in recognition 
of outstanding research activities.
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 5 employees

5.1 overview and management approaCh
Our business success is above all the result of the 
commit ment and dedication of our 14,779 employees 
around the world (6,591 women and 8,188 men as of 
 December 31, 2019). We maintain a dialog with them 
characterized by mutual trust and involve them in 
the development of the GRAMMER Group. We respect 
their right to freedom of association and to engage in 
 collective negotiations. Together with the line managers, 
Human Resources is responsible for staff development. 
Human Resources reports directly to the Chief Executive 
Officer and HR Director.

The human resources strategy reflects the GRAMMER 
Group’s strategy. In addition to requirements planning 
and the further development of the human  resources 
structures, the main focus is on the expansion of con-
ceptual employee development, the encouragement of 
proactive collaboration and strengthening  employer 
branding at GRAMMER. The sustainability concepts 
developed in the year under review are systematically 
linked with our human resources strategy and define 
further goals and measures in the following areas: 
 

• Employee satisfaction 
•  Employee development and fostering 
•  Health and Safety

The GRAMMER Group has a global footprint with opera-
tions not only in Europe but particularly also in the Amer-
icas and Asia. This is also reflected in the international 
composition of our workforce. As we are a production 
company, around 80% of our employees work in produc-
tion. We seek a reasonable gender balance and actively 
support and encourage our female employees. 

BLUE COLLAR WHITE COLLAR

employees by type of employment 2019
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5.2 employee satisfaCtion
The satisfaction of our employees forms one of the basic 
pillars for productive and favorable working conditions 
at the GRAMMER Group. In 2017, we conducted an em-
ployee survey as a global feedback and strategic tool 
for corporate and organizational development. In this 
way, we want to regularly evaluate key parameters for 
 employee loyalty and motivation around the world as 
a basis for defining specific measures. Various global, 
regional and local projects were initiated on the basis 
of the results of this evaluation. A new employee sur-
vey is planned for 2021 to monitor the effectiveness of 
the  measures taken and to identify starting points for 
further projects to increase satisfaction. In doing so, we 
have set ourselves the goal of additionally reinforcing 
existing strengths and making greater use of existing 
potential.

open CommuniCations and Cooperation
With the introduction of the internal GRAMMERonline 
newsletter in 2018, we created a medium for keeping our 
employees updated worldwide and simultaneously about 
the latest news within GRAMMER Group. We are also us-
ing this platform to report regularly on the  activities of 
our global plants and business units in areas such as 
corporate social responsibility and team development. 
In 2019, we reported on exemplary  activities such as the 
team-building event of our Supplier Manage ment in 
 China, participation in the World Cleanup Day by our 
plant in Trudovets, Bulgaria and the “Beijing Economic- 
Technological Development Area Sports Meeting”. In 
order to additionally reinforce the feeling of together-
ness and to heighten mutual understanding, the “Meet & 
 Discuss” pilot project was launched in 2019 to give inter-
ested employees at the sites in the Amberg area an oppor-
tunity of getting to know the members of the Executive 
Board in personal discussions. In addition, the “Way of 
Working” program was launched in autumn 2019, which 
calls for and promotes international cooperation across 
divisions and departments.

work-life balanCe
We are working on three main aspects to improve em-
ployees’ work-life balance at GRAMMER: We continuously 
improve our managers’ leadership skills to ensure that 
these matters are firmly entrenched in our organization-
al structures. We are creating the necessary basis for 
flexible working time models (including part-time hours) 
and implementing numerous measures for promoting 
health, while also supporting career reintegration. In 
addition, we are improving the family/job balance by 
constantly working to improve support in the arrange-
ment of childcare.

diversity
As one of the first signatories of the Diversity Charta in 
2006, GRAMMER does not see diversity as a temporary 
trend but is committed to putting it into practice. As in 
previous years, we thus participated in the 7th German 
Diversity Day to highlight the diversity of our work-
force and its importance for the Company’s sustained 
success. We also encourage cross-border exchange and 
networking within the GRAMMER Group through our 
 international training programs and by constantly in-
creasing our employees’ international mobility.

target
Regular systematic employee surveys as a basis for 
defining measures. Feedback rate (online and paper) 
of at least 65%. Local staff loyalty programs will be 
defined and implemented on the basis of the results 
of the employee survey by the time the next employ-
ee survey is held. 

GRAMMER is active in 20 countries worldwide.
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Company pension sCheme
The company pension scheme is a key pillar along-
side statutory pensions and private retirement savings 
to safeguard employees’ standard of living after they 
reach the age of retirement. We are promoting this sus-
tainable retirement-saving scheme. For this reason, we 
rolled out a company pension scheme for employees in 
the  Amberg region in 2018, additionally implementing 
it at the GRAMMER System GmbH plants in 2019. Look-
ing ahead, we plan to introduce the company pension 
scheme at the GRAMMER Group’s other German plants.

5.3 employee development and advanCement 
New employees undergo appropriate on-boarding so that 
they are able to perform their duties and feel secure in 
their areas of responsibility without undue delay. Plant 
operatives receive training on the machinery that they 
are to operate. To this end, training centers have been 
established at several locations around the world. In the 
case of office staff, the responsible line manager devises 
an on-boarding plan before new recruits commence their 
duties. In this way, they are acquainted swiftly and sys-
tematically with the matters and interfaces of relevance 
for them. During the onboarding phase, new recruits are 
assigned a mentor, whom they can approach if they have 
any questions as a means of acquainting themselves with 
their new position. We have thus achieved our objective 
of developing an onboarding system for all employees. 
Looking forward, we will also be integrating elements 
of our learning management system (LMS) to place the 
onboarding process on an even more sustainable footing. 
In this way, it will be possible for employees to organize 
their learning units more independently in line with 
the availability of their time. This will also enable us to 
track the effectiveness of the learning units even more 
efficiently and, if necessary, to provide employees with 
additional training opportunities in accordance with 
their needs.

After we recruit new employees, we continue to train 
them on a targeted basis in line with requirements so 
that they possess the skills required to perform their 
duties and to address new challenges. Our employee 
training activities cover the entire range of statutory 
 requirements as well as those aimed at enhancing quali-
ty and developing skills. In addition, we offer individual 
support, such as coaching, as well as team development 
activities. 

Career@grammer
In order to fill key positions swiftly and thus contribute 
to the Company’s sustained success, we support experi-
enced managers as well as employees in their efforts to 
prepare for a leadership role in their career plans with 
the help of internal qualification programs. We have 
established GRAMMER Corporate Development Training 
worldwide under the name career@GRAMMER. It is made 
up of three modular programs (DRIVE, FAST LANE and 
TOP GEAR) aimed at strengthening cross-department 
and cross-location networking as well as reinforcing 
the necessary leadership skills and social competence 
among other things. With the availability of dedicated 
channels, employees have had avenues for many years 
for providing feedback and for reporting any problems 
openly and in good time. We conduct annual perfor-
mance assessment talks with our pay-scale employees. 

target
The onboarding scheme for all employees is to  
undergo further improvement.
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Non-pay-scale employees in Germany as well as all 
management positions in our grading system also un-
dergo performance and potential analysis in the form of 
employee discussions. The annual appraisal interview 
for all employees included in the system constitutes 
an important instrument for securing a consensus on 
the  performance benchmarks between managers and 
employees and for defining development targets. At the 
same time, employees are encouraged to assume respon-
sibility for their own career development.

learning management solution
In order to address the need for ongoing further ed-
ucation even more effectively, we adopted a learning 
management solution in 2019 to provide targeted 
learning opportunities regardless of the time and place. 
 “E-learning” in the broadest sense encompasses all forms 
of learning involving electronic or digital assistance. 
With the ongoing internationalization of the GRAMMER 
Group, it is becoming increasingly more important to 
convey a uniform global understanding of products, 
production activities and processes for all employees. 
The implementation of a learning management system 
is supporting this from a strategic point of view. With 
LMS, we are pursuing the goal of improving the quality 
of information sharing and teaching on a sustained basis 

by implementing e-learning modules. At the same time, 
e-learning modules can standardize training and elicit 
a uniform understanding of processes in tandem with 
defined quality standards for all employees. In this way, 
the LMS is an answer to the requirements arising from 

the sharp growth in the Group’s international footprint.

As well as this, we are continuing to take measures to 
additionally drive forward internationalization within 
the GRAMMER Group and to make working conditions 
even more attractive for our employees. The focus here is 
on intensifying global knowledge sharing. We have made 
foreign transfers even more attractive and are seeking to 
encourage a greater number of employees to accept such 
temporary foreign assignments.

5.4 health and safety
Safety is of paramount importance in a production com-
pany like GRAMMER. This stems from the need to avoid 
accidents and to encourage activities for preserving em-
ployees’ health and ability to perform. 

We have also adopted extensive measures for pro-
moting health and safety. Examples include training 
and the organization of company sports. In accordance 
with the statutory requirements, GRAMMER has installed 
an occupational integration management system at its 
German sites and appointed an occupational integration 
management coordinator. In this way, we are able to help 
employees who were unable to work for more than six 
weeks over the previous twelve months to ease them-
selves back into working life. This also helps to prevent 
the employees from relapsing into illness and to preserve 
their long-term working capacity. In 2019, we addition-
ally improved IT support in this process and are now 

Health and safety 
policy:  
www.grammer.com 
under Company  
> Sustainability 
> Employees

100% 
of all non-pay-scale employees in Germany as 
well as all managers in our grading system are 

 integrated in the appraisal process.

target
Looking forward, the appraisal process will be  
enhanced within the framework of performance  
management and supplementary programs for  
employee development established.

target
75% of the defined specialist areas are to have access 
to the e-learning platform in 2020.
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able to provide our employees with even prompter and 
more targeted support. By simultaneously integrating 
the company physician, the employee representative 
council, representatives of people with disabilities and 
Human Resources in this process, we are achieving 
a high level of acceptance among our employees and 
thus creating optimum conditions for joint solutions. 
In addition, a health task force has been established in 
Germany to concentrate on employees’ health matters. 
It develops specific proposals and ideas for furthering 
employee health. In addition to advice on occupational 
medicine, GRAMMER also offers voluntary solutions 
via its in-company medical center, such as annual  
flu vaccinations and eye tests.

The absence rate across all companies (excluding 
the newly acquired TMD Group) was 4.76% in 2019, thus 
reaching the goal of less than 5% in that year. As we move 
forward, we want to continue pursuing various measures 
to improve employee health in order to keep the absence 
rate at a low level.

Plant management at each GRAMMER site is responsible 
for occupational safety and is supported by a local 
environ ment, health and safety manager. GRAMMER 
wants to have all production sites certified in order to 
integrate occupational health and safety in day-to-day 
company practices effectively. After coming into effect 
in March 2018, ISO 45001 is being implemented step by 
step at our facilities.

However, it was not possible to meet the original tar-
get date (end of 2019) due to the reorganization of the 
Management Systems unit. Nonetheless, it will be imple-
mented in 2020 thanks to the new organizational struc-
ture and the steps that have already been commenced to 
roll out ISO 45001.

A global reporting and performance measurement 
system has been installed for occupational safety. The 
transparency and comparability achieved in this way 
will promote the networking of the individual sites. 
The synergistic effects gained as a result will improve 
occupational safety globally on a lasting basis and mark 
a major step towards achieving the zero accident target.

One particular aspect of this is the workplace design 
that seeks to minimize the strain on employees as far as 
possible. This particularly concerns noise and emissions 
as well as physical stress. With our comprehensive safe-
ty measures, we are actively promoting our employees’ 
safety and health. For this reason, particular attention 
is being paid to the installation of ergonomic furniture 
and the creation of a healthy working environment at the 
newly constructed corporate headquarters.

target
The occupational safety and health management 
system certified in accordance with ISO 45001 is to 
be implemented at all sites by the end of 2020.

4.76%
was the absence rate. [All companies (excluding 

TMD) as of December 31, 2019]

target
The absence rate is to be kept consistently  
below 5%.
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  6 Corporate Citizenship

At the GRAMMER Group we are aware of our  responsibility 
as a corporate citizen and support charitable projects, 
voluntary activities and training facilities in the Upper 
Palatinate region in Germany and elsewhere around 
the world. In doing so, we always observe the principles 
enshrined in our code of conduct as well as our global 
sponsoring policy. In its donations and sponsoring activ-
ities, GRAMMER attaches particular importance to assist-
ing social facilities and projects. Moreover, we support 
sports, concentrating in particular on young people in 
different team sports. GRAMMER does not provide any 
financial support for political parties and/or similar 
lobby groups. 

In the area of secondary and tertiary education, 
GRAMMER takes part in various partnerships and 
develop ment and sponsoring programs. This includes 
schools, vocational training centers and universities in 
the Amberg region as well as in other parts of Germany 
and the world. Our aim is to prepare young people for 
the employment market. To this end, we organize career 
information days for various target groups among other 
things. Site inspections and internships are offered at 
our sites in Germany and also in the Czech Republic for 
example. The “Manager for a day” initiative in Bulgaria 
gave school students an insight into various functions 
in the Company. 

As in every year, our employees were able to apply for one 
of the coveted “sponsoring packages” in 2019 on behalf 
of their sports clubs, social projects, fire brigades, rescue 
services or care facilities and extensive use was made of 
this offer. In the year under review, sponsoring packages 
with a total value of EUR 20,000 were awarded.

Numerous social projects were also funded and im-
plemented at international sites. In this way, hospitals, 
schools and other social institutions were supported not 
only financially but also through the commitment of our 
employees. One example is the project in Querétaro in 
Mexico, which received our internal CSR Award. Further 
information on the “Christmas godparents” project can 
be found in page 30.

GRAMMER presented a 
check to the SpVgg in 
Ebermannsdorf just one of 
the many winners of the 
sponsoring packages.
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Corporate governanCe report and  
deClaration

Corporate governanCe at graMMer
GRAMMER is committed to ensuring responsible and 
transparent corporate governance on the basis of statu-
tory provisions, its articles of incorporation, the rules of 
procedure for the Executive Board as well as Super visory 
Board and the German Corporate Governance Code (the 
Code), which are observed in all decision-making pro-
cesses. In accordance with the statutory provisions re-
lating to German stock corporations, GRAMMER AG has a 
dual governance system characterized by the distinction 
between the Executive Board as the management body 
and the Supervisory Board as the monitoring body with 
separate members in both cases.

We report below on our main corporate governance 
practices in accordance with article 3.10 of the Code and 
section 289f HGB.

iMpleMentation of the gerMan  
Corporate governanCe Code
On December 11, 2019, the Executive Board and the 
 Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG issued the following 
declaration in accordance with section 161 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) concerning conformity to 
the German Corporate Governance Code (the Code):

Declaration of conformity of GRAMMER AG dated Decem-
ber 11, 2019

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board declare 
as follows:

Since the last declaration of conformity dated Decem-
ber 11, 2018, GRAMMER AG has conformed to all of the 
recommendations of the Government Commission on 
the German Corporate Governance Code in the version 
dated February 7, 2017 from the day on which they were 
announced on April 24, 2017 by the Federal Ministry of 
Justice and Consumer Protection in the official section 
of Bundesanzeiger (the Code) and will continue to do so 
in the future, with two exceptions:

1. Article 4.2.5 (3) and (4) 
Under article 4.2.5 (3) and (4) of the Code, the re-
muneration report must present certain remuner-
ation components separately for each member of 
the Executive Board on the basis of model tables 
attached to the Code.  
 
The remuneration paid to the members of 
GRAMMER AG’s Executive Board has hitherto 
been disclosed in accordance with the applicable 
statutory provisions and already sets out detailed 
information on each member’s remuneration. 
The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board 
consider the previous method for presenting 
this information to be sufficiently transparent. 
Accordingly, the model tables do not provide any 
additional information.  

2. Article 5.4.1 (2) Sentence 2 
The Supervisory Board has not defined any max-
imum period of membership for the Supervisory 
Board. The Supervisory Board takes the view that 
a general cap on the length of membership fails 
to take account of individual factors that justify 
longer membership by individual persons on the 
Supervisory Board. Consequently, it wishes to 
retain the flexibility of proposing candidates for 
nomination to the Supervisory Board who are able 
to contribute to GRAMMER AG on account of their 
long-standing experience and who have proven 
themselves in their activities on the Supervisory 
Board.

Amberg, December 11, 2019

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of 
GRAMMER AG

This declaration and all declarations of conformity is-
sued in previous years are available on GRAMMER AG’s 
website.
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GRAMMER AG voluntarily conforms to the non- obligatory 
Code recommendations with two exceptions: Article 
2.3.3 of the Code recommends allowing shareholders to 
follow the Annual General Meeting via modern commu-
nications channels such as the Internet. GRAMMER AG 
does not offer this option; nor does it currently have any 
plans to do so in the future.

Article 4.1.3, second half of Sentence 3 recommends 
installing a whistleblower system for third parties to re-
port any breach of statutory provisions and internal com-
pany policies. Such a whistleblower system is currently 
only available for employees of the Company. 

CoMposition of the supervisory Board of 
graMMer ag – goals and iMpleMentation
GRAMMER AG’s Supervisory Board has a total of twelve 
members. In accordance with the German Codetermina-
tion Act, it has an equal number of six members repre-
senting the shareholders and six members representing 
the employees. The Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG 
is striving for a composition that ensures qualified 
supervision of and advice for the Executive Board of 
GRAMMER AG. The criteria are based on the current Code 
recommendations with regard to diversity and an appro-
priate proportion of women as well as the characteris-
tics of independence, experience, international profile 
and expertise. Moreover, the members should possess 
the integrity, personality and willingness to perform 
necessary for the duties of the Supervisory Board of an 
internationally active, capital market-oriented industrial 
company to be duly executed successfully. These criteria 
have been defined in a profile of competence and sum-
marized in a corresponding questionnaire that forms a 
key basis of the examination to determine the suitability 
of a nominee. In the interests of successful collaboration 
on the entire Supervisory Board, its members should be 
chosen in such a way as to ensure sufficient diversity in 
terms of career backgrounds, expertise and experience. 
In accordance with section 96 (2) sentence 1 AktG, the 
Company must have a Supervisory Board comprised of 
at least 30% women and 30% men. This quota must be 
fulfilled separately by the shareholder representatives 
and the employee representatives respectively, as joint 
fulfilment has been rejected (separate fulfilment).

Only nominees who are no older than 70 years on 
the date of their election or re-election are eligible to 
serve as members of the Supervisory Board. No cap on 
the length of membership on the Supervisory Board has 
been defined. 

The Nominating Committee is responsible for searching 
for and evaluating possible nominees in the light of the 
requirements of the German Stock Corporation Act, the 
German Corporate Governance Code and the Supervisory 
Board’s rules of procedure as well as the aforementioned 
targets with respect to the Supervisory Board’s composi-
tion and its profile of skills.

iMpleMentation of diversity targets
Section 96 (2) AktG stipulates a male and female gen-
der quota of at least 30% for GRAMMER AG’s Superviso-
ry Board. This statutory quota is the same as the target 
quota adopted by the Supervisory Board. This quota was 
fulfilled in 2019. 

Section 111 (5) AktG stipulates that the Supervisory 
Board of a listed company must define targets for the 
proportion of women on its executive board. Under sec-
tion 76 (4) AktG, the Executive Board is also required to 
define the target proportion of women on the two man-
agement levels below the Executive Board. 

In defining these targets, GRAMMER AG as a techni-
cally oriented company must take account of specific 
sector-related factors as well as the current gender break-
down of its workforce. At its meeting in March 2017, the 
Supervisory Board reviewed the target for the Executive 
Board and set a figure of 33%. This target is to be reached 
by December 31, 2020. Achievement of the target quota is 
to be reviewed no later than at the last ordinary meeting 
of the Supervisory Board held in 2020.

The target was initially not reached in 2019 as 
the Executive Board was composed solely of two 
gentlemen, namely Mr. Manfred Pretscher and Mr. 
Jens  Öhlenschläger. 

Following the appointment of Ms.  Jurate Keblyte and 
Mr. Thorsten Seehars effective August 1, 2019 and Mr. 
Pretscher’s departure on August 31, 2019, GRAMMER AG’s 
Executive Board was composed of two men and one 
woman from September 1, 2019. Mr. Jens Öhlenschläger 
was appointed to the position of Chief Operating Officer 
(COO) on the Executive Board effective January 1, 2019. 
Mr. Manfred Pretscher continued to hold the position 
of Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief  Human Resourc-
es Officer (CHRO) and Chief Financial  Officer (CFO) on 
an interim basis until July 31, 2019 and left GRAMMER 
AG’s Executive Board as planned on  August 31, 2019. At 
its meeting on March 15, 2019, the Supervisory Board of 
GRAMMER AG appointed Ms. Jurate Keblyte to the Ex-
ecutive Board for a period of three years effective from 
August 1, 2019 and assigned her to the position of Chief 
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Financial Officer (CFO). On April 25, 2019, the Super visory 
Board of GRAMMER AG appointed Mr. Thorsten Seehars 
to the position of Chief Executive  Officer of the Com-
pany also with effect from August 1, 2019. The gender 
quota defined for the Executive Board was achieved on 
September 1, 2019. 

The Executive Board of GRAMMER AG has defined an 
(international) quota of 15% for the first management 
level below the Executive Board and 20% for the second 
level below the Executive Board. A target of 10% for the 
first management level and 15% for the second manage-
ment level has been defined for Germany. Achievement 
of this target is reviewed annually. 

shareholders and annual general Meeting
Each share in GRAMMER AG grants one voting right. At 
the annual general meeting held on July 12, 2019, all 
shareholders were again able to exercise their voting 
rights on an equal basis and discuss all the items of the 
agenda with the members of the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board. The invitation to the annual general 
meeting including the statutory reports and documents 
as well as the management report and the agenda were 
readily available to the shareholders on the Compa-
ny’s website in German and mostly also in English. All 
other relevant information was also disclosed on the 
GRAMMER website or sent on request. To assist absent 
shareholders in exercising their rights, two voting prox-
ies attended the annual general meeting to exercise vot-
ing rights in accordance with the instructions issued. 
Shareholders were able to authorize and instruct these 
proxies at any time, who could be reached throughout 
the meeting. Shareholders who initially attended the an-
nual general meeting, but left it early without exercising 
their voting rights were, able to issue voting instructions 
during the annual general meeting to the proxies named 
by GRAMMER. Details on voting proxies are announced in 
the invitation to each annual general meeting.

ManageMent By the exeCutive Board
The Executive Board is responsible for the strategy, 
gover nance and management of GRAMMER AG. It acts 
in the interests of the shareholders and all stakeholders 
with the aim of securing and raising the Company’s en-
terprise value on a lasting basis. To this end, it develops 
a suitable strategy, consults with the Supervisory Board 
and ensures that this strategy is implemented. The duties 
of the Executive Board also include implementing effec-
tive risk and opportunity management and supervision 
as well as ensuring compliance with statutory require-
ments and internal company policies throughout the 
entire Group. Collaboration and the allocation of duties 
to the members of the Executive Board are governed by 
statute, the Code and the Executive Board’s rules of pro-
cedure, which also govern the Executive Board’s report-
ing and information duties. They also contain the de-
partmental responsibilities of the individual Executive 
Board members, matters that are the responsibility of the 
Executive Board in its entirety, the required majority as 
well as a list of transactions requiring the Supervisory 
Board’s approval. 

The Executive Board of GRAMMER AG had the follow-
ing members as of December 31, 2019:

• Thorsten Seehars, Chief Executive Officer (CEO), 
Chief Human Resources Officer, member of the 
Executive Board since August 1, 2019, appointed 
until July 31, 2022

• Jurate Keblyte, Chief Financial Officer (CFO), 
 member of the Executive Board since  
August 1, 2019, appointed until July 31, 2022

• Jens Öhlenschläger, Chief Operating Officer (COO), 
member of the Executive Board since  
January 1, 2019, appointed until December 31, 2021

 
The basic elements of the remuneration system are 
 described in the remuneration report.

Current target aChieveMent as of deCeMBer 31, 2019 1

senior 
 ManageMent

Middle  
ManageMent

Target quota (international) 15% 20%

Current quota (international) 15% 19%

Target quota (Germany) 10% 15%

Current quota (Germany) 12% 11%

1  Excluding TMD Group; the TMD management levels are to be allocated to the management 

grading system in 2020.
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Work of the supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG monitors and 
advises the Executive Board on the management of the 
Company. The work of the Supervisory Board is gov-
erned by statutory requirements, the Articles of As-
sociation and the rules of procedure. There is also an 
Audit Committee, a Nomination Committee, a Strategy 
Committee, a Personnel and Mediation Committee and, 
since  September 26, 2018, an Executive Committee. The 
Committees met regularly in the year under review. The 
chairman of the Audit Committee is independent and not 
simultaneously the chairman of the Supervisory Board 
and, as a financial expert, possesses special knowledge 
of and experience in the accounting principles and in-
ternal control processes required for this position. He 
was not a member of GRAMMER AG’s Executive Board at 
any time.

The section in the 2019 annual report on the Super-
visory Board and Executive Board contains more infor-
mation on the composition of the Committees. Further 
details of how the Supervisory Board works and the num-
ber of Committee meetings and the main matters dealt 
with in 2019 can be found in the report of the Supervisory 
Board. The remuneration report describes the structure 
and amount of remuneration paid to the Supervisory 
Board. 

The Supervisory Board reviews the efficiency of its 
work annually on the basis of a detailed questionnaire. 
Among other things, it reviews its efficiency in terms of 
the collaboration on the Supervisory Board, the avail-
ability of information and the processes for making 
decisions. It discusses scope for improvement on the 
basis of the results and adopts appropriate measures. 
The last review was carried out in July 2019, following 
which numerous measures were implemented to im-
prove efficiency. 

A list of the offices held by all members of the Super-
visory Board can be found in the section on the Super-
visory Board and the Executive Board.

partiCipation in the Meetings of the  
supervisory Board
In the year under review, the Supervisory Board of 
GRAMMER AG held five ordinary and five extraordinary 
meetings. Five ordinary meetings are planned for 2020. 
In addition, extraordinary meetings will be convened if 
necessary. The committees also meet regularly. In the 
absence of any mandatory statutory provisions to the 
contrary, the resolutions of the Supervisory Board shall 
be deemed to have been passed with a simple majority 
of the vote cast. In the event of a parity of votes, voting is 
repeated, in which case the chairman of the Supervisory 
Board holds two votes.

The Supervisory Board considers the individualized dis-
closure of attendance at the meetings of the Supervisory 
Board and the committees to form an element of good 
corporate governance:

partiCipation in the Meetings of the supervisory Board

supervisory Board
attendanCe at 

Meetings
perCentage 
attendanCe

Andrea Elsner 10/10 100%

Tanja Fondel 1 7/7 100%

Wolfram Hatz 9/10 90%

Martin Heiß 10/10 100%

Ingrid Hunger 10/10 100%

Harald Jung 10/10 100%

Dr. Peter Merten 10/10 100%

Horst Ott  
(Deputy Chairman) 10/10 100%

Dr. Klaus Probst  
(Chairman) 10/10 100%

Lars Roder 10/10 100%

Prof. Dr. Birgit Vogel-Heuser 9/10 90%

Antje Wagner 1 3/3 100%

Dr. Bernhard Wankerl 10/10 100%

1  Ms. Tanja Fondel resigned from her office effective September 15, 2019 and  

Ms. Antje Wagner was appointed by court order effective June 16, 2019.

Strategy Committee

Horst Ott 
(Deputy Chairman) 1/1 100%

Dr. Klaus Probst  
(Chairman) 1/1 100%

Lars Roder 1/1 100%

Dr. Bernhard Wankerl 1/1 100%

Personnel and Mediation Committee  
(in extended form from October 15, 2018 to May 10, 2019)

Andrea Elsner2 4/4 100%

Dr. Peter Merten2 3/4 75%

Horst Ott 
(Deputy Chairman) 4/4 100%

Dr. Klaus Probst  
(Chairman) 4/4 100%

Lars Roder 4/4 100%

Dr. Bernhard Wankerl 4/4 100%

2  Ms. A. Elsner and Dr. P. Merten have been members of the expanded Personnel 

 Committee since October 15, 2018 until May 10, 2019. 

Audit Committee 

Andrea Elsner 5/5 100%

Wolfram Hatz  
(Chairman) 5/5 100%

Martin Heiß 5/5 100%

Dr. Klaus Probst 5/5 100%

Executive Committee

Dr. Klaus Probst  
(Chairman) 6/6 100 %

Horst Ott  
(Deputy Chairman) 6/6 100 %
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CollaBoration BetWeen the exeCutive Board and 
the supervisory Board
The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of 
GRAMMER AG worked closely and in mutual trust for 
the benefit of the Company again in the year under re-
view. The Executive Board’s information and reporting 
duties were defined in its rules of procedure. During the 
meetings of the Supervisory Board, the Executive Board 
and Supervisory Board discussed all key strategic deci-
sions as well as transactions requiring consent openly, 
in detail and subject to strict confidentiality. The Execu-
tive Board kept the Supervisory Board comprehensively 
informed on a regular and up-to-date basis on all key 
matters as well as planning, business performance, the 
risk situation and compliance measures. In addition to 
the regular Supervisory Board meetings attended by 
the Executive Board, the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board discussed all rel-
evant matters on a regular basis. The report of the Su-
pervisory Board provides additional information on the 
collaboration between the Executive Board and the Su-
pervisory Board. In the year under review, the members 
of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board were 
covered by D&O insurance with a deductible of at least 
10% per claim and capped at one-and-a-half-times the 
fixed annual remuneration of the individual member.

CoMplianCe ManageMent systeM
“Integrity forms the basis of our success” is the initial 
statement in GRAMMER’s Code of Conduct, which was 
first published in May 2006, laying the foundations for 
GRAMMER’s present compliance management system. 
Business success can only be sustained if statutory 
provisions and the Company’s internal policies are ob-
served. This corporate culture helps to encourage a sense 
of responsibility in each individual, enhance skills and 
particularly highlight integrity as a basis for working to-
gether in a spirit of mutual trust. The Code of Conduct 
is binding on all employees of the GRAMMER Group. It 
summarizes the main internal and external rules and 
principles and contains binding rules governing fair 
competition as well as requirements concerning safe-
ty, health and environment. The Code of Conduct addi-
tionally contains provisions concerning the treatment of 
confidential information and also governing the avoid-
ance of corruption and insider trading. 

During the year under review, the Executive Board reg-
ularly dealt with the further development of the com-
pliance management system and ensured that the nec-
essary measures were taken. In the year under review, 
a project was continued with the support of external 
advisors to additionally develop the compliance man-
agement system and the risk management system. The 
project was originally to be completed in 2019. However, 
in view of the changes within the Company and in order 
to give the new management sufficient opportunity to 
deal with these matters, the project is now expected to 
be concluded in the course of 2020. The Executive Board 
as a whole is jointly responsible for compliance. Together 
with management, it ensures that each individual in the 
Company abides by the principles of compliance. In addi-
tion, a “Code Team” made up of internal experts has been 
established. The management of the GRAMMER Group 
is responsible for encouraging conduct that conforms 
to the requirements of compliance and for acting as a 
role model.

In addition to the extensive information available 
on the GRAMMER Group’s Intranet, special web-based 
training modules on compliance-related issues are avail-
able for employees, who are awarded a certificate upon 
completing the training successfully. All new employ-
ees attend a face-to-face training course on the Code of 
Conduct.

If employees become aware of any breach of statu-
tory provisions or internal Company policies, they may 
report this to defined internal officers. Information on 
the internal whistleblower system is currently available 
to GRAMMER employees in 14 languages.

There is a high degree of familiarity across the Group 
as a whole with the basic values enshrined in GRAMMER’s 
Code of Conduct. Compliance audits conducted by Inter-
nal Auditing as well as audits of the specialist depart-
ments are further elements of the compliance manage-
ment system at GRAMMER.

transparenCy
GRAMMER AG kept shareholders, shareholder groups, 
financial analysts, the media and the general public 
informed of the Company’s business and material oc-
currences comprehensively informed on a equal basis, 
with minimum delay. As in earlier years, the Company 
used a variety of different media for this purpose. All 
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mandatory disclosures as well as detailed, additional 
information were published on the GRAMMER website 
with minimum delay. The publications, such as ad hoc 
announcements, media releases, interim and annual 
reports were always issued in both languages, German 
and English. Telephone conferences were offered in ad-
dition to the annual press and analyst conference. The 
latest fiscal calendar, which provides information on the 
dates for all key releases and events, can also be viewed 
on the website.

aCCounting and statutory audit
The GRAMMER Group’s consolidated financial state-
ments for 2019 as well as the report on the first half of 
the year and the quarterly reviews were prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). At the annual general meeting held on 
July 12, 2019, Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft, Nuremberg (“EY”), was elected as the statu-
tory auditor of the annual financial statements and the 
consolidated financial statements for the reporting year. 
The proposal had been preceded by an independence 
check. This ruled out any business, financial, person-
al and other relations between the auditors, their cor-
porate bodies as well as chief auditors on the one hand 
and GRAMMER AG as well as the members of its corporate 
bodies on the other hand liable to call into question the 
independence of the auditors. EY submitted a binding 
declaration of independence. The Supervisory Board 
also agreed with the statutory auditors that it was to be 
notified without delay of any findings and occurrences 
material to the duties of the Supervisory Board arising 
during the audit. Accordingly, the auditors undertake to 
advise the Supervisory Board or make a corresponding 
note in their audit report if any evidence is found in-
dicating the presence of any misrepresentation in the 
Code declaration issued by the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board.

direCtors’ dealings
All share transactions are published in accordance with 
article 19 of the European Market Abuse Directive as soon 
as they are disclosed to GRAMMER AG. No directors’ deal-
ings were reported in 2019. 

Amberg, March 3, 2020

GRAMMER AG

For the Executive Board For the Supervisory Board
Thorsten Seehars  Dr. Klaus Probst
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report of the SuperviSory Board

dear shareholders, 
In 2019, the Supervisory Board fulfilled its duties with 
the utmost care in accordance with the Articles of Asso-
ciation, the rules of procedure, the German Corporate 
Governance Code and the applicable statutory require-
ments. It monitored the activities of the Executive Board 
on a thorough and ongoing basis, advising it on all mat-
ters of importance for the Company. 

All important matters were discussed in detail during 
the meetings of the Supervisory Board on the basis of 
written reports submitted in advance by the Executive 
Board. Both the shareholder representatives and the 
employee representatives met before each ordinary 
meeting of the Supervisory Board for preliminary dis-
cussions. The Supervisory Board’s approval was request-
ed in all cases where this was required under the rules 
of procedure. The individual decisions were preceded 
by intense discussion normally on the basis of a corre-
sponding submission or presentation by the Executive 
Board. The Supervisory Board and the Executive Board 
discussed decisions of fundamental importance such as 
strategic issues concerning corporate planning, business 
 policy, business performance, the risk situation and risk 
management.

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board worked 
together constructively, openly and in a spirit of mutual 
trust. The Executive Board also informed the Super visory 
Board outside the meetings of matters of particular sig-
nificance. In addition, the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board discussed current issues directly with the Chief 
Executive Officer, the Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and the Chief Financial Officer. The entire Supervisory 
Board was briefed on the content of these discussions by 
no later than at the next meeting.

Main Matters dealt With at the Meetings of the 
supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board held a total of five ordinary meet-
ings and five extraordinary meetings in 2019. 

No member of the Supervisory Board or its commit-
tees attended only half or fewer than half of the meet-
ings. No conflicts of interests on the part of any of the 
members of the Supervisory Board in connection with 
the exercise of their duties were reported in the period 
under review.

At its ordinary quarterly meetings as well as its 
 extraordinary meetings, the Supervisory Board dealt in 
detail with the Company’s current business and financial 
condition. At these regular meetings, the Supervisory 
Board deliberated on revenue, earnings and capacity 
utilization as well as the financial condition and liquid-
ity situation of GRAMMER AG and the GRAMMER Group. 
In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board dis-
cussed and passed resolutions on numerous matters as 
well as measures requiring their consent.

In its regular reports on the state of the Company, the 
Executive Board reported during the ordinary meetings 
on the general situation with regard to the business of 
the Group and the two Divisions, the financial situation, 
significant investments and projects as well as new busi-
ness. It also described any deviations from the planned 
budget. The Executive Board’s reports to the Super-
visory Board also described macroeconomic trends in 
GRAMMER’s main markets and the status of the Group’s 
headcount. 

report of the supervisory Board

dr. klaus proBst 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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In the fourth quarter, the Supervisory Board dealt in de-
tail with the revised corporate budget. In this connec-
tion, the Executive Board addressed the volatility of the 
external environment and described in particular the 
risks posed by trade policy and the weaker economic 
forecasts for the individual markets. The possible impact 
of different risk scenarios was also presented. In view of 
the muted industry environment and the cautious out-
look on the part of leading automobile and commercial 
OEMs for the coming years, the Executive Board proposed 
a comprehensive program to optimize operating process-
es and cost structures in all parts of the GRAMMER Group. 

In light of this, the Executive Board presented the an-
nual budget for the 2020 financial year, which the Super-
visory Board also discussed in detail with the Executive 
Board and duly approved. 

A further key aspect was the Supervisory Board’s ef-
ficiency review, which took the form of a questionnaire 
and a detailed discussion with all members of the Super-
visory Board at the meeting in question. Overall, the 
Super visory Board’s work was considered to be efficient 
and was rated favorably. Valuable feedback and sugges-
tions for the further development of the Super visory 
Board’s work were received and will be implemented 
in the new year. Among other things, these measures 
include an annual strategy meeting and an executive 
session of the Supervisory Board in the absence of the 
Executive Board. 

Key partnerships, such as the joint venture with the 
Changchun FAWSN Group Co., Ltd. for automotive interior 
components and the joint venture in India with AllyGrow 
Technologies were also discussed at length by the Super-
visory Board.

At the first extraordinary meeting for 2019 held on 
January 21, 2019, which was attended by all members, 
the resolution concerning the multi-year budget was pre-
pared A further important aspect concerned the replace-
ments on the Executive Board for the positions of Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Following a 
broad-based selection process including internal and ex-
ternal candidates, the Supervisory Board deliberated on 
the shortlist of candidates at this meeting and agreed to 
hold a further telephone conference on January 23, 2019.

On January 23, 2019, the second extraordinary meeting 
of the Supervisory Board was held with the attendance 
of all members of the Supervisory Board as well as a 
representative of the personnel consulting company. 
At this meeting, a decision was made to fill the vacant 
positions with external candidates. At the same time, a 
favorite for each of the two positions was determined, 
with whom final negotiations were to be held promptly 
by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board on the basis 
of defined parameters.

The Supervisory Board held its first ordinary meeting 
for 2019 on January 31, 2019. This meeting was attended 
by all members of the Supervisory Board. The main item 
on the agenda for this meeting was the presentation of 
the corporate strategy for 2019 – 2023 by the Executive 
Board. After intense discussion, this was approved by 
the Supervisory Board. The Executive Board provided 
an update on the material asset restructuring project. 
In addition, the preliminary drafts of the report of the 
Supervisory Board for 2018, the corporate governance 
declaration and the combined separate non-financial 
were discussed. In addition, it was agreed to approve the 
budget for 2019 at the meeting of March 15, 2019.

All members attended the second ordinary meeting 
of the Supervisory Board on March 15, 2019, at which a 
resolution was passed to appoint Ms. Jurate Keblyte to 
GRAMMER AG’s Executive Board for a period from August 
1, 2019 until July 31, 2022. She assumed the position of 
Chief Financial Officer. In addition, Mr. Pretscher’s ap-
pointment was extended until August 31, 2019 in the in-
terests of a smooth transition. The final budget for 2019 
was also approved at this meeting. 

A further item on the agenda concerned the audit of 
the annual financial statements and the consolidated 
financial statements. In the presence of the  statutory 
 auditor, the Supervisory Board adopted the parent- 
company financial statements of GRAMMER AG for the 
year ending December 31, 2018 and approved the con-
solidated financial statements of GRAMMER AG for the 
year ending December 31, 2018 without any reservations. 
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In addition, the Supervisory Board dealt with the annual 
report for 2018 including the report of the Supervisory 
Board, the corporate governance report and the remu-
neration report as well as the dividend proposal and 
the agenda for GRAMMER AG’s annual general meeting 
on July 12, 2019.  In particular, it accepted the Executive 
Board’s proposal to ask the shareholders to approve a div-
idend of EUR 0.75 per dividend-entitled share. The sep-
arate non-financial report published in GRAMMER AG’s 
2018 annual report was discussed at length by the Su-
pervisory Board. The report was checked for its appro-
priateness, the implementation of the concepts and the 
internal due-diligence processes. The Supervisory Board 
was satisfied that the measures taken and the sustain-
ability concepts applied are appropriate for addressing 
the risks and opportunities and are in line with the busi-
ness model. The report prepared by the Executive Board 
on the Company’s relationships with affiliated compa-
nies (dependent company report) for the period from 
September 6 to December 31, 2018 was audited by the 
independent auditors, Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschafts-
prüfungsgesellschaft, who issued an unqualified audit 
opinion: 

“Based on our audit and opinion as required by law, we 
confirm that 

1. the factual statements made in the report are 
correct, 

2. the consideration paid by the Company for the 
transactions listed in the report was not unrea-
sonably high or disadvantages were compensated.”

The dependent company report and the auditor’s report 
were submitted to all members of the Supervisory Board 
in good time and discussed in detail at the meeting of the 
Audit Committee on March 1, 2019 and at the meeting of 
the Supervisory Board on March 15, 2019. The indepen-
dent auditor was available at both meetings to answer 
questions and provide information on the dependent 
company report and the main findings of his audit. 

Following its own detailed review and discussion of the 
dependent company report, the Supervisory Board ap-
proved the results of the audit and determined that it had 
no objections to the declaration of the Executive Board 
appended to the dependent company report. 

In addition, the Supervisory Board approved the 
GRAMMER Group’s multi-year budget and discussed the 
risk report. A report was heard on the planned funding 
projects as well as the progress of construction in Ursen-
sollen near Amberg.

The third extraordinary meeting of the Supervisory 
Board was held on April 25, 2019 and attended by 11 mem-
bers. At this meeting, the Supervisory Board passed a 
resolution to appoint Mr. Thorsten Seehars as Chief Ex-
ecutive Officer of GRAMMER AG for a period from August 
1, 2019 until July 31, 2022 and to additionally assign him 
the position of Human Resources Director. His service 
contract was discussed and duly approved.

The fourth extraordinary meeting of the Super visory 
Board was held on July 1, 2019 and attended by 11 mem-
bers. At this meeting, the Supervisory Board heard status 
reports on key projects as well as on the progress made 
in filling vacant top-management positions reporting 
directly to the Executive Board. An update was also pro-
vided on post-acquisition integration of the TMD Group, 
the new joint venture with Allygrow in India as well as 
the progress of construction of the new campus with the 
technology center and corporate headquarters in Ursen-
sollen. At this meeting, the Supervisory Board also dealt 
in detail with the emerging downturn in the economic 
forecasts for the individual markets as well as the bridge 
finance for the TMD acquisition and the refinancing of 
the bonded loan issued in 2013. 

The third ordinary meeting, which was held on July 11, 
2019 and attended by all members of the Supervisory 
Board, primarily dealt with the execution of the efficien-
cy review including the definition of appropriate mea-
sures and preparations for the annual general meeting 
taking place on the following day. The Supervisory Board 
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also approved an amendment to Annex 1 of the Executive 
Board’s rules of procedure. Accordingly, the allocation of 
responsibilities was approved upon the commencement 
by the new CEO and the new CFO of their duties.

The fourth ordinary meeting of the Supervisory 
Board was held on September 26, 2019 and attended by 
all members. Ms. Antje Wagner took part in a meeting 
of the Supervisory Board for the first time. The main 
topics of the meeting were updates on the status of the 
bridge finance for the TMD acquisition, the funding of 
the Campus project and the refinancing of the bonded 
loan which had been issued in 2013. The progress made 
in integrating Toledo Molding & Die, Inc. was also dis-
cussed at this meeting on the basis of a detailed report 
of visits by members of the Supervisory Board and the 
Executive Board.

The fifth extraordinary Supervisory Board meeting 
on November 26, 2019 was attended by 10 members. At 
this meeting, the Supervisory Board approved a new 
syndicated loan required to fund the Group on a long-
term basis.

Waiving requirements with respect to deadlines 
and form, the Supervisory Board approved a syndicat-
ed loan contract comprising an A tranche for increased 
euro- denominated funding and a B tranche for USD- 
denominated funding.

The fifth ordinary meeting of the Supervisory Board 
was held on December 11, 2019 and attended by all mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board. The main items on the 
agenda for this meeting were the budget for 2020, the 
medium-term budget for 2021 and the following years 
and the corporate strategy for the period 2020 – 2024. 
The budget for 2020 was discussed in detail, with the 
Supervisory Board granting its approval. After detailed 
and constructive discussion, the Executive Board and 
the Supervisory Board unanimously decided to revise 
the medium-term budget by the January meeting so as 
to take into account the latest market data and perfor-
mance indicators. Similarly, approval of the corporate 
strategy for the period 2020– 2024 was postponed until 
2020 to allow the new Executive Board to rebalance the 
priorities of the revised corporate strategy towards se-
curing the Company’s long-term and sustained success 

in its various sell-side markets. At this meeting, the 
Super visory Board also dealt in detail with the applica-
tion of the recommendations of the German Corporate 
 Governance Code. The Executive Board and the Super-
visory Board submitted their declaration of conformity 
with the  German Corporate Governance Code on Decem-
ber 11, 2019. The wording of the declaration of conformity 
can be found in the corporate governance declaration.

attendanCe at the Meetings of the supervisory 
Board
A member-by-member breakdown of participation in 
the meetings of the Supervisory Board and its commit-
tees can be found in the corporate governance report. 
[page 44 of the annual report]. Apologies were duly re-
ceived from members unable to attend the meetings of 
the Super visory Board or its committees, who generally 
cast their votes in writing.

CirCulatory resolutions of the supervisory Board
In 2019, the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG passed 
three circulatory resolutions in writing. On January 28, 
2019, the Supervisory Board approved the service con-
tracts with Ms. Keblyte and Mr. Seehars. The service 
contracts were subject to the condition precedent of the 
two persons notifying the Supervisory Board by no later 
than March 13, 2019 that they were able to commence 
their duties with GRAMMER AG on the agreed date. If such 
notification had not been received by that date or the 
commencement date for their duties had not been con-
firmed with binding effect, the service contract would 
have been void. 

In a circular resolution dated May 10, 2019, the Super-
visory Board passed a resolution to alter the structure 
of the USD-denominated finance for the acquisition of 
Toledo Molding & Die, Inc. 

On May 17, 2019, the Supervisory Board approved a 
guarantee contract for the euro-denominated finance. 

The corporate 
governance 
report can be 
found on page 44 
of this report.
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supervisory Board CoMMittees
To facilitate the efficient discharge of its duties, the Super-
visory Board established the following five committees in 
the year under review, which had the following composi-
tion as of the reporting date (December 31, 2019):

The Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG has a Strategy 
Committee, a Personnel and Mediation Committee, 
an Audit Committee, a Nomination Committee and an 
 Executive Committee. Details of the deliberations at the 
meetings of the permanent committees were reported at 
the following meeting of the Supervisory Board.

The Strategy Committee advises the Executive Board 
on the development and implementation of the corporate 
strategy. It monitors the progress being made, prepares 
the consultations and resolutions of the Supervisory 
Board in connection with strategy-related matters and 
submits recommendations to it. The Committee met 
once in 2019. 

Strategy Committee

Horst Ott 

Dr. Klaus Probst (Chairman)

Lars Roder 

Dr. Bernhard Wankerl 

Personnel and Mediation Committee

Horst Ott 

Dr. Klaus Probst (Chairman)

Lars Roder 

Dr. Bernhard Wankerl 

Dr. Peter Merten (until May 10, 2019)

Andrea Elsner (until May 10, 2019)

Audit Committee 

Andrea Elsner

Wolfram Hatz (Chairman)

Martin Heiß 

Dr. Klaus Probst 

Nominating Committee 

Wolfram Hatz

Dr. Klaus Probst (Chairman) 

Dr. Bernhard Wankerl 

Executive Committee (from September 26, 2018)

Horst Ott

Dr. Klaus Probst 

In addition to its duties under the German Codetermi-
nation Act, the Personnel and Mediation Committee 
performs tasks relating to Executive Board matters, It 
prepares personnel decisions to be made by the Super-
visory Board as a whole. It met four times in the year 
under review.

It primarily dealt with the appointment of the new 
Chief Executive Officer and the new Chief Financial 
 Officer. The Personnel and Mediation Committee had 
six members in the period from October 12, 2018 until 
April 25, 2019. This temporary increase in the number 
of Committee members was due to a resolution that had 
been passed by the Supervisory Board on October 9, 2018 
to appoint Ms. Andrea Elsner and Dr. Peter Merten to the 
Committee pending the filling of the vacant positions 
on the Executive Board. Upon Mr. Seehars’ appointment 
on April 25, 2019, this addition to the number of mem-
bers of the Personnel and Mediation Committee was re-
versed. In addition, Ms. Keblyte’s ancillary activities on 
the  advisory board of  Baltic Yachts OY Ab Ltd. and on the 
supervisory board of HAWE Hydraulik SE were approved.

The Audit Committee prepares the resolutions of the 
Supervisory Board on accounting matters and monitors 
the accounts, the accounting system, the efficacy of the 
internal control system, the risk management system 
and the internal auditing system as well as compliance. 
It submits to the Supervisory Board a reasoned recom-
mendation for the selection of the statutory auditor, 
which must include at least two candidates in cases in 
which proposals are requested for the audit engagement. 
It monitors the independence of the statutory auditor 
and also deals with additional services provided by the 
statutory auditor, the grant of the audit engagement to 
the statutory auditor, the determination of the key audit 
issues and the agreement of the fees.

In addition, the risk report was discussed and the 
Super visory Board informed of the progress of the proj-
ect for enhancing the risk management system. The 
Group Risk Manager also participated in the meeting for 
deliberations on this item of the agenda. In addition, the 
head of Internal Auditing presented the audit report for 
2018. Furthermore, the Committee was informed by the 
Executive Board of the current funding projects as well 
as the material asset restructuring project. The Audit 
Committee met five times in 2019.
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The Nominating Committee is responsible for submit-
ting the names of suitable nominees for the Supervisory 
Board to the annual general meeting as well as for defin-
ing in advance the requirements for the specific position 
to be filled. It did not meet in the year under review.

The task of the Executive Committee is to support the 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board in the performance 
of his duties, particularly the preparation of the meet-
ings and the coordination of the Supervisory Board’s 
activities as well as the preparation of the resolutions 
to be passed by the Supervisory Board. The Executive 
Committee is composed of the Chairman of the Super-
visory Board and his deputy. The Executive Committee 
met before the ordinary meetings of the Supervisory 
Board to prepare these.

annual and Consolidated finanCial stateMents
At the annual general meeting held on July 12, 2019, 
Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
Nuremberg, was appointed as statutory auditor of the 
annual financial statements and the consolidated finan-
cial statements for the reporting year. At its meeting of 
July 30, 2019, the Audit Committee engaged the auditor 
for the 2019 annual financial statements and the con-
solidated financial statements. The auditor submitted 
the Statement of Auditor’s Independence as required by 
the German Corporate Governance Code and disclosed 
the auditing and consulting fees charged during the 
fiscal year. Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft audited GRAMMER AG’s annual financial 
statements prepared in accordance with the German 
Commercial Code (HGB) and the consolidated finan-
cial statements of GRAMMER Group prepared in accor-
dance with IFRS as well as the management report for 
GRAMMER AG and the GRAMMER Group. The auditor 
issued an unqualified opinion for the annual financial 
statements and the consolidated financial statements 
for the period ending December 31, 2019. Ernst & Young 
GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft determined 
that the management report of GRAMMER AG and the 
GRAMMER Group provides a true and fair view of the 
Company and of the Group, as well as the opportunities 
and risks with regard to future development.

The auditor was satisfied in accordance with sec-
tion 317 (4) HGB that the Executive Board had instituted 
a suitable monitoring system that meets the statutory 

requirements for an early warning system to identify 
risks threatening the Company’s going-concern status 
and that the Executive Board had implemented appro-
priate measures for early detection of developments and 
for averting risks.

The reports and financial statement documents were 
submitted to the members of Supervisory Board by the 
auditor in a timely manner and examined thoroughly. 
Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
reported on the key results of the audit during the meet-
ing of the Audit Committee held on March 27, 2020 deal-
ing with the annual financial statements and the con-
solidated financial statements and at the Supervisory 
Board meeting also held on March 27, 2020 to review the 
financial statements.

After thorough examination of the annual financial 
statements and the consolidated financial statements for 
2019 as well as the management report of GRAMMER AG 
and the GRAMMER Group, the Supervisory Board raised 
no objections in this regard. The Supervisory Board thus 
endorsed the audit results established by Ernst & Young 
GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft and approved 
the annual financial statements for GRAMMER AG and 
the Group for 2019. GRAMMER AG’s annual financial state-
ments were therefore duly approved. The Supervisory 
Board agreed with the Executive Board proposal for ap-
propriation of net retained profits.

CoMBined separate non-finanCial report
At its balance-sheet meeting of March 27, 2020, the 
Supervisory Board considered the Company’s non- 
financial report. The combined separate non-finan-
cial report submitted by the Executive Board describes 
the Company’s policies in respect of economic, social, 
 ethical and environmental matters.  The current sepa-
rate non- financial report for the 2019 annual report can 
be found on page 26. The Supervisory Board satisfied 
itself that the report had been prepared and reviewed 
the  appropriateness and implementation of its contents 
and the internal due diligence processes and determined 
that the measures taken and the concepts applied for 
sustainability are appropriate for addressing the risks 
and opportunities and are consistent with the business 
model. After careful examination, the Supervisory Board 
approved the GRAMMER Group’s separate non-financial 
report.
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dependent CoMpany report
The report prepared by the Executive Board on the Com-
pany’s relationships with affiliated companies (depen-
dent company report) for the period from January 1 to De-
cember 31, 2019 was audited by the independent auditors, 
Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
who issued an unqualified audit opinion: 

“Based on our audit and opinion as required by law, we 
confirm that 

3. the factual statements made in the report are 
correct, 

4. the consideration paid by the Company for the 
transactions listed in the report was not unrea-
sonably high or disadvantages were compensated.”

The dependent company report and the auditor’s report 
were submitted to all members of the Supervisory Board 
in good time and discussed in detail at the meeting of the 
Audit Committee on March 27, 2020 and at the meeting of 
the Supervisory Board on March 27, 2020. The indepen-
dent auditor was available at both meetings to answer 
questions and provide information on the dependent 
company report and the main findings of his audit. 

Following its own detailed review and discussion of 
the dependent company report, the Supervisory Board 
approved the results of the audit and determined that 
it had no objections to the declaration of the Executive 
Board appended to the dependent company report. 

CoMposition of exeCutive Board and supervisory 
Board
The Supervisory Board appointed Mr. Thorsten Seehars 
to the position of Chief Executive Officer and Human 
 Resources Director of the Company at its meeting of 
April 25, 2019. Mr. Seehars was appointed for the period 
from August 1, 2019 until July 31, 2022. In addition, the 
Supervisory Board decided at its meeting of March 15, 
2019 to appoint Ms. Jurate Keblyte to the Executive Board 

for a period from August 1, 2019 until July 31, 2022. She 
assumed the position of Chief Financial Officer (CFO). In 
the interests of a smooth transition, Mr. Manfred Pret-
scher agreed to a further extension of his appointment 
until August 31, 2019. In August 2019, he remained an 
ordinary member of the Executive Board without any 
departmental responsibility of his own.

With the appointment of Mr. Thorsten Seehars as 
the new Chief Executive Officer as well as the appoint-
ments of Ms. Jurate Keblyte and Mr. Jens Öhlenschläger, 
we made crucial decisions concerning the Company’s 
management in 2019. With these new appointments, all 
positions on GRAMMER AG’s Executive Board have been 
filled on a long-term basis. We are delighted that we now 
have three experienced managers to continue and shape 
the Company’s sustained successful development.

The Supervisory Board would like to express its 
thanks to the Executive Board, the employees and the 
employee representatives of GRAMMER AG for their 
great personal commitment and hard work, without 
which the favorable business performance would not 
have been possible. The Supervisory Board is also par-
ticularly grateful to Mr. Pretscher, who agreed to remain 
available to the Company during the transition period. 
Finally, the Supervisory Board would also like to convey 
its gratitude to the shareholders who placed their trust in 
GRAMMER AG’s Executive Board and Supervisory Board 
last year.

Amberg, March 2020
On behalf of the Supervisory Board

Dr. Klaus Probst
Chairman
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Grammer Share

graMMer share

trends in the gerMan stoCk Markets
2019 was an eventful year for global stock markets, with 
concerns such as Brexit, geopolitical uncertainties, pu-
nitive tariffs, discussions on interest rates and worries 
over growth exerting a heavy influence. The DAX, the 
German selection index tracking the 30 largest compa-
nies, entered 2019 at 10,559 points. With fears of a reces-
sion increasingly fading in the course of the year, equity 
markets launched a late-summer rally and closed 2019 
only slightly below the high for the year. The DAX closed 
at 13,249 points on December 30, 2019, thus posting a 
full-year gain of 25%. The SDAX, a selection index of the 
50 smaller listed companies in Germany, which also in-
cluded GRAMMER up until 2018, also made headway. It 
closed the year at 12,512 points, up 32% on the end of the 
previous year.

the graMMer share in 2019
The challenging conditions in the automotive indus-
try also left traces on the GRAMMER share, which de-
clined in the course of the year. After entering the year 
at EUR 37.70, it reached a high for the year of EUR 39.20 
in April. At the end of 2019 it was trading at EUR 31.95, a 
decline of 15% over the beginning of the year. The market 
capitalization of the roughly 12.6 million shares stood at 
EUR 403 million.

key figures for the graMMer share
On December 31, 2019, the share capital of 
GRAMMER AG totaled roughly EUR 32.3 million, divid-
ed into 12,607,121 bearer shares. Of this, the Compa-
ny holds 330,050 of its own shares as treasury stock. 
GRAMMER  shares are traded on the Frankfurt and 
 Munich stock exchanges via the electronic trading sys-
tem Xetra as well as in over-the-counter trading at the 
Stuttgart, Berlin and Hamburg stock exchanges. 
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key figures for the graMMer share

deCeMBer 31, 
2019

deCeMBer 31, 
2018

Xetra closing price (EUR) 31.95 37.70

High for the year (EUR) 39.20 67.10

Low for the year (EUR) 27.90 30.02

Number of shares 12,607,121 12,607,121

Market capitalization (EUR m) 402.8 475.3

Earnings per share (in EUR) 3.56 1.90

Dividend per share (in EUR) 0.111 0.75

1 Proposed.
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dividend
The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board will be 
recommending at the Annual General Meeting that the 
shareholders approve a dividend of EUR 0.11 per share for 
2019 (previous year: EUR 0.75 per share).

2015 2016 20192017 2018
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Coverage By analysts
At the end of December 2019, the GRAMMER share was 
being covered by six different research companies. The 
consensus target price was around EUR 36 at the end of 
the year. Analysts gave interested parties a regularly up-
dated assessment of the outlook for the GRAMMER shares.

investor relations
In 2019, we continued to keep institutional investors, 
analysts and private individuals informed of the Com-
pany’s business performance, strategy and goals. We 
met institutional investors and analysts at roadshows 
held in financial centers in Europe and took part in na-
tional and international capital market conferences. 
Numerous one-on-one meetings were also held. Besides 

talks in person, capital market participants have nu-
merous other options for keeping abreast of events at 
GRAMMER and the performance of the GRAMMER share. 
We regularly publish ad-hoc bulletins as well as press 
releases and voting right notifications. The annual re-
port, the half-year report and the quarterly reviews also 
contain detailed information and are backed up with 
telephone conferences for multipliers such as analysts 
and journalists. These telephone conferences are re-
corded and made available on GRAMMER’s website at 
www.grammer.com. Further information can be found 
on our website, where we report on all capital market 
activities in the Investor Relations section. In addition, 
the investor relations team can be reached by telephone 
or by e-mail.

shareholder struCture
There were no changes in the shareholder structure 
in 2019 compared with the previous year. Once again, 
Jiye Auto Parts GmbH held 84.23% of the shares. Accord-
ingly, Jiye Auto Parts GmbH is the main shareholder and 
has stabilized the shareholder structure on a long-term 
basis. The diagram below only includes shareholders 
who hold more than 3% of GRAMMER shares and have 
informed GRAMMER of this by means of a voting rights 
notice. In addition, it shows the number of shares held 
as treasury stock. The current shareholder structure and 
voting right notices can also be found in the Investor 
Relations section of the GRAMMER AG website.

shareholder structure¹

in %

¹ As of December 31, 2019.

Free Float 13.15

Own Shares 2.62

Jiye Auto Parts GmbH 
84.23

analyst Coverage of graMMer ag in 2019

Oddo BHF 

Baader-Helvea 

DZ Bank AG

Bankhaus Lampe

Landesbank Baden-Württemberg

M.M. Warburg Investment Research
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Grammer Group
Revenue (2019): EUR 2,038 million

Employees (2019): ø 14,910

automotIve dIvIsIon
Revenue: EUR 1,479.8 million

Employees: ø 10,910

CommerCIal vehICles dIvIsIon
Revenue: EUR 607.4 million

Employees: ø 3,786

Group manaGement 
report

Starting in the 2019 annual report, the Group is referred 
to as the Grammer Group. Rounding differences in the 
disclosures contained in the annual financial statements 
are possible.

referenCes
Contents of Internet sites referred to in the Group man-
agement report are not part of the Group management 
report but merely serve as a source of further informa-
tion. This does not apply to the Group’s corporate gover-
nance declaration pursuant to section 315d in connection 
with section 289f HGB (German Commercial Code) and 
the declaration of conformity with the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code (section 161 AktG (German Stock 
Corporation Act)), which are permanently available on 
the Company’s website at https://www.grammer.com/
en/company/corporate-governance.html. In addition, 
the combined separate non-financial report pursuant 
to sections 289b (3) and 315b (3) HGB is published on the 
Company’s website at https://www.grammer.com/en/
company/sustainability.html no later than four months 
after the reporting date.

forward-lookInG statements
This Group management report contains forward- 
looking statements based on current assumptions and 
estimates made by Grammer’s management of future 
trends. Such statements refer to periods in the future 
or are characterized by terms such as “expect”, “pre-
dict”, “intend”, “forecast”, “plan”, “estimate”, “expect” or 
similar terms. Such statements are subject to risks and 
uncertainties which Grammer can neither estimate 
nor influence with any precision, e.g. future market 
conditions and the macroeconomic environment, the 
behavior of other market participants, the successful 
integration of newly acquired companies, the materiali-
zation of expected synergistic benefits and government 
actions. If any of these or other factors of uncertainty or 
imponderabilities occur or if any of the assumptions on 
which these statements are based prove to be incorrect, 
actual results could differ materially from the results ex-
pressed or implied in these statements. Grammer nei-
ther intends nor is under any obligation to update any 
forward-looking statements in the light of any changes 
occurring after the publication of this document.

1. Basis of the Group

1.1 BusIness model
The Grammer Group is a global group of companies spe-
cializing in the development and production of complex 
components and systems for automotive interiors as 
well as driver and passenger seats for trucks, trains and 
 offroad commercial vehicles. The Group’s business per-
formance correlates closely with the performance of its 
relevant markets and main customers. In the Automotive 
Division these are primarily the global passenger  vehicle 
segment and in the Commercial Vehicles Division com-
mercial vehicle business in the sell-side markets men-
tioned below.

The Grammer Group comprises two Divisions. In the 
Automotive Division, the Grammer Group operates as 
a supplier to the automotive industry, developing and 
producing headrests, armrests, center console systems, 
high-quality interior components and operating ele-
ments as well as innovative thermoplastic solutions. 
The Group sells these products to automotive Oems and 
their Tier 1 suppliers.

In the Commercial Vehicles Division, Grammer op-
erates as a supplier to the commercial vehicles indus-
try, developing and manufacturing driver and passen-
ger seats for trucks and driver seats for offroad vehicles 
(tractors, construction machinery and forklifts) and 
marketing these to commercial vehicle manufacturers 
or as an aftermarket supplier. The segment also devel-
ops and produces driver and passenger seats for sale to 
makers of busses and railway vehicles, as well as rail-
way operators. The Commercial Vehicles Division en-
compasses the business segments Trucks and Offroad 
(tractors, construction machinery and forklifts) as well 
as Railway & Bus.

Alongside the two reportable Divisions, Central 
Services comprises the overarching general corporate 
functions.

Consolidation effects on revenue between the Divisions 
came to eUr 48.7 million.
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1.2 Corporate struCture 
Grammer Aktiengesellschaft is the parent company 
within the Grammer Group, which is managed by an Ex-
ecutive Board composed of three members as of Decem-
ber 31, 2019. Grammer aG acts as an operating holding 
company, which includes the Executive Board members 
as well as business-relevant Group departments such as 
Legal & Internal Audit, Human Resources, Accounting, 
Taxes, Finance, Controlling, Research & Development, 
Communications & Marketing, Quality Assurance, IT, 
Environment and Production, Purchasing and Sales. 

It operates 48 production and logistic plants world-
wide, which manufacture and distribute high-quality 
products for the global vehicle industry in a highly in-
tegrated value chain. In addition to the parent company, 
Grammer aG, the Group includes 39 fully consolidated 
companies as well as two companies accounted for us-
ing the  equity method (see also Note 3 (“Scope of con-
solidation”) in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements). The Grammer Group is active in 20 coun-
tries worldwide. With its global footprint in the various 
regions, it chiefly follows its main customers. 

Grammer shares are traded on the Frankfurt and 
 Munich stock exchanges via the electronic trading sys-
tem Xetra as well as in over-the-counter trading at the 
Stuttgart, Berlin and Hamburg stock exchanges. On De-
cember 31, 2019, the share capital of Grammer aG totaled 
roughly eUr 32.3 million, divided into 12,607,121 bearer 
shares. Of this, the Company holds 330,050 of its own 
shares. 84.23% of the shares issued are held by Jiye Auto 
Parts GmbH according to the notifications available on 
December 31, 2019 pursuant to section 33 WpHG (German 
Securities Trading Act) (see Section 2.5.3). The free float 
comprising the remaining shares currently stands at 
around 13.15%. Own shares account for 2.62%. Effective 
October 8, 2019, Jiye Auto Parts GmbH became an indirect 
subsidiary of Ningbo Jifeng Auto Parts Co., Ltd. following 
a change in its parent company’s shareholder structure. 
Accordingly, the Grammer Group is fully consolidated 
within the Ningbo Jifeng Group as of that date. 

In addition, a decision was made to realign the Grammer 
Group’s structure from April 1, 2020. This entails a shift 
in focus in favor of the core regions emea (Europe, Mid-
dle East and Africa), the Americas (North, Central and 
South America) and China of relevance for the Company 
in order to strengthen the Grammer Group’s organiza-
tional structure at a local and regional level. The regions 
will be responsible for their own income statements, bal-
ance sheets and cash flows. The existing Automotive and 
Commercial Vehicles Divisions will be retained and fo-
cus on customer and product strategies. The global func-
tions (Group departments) will continue to support the 
Divisions and regions by defining standards and offering 
specific services.

1.3 manaGement proCess system
The Grammer Group’s internal value-based manage-
ment process system is primarily aligned to the key 
management indicators revenue, earnings before inter-
est and taxes (eBIT), operating earnings (operating eBIT) 
and Grammer return on capital employed (G-rOCe1). 

The Grammer Group applies operating earnings (op-
erating eBIT) as a key criterion for assessing its operating 
performance. Operating earnings (operating eBIT) are 
defined as consolidated earnings before tax, i.e. net of 
income taxes, finance income and finance expenses as 
well as other financial result adjusted for exceptionals 
(e.g. restructuring expenses, expenses under change-of-
control clauses, transaction costs arising from corporate 
acquisitions and special expenses in connection with 
shareholder-related matters) and currency-translation 
effects. It is not a performance indicator defined in 
 accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IFrS) in the version endorsed by the eU. The 
Grammer Group uses it as it believes that it presents the 
Company’s earning situation more transparently and 
provides a better basis for comparison over time because 
it eliminates exceptional effects liable to adversely affect 
an assessment of its performance.

In 2017, G-rOCe was included in the remuneration 
system for the Executive Board and managers and has 
also been used in the Group management process sys-
tem since 2018. Details of the calculation of G-rOCe can 
be found in the section outlining the principles of the 
remuneration system.

1  G-rOCe is a business indicator defined by Grammer on the basis of the 
 definition of rOCe.
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In addition, net financial liabilities, working capital, 
GeVa1 (Grammer enterprise value added) and gearing 
(net financial liabilities divided by equity) are evaluated 
and monitored as further financial indicators. GeVa is 
also explained in the section entitled “Principles of the 
remuneration system”.

1.4 researCh and development 
Alongside operating performance, the Grammer Group’s 
research and development activities form the basis for its 
competitiveness and market position. The development 
of new products, applications and processes forms a key 
component of our strategy. More than 500 Grammer 
engineers and r&D employees work in the Group-wide 
research and development network with the aim of addi-
tionally enhancing the ergonomics, safety, functionality, 
quality and aesthetics of our products.

In recent years, we have been working continuously 
on optimizing our development network in order to po-
sition ourselves strategically in all core regions and to 
better understand customer expectations and incorpo-
rate them in our products. To this end, we have expanded 
technology centers in the Americas and aPaC in addition 
to research and development in Europe.

To strengthen our position in the Chinese market, 
which is of crucial importance for us, we operate three 
local technology centers in China – in Changchun for 
the Automotive division, in Tianjin for Asian offroad 
business and in Shanghai for both divisions. The close 
proximity to the Chinese market in combination with 
the global coordination of project work will enable us to 
pursue closely interlocked, regional and global coopera-
tion with our customers and to take specific national 
developments into account. We are confident that this 
market proximity and the cooperation with custom-
ers will in the development phase already strengthen 
Grammer’s long-term competitiveness.

In addition, the global development network, devel-
opment processes and costs are to be optimized with the 
establishment of the aLLYGram Systems and Technolo-
gies joint venture in Pune, India, in 2019. 79 engineers 
were already based there as of December 31, 2019.

Non-capitalized research and development ex-
penses came to eUr 64,119 thousand in 2019 (2018: 
eUr 60,634 thousand), equivalent to 3.2% of total revenue 
(2018: 3.3%). In addition to meeting ongoing market and 

customer requirements, we have established a  systematic 
innovation process in the r&D area. By closely linking 
strategic product planning and advanced engineering, 
we want to identify future trends and key developments 
in our markets at an early stage and systematically ini-
tiate and develop our own innovations in response to 
these. 

Particularly noteworthy are new product designs 
in the Automotive and Commercial Vehicles Divisions 
in response to requirements arising from autonomous 
driving and e-mobility. We want to enhance our com-
petitiveness by actively linking product and process 
development. 

For many years now, light-weight construction has 
formed a major thrust of our development activities. 
The aim is to play an active role in the general trend to-
wards weight reduction in automotive engineering as a 
means of cutting fuel consumption and carbon dioxide 
emissions. Looking forward, the use of sustainable eco-
logically sourced materials will also continue to grow 
in importance. In addition to enhancing our  traditional 
products and core technologies, we are increasingly 
 focusing on the integration of electronic subsystems in 
our products. With the combination of new electronic 
operating and control elements and our expertise in 
developing armrests, center consoles, headrests and 
seating systems, we are able to offer solutions for our 
customers. In addition to light-weight construction, 
the thrust of our development activities is targeted at 
designing high-quality and functional surfaces for our 
products as well as new kinematic solutions for consoles. 
Here, we are conducting research into materials as well 
as production processes. We are working continuously 
on advancing our technological capabilities in plastic 
injection molding processes for thermoplastic compo-
nents and light-weight structures, surface finishing and 
metalworking. With integrated, innovative process and 
production technologies, Grammer plans to additionally 
develop its range – particularly in automotive interiors – 
swiftly and in line with future requirements. In addition, 
the Grammer Group is working on solutions for inte-
grating new HmI (human-machine interface) solutions, 
which we will be offering to customers as integrated sys-
tems together with consoles and armrests in the future. 
With respect to headrests, the main focus of the devel-
opment activities is on solutions for electric motors and 

1  GeVa is a business indicator defined by Grammer on the basis of the definition 
of eVa.
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fully automatic adjustments as well as the integration of 
audio and comfort applications in the premium segment 
in particular. We are working on continuously enhanc-
ing existing technologies in the areas of safety, comfort, 
installation space, weight and adjustment mechanisms. 

In the Commercial Vehicles Division, Grammer is 
steadily driving forward the further enhancement of its 
product portfolio with the development of solutions to 
respond to changing market requirements. In doing so, 
Grammer is benefiting from its many years of experi-
ence in engineering suspension seats and ergonomically 
solutions. With the addition of the electronics skills 
amassed over the last few years, Grammer is working 
on integrated and bespoke solutions providing optimum 
cabin comfort and covering all aspects of vehicle control. 
In the offroad segment, activities aimed at expanding 
the current range of HmI solutions are progressing 
 according to schedule; at the same time, however, work 
on the next-generation integrated seat solutions is be-
ing stepped up. In the truck sector, we are working on 
improving the comfort, safety and functionality of our 
latest-generation truck driver seats by adding electric 
motor-driven adjustment functions. Looking forward to 
future generations of truck cabins, we expect demand for 
the integration of ergonomic seating systems with multi-
functional electronic armrests to continue growing. We 
are working closely with universities and customers to 
design the driver cabin of the future. In this way, we are 
able to enter a whole new dimension in the integration 
of vehicle and cabin functions as well as the ergonomic 
design of the cockpit environment. 

In 2019, Grammer was able to showcase its products 
at bauma and was awarded the Red Dot Award Product 
Design 2019:

At bauma 2019, Grammer exhibited the familiar 
 Actimo Evolution driver’s seat in a new design and with 
new functions. One key feature is the seat climate con-
trol system. The 2-stage seat heating function provides 
warmth, while the new climate control system fitted to 
the seat and back upholstery ensures an ideal seat cli-
mate. The new side contour adjustment in the back up-
holstery has also improved support and seating comfort 
for the driver. 

The “Smart Cover”, a ceramic 3-D hardcover, opens up 
new possibilities with regard to protection, durability 
and the optical design of seat cushions with imitation 
leather and fabric covers. 

The integrated “Haptic Warning System” links the seat 
with the assistance systems fitted to the construction 
machine, thus serving as an output medium for these 
systems. 

A design for a noise-canceling system for the construc-
tion machinery sector was also unveiled. To this end, 
loudspeakers are integrated in the headrest of the seat 
to create a quietwork environment. 

Grammer is a shareholder in Commercial Vehicle 
Cluster Südwest (CVC), a communications platform for 
the conceptualization, development, production, service 
and operation of commercial vehicles. Oems, suppliers, 
service providers, testers, researchers and politicians use 
this platform to share information.

Grammer won the Red Dot Award  Product Design 
2019. The “Roadtiger” truck driver’s seat  received the Red 
Dot, which the renowned jury only  bestows on products 
featuring an outstanding design.

In the rail segment, we are continuing to establish 
ourselves as a full-line supplier addressing the entire 
segment, supplying our newly developed seating plat-
forms for high-speed, long-distance and regional trains. 
Grammer presented important new additions to its in-
novative range of modern passenger seats to the public at 
Busworld Europe for the first time. In developing its so-
phisticated solutions, it was able to harness diverse syn-
ergistic effects from its Commercial Vehicles division. 

2. econoMic conditions

2.1 BusIness envIronment

2.1.1 maCroeConomIC envIronment
The global economy experienced more muted growth 
in 2019. According to the International Monetary Fund 
(ImF), global growth slowed on a broad basis compared 
with the previous year to only 2.9% (2018: 3.6%). At the 
same time, underlying conditions increasingly deterio-
rated, prompting the ImF to successively scale back its 
forecast for 2019 in the course of the year. 

The ImF cites growing trade barriers and geopolitical 
and structural factors as the main reason for the slow-
down. These include lower productivity growth and the 
demographic trends of an ageing population in the in-
dustrialized countries. The more restrained momentum 
of the manufacturing sector and global trade was partic-
ularly noteworthy, with growth coming to only 1.0% in 
2019 (2018: 3.7%), while the service sector held up well. 
Increasing protectionism and higher tariffs thus took 
their toll on investment activity. In addition, the auto-
motive industry is shrinking due to specific factors such 
as new emission standards in the Eurozone and China. 

Given the particular importance of the automotive 
industry in Germany, growth in that country fell by one 
percentage point year-on-year to 0.5% in 2019. As the 
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decline in other major Eurozone countries was more 
moderate, the ImF’s projections for the Eurozone as a 
whole assume that economic momentum will slow to 
1.2% (2018: 1.9%). There are also unmistakable signs of 
more muted growth in the United States, where output 
rose by only 2.3% (2018: 2.9%). The ImF mentions  weaker 
capital spending in the United States and a slump in the 
manufacturing sector but says that employment and 
consumption remained robust. The national economy 
is being spurred by reforms such as the tax cuts of 2017, 
which are stimulating growth, and the interest rate cuts 
by the US Federal Reserve.

More muted economic expansion is also evident in 
the emerging and developing countries, where growth 
slowed to 3.7% (2018: 4.5%). According to the ImF, the 
slower pace in China (6.1%, down from 6.6% in the pre-
vious year) is not only due to escalating punitive tariffs 
but also to sagging demand in the country. In Brazil, the 
largest economy in Latin America, gross domestic prod-
uct contracted by 0.1 percentage points this year to 1.2%. 

The political risks arising from the trade dispute and 
Brexit left traces in 2019. Towards the end of the year, 
however, most of these issues had been largely overcome. 
In addition, climate protection attracted intense interest 
in the financial markets.

2.1.2 seCtor envIronment
automotIve Industry In reverse Gear 
The global automotive market experienced a significant 
decline in 2019. The main reasons for this were the trade 
conflict between the United States and China, the un-
resolved trade issues between the United States and the 
eU and the Brexit debate. According to the IHS, passenger 
vehicle output contracted by 5.8% worldwide. Following 
the slump in 2018, vehicle production in China suffered 
a further decline of 8.3% to 24.6 million vehicles in 2019. 
In North America, production figures also fell by 3.8% 
to 16.3 million vehicles. South America was also down 
4.0%, while production in Europe shrank by 4.3%. 

CommerCIal vehICle market softer
According to IHS, global production of commercial 
 vehicles declined by 7% in 2019, although conditions 
varied from market to market. Thus, the Chinese  market 
dropped by 10% and the European market by 4.9%, while 
output in South America climbed by 7.9%. North America 
also saw a 2.4% increase in production. 

aGrICultural maChInery 
According to VDma (German Mechanical and Plant 
 Engineering Association e.V.), 28,979 tractors were reg-
istered for the first time in Germany between January 
and December 2019, 4.7% more than in the previous year. 
VDma assumes that global sales in the agricultural ma-
chinery industry remained flat in 2019, with the German 
market down a slight 3% in all probability. 

ConstruCtIon maChInery seCtor 
VDma’s sales forecasts for construction machinery point 
to growth of 5% in Europe. In Germany, growth of as 
much as 6% is expected, while global growth is in a range 
between 0% and 5%.

materIal handlInG 
The global market for storage technology contracted 
by 2% between January and September 2019 compared 
with the same period of the previous year. Growth in 
China was almost entirely eroded by softening demand 
in Europe. The 5% decline in the global market for bat-
tery-powered counterbalanced forklifts was also the re-
sult of weaker demand in Europe. The market for forklifts  
with internal combustion engines shrank by 7% due to 
lower orders from North America, Asia and Europe.

raIlway Industry 
According to the German Railway Industry Association 
e.V. (VDB), the German railway sector achieved revenue 
of eUr 5.2 billion in the first half of 2019, marking a de-
cline of 3.7 %. At eUr 8.1 billion, order intake exceeded 
the same period in the previous year by around 25%.
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2.2 sIGnIfICant events In 2019 

ChanGe In the exeCutIve Board
On December 20, 2018, the Supervisory Board of 
Grammer aG appointed Manfred Pretscher as interim 
CeO and CFO effective January 1, 2019 to replace CeO 
Hartmut Müller and CFO Gérard Cordonnier, who had re-
signed at the end of 2018 after exercising the change-of-
control clauses in their contracts. At the same meeting, 
the Supervisory Board also appointed Jens Öhlenschläger 
to the Executive Board, assigning him the position of 
Chief Operating Officer and as successor to Manfred 
Pretscher in this position effective January 1, 2019. His 
contract has a duration of three years.

At its meeting on March 15, 2019, the Supervisory 
Board of Grammer aG decided to appoint Jurate  Keblyte 
to the Executive Board and to assign her to the position of 
Chief Financial Officer with effect from August 1, 2019. At 
its meeting on April 25, 2019, the Executive Board passed 
a resolution to appoint Thorsten Seehars to the Executive 
Board and to assign him the position of CeO with effect 
from August 1, 2019. The CeO and CFO contracts were also 
entered into for a period of three years. As a result, all 
positions on the Executive Board have been successfully 
filled. Manfred Pretscher handed over the offices of CeO 
and CFO to the new members of the Executive Board on 
August 1, 2019, departing from the Grammer Group on 
August 31, 2019.

teChnoloGy Center as an assoCIate allyGram In 
IndIa 
Grammer and Allygrow agreed upon in 2018 to found 
the associated company aLLYGram and with this laid a 
foundation stone for a new Grammer Technology Center 
in India, which will be providing development services 
for Grammer’s global plants. Via “aLLYGram Systems 
and Technologies Private Limited”, an associate set up 
in 2019, Grammer aims to optimize its development 
processes and enhance the efficiency of its global r&D 
capabilities. Grammer holds a 30% interest in the asso-
ciate, which is consolidated using the equity method of 
accounting. 

Investment Grade ratInG
In its June 2019 report, Euler Hermes Rating GmbH, Ham-
burg, Germany confirmed its investment grade rating 
for Grammer aG. The rating has been lowered from BBB 
to BBB-. The main rationale for this was the higher debt 
levels following the acquisition of Toledo Molding & Die 
Inc., Toledo (OH),USa, and the mounting market challeng-
es facing the Automotive Division. 

new Campus In ursensollen
The new building, which is being constructed on a 
plot of land measuring around 47,000 square meters in 
 Ursensollen in the Upper Palatinate region in Germany, 
is the largest construction project in the Company’s his-
tory. It is investing a total of more than eUr 75 million 
in two construction phases. The buildings in the first 
construction phase were completed in December 2019, 
with the Executive Board and part of the administration 
staff subsequently moving to the new premises. Looking 
forward, a total of more than 700 Grammer employees 
will be working at the new site in Ursensollen. 

In addition to the corporate headquarters with of-
fice space of 22,000 square meters and the technology 
center, the Grammer Campus in Ursensollen will also 
comprise a design and ergonomics laboratory as well 
as a staff restaurant. For the first time, all research and 
development activities will be pooled in a single place 
at the technology center, thus providing the physical 
basis for optimum collaboration between the various 
departments. 

Grammer’s uppermost goal is to create an attractive, 
healthy, sustainable and modern working environment 
in which employees are able to work and communicate 
creatively and efficiently. This will be achieved by means 
of high and light offices, various meeting rooms and sev-
eral communications hubs. 

JoInt venture aGreement wIth fawsn In ChIna 
On November 5, 2019, Grammer signed an agreement to 
establish a joint venture for automotive interior compo-
nents with CHaNGCHUN FaWSN GrOUP CO., LTD., Chang-
chun, China. FaWSN is affiliated with FaW Group Co., 
Ltd., one of the main automotive Oems manufacturers in 
 China. Under the terms of the agreement, Grammer will 
be holding 50% of the joint venture, which is to be known 
as Grammer FaWSN Vehicle Parts Co., Ltd. The remain-
ing 50% will be held by CHaNGCHUN FaWSN Group Co., 
Ltd. The joint venture will be developing and producing a 
wide range of interior components for passenger vehicles 
assembled by the FaW Group and its foreign partners. 
Grammer will be contributing its development and pro-
duction expertise for consoles, interior components and 
thermoplastic products. Together with its new partner 
FaWSN Group, Grammer has a platform for expanding its 
customer base in China, while simultaneously achieving 
greater penetration of other Asian markets. The new joint 
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venture in Changchun will support Grammer’s growth 
targets in China. The joint venture company is  expected 
to be incorporated in the first quarter of 2020 and to 
commence operations in the second quarter of 2020. 

2.3  overvIew of key fIGures and BusIness 
performanCe 

The Grammer Group generally performed well in 2019 
despite the challenging macroeconomic backdrop, with 
the latest guidance confirmed despite the more muted 
macroeconomic and market conditions. The Grammer 
Group’s results of operations, financial condition and 
net assets also painted a favorable overall picture last 
year. Grammer started 2019 with a stable first quarter. 
Group revenue at the end of March 2019 was up 17.5% 
on the same period of the previous year primarily as a 
result of the contribution made by TmD, which had been 
acquired in 2018, while the eBIT margin came to 4.5%, 
thus matching the previous year’s figure of 4.5%. The 
second quarter of 2019 was also stable, with revenue ris-
ing by 13.4% over the same period in 2018. At the same 
time, the eBIT margin widened to 4.8%, exceeding the 
previous year’s figure of 4.5%. However, with the global 
economy cooling and uncertainties emerging in markets 
around the world in the second half of 2019, there were 
considerable declines in some vehicle markets, which 
left traces on revenue in the Automotive Division as well 
as the Commercial Vehicles Division. Consequently, the 
third quarter painted a mixed picture for the Grammer 

Group, with the mounting tensions in automotive mar-
kets becoming evident. Despite this, the Grammer 
Group’s revenue at the end of September 2019 was up 
14.0% on the same period in the previous year thanks 
to the top-line contribution made by TmD. At 4.0%, the 
eBIT margin again exceeded the previous year’s figure 
of 2.1%. The fourth quarter came under pressure from 
more muted growth in the wake of increasingly softer 
demand across all regions as well as further volatility in 
the sector environment. This caused a year-on-year de-
cline in revenue in the Commercial Vehicles Division in 
the fourth quarter of 2019 in particular, an effect which 
pushed the eBIT margin in this Division down to 7.3%, 
compared with 9.3% in the fourth quarter of 2018. 

The Grammer Group’s revenue reached a historic 
high of eUr 2,038.5 million in 2019 thanks to the con-
tribution made by the TmD Group after its acquisition 
in 2018. As a result, revenue in the Automotive  Division 
climbed to eUr 1,479.8 million (2018: eUr 1,312.6 million), 
whereas revenue in the Commercial Vehicles Division 
(eUr 607.4 million) held steady at the previous year’s 
level (2018: eUr 599.8 million). 
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key fIGures Grammer Group

eur m

Grammer Group automotIve dIvIsIon CommerCIal vehICles dIvIsIon

2019 2018 ChanGe 2019 2018 ChanGe 2019 2018 ChanGe

Revenue 2,038.5 1,861.3 9.5% 1,479.8 1,312.6 12.7% 607.4 599.8 1.3%

EBIT 74.5 48.7 53.0% 51.0 37.7 35.3% 44.1 55.5 -20.5%

EBIT margin (%) 3.7 2.6 1.1%-points 3.4 2.9 0.5%-points 7.3 9.3 -2%-points

Operating EBIT 77.0 75.8 1.6% 48.9 36.8 32.9% 42.7 53.5 -20.2%

Operating EBIT margin (%) 3.8 4.1 -0.3%-points 3.3 2.8 0.5 %-points 7.0 8.9 -1.9%-points

G-ROCE (%) 1 8.4 10.5 -2.1%-points

Capital expenditure (without 
M&A and financial assets) 132.8 73.9 79.7% 70.2 39.8 76.4% 20.6 16.6 24.1%

Employees (number, average) 14,910 13,439 10.9% 10,910 9,381 16.3% 3,786 3,775 0.3%

1 G-ROCE is not reported on the level of divisions.



Despite the mixed economic conditions in the year 
under review, the Grammer Group generated eBIT of 
eUr 74.5 million in 2019, an increase of 53.0% over the 
previous year’s figure of eUr 48.7 million. Adjusted for 
exceptional expenses and currency effects operating 
eBIT came to eUr 77.0 million on December 31, 2019, 
marking an increase of 1.6% over the previous year’s 
figure of eUr 75.8 million. 

There were no significant exceptional expenses in 
2019 compared with 2018. Whereas exceptional expenses 
of eUr 29.9 million had arisen in 2018 due to the takeover 
by Ningbo Jifeng, the acquisition of TmD, the resignation 
of the members of the Executive Board and the business 
discontinuation costs for the Langenfeld plant, a figure 
of only eUr 4.9 million was recorded in 2019. This was 
chiefly related to relocation and restructuring activities 
in Germany and China, the ex-post exercise of change-
of-control rights by individual managers, non-recurring 
trailing legal and consulting costs following the success-
ful takeover of the Company by the majority shareholder 
as well as project expenses for medium-term future re-
structuring efforts in response to the market situation 
(efficiency enhancement program). Exerting the opposite 
effect, non-operating exceptional income arose in 2019 
from the recognition of double-taxation refund claims 
in connection with the quasi-VaT levies PIS and Confins 
(Programa de Integração Social / Contribuição para o 
Financiamento da Seguridade Social) in Brazil. The ex-
ceptional expenses are allocated to the individual Divi-
sions on the basis of their origin. At eUr 2.5 million, net 
currency-translation gains came close to the previous 
year’s figure of eUr 2.8 million.

With revenue rising by 12.7% over the previous year, 
the Automotive Division achieved a 35.3% increase in 
eBIT. Consequently, it was able to increase its contribu-
tion to Group earnings by eUr 13.3 million and cushion 
the effects of the decline in the eBIT margin in the Com-
mercial Vehicles Division. 

The Commercial  Vehicles Division posted a 1.3% increase 
in revenue over the previous year, accompanied by an 
eBIT margin of 7.3% (2018: 9.3%). The decline in earnings 
over the previous year was due to lower revenue from the 
third quarter onwards in tandem with a deterioration 
of margins as a result of the product mix and various 
operating effects.

The Grammer Group responded to the signs of a de-
terioration in market conditions emerging in the third 
quarter by launching comprehensive programs to opti-
mize operating processes and cost structures. In addi-
tion, it started to rebalance the priorities defined in the 
corporate strategy to safeguard the Company’s long-term 
sustainable success in its various markets. 

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equip-
ment, intangible assets and financial assets reached a to-
tal of eUr 133.4 million in 2019, equivalent to an increase 
of 80.5% over the previous year. Among other things, this 
increase was due to the first-time application of IFrS 16, 
under which all leases meeting the defined criteria are 
recognized as assets from January 1, 2019. Adjusted for 
this effect, capital expenditure came to eUr 111.2 million 
and was thus comparable to the previous year’s figure 
of eUr 73.9 million. The actual increase of eUr 37.3 mil-
lion or 50.5% over the previous year was primarily due to 
capital expenditure by the TmD Group, which had been 
acquired effective October 1, 2018, as well as construc-
tion spending on the new Grammer headquarters and 
Technology Center in Ursensollen near Amberg, upper 
Palatinate, work on which began in 2018. Effects from 
the first-time application of IFrS 16 from January 1, 2019 
were valued at eUr 56.0 million, which is not included 
in capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets and financial assets.

The average number of employees was 10.9% higher 
than in the previous year.
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2.4  GRAMMER GRoup REsults of opERAtions

2.4.1 REvEnuE by REGion

Group revenue came to EUR 2,038.5 million in 2019, ex-
ceeding the previous year’s figure of EUR 1,861.3 million 
by EUR 177.2 million. This translates into revenue growth 
of 9.5% over 2018.

GRAMMER Group revenue includes revenues from 
development services totaling EUR 116.9 million (2018: 
EUR 105.3 million). This increase is due to rising devel-
opment contracts in 2019 compared with 2018. This rev-
enue is derived from development activities as well as 
the cost of supplies, tools and equipment incurred by the 
GRAMMER Group until the product in question reaches 
series production. It primarily arises in the Automotive 
Division.

The companies making the largest contributions 
to revenue are located in the EMEA region (Europe, 
Middle East, Africa). Within this region, revenue of 
EUR 1,115.3 million was generated, marking a decline of 
6.4% or EUR 76.1 million over the previous year (2018: 
EUR 1,191.4 million) due to muted market conditions. 
The two Divisions performed disparately in this region. 
Whereas revenue from this region fall substantially 
in the  Automotive Division by 9.8% to EUR 715.5 mil-
lion (2018: EUR 793.4 million), the Commercial 
 Vehicles  Division sustained a small decline of 0.3% to 
EUR 439.8 million (2018: EUR 441.3 million). 

In the Americas (North, South and Central America), 
revenue rose substantially by EUR 243.1 million (66.3%) 
to EUR 609.5 million (2018: EUR 366.4 million) due to the 
acquisition of the TMD Group effective October 1, 2018. 
Accordingly, the Americas was the region contributing 
the second highest revenue within the GRAMMER Group. 
Driven by the acquisition, revenue in the Automotive 
 Division surged by 85.9% to EUR 534.6 million (2018: 
EUR 287.6 million). By contrast, the Commercial  Vehicles 
 Division sustained a minor 3.3% decline in revenue to 

EUR 83.2 million (2018: EUR 86.1 million), which was par-
ticularly evident in offroad and truck business.

APAC (Asia Pacific) posted a small increase of 
EUR 10.2 million (3.4%) in revenue to EUR 313.7 million 
(2018: EUR 303.5 million). There were differences in the 
two Divisions in this region as well. Whereas the Auto-
motive Division had to contend with the consequences of 
market contraction in the Chinese automotive industry, 
resulting in a very slight decline of 0.8% in revenue to 
EUR 229.7 million (2018: EUR 231.6 million), the Commer-
cial Vehicles Division was able to report a very encour-
aging increase of 16.5% in revenue to EUR 84.4 million 
(2018: EUR 72.5 million) in this region.

2.4.2 GRAMMER GRoup EARninGs
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CondEnsEd inCoME stAtEMEnt foR thE GRAMMER GRoup

EuR k

2019 2018 ChAnGE

Revenue 2,038,507 1,861,292 177,215

Cost of sales -1,807,144 -1,649,485 -157,659

Gross profit 231,363 211,807 19,556

Selling expenses -41,824 -37,769 -4,055

Administrative expenses -136,875 -146,527 9,652

Other operating income 21,872 21,228 644

Earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT) 74,536 48,739 25,797

Financial income 3,460 1,506 1,954

Financial expenses -21,502 -13,501 -8,001

Other financial result -2,365 -2,276 -89

Financial result -20,407 -14,271 -6,136

Share of earnings of joint 
ventures 9,438 0 9,438

Earnings before tax 63,567 34,468 29,099

Income taxes -20,089 -11,256 -8,833

Net profit 43,478 23,212 20,266

 

EuR M

GRAMMER GRoup AutoMotivE division CoMMERCiAl vEhiClEs division

2019 2018 ChAnGE 2019 2018 ChAnGE 2019 2018 ChAnGE

EMEA 1,115.3 1,191.4 -6.4% 715.5 793.4 -9.8% 439.8 441.3 -0.3%

Americas 609.5 366.4 66.3% 534.6 287.6 85.9% 83.2 86.1 -3.3%

APAC 313.7 303.5 3.4% 229.7 231.6 -0.8% 84.4 72.5 16.5%

Revenue 2,038.5 1,861.3 9.5% 1,479.8 1,312.6 12.7% 607.4 599.8 1.3%



The GRAMMER Group achieved earnings before interest 
and taxes (EBIT) of EUR 74.5 million as of December 31, 
2019 (2018: EUR 48.7 million), equivalent to an increase of 
53.0% (EUR 25.8 million) over the previous year. 

In contrast to 2018, which had come under pres-
sure from exceptional effects of EUR 29.9 million 
(see  Section 2.3), exceptional effects in 2019 came to 
a total of EUR 4.9 million. These include expenses of 
EUR 1.7 million in connection with the ex-post exercise 
of change-of-control rights on the part of individual 
managers, non-recurring trailing legal and consulting 
costs of EUR 0.8 million in connection with the take-
over of the Company by the majority shareholder, trail-
ing trans action costs of less than EUR 0.1 million for 
the acquisition of TMD, as well as project expenses of 
EUR 1.0 million for medium-term future restructuring 
efforts in response to the market situation (efficiency en-
hancement program) and the resultant relocation and 
restructuring costs of EUR 3.3 million arising in Europe 
and China. These exceptional expenses were offset by ex-
ceptional income of EUR 2.0 million from refund claims 
relating to miscellaneous tax in Brazil. The EBIT margin 
came to 3.7% in 2019 (2018: 2.6%).

In addition, EBIT was affected by currency-transla-
tion gains of EUR 2.5 million in 2019. These particularly 
arose from the favorable exchange rate of the Mexican 
peso against the US dollar. In 2018, currency-translation 
gains of EUR 2.8 million had also exerted a positive effect 
on EBIT. These were very largely caused by the Mexican 
peso, the Turkish lira, the Japanese yen and the Czech 
koruna against the euro.

Adjusted for exceptional effects and currency-trans-
lation effects, operating EBIT came to EUR 77.0 million in 
2019 (2018: EUR 75.8 million), thus exceeding the previous 
year by EUR 1.2 million (1.6%). The operating EBIT margin 
narrowed from 4.1% in 2018 to 3.8% in the year under 
review. The cost of sales increased by EUR 157.7 million 
or 9.6% to EUR 1,807.1 million (2018: EUR 1,649.5 million) 
largely as a result of the increased revenue arising from 
the inclusion of TMD Group, which had been acquired in 
2018. At 11.3%, the gross margin was virtually unchanged 
(2018: 11.4%). 

Sales expenses rose proportionately by EUR 4.0 mil-
lion over the previous year to EUR 41.8 million (2018: 
EUR  37.8 million). As a percentage of revenue, they 
climbed slightly to 2.1% (2018: 2.0%).

Administrative expenses dropped by EUR 9.6 million or 
6.6% to EUR 136.9 million (2018: EUR 146.5 million). These 
expenses were substantially lower than in the previous 
year primarily as a result of the aforementioned excep-
tional effects arising in 2018. 

The staff costs included in the above items climbed 
by EUR 61.1 million to a total of EUR 486.3 million (2018: 
EUR 425.2 million) for business-related reasons and as 
a result of the consolidation of TMD. At 23.9%, the staff 
cost ratio was up on the previous year (2018: 22.8%) due 
to TMD’s more personnel-intensive business model.

Other operating income increased by EUR 0.7 million 
from EUR 21.2 million in the previous year to EUR 21.9 mil-
lion in 2019. This is due to higher income from the sale 
of steel scrap and the like as well as recharged handling 
costs compared with the previous year. This also in-
cludes the refund claim of EUR 2.0 million for miscella-
neous taxes in connection with the double taxation in 
Brazil with respect to the two quasi-VAT levies “PIS and 
Confis”.

At EUR 20.4 million, net finance expense was well 
up on the previous year’s figure of EUR 14.3 million. The 
finance income included in this item rose by EUR 2.0 mil-
lion to EUR 3.5 million (2018: EUR 1.5 million) particularly 
as a result of the positive interest effect in connection 
with the refund claim for miscellaneous taxes. Finance 
expenses increased by EUR 8.0 million to EUR 21.5 mil-
lion (2018: EUR 13.5 million) primarily due to higher inter-
est expenses of EUR 14.9 million (2018: EUR 9.7 million) 
for loans taken out to finance the acquisition of the TMD 
Group. At EUR 2.7 million, interest expenses on retire-
ment benefit obligations were virtually unchanged over 
the previous year (2018: EUR 2.6 million). Currency-trans-
lation of foreign-currency items and Group loans had a 
negative effect on net finance income/finance expense 
of EUR 2.3 million (2018: EUR 2.3 million).

In 2019, a share of earnings of joint ventures of EUR 
9.4 million was recognised. The loan to GRA-MAG LLC, a 
joint venture accounted for using the equity method, was 
written up to it’s nominal value. At the end of 2019, a loan 
to the joint venture company GRA-MAG LLC was no longer 
classified as a net investment in a foreign operation due 
to future positive payment forecasts. 
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Earnings before tax rose by eUr 29.1 million from 
eUr 34.5 million in 2018 to eUr 63.6 million in 2019. This 
increase was due to the absence of the exceptional effects 
that had exerted strong pressure in 2018. 

At eUr 20.1 million, tax expense was up on the previ-
ous year’s figure of eUr 11.3 million, rising by eUr 8.8 mil-
lion or 77.9%. This reflects the substantially higher 
earnings before tax compared to 2018, which had been 
characterized by exceptional effects. In addition, adjust-
ments were made to deferred tax assets on unused tax 
losses in the amount of eUr 7.1 million. This affected 
companies in Belgium, in the United States, in China and 
Spain. At 31.6%, the tax rate fell short of the previous 
year’s figure of 32.7%.

Net profit came to eUr 43.5 million in 2019, thus ris-
ing by eUr 20.3 million from eUr 23.2 million in 2018. 
Relative to revenue, the post-tax margin came to 2.1% 
(2018: 1.2%).

Basic earnings per share are calculated by reference 
to net profit for the year adjusted for non-controlling 
interests and stand at eUr 3.56 in 2019 (2018: eUr 1.90).

G-rOCe for 2019 came to 8.4% (2018: 10.5%). G-rOCe 
is calculated on the basis of operating eBIT and average 
operating assets over the last four quarters (see 3.3 Prin-
ciples of the remuneration system for further details). 
The assets and liabilities acquired with the takeover of 
TmD were included in average operating assets in 2018. 
In the first three quarter of 2018, TmD’s assets and liabili-
ties were not included. Assuming that the fourth quarter 
of 2018 is used for calculating G-rOCe, the G-rOCe for 
2018 stands at 8.4%. On the basis of this assumption, the 
G-rOCe for 2019 of 8.4% is unchanged over the previous 
year. 

2.4.3  approprIatIon of profIt
The appropriation of profit by the Grammer Group 
is based on the net profit/loss recorded in the finan-
cial statements of Grammer aG, which are prepared 
in accordance with the German Commercial Code. On 
December 31, 2019, Grammer aG posted net profit of 
eUr 37.7 million (2018: eUr 41.6 million). This includes 
profit of eUr 32.4 million carried forward and the net loss 
for the year of eUr 5.3 million. No profit was retained. The 
Executive Board of Grammer aG will be proposing to the 
Supervisory Board and the Annual General Meeting that 
a dividend of eUr 0.11 (2018: eUr 0.75) per share be paid 
with a resulting total dividend of eUr 1.4 million and that 
the balance of eUr 36.3 million (2018: eUr 9.2 million) be 
carried forward. In this connection, allowance was made 
for the fact that Company holds a total of 330,050 of its 
own shares, which are not dividend-entitled. If the num-
ber of dividend-entitled shares changes before the date 
of the annual general meeting, the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board of Grammer aG will present a duly 
adjusted dividend proposal to the meeting.

2.4.4 automotIve dIvIsIon
Revenue in the Automotive Division rose by 
eUr 167.2 million or 12.7% over the previous year to 
eUr 1,479.8 million in the period under review (2018: 
eUr 1,312.6 million). The increase resulted primarily 
from the acquisition of the TmD Group, which had been 
consolidated for the first time in October 2018.

However, the Division’s revenue contracted by 9.8% 
or eUr 77.9 million in emea for market-related reasons. 
Revenue in this region dropped from eUr 793.4 million 
to eUr 715.5 million. The main driver was Germany, 
where revenue fell by 10.4% or eUr 62.0 million from 
eUr 595.6 million to eUr 533.6 million. 

In the Americas, the acquisition of the TmD Group 
in particular caused revenue to rise by 85.9% or 
eUr  247.0  million over the previous year. Accord-
ingly, the Division’s revenue in this region came to 
eUr 534.6 million.

Revenue in aPaC dropped very slightly by 0.8% from 
eUr 231.6 million to eUr 229.7 million in 2019.
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eBIT in the Automotive Division came to eUr 51.0 million 
in 2019, thus increasing by a gratifying eUr 13.3 million or 
35.3% over the previous year’s figure of eUr 37.7 million. 
Positive currency-translation effects of eUr 2.5 million 
(2018: eUr 0.9 million) and non-recurring  exceptional 
expenses of eUr 0.6 million were recorded in 2019. The 
positive currency-translation effects in 2018 and 2019 
were primarily caused by the exchange rates of the 
USD dollar, the Mexican peso and the Czech koruna. 
The exceptional expenses resulted from relocations in 
Germany. These measures were taken as a preliminary 
response to slower growth in the wake of increasingly 
softer demand in the automotive market.

Thus, operating eBIT adjusted for currency-transla-
tion and exceptional effects came to eUr 48.9 million 
in 2019, up eUr 12.1 million or 32.9% over the previous 
year’s figure of eUr 36.8 million. Accordingly, the oper-
ating eBIT margin widened to 3.3% (2018: 2.8%) despite 
the tense situation of the automotive market.

2.4.5 CommerCIal vehICles dIvIsIon
In the period under review, revenue in the Commercial 
Vehicles Division rose by eUr 7.6 million or 1.3% over the 
previous year to eUr 607.4 million (2018: eUr 599.8 mil-
lion). The increase was particularly underpinned by 
growth in the markets for driver and passenger seats for 
trucks and driver seats for offroad commercial vehicles 
(tractors, construction machinery and forklifts) in all 
regions, although stable growth was recorded in China. 
Growth was also recorded in Railway & Bus business, 
especially in Europe, although the market leveled off in 
the third quarter of 2019. Overall, China more than made 
up for the flat revenue in Europe and the Americas in the 
Commercial Vehicles Division. 

Revenue in emea dropped slightly from eUr 441.3 mil-
lion to eUr 439.8 million as a result of weaker demand 
on the part of key-account customers Daimler, DaF and 
maN in the truck segment. However, revenue in Germany 
increased slightly by eUr 3.5 million from eUr 367.6 mil-
lion in 2018 to eUr 371.1 million in 2019.

Despite contrary market trends revenue in the  Americas 
dropped slightly by 3.3% from eUr  86.1 million to 
eUr 83.2 million due to lower volumes in Brazil in the 
truck segment.

Revenue in aPaC climbed significantly by 16.5% from 
eUr 72.5 million in 2018 to eUr 84.4 million in 2019, 
driven in particular by the growth in truck business in 
China (Shaanxi) and in offroad business in China, Korea 
and Japan.

Division eBIT declined substantially by eUr 11.4 mil-
lion or 20.5% from eUr 55.5 million to eUr 44.1 million 
in 2019, reflecting the tense situation in the international 
commercial-vehicle and offroad markets, particularly in 
the second half of the year. In addition to softening de-
mand, the product mix as well as exceptional  expenses 
arising from relocations in China and new product 
launches in the United States exerted pressure on the 
eBIT margin.

Operating eBIT fell by eUr 10.8 million or 20.2% 
from eUr 53.5 million in 2018 to eUr 42.7 million in 
2019. Negative currency-translation effects came to 
eUr 0.2 million (2018: positive eUr 2.0 million). There 
were also non-recurring positive exceptional effects of 
eUr 1.6 million. The negative currency-translation ef-
fects particularly arose from trends in the exchange rates 
of the Chinese yuan, the Japanese yen, the Czech koruna 
and the Turkish lira. The positive special effects result-
ed from a non-recurring double taxation refund claim 
for VaT in Brazil, which also impacted eBIT. As a result 
of these effects, the operating eBIT margin contracted 
substantially to 7.0% (2018: 8.9%). 
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2.5 fInanCIal posItIon

2.5.1 fInanCe and lIquIdIty manaGement
The syndicated loan contract taken out by Grammer aG 
in 2013 (eUr 180.0 million) has a term of five years plus 
two one-year renewal options. Grammer exercised the 
second renewal option in 2015. The term thus expires 
on October 31, 2020. The syndicated loan is divided into 
a  facility of eUr 100.0 million (tranche A) for general 
corporate financing and a facility of eUr 80.0 million 
(tranche B) for acquisition finance, which was  terminated 
as part of the acquisition of the TmD Group and the 
funding of this transaction. Negotiations to refinance 
the syndicated loan contract expiring on October 31, 
2020 were commenced in 2019. The negotiations were 
successfully completed in February 2020 (see Note 36, 
Events subsequent to the reporting date). 

In addition to the syndicated loan, Grammer’s 
funding is secured by means of medium-term bonded 
loans, long-term private placements and bilateral loans. 
Grammer aG and two other domestic Group companies 
are parties to the syndicated loan agreement, under 
which each creditor has the right to demand prema-
ture repayment in the event of a change of control. For 
the purposes of these contracts, a change of control is 
deemed to arise as soon as one or several persons act-
ing jointly acquire at least 30% of the voting capital of 
Grammer aG or the other borrowers. 

As of December 31, 2019, the bonded loan had an 
outstanding value of eUr 137.0 million. As well as this, 
USD-denominated bonded loans of eUr 20.0 million were 
issued for the Group in 2019. In addition to a bilateral 
bank loan, these are components of the funding  strategy 
for 2019 for the acquisition of TmD. eUr- denominated 
bonded loans of eUr 44.0 million expiring in 2019 were 
successfully refinanced and increased to eUr 55.0 mil-
lion. Termination rights in the event of a change of con-
trol are also provided for in the agreements underlying 
the bonded loans and the private placements.  

In connection with the acquisition of Toledo 
 Molding & Die, Inc. (TmD), Grammer aG had taken out a 
bridge loan of USD 260 million with a term of 12 months 
with core banks in 2018, exercising the agreed six-month 
renewal option towards the end of the 2nd quarter of 
2019. In addition, a USD- denominated loan of USD 25.0 
million was raised in 2019.

A long-term mortgage-secured (development) loan of a 
total of eUr 50,0 million was disbursed for the purpose 
of funding the new Grammer Campus in Ursensollen 
near Amberg.

In pursuing funding activities, Group Finance 
 attaches importance to timing aspects in the inter-
est-rate structure so that short-term drawdowns are 
based on floating rates, while medium to long-term 
funding generally applies fixed rates based on match-
ing maturities. Operating cash flows and the availabil-
ity of adequate external capital are managed centrally 
by Group Treasury except in cases where legislation in 
a specific local jurisdiction limit the scope for doing 
this. The Grammer Group’s main financial priority is 
to maintain its credit rating and to establish a balanced 
maturity structure and diversified funding portfolio to 
safeguard liquidity over the long term. Group Finance 
handles worldwide payment transactions and the ad-
ministration of the cash pool in consultation with the 
local companies for ensuring adequate liquidity for 
Grammer aG’s subsidiaries, as well as determining the 
extent to which the system is permitted and effective 
within the given legal and economic circumstances. For 
the purposes of managing financial risks, interest rate 
and currency risks are hedged centrally using customary 
derivative financial instruments. 

At eUr 220.0 million, non-current financial liabili-
ties were up eUr 58.0 million on the previous year (2018: 
eUr 162.0 million). At eUr 207.7 million, current finan-
cial liabilities were substantially lower than in the pre-
vious year (2018: eUr 295.7 million).

New financial liabilities of a total of eUr 148.2 mil-
lion were raised in 2019. These primarily related to the 
funding of the Grammer Campus in Ursensollen, the 
long-term refinancing of a bonded loan and prorata refi-
nancing of the bridge finance for the acquisition of TmD. 
This was offset by repayments of eUr 189.7 million, of 
which the partial repayment of the bridge finance for the 
acquisition of TmD accounted for the greatest portion.

The cash flow from operating activities declined by 
eUr 19.6 million (–13.6%) from eUr 143.6 million in 2018 
to eUr 124.0 million in 2019 due to an increase in work-
ing capital. As the reduction in liabilities compared to 
the previous year exceeded the decline in receivables, 
there was an overall negative effect from working capi-
tal, which eroded the substantially positive effects from 
earnings before tax.
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At eUr 103.8 million in 2019, the cash outflow from in-
vesting activities was substantially down on the previous 
year (2018: eUr 269.4 million). The previous year’s figure 
had included outgoing payments of eUr 196.8 million 
for the acquisition of the TmD Group on October 1, 2018. 
In 2019, capital expenditure on property, plant and 
equipment exceeded the previous year  substantially, 
coming to eUr 104.9 million (2018: eUr 68.2 million) 
due to further expansion of production facilities in both 
Divisions as well as the ongoing construction of the new 
Grammer Campus in Ursensollen. Capital expenditure 
on  intangible assets came to eUr 5.7 million in 2019 
and was thus unchanged over the previous year (2018: 
eUr 5.7 million).

All in all, there was a cash outflow of eUr 85.7 million 
from financing activities in 2019. In the previous year 
there had been a cash inflow of eUr 184.2 million partic-
ularly due to the loans raised for the acquisition of TmD. 

Consequently, the Grammer Group had liquidi-
ty of eUr 142.7 million as of December 31, 2019 (2018: 
eUr 204.4 million). Overdraft facilities utilized (includ-
ing current liabilities under factoring agreements) of 
eUr 19.0 million (2018: eUr 11.1 million) must be deduct-
ed from this. Accordingly, the cash flow components of 
cash and cash equivalents stood at eUr 123.7 million as 
of December 31, 2019 (2018: eUr 193.3 million).

2.5.2 CapItal struCture
As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s share capital 
amounted to eUr 32,274,229.76 (2018: eUr 32,274,229.76) 
divided into 12,607,121 (2018: 12,607,121) shares. All shares 
(with the exception of treasury stock) accord the same 
rights; shareholders have a right to payment of the ap-
proved dividend and may exercise one vote for each share 
at the Annual General Meeting. 

At the Annual General Meeting held on May 28, 
2014, a resolution was passed to grant authorization 
to issue bonds with warrants and/or convertible bonds 
on or before May 27, 2019 subject to the exclusion of 
the shareholders’ preemptive subscription rights. The 
share capital was increased on a contingent basis by up 
to eUr 14,777,182.72 for this purpose (Contingent  Capital 
2014/I). Following partial utilization, Contingent  Capital 
2014/I stood at eUr 12,057,318.40 as of December 31, 
2018. The Executive Board did not make any further use 
of Contingent Capital 2014/I in 2019. Accordingly, the 

Executive Board’s authorization to issue bonds with war-
rants and/or convertible bonds subject to the exclusion 
of the shareholders’ preemptive subscription rights duly 
expired on May 27, 2019. No new authorization to issue 
bonds with warrants and/or convertible bonds or to in-
crease the Company’s share capital on a contingent basis 
was granted at the Annual General Meeting held in 2019. 

The capital reserve amounted to eUr 129,796  thousand 
as of December 31, 2019 (2018: eUr 129,796 thousand) 
Accordingly, the capital reserve as of December 31, 2019 
includes premiums from the capital increases in 1996, 
2001, 2011 and 2017. The revenue reserve amounted to 
eUr 263,408 thousand (2018: eUr 228,920 thousand) as 
of December 31, 2019. 

2.5.3  dIsClosure of shareholdInGs In aCCordanCe 
wIth seCtIon 33 wphG 

Under the Securities Trading Act (WpHG), any person 
whose shareholding in a listed company reaches, ex-
ceeds or falls below certain percentages of the voting 
rights by purchase, sale or by any other means must im-
mediately notify the Company and the Federal Financial 
Supervisory Authority. The lowest notification threshold 
is 3%. An overview of the current status of notified share-
holdings that exceed the 3% threshold as of December 31, 
2019 is included in the notes to the Grammer Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
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2.5.4 OwN SHARES 
The Annual General Meeting passed a resolution on 
May 28, 2014 to authorize the Executive Board to acquire 
treasury stock amounting to no more than 10% of the 
share capital on or before May 27, 2019. The Executive 
Board of GRAMMER AG did not make use of the authori-
zation to acquire treasury stock in the year under review 
or in the previous year. Authorization to acquire treasury 
stock expired at the end of the day on May 27, 2019. No 
new authorization to acquire treasury stock was granted 
at the Annual General Meeting in the year under review. 
GRAMMER holds 330,050 treasury shares, all of which 
were acquired in 2006. These shares have a total value of 
EUR 844,928.00 and represent 2.618% of the share capital. 
The 330,050 shares held as treasury stock are non-voting 
and non-dividend-entitled. 

2.5.5 CApitAl ExpENdituRE 

tOtAl CApitAl ExpENdituRE
The GRAMMER Group’s capital expenditure came to 
EUR 133.4 million in 2019, thus substantially exceed-
ing the previous year’s figure of EUR 73.9 million. One 
of the main reasons for the level of capital expenditure 
occurring in 2019 is the new accounting standard IFRS 16, 
which was applied for the first time from January 1, 2019. 
The effect of the standard for the lessee is that virtually 
all leases are recognized in the statement of financial 
position because the distinction between operating and 
finance leases provided for in the previous standard on 
lease accounting (IAS 17) has been eliminated. Under the 
new standard, assets (rights to use the leased asset) and 
financial liabilities for future lease payments or rentals 
are recognized during the term of the lease. These as-
sets are shown as additions in the statement of changes 
in assets and thus form part of capital expenditure. In 
2019, the GRAMMER Group recognized lease assets of a 
total of EUR 22.2 million in accordance with IFRS 16. A 
comparative figure for the previous year is not available 
as the GRAMMER Group applies the simplified transition 
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EuR m

2019 2018 CHANgE

Commercial Vehicles 20.6 16.6 24.1%

Acquired 18.3 16.6 10.2%

    of which property, 
plant and equipment 13.6 13.4 1.5%

    of which intangible 
assets 4.7 3.2 46.9%

    of which financial 
assets 0.0 0.0 NA

Right-of-use assets 
(IFRS 16) 2.3 0.0 NA 2

EuR m

2019 2018 CHANgE

Central Services 42.6 17.6 142.0%

Acquired 41.0 17.6 133.0%

    of which property, 
plant and equipment 39.7 15.6 154.5%

    of which intangible 
assets 0.7 2.0 -65.0%

    of which financial 
assets 0.6 0.0 NA

Right-of-use assets 
(IFRS 16) 1.6 0.0 NA 2

EuR m

 2019 2018 CHANgE

GRAMMER Group 1 133.4 73.9 80.5%

Acquired 111.2 73.9 50.5%

    of which property, 
plant and equipment 104.9 68.2 53.8%

    of which intangible 
assets 5.7 5.7 0.0%

    of which financial 
assets 0.6 0.0 NA

Right-of-use assets 
(IFRS 16) 22.2 0.0 NA 2

1  First-time application effects of IFRS 16 of EUR 56.0 million as of January 1, 2019 not 

included. 

2  Not comparable due to the application of IFRS 16.

EuR m

2019 2018 CHANgE

Automotive 70.2 39.8 76.4%

Acquired 51.8 39.8 30.2%

    of which property, 
plant and equipment 51.5 39.2 31.4%

    of which intangible 
assets 0.3 0.6 -50.0%

    of which financial 
assets 0.0 0.0 NA

Right-of-use assets 
(IFRS 16) 18.4 0.0 NA 2



method (modified retrospective method) and therefore 
did not retrospectively adjust the comparative informa-
tion in the year of first-time application. Additions of 
lease assets recognized in accordance with IFrS 16 par-
ticularly relate to new long-term leases valued at eUr 
16.0 million in China and the United States in 2019. In 
addition, total capital expenditure in 2019 does not in-
clude effects of eUr 56.0 million arising from initial ap-
plication as of January 1, 2019. These effects from initial 
application include all former operating leases in exis-
tence as of December 31, 2018 required to be recognized 
under IFrS 16.

CapItal expendIture exCludInG rIGht- 
of-use assets under Ifrs 16
Capital expenditure excluding leased assets recognized 
under IFrS 16 came to eUr 111.2 million, thus exceed-
ing the previous year’s figure of eUr 73.9 million by 
eUr 37.3 million or 50.5%. Capital expenditure on prop-
erty, plant and equipment stood at eUr 127.1 million in 
2019. Adjusted for the right-of-use assets of eUr 22.2 mil-
lion recognized under IFrS 16, capital expenditure on 
property, plant and equipment reached eUr 104.9 million 
and was consequently also well in excess of the previous 
year’s figure of eUr 68.2 million. Of these additions to 
property, plant and equipment, the Automotive Division 
accounted for eUr 51.5 million (2018: eUr 39.2 million) 
and the Commercial Vehicles Division for eUr 13.6 mil-
lion (2018: eUr 13.4 million). Capital expenditure on 
property, plant and equipment for Central Services came 
to eUr 39.7 million (2018: eUr 15.6 million).

Capital expenditure in the Automotive Division fo-
cused on Mexico, the Czech Republic and the United 
States. In Mexico, spending on the production of con-
soles and headrests was stepped up in Queretaro to ac-
commodate the large number of new product launch-
es. In the Czech Republic, investments were made in 
console production at the Zatech site. In the United 
States, further investments were made in Tennessee in 
the construction of a new production plant for plastic 
components. The TmD Tennessee plant in Fayetteville, 
Tennessee, United States, arose from the TmD Group. In 
addition, there was capital spending on plant and assem-
bly equipment for console production at the Tupelo site 
in Mississippi, United States.

Capital spending in the Commercial Vehicles  Division 
concentrated on Germany and the Czech Republic. In 
Germany, expansion and rationalization spending was 
again stepped up at the Haselmühl site in 2019. In the 
Czech Republic, seat production was expanded at the 
Tachov site.

As well as this, investments were made in site safety 
and environmental protection in both Divisions.

Capital expenditure in Central Services particularly re-
lated to the new Grammer Campus in Ursensollen near 
Amberg, construction of which commenced in 2018, 
and is the reason for the higher capital expenditure on 
property, plant and equipment. The Grammer Campus 
includes the construction of new headquarters with 
22,000 square meters of office space, a technology cen-
ter, a design and ergonomics lab and a staff restaurant. 
 Construction expenses of eUr 55.1 million in 2019 were 
capitalized as of December 31, 2019 (see Section 2.2).

Capital expenditure on intangible assets came to 
eUr 5.7 million in 2019 and was thus unchanged over 
the previous year’s figure of eUr 5.7 million. Of this, the 
Automotive Division accounted for eUr 0.3 million (2018: 
eUr 0.6 million) and the Commercial Vehicles Division 
for eUr 4.7 million (2018: eUr 3.2 million). Capital expen-
diture on intangible assets for Central Services came to 
eUr 0.7 million (2018: eUr 2.0 million). Intangible assets 
include patents, concessions as well as capitalized devel-
opment activities.

2.6 net assets

As of December 31, 2019, the Grammer Group had to-
tal assets of eUr 1,474.4 million, up eUr 33.0 million or 
2.3 % on December 31, 2018 (eUr 1,441.4 million). This 
increase is primarily due to the first-time application of 
new  accounting guidance (IFrS 16 “Leases”). 

Non-current assets primarily comprise property, 
plant and equipment, intangible assets and deferred 
 income tax assets as well as non-current contract assets. 
As of December 31, 2019, they increased by eUr 129.3 mil-
lion to eUr 825.6 million (2018: eUr 696.3 million). This 
was primarily due to the increase of eUr 115.1 million in 
property, plant and equipment following the application 
of the new accounting guidance for recognizing right-of-
use assets in connection with leases (IFrS 16 “Leases”) as 
well as planned capital expenditure.

Condensed BalanCe sheet of the Grammer Group

eur k

deCemBer 31, 
2019

deCemBer 31, 
2018 ChanGe

Non-current assets 1 825,623 696,332 129,291

Current assets 1 648,826 745,085 -96,259

Assets 1,474,449 1,441,417 33,032

Equity 342,242 314,840 27,402

Non-current liabilities 490,050 359,956 130,094

Current liabilities 642,157 766,621 -124,464

Equity and liabilities 1,474,449 1,441,417 33,032

1  Previous year’s figures adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49, see Note 4. Business 

combinations.
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Current assets primarily include inventories, current 
trade accounts receivable, cash and short-term deposits, 
other current assets and current contract assets. As of 
December 31, 2019, they dropped by eUr 96.3 million to 
eUr 648.8 million (2018: eUr 745.1 million). This change 
was particularly due to a reduction of eUr 43.2 million 
in trade accounts receivable to eUr 206.8 million (2018: 
eUr 250.0 million) and a reduction of eUr 61.7 million in 
cash and short-term deposits to eUr 142.7 million (2018: 
eUr 204.4 million).

Equity rose by eUr 27.4 million to eUr 342.2 mil-
lion (2018: eUr 314.8 million) as of December 31, 2019 
due to the Group net profit of eUr 43.5 million (2018: 
eUr 23.2 million). The other comprehensive income of 
eUr –6.9 million (2018: eUr 3.3 million) caused a reduc-
tion in equity. Other comprehensive income comprises 
the positive currency-translation effects and resulting 
tax effects from net investments in foreign operations 
in Mexico of eUr 2.2 million (2018: eUr 2.1 million) and 
the positive effects from the currency translation of for-
eign subsidiaries of eUr 2.2 million (2018: eUr –3.9 mil-
lion). This was counteracted by negative actuarial ef-
fects arising from adjustments of eUr 12.3 million (2018: 
eUr +5.1 million) to retirement benefits and similar ob-
ligations to allow for changed interest rates including 
deferred taxes. The dividend of eUr 9.2 million (2018: 
eUr 15.3 million) distributed by Grammer aG also re-
duced equity. Accordingly, the equity ratio increased to 
23.2% (2018: 21.8%). 

Reflecting efforts to optimize the Group’s funding 
structure as well as the effects of the initial application 
of IFrS 16 “Leases”, non-current liabilities climbed by 
eUr 130.1 million to eUr 490.1 million as of December 
31, 2019 (2018: eUr 360.0 million). Non-current finan-
cial liabilities increased by eUr 58.0 million to eUr 
220.0 million, while other financial obligations, which 
include lease liabilities, rose to eUr 64.4 million (2018: 
eUr 18.0 million). Retirement benefits and similar obliga-
tions rose by eUr 19.2 million to eUr 154.2 million (2018: 
eUr 135.0 million) due to the reduction in the discount 
rate from 1.9% (2018) to 1.2% (2019). Net deferred tax lia-
bilities came to eUr 46.3 million (2018: eUr 41.9 million). 

Current liabilities dropped by eUr 124.4 million 
to eUr 642.2 million as of December 31, 2019 (2018: 
eUr 766.6 million). Current trade accounts payable fell 
to eUr 309.0 million (2018: eUr 358.3 million). Current 
financial liabilities amounted to eUr 207.7 million (2018: 
eUr 295.7 million). Provisions climbed to eUr 23.4 mil-
lion (2018: eUr 18.0 million).

3.  supervisory Board and 
executive Board 

3.1 ChanGes In the exeCutIve Board
The rules for the appointment and dismissal of Execu-
tive Board members are based on the provisions of sec-
tion 84 AktG as well as article 8 et sec. of the Company’s 
articles of incorporation. Manfred Pretscher stepped 
down from Grammer aG’s Executive Board as planned 
on  August 31, 2019. Jens Öhlenschläger was appointed 
to the Executive Board as Chief Operating Officer (COO) 
effective January 1, 2019 for a period of three years. At 
its meeting on March 15, 2019, the Supervisory Board 
of Grammer aG appointed Ms. Jurate Keblyte to the 
 Executive Board for a period of three years effective from 
August 1, 2019 and  assigned her to the position of Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO). On April 25, 2019, the Supervisory 
Board of Grammer aG appointed Thorsten Seehars to the 
position of Chief  Executive Officer (CeO) of the Compa-
ny for a period of three years with effect from August 1, 
2019. Following this appointment, all positions on the 
Executive Board were successfully filled. 

3.2 ChanGes In the supervIsory Board 
On September 12, 2019, Antje Wagner was appointed to 
Grammer aG’s Supervisory Board by the Amberg Local 
Court to succeed Tanja Fondel, who resigned from the 
Supervisory Board effective September 15, 2019.
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3.3 prInCIples of the remuneratIon system 
With effect from January 1, 2017, the Supervisory Board 
revised the remuneration system for the Executive Board 
of Grammer aG. This system, the principles of which are 
outlined below, was also applied in 2019. Annual total 
target remuneration comprising fixed remuneration, 
a target short-term incentive (STI) and a target long-
term incentive (LTI) is agreed upon with each member 
of the Executive Board. The fixed remuneration is paid 
in twelve equal monthly instalments less any statutory 
deductions in arrears at the end of each month. The STI 
is calculated for each year and depends on the achieve-
ment of budget targets defined for two parameters – the 
operating earnings margin before tax (eBT margin) and 
Grammer return on capital employed (G-rOCe). These 
two factors are weighted evenly in the calculation of the 
STI, i.e. 50% of the target STI depends on the achieve-
ment of the budget target for the eBT margin and 50% 
on the achievement of the budget target for G-rOCe. The 
degree of achievement for the eBT margin and G-rOCe 
may be between zero (floor) and 200% (cap). Accordingly, 
the payout amount under the STI is between zero (floor) 
and 200% of the target amount (cap). The eBT margin 
is calculated on the basis of the consolidated financial 
statements as follows: Ratio of operating eBT for a given 
year to total revenue in the same year. This calculation 
is adjusted for currency-translation and exceptional 
effects. The eBT margin is expressed as a percentage. 
The degree of target achievement for the eBT margin is 
 between 0% and 200%. Target achievement is 0% if the 
eBT margin calculated for a given financial year is one 
percentage point or more below the amount budgeted at 
the beginning of the financial year. Target achievement 
is 200% if the eBT margin calculated for a given financial 
year is one percentage point or more above the amount 
budgeted at the beginning of the financial year. Target 
achievement is 100% if the eBT margin calculated for a 
given financial year matches the amount budgeted at the 
beginning of the financial year. The calculation of target 
achievement for all interim figures is interpolated on a 
straight-line basis. G-rOCe is the ratio of the operating 
eBIT reported in the consolidated financial statements 
for the year in question to average operating assets in the 
same year and is expressed as a percentage. The degree of 
target achievement for G-rOCe is between 0% and 200%. 
Target achievement is 0% if G-rOCe calculated for a given 
financial year is 3 percentage points or more below the 
amount budgeted at the beginning of the financial year. 
Target achievement is 200% if G-rOCe calculated for a 
given financial year is 3 percentage points or more above 
the amount budgeted at the beginning of the financial 
year. Target achievement is 100% if G-rOCe calculated 
for a given financial year matches the amount budgeted 

at the beginning of the financial year. The calculation 
of target achievement for all interim figures is interpo-
lated on a straight-line basis. The LTI is issued in annual 
tranches, each of which has a term (performance period) 
from January 1 of the respective year to December 31 of 
the third year following this year and is dependent on 
the achievement of enterprise value added (“GeVa”) and 
total shareholder return (“TSr”) targets, half of which 
are included in the calculation of the LTI, i.e. 50% of the 
target LTI depends on the achievement of the GeVa target 
and 50% on the achievement of the TSr target. The degree 
of target achievement for GeVa and TSr may be between 
zero (floor) and 200% (cap). Accordingly, the weighted 
aggregate target achievement for an LTI plan tranche is 
between 0% and 200%. The target payout amount for an 
LTI plan tranche is likewise between 0% and 200% of the 
target amount. Payment is made in the year following 
the final year of the performance period. The following 
parameters have been defined for the calculation of the 
LTI: GeVa equals G-rOCe less WaCC (weighted average cost 
of capital) calculated on the basis of the methodology 
defined for the grant of a plan tranche for the financial 
years making up the performance period. G-rOCe is 
 defined in the same way as for the STI. WaCC expresses 
the expected return on the cost of capital employed. The 
 degree of target achievement for GeVa is between 0% and 
200%. Target achievement is 0% if the GeVa calculated 
for a given performance period is 2 percentage points or 
more below the amount budgeted at the beginning of the 
performance period. Target achievement is 200% if GeVa 
calculated for a given performance period is 2 percentage 
points or more above the amount budgeted at the begin-
ning of the performance period. Target achievement is 
100% if GeVa calculated for a given performance period 
matches the amount budgeted at the beginning of the 
performance period. The calculation of target achieve-
ment for all interim figures is interpolated on a straight-
line basis. Long-term target achievement is measured 
on the basis of the ratio of four-year average real GeVa 
to the average budget for the same period. TSr is calcu-
lated by comparing the performance of the Grammer 
share price in the four financial years of the performance 
period (TSr-Grammer) with the performance of the 
SDaX index in the same four financial years (TSr-SDaX). 
 TSr-SDaX forms the 100% target for the TSr target in the 
LTI. To determine TSr target achievement, TSr-Grammer 
is compared with TSr-SDaX. If TSr-Grammer is a maxi-
mum of 85% of TSr-SDaX, target achievement equals 0% 
(TSr-SDaX minus 15%). If TSr-Grammer is at least 115% of 
TSr-SDaX (TSr-SDaX plus 15%), target achievement equals 
200%. Target achievement is 100% if  TSr-Gammer calcu-
lated for a given performance period matches TSr-SDaX. 
The calculation of target achievement for all interim fig-
ures is interpolated on a straight-line basis. In order to 
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ensure a steady inflow of liquidity, an advance payment 
towards the disbursement of the LTI tranches is made 
in the second year of the performance period subject to 
an agreement between the Supervisory Board and the 
Executive Board member. After the end of the perfor-
mance period, the advance payment is netted against 
the LTI payment amount free of any interest; any excess 
payments are applied to claims vesting under the STI. 
The budget targets for the STI and the LTI are set annually 
for all years in the performance period commencing in 
that year at the Supervisory Board’s due discretion. In 
addition, the Supervisory Board regularly reviews the 
remuneration system for the Executive Board to ensure 
that it is in line with customary market practice and is 
appropriate. Remuneration of the Executive Board does 
not contain any further components with a long-term 
incentive effect, such as stock option or stock award pro-
grams. Furthermore, the Supervisory Board may decide 
in the event of extraordinary earnings or losses in the 
relevant year to adjust compensation at the end of the 
year in the form of a bonus or penalty comprising 10% of 
the fixed salary. The disclosures required under section 
160 AktG are included in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. At the same time as the new remu-
neration system for the Executive Board of Grammer aG 
was introduced in 2017, the retirement benefit scheme 
for the members of the Executive Board was also revised. 
The Company pension scheme is structured as a capital 
account plan. Provided that the applicable conditions for 
eligibility are satisfied, retirement benefits are paid to 
the member of the Executive Board as retirement cap-
ital or invalidity capital and to the spouse in the form 
of surviving dependents capital. Named partners living 
in marriage-like cohabitation have the same status as 
spouses. 

In addition, the Supervisory Board made a decision in 
2018 to revise the amount and composition of the remu-
neration system as well as the amount of the retirement 
benefits for the period after January 1, 2019 and, hence, 
for future members of the Executive Board. As well as 
this, corresponding new parameters were adopted for 
the remuneration system. Moreover, it was decided that 
future service contracts with members of the Executive 
Board should not provide for the payment of termination 
benefits in the event of a change of control. This was duly 
implemented in the service contracts entered into with 
Thorsten Seehars, Jurate Keblyte and Jens Öhlenschläger. 

For each full year of membership, each member of the Su-
pervisory Board receives fixed remuneration that is paid 
after the end of the year in question. Furthermore, the 
members of the Supervisory Board receive a fixed atten-
dance fee for every physical meeting of the Super visory 
Board and of every physical meeting of a committee of 
the Supervisory Board plus lump-sum reimbursement 
of expenses including any value added tax applicable, 
which is paid on the first working day following the 
 Supervisory Board or committee meeting. The atten-
dance fee is not paid for participation in meetings of the 
Nominating Committee. Members of the Supervisory 
Board who only belong to the board for part of the year 
receive fixed remuneration on a pro rata basis.

4.  further perforMance 
indicators

4.1 employees

The Grammer Group’s annual average headcount stood 
at 14,910 (2018 Ø: 13,439). 

Employee numbers in emea dropped by around 5% in 
2019 to an average of 9,056 (2018 Ø: 9,515) due to trends in 
the markets addressed by the Divisions. 

In aPaC, the average increased to 1,267 (2018 Ø: 912), 
reflecting the favorable business performance in the 
 Chinese market. 

In the Americas, the average number of employee  
climbed to 4,587 (2018: 3,012) primarily as a result of the 
acquisition of TmD, whose business units had an average 
headcount of 1,637 in 2019. Elsewhere in the Americas, 
the workforce at the plants in Mexico was expanded 
again to accommodate new product launches. 

The headcount in the Automotive Division rose sig-
nificantly following the takeover of the TmD Group. 

averaGe employees

2019 2018 ChanGe

GRAMMER Group 14,910 13,439 1,471

Commercial Vehicles 3,786 3,775 11

Automotive 10,910 9,381 1,529

Central Services 214 283 -69
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Employee numbers of the Commercial Vehicles Division 
were comparable to the previous year. 

The average headcount in Central Services dropped 
by 24.4% in 2019 to 214 (2018: 283) primarily as a result 
of the relocation of central functions to the Divisions. 

In 2020, we will be adjusting employee numbers in 
line with the trends emerging in our markets. At the 
same time, we will be decentralizing our  organizational 
structure to a greater extent to enhance the speed of 
our processes as well as our proximity to markets and 
customers.

traInInG, professIonal development,  
human resourCes 
Qualified and motivated employees are one of the key 
determinants of our success. Talent management plays 
a crucial role in securing and growing our internal skills. 
The Group seeks to develop all employees in the light 
of their potential and with a view to fulfilling compe-
tence profiles on a targeted basis and in line with re-
quirements. Committed employees with new ideas and 
extensive knowledge play a decisive role in advancing 
our successful position and building on our competitive 
strengths in the international market. Our employer 
branding and talent management activities, which also 
include learning and training, are being systematical-
ly driven forward with various Group-wide programs. 
After a pilot phase in 2017, in which several corporate 
programs were rolled out worldwide for the first time 
under the “career@Grammer” umbrella, they entered 
the third round in 2019. Our corporate programs are 
divided into different segments: “Grammer Top Gear” 
focuses on strategic further education for middle man-
agement, while “Grammer Fast Lane” is primarily tar-
geted at employees exhibiting very high potential, who 
have already gained preliminary management experi-
ence. “Grammer Drive” has been designed for employ-
ees who show great potential and are to be prepared to 
assume further  responsibilities. With the assistance of 
an integrated location analysis, participants can define 
for themselves the career path they would like to pursue, 
whether in a specialist function or in a leadership role. 
All these programs aim to develop the high-potentials 
from within our own organizational structures to a large 

degree. In addition to management training, Grammer 
also offers training for experts as a means of providing 
highly qualified specialists with scope for profession-
al development and deploying them to optimum effect 
as sources of knowledge and experience. Experts share 
their experience across the Divisions and the plants, 
thus helping to spread the valuable knowledge held by 
the Company on a global basis and applying best prac-
tices to leverage synergistic benefits. As a third pillar, we 
have established a project management career path that 
gives our project managers opportunities for developing 
in line with future requirements. In addition, the system 
also includes target-oriented training opportunities. The 
Grammer Group is a provider of vocational training and 
further education at its plants in Germany as well as at 
its global sites. We will continue to observe this commit-
ment as we move forward. Our aim is to align all aspects 
of our training and continuing education program to fu-
ture requirements internationally in order to offer the 
employees concerned career opportunities at all loca-
tions through training. In 2019, we continued to employ 
apprentices in many different parts of the Company in 
order to maintain a qualified pool of resources in fields 
that are becoming increasingly important for the future. 
We also hosted internships in Germany and elsewhere 
and offered students and postgraduates the possibility 
of completing their thesis or dissertation while gaining 
practical experience within our Company. In addition, 
we offer specialist staff who have trained in Germany 
the opportunity of gaining a global view of the Company. 
New conceptual approaches to the “internationalization 
of vocational training” are planned in the form of a pilot 
phase for 2020. Proven methods and standards are to be 
consistently established with the involvement of local 
employees on the basis of a condensed training course. 
The partnership with Ostbayerische Technische Hoch-
schule (OTH), a local university of applied sciences, and 
with Duale Hochschule Baden-Württemberg (DHBW) 
offers an example of our commitment to forging links 
between business and tertiary education institutions. 
Via this network together with selected recruiting events 
at universities in Germany as well as in other countries 
we attempt to recruit highly qualified graduates. 
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4.2 proCurement manaGement
Procurement management is a key factor in the Group’s 
success. Its main objective is to safeguard the constant 
availability of raw materials, components and services 
at defined high standards of quality to ensure that we 
are able to supply our customers to optimum effect. To 
this end, Grammer aG’s supply chain management is 
coordinated centrally. One important task is to identify 
the appropriate vendors worldwide for our innovative 
products and broad product range. The key tasks of sup-
ply chain management are to coordinate relations with 
vendors and project procurement as well as to reduce 
supply chain risks and ensure observance of all ethical 
and legal requirements. Cost advantages can be gained 
by pooling Group-wide requirements and, thus, harness-
ing economies of scale and also by means of targeted 
local activities in the individual regions. Employees 
in the procurement organization, which is structured 
centrally by commodity type, hold global responsibil-
ity. Employees are also based regionally by segment to 
ensure greater penetration and a better understanding 
of the local markets. The strategic orientation in pro-
curement management entails the further development 
of the  aSTra eSourcing platform with the core process-
es e-rFX (electronic request for proposals), e-Costing 
(electronic cost management) and e-Risk Management 
(electronic risk management) as well as the expansion 
of the e-Auction tool. Moreover, procurement activities 
are to be expanded in the emerging markets to gener-
ate positive contributions along our value chain and 
in our growth regions in the light of sustainability and 
“total cost of ownership” requirements. The programs 
launched in conjunction with development and produc-
tion were continued in the year under review to strength-
en design-to-cost and sourcing-for-innovation activities 
as a means of additionally reducing the cost-of-materials 
base. For one thing, purchasing will become more closely 
involved right from the development and project phase 
in this way. For another, the new structure will allow 
purchasing to play an even greater role in optimization 
measures for series production. As well as this, the intro-
duction of cost engineering aims to allow all parts of the 
purchasing organization to substantially improve their 
efficiency thanks to an improved data base. To this end, 
cost engineering focuses on the management of product 
costs during the entire product life cycle. Our global sup-
ply chain management continues to help us in the stra-
tegic and ongoing development of our vendors. The aim 
is to leverage our vendors’ potential and innovativeness 
profitably and to establish a solid basis for sourcing in all 
regions by means of qualified selection, further training 
and evaluation structures.

5.  corporate Governance 
declaration

The Group corporate governance declaration pursu-
ant to section 315d in connection with section  289f 
HGB (German Commercial Code) and the declaration 
of conformity with the German Corporate Governance 
Code (section 161 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act)) 
are permanently available on the company website at  
www.grammer.com under “Corporate Governance” sec-
tion of the part entitled “COmPaNY”.

6.  coMBined separate  
non-financial report

In addition, the combined separate non-financial report 
pursuant to sections 289b (3) and 315b (3) HGB is pub-
lished no later than four months after the reporting date 
on the Company’s website at www.grammer.com under 
“Sustainability”, “Non-financial report” in the part en-
titled “COmPaNY”.

7.  stateMent pursuant to  
section 315a hGB (GerMan 
coMMercial code)

Composition of the subscribed capital: Grammer aG’s 
subscribed capital amounts to eUr 32,274,229.76 and is 
divided into 12,607,121 bearer shares.

Restrictions on voting rights or the transfer of shares: 
The Executive Board is aware of no restrictions on the 
exercise of voting rights or the transfer of shares.

Direct or indirect shares in the share capital exceed-
ing 10% of the voting rights: The notes to Grammer aG’s 
annual financial statements for 2019 set out detailed in-
formation on the voting right notifications received in 
accordance with section 33 WpHG (German Securities 
Trading Act).
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Shares with special rights conveying control powers: 
There are no shareholders with special rights.

Type of voting right control if employees hold a share 
of the Company’s capital and do not directly exercise 
their control rights: There are no employee participa-
tion programs.

Statutory provisions and stipulations in the articles 
of association governing the appointment and dis-
missal of members of the Executive Board or amend-
ments to the articles of association. The members of 
Grammer aG’s Executive Board are appointed and dis-
missed in  accordance with the statutory provisions (sec-
tion 84 and 85 AktG (German Stock Corporation Act) and 
section 31 MitBestG (Co-Determination Act)). Article 8 ff 
of the Company’s articles of association stipulates that 
the Executive Board must be composed of at least two 
members. Any amendments to the Company’s articles 
of association are executed in accordance with section 
119 (1), number 5 and 179 (2) AktG; article 25 of the ar-
ticles of association governs the passing of resolutions 
by the annual general meeting. Under article 13 (3) of 
the Company’s articles of association, the Supervisory 
Board may amend the articles of association, provided 
that such amendments are confined to the wording of 
the provision in question.

Executive Board’s powers to issue or buy back shares: 
At the Annual General Meeting held on May 28, 2014, 
a resolution was passed to grant authorization to issue 
bonds with warrants and/or convertible bonds on or be-
fore May 27, 2019 subject to the exclusion of the share-
holders’ preemptive subscription rights. The share cap-
ital has been increased on a contingent basis by up to 
eUr 14,777,182.72 for this purpose (Contingent  Capital 
2014/I). Following partial utilization, Contingent  Capital 
2014/I stood at eUr 12,057,318.40 as of December 31, 2018. 
The Executive Board did not make any further use of 
Contingent Capital 2014/I in 2019. Accordingly, the Ex-
ecutive Board’s authorization to issue bonds with war-
rants and/or convertible bonds subject to the exclusion 
of the shareholders’ preemptive subscription rights duly 
expired on May 27, 2019.

No new authorization to issue bonds with warrants and/
or convertible bonds or to increase the Company’s share 
capital on a contingent basis was granted at the Annual 
General Meeting held in 2019. 

Grammer holds 330,050 shares as treasury stock, all 
of which were acquired in 2006. The 330,050 shares held 
as treasury stock are non-voting and non-dividend-en-
titled. No further treasury stock was acquired in 2019. 
The Company’s authorization to acquire treasury stock in 
accordance with section 71 (1) No. 8 AktG (German Stock 
Corporation Act) and to use it for all the purposes speci-
fied in the authorization duly expired on May 27, 2019. No 
new authorization to acquire treasury stock was granted 
at the Annual General Meeting held in 2019.  

Company compensation agreements with the mem-
bers of the Executive Board or employees in the event 
of a take-over bid: The service agreements entered into 
with the Executive Board members Thorsten Seehars, 
Jurate Keblyte and Jens Öhlenschläger do not provide for 
any compensation to be paid in the event of a change of 
control in connection with a takeover bid.

Material company agreements contingent upon 
a change of control as a result of a takeover bid: 
Grammer aG and two other domestic Group companies 
are parties to a syndicated loan agreement, under which 
each creditor has the right to demand premature repay-
ment in the event of a change of control. For the purposes 
of these contracts, a change of control is deemed to arise 
as soon as one or several persons acting jointly acquire 
at least 30% of the voting capital of Grammer aG or the 
other borrowers. Change-of-control clauses covering the 
full outstanding amount as described above are also pro-
vided for in the agreement governing USD-denominated 
acquisition finance, the bilateral loan agreements, the 
privately placed registered bonds and the agreements 
governing the bonded loans. If these repayment or ter-
mination rights were to be exercised - particularly on a 
joint basis - the funding required by the Grammer Group 
for its ongoing business operations could be jeopardized, 
meaning that alternative sources of funding would be 
required.
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8. opportunity and risk report

8.1 rIsk polICIes and prInCIples 
Business always entails opportunities as well as risks. 
Opportunities and risks especially arise from the inter-
national orientation of the Grammer Group and must be 
duly addressed. Listed below are some of the principles 
defined in the Grammer Group’s risk strategy:

•  The Group defines opportunities and risks in 
terms of risk management as both internal 
and  external events that may have a positive or 
negative impact on the achievement of corporate 
objectives. 

•  Risk management thus contributes to value-based 
management of the Group. Value-based means 
that the Company deliberately accepts risks only 
when there is potential for enhancing its value by 
taking advantage of favorable business opportu-
nities. As a general principle, the Grammer Group 
avoids all activities potentially entailing risks that 
are liable jeopardize its going-concern status.

•  Core operational risks and, in particular, market 
risks such as macroeconomic risks, as well as risks 
arising from the development of new products are 
borne by the Group itself. As far as possible, the 
Group seeks to transfer other risks, particularly 
financial and liability risk to third parties.

•  Risk management within the Grammer Group 
extends to all companies and organizational 
units. Identification of risks and implementation 
of value- enhancing measures are deemed by 
Grammer management to be ongoing and Group-
wide tasks. All employees of the Company are 
required to identify and, as far as possible, to avoid 
and minimize risks within their area of responsi-
bility. 

•  The internal audit function also performs a review 
of the appropriateness and effectiveness of the 
risk management system at regular intervals. Each 
employee is required to contribute to active risk 
avoidance. All employees undertake to report all 
opportunities and risks arising during business 
operations to their responsible managers. 

8.2 opportunIty and rIsk manaGement proCess 
Grammer has implemented a uniform Group-wide risk 
management system to detect, avert or at least mitigate 
risks at an early stage and to analyze and assess their 
causes. The risk management process seeks to ensure 
early identification, analysis and assessment of risks, 
along with coordinated implementation of suitable 
measures to manage, monitor and control them. This 
particularly entails the early detection of risks to the 
Group’s going-concern status. The risk management 
system coordinates identification, tracking, assessment, 
documentation and reporting activities for risks as well 
as opportunities.

The Executive Board is responsible for the risk man-
agement system and the internal control system. The 
Super visory Board and the Audit Committee monitor and 
check its efficacy and are kept regularly informed. An 
ongoing risk-tracking process is applied to report to cen-
tral risk management all material risks liable to prevent 
the corporate targets from being reached. Responsibility 
for risk reporting does not lie with a central division, 
but forms part of the duties of individual managers and 
employees within the scope of their functions. Opportu-
nities and risks are discussed together with measures for 
managing them in regular meetings with the Execu tive 
Board. An opportunity and risk report keeps the Execu-
tive Board and the Supervisory Board regularly informed 
of the Group’s risk situation and the status of the mea-
sures implemented.

The Finance department is currently responsible for 
coordinating risk management and uses an IT-based sys-
tem for recording and tracking risks and the measures 
taken to address them. In this way, we gain an over-
view of the key opportunities and risks for the Group. 
 Opportunities and risks are classified using a “risk atlas” 
specifically designed to meet the Grammer Group’s re-
quirements. These include strategic, market, financial 
and legal risks, as well as risks stemming from IT, human 
resources and production. The Grammer Group engag-
es in opportunities management to record and evaluate 
opportunities for the Group and to make the best possible 
use of them. Opportunities are defined as events with a 
positive impact on the achievement of corporate goals. 
Opportunities may inherently arise in all parts of the 
Grammer Group.
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8.3 rIsks 
In the following paragraphs, we describe risks and dis-
cuss their sometimes considerable impact on our busi-
ness performance, net assets, financial position and 
earnings as well as our stock price and market reputa-
tion. Additional risks that we currently rate as slight or 
whose existence or potential effects are as yet unknown 
to us may likewise adversely affect our business activi-
ties. The assessment of the risks included here is appli-
cable at least to the following year. One material aspect 
of the Group’s risk management is the avoidance or min-
imization of risks to its going-concern status.

market and seCtor speCIfIC rIsks 
As a company with worldwide operations, the Grammer 
Group is exposed to business conditions in its home 
market as well as markets across the globe. We address 
these risks by means of numerous different measures,  
while closely and continually monitoring developments 
in relevant markets and industries. We adjust our pro-
duction and capacity accordingly when necessary. As 
part of effective risk management, the Group strives 
to react immediately to crises and any initial signs of 
slumps in revenue. Production and cost structures are 
proactively adjusted in the light of any changes to the 
revenue situation. We can generally expect to face sec-
tor specific revenue risks in the future. Our markets are 
become increasingly competitive, exposing us to more 
and more risks from factors including price pressure, 
short timeframes for development and times to market, 
product and process quality and rapidly changing con-
ditions. Due to our exposure to the global markets with 
differing economic and demand cycles, we must track 
and interpret a broad range of factors. In addition, new 
competitors are arising in or entering the emerging mar-
kets. The effects of crises in certain markets and regions 
harbor risks that are no longer directly derived from our 
business segments.  Market disparity is also steadily in-
creasing so that we can no longer necessarily draw con-
clusions about the effects of general developments on 
our business. This is equally true of both positive and 
negative trends. Further risks may arise for our markets 
in the wake of e-mobility. The technological transforma-
tion may cause unprecedented shifts in the structure of 
our customers and products. In the emerging markets 
of China in particular, a large number of new Oems are 
arising and may take market shares away from our estab-
lished customers. Although we are making every effort 

to supply them with our products, the extent to which 
this can also be achieved cannot be foreseen at present. 
In addition, growth in autonomous driving may likewise 
lead to product substitution or necessitate new approach-
es. Although Grammer aG is attempting to prepare for 
future trends accordingly, this may have a negative im-
pact on its net assets, financial position and results of 
operations.

Additional risks may also arise in connection with 
Brexit, as some of our customers have their production 
facilities in the United Kingdom. Thus, following the 
United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union, 
a new trade agreement will need to be negotiated. This 
entails the risk of a future trade agreement possibly pro-
viding for less favorable conditions for trade with the 
United Kingdom. As the United Kingdom will no lon-
ger be bound by eU rules, the regulatory situation may 
also become adversely affected. The general effects on 
the European markets and economic growth cannot be 
estimated but could have a detrimental impact on the 
Company’s net assets, financial position and results of 
operations. 

Possible market and brand consolidation may lead 
to partial dependence on a small number of customers 
through their group structures. At the same time, vehicle 
manufacturers are increasingly passing on cost pressure 
to components suppliers. Against this backdrop, the lack 
of follow-up contracts may also exert pressure on us. In 
response, we are placing heavy emphasis on research 
and development alongside numerous process optimiza-
tion measures to offset risk and increase cost efficiency, 
which will allow us to keep pace with customers’ grow-
ing demands. 

We are seeking to improve our market position in all 
segments in order to reduce these competition risks. For 
this reason, the Group relies on technical innovations 
and the enhancement of its existing products and pro-
cesses. By stepping up research and development activ-
ities, we want to secure or reinforce the technological 
leadership of our products in order to gain a sustainable 
competitive lead as far as possible. The introduction of 
new products and technologies is also accompanied by 
risks and requires a strong commitment to research and 
development that in turn is tied to a substantial com-
mitment of funds and technical resources. Despite our 
numerous patents and the protection of our intellectu-
al property, competitors – especially in growth markets 
– generally cannot be prevented from independently 
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developing products and services that are similar to our 
own. 

Customarily, delivery contracts with the Grammer 
Group’s principal customers provide in particular for le-
gally binding commitments for a certain period for the 
delivery of specified products that have generally not 
yet been developed but not for the sourcing of a given 
product exclusively from Grammer Group companies. 
The specific products and quantities are ordered in sep-
arate calldowns which may apply to a shorter period but 
which constitute a specific obligation of acceptance. 
From a purely legal point of view, the Grammer Group’s 
principal customers are fundamentally able to cancel 
even large contracts or product quantities in the medi-
um term. This would have a detrimental effect on the 
Company’s net assets, financial condition and results 
of operations.

However, as the cancellation of a contract during 
ongoing volume production entails heavy costs and re-
source requirements for the customer and also necessi-
tates a considerable lead time, it is fairly unlikely that 
a customer would completely cancel all orders at once. 

However, other factors such as the shareholder struc-
ture, may prompt our customers to exercise restraint in 
placing new orders and to withhold follow-up or new 
contracts. This may have a detrimental effect on the 
Company’s net assets, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

Continuous adjustments to and optimization of the 
cost structures of our production and development ca-
pacity as well as our production facilities give rise to a 
risk in that plant consolidation and closures may place 
burdens on our net assets, financial condition and results 
of operations for example. Moreover, there is a risk that 
such measures cannot always be executed within the 
planned timeframe. In addition, the manifold aspects 
and complexities of such processes may cause delays and 
additional financial burdens or their benefits may prove 
to be less than originally planned or estimated. 

Our areas of activity increasingly also entail activi-
ties that are derived from our strategic portfolio policy 
affecting our business segments. Merger and acquisition 
 activities are ordinarily subject to uncertainties. The 
risks not only relate to market reactions but also concern 
the integration of people, cultures and technologies as 
well as products and developments. 

In addition, it is not possible to rule out risks in a imple-
mentation of the transaction. As is normally the case 
with such transactions, acquisition, integration and 
other costs that cannot be estimated at the beginning 
of the transaction may arise. In this connection, risks 
may also come from divestments that fail to produce the 
desired effects or are liable to place additional strains on 
the Company’s net assets, financial condition and results 
of operations.

Risks can also arise from the many changes and ad-
justments to regulations, statutes, guidelines and techni-
cal specifications with respect to our products to which 
we, as a globally operating company, are increasingly 
exposed. We cannot rule out the possibility that rules 
and legal regulations in particular markets and regions 
will produce additional strain and expenses that could 
not previously be foreseen and may adversely affect the 
Company’s net assets, financial conditions and results 
of operations. 

proCurement rIsks 
The Grammer Group seeks to minimize planning risks 
resulting from fluctuations in commodity prices as 
much as possible. Particularly important in this regard 
is the market price of steel and petroleum-based foam 
and plastic products. Grammer continually monitors 
movements in the relevant commodity markets. As far as 
possible and appropriate, cost risks are hedged through 
long-term supply contracts. These, however, are cur-
rently difficult to achieve in the market given the strong 
demand and prevailing volatility in the factor prices of 
commodities such as steel, foam and plastics. Further-
more, there are supply chain risks which for various rea-
sons may influence our product quality, ability to meet 
delivery schedules or, in a worst case scenario, product 
availability in general. Moreover, quality problems with 
suppliers that crop up from time to time with suppliers 
or disruptions in the supply chain cause risks to our pro-
ductivity that may adversely affect the Company’s net 
assets, financial condition and results of operations. 
Potential risks arising from non-delivery by suppliers 
are addressed by Grammer with a partial dual-sourc-
ing strategy under a contingency plan as well as close 
monitoring of potentially critical suppliers along with 
swift reaction through the implementation of defined 
emergency and risk management measures. In order to 
protect our value chain, we pay close attention to our 
suppliers’ financial strength. 
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qualIty rIsks 
Grammer attaches great importance to observing high 
external and internal quality standards together with 
the early identification of possible sources of errors and 
their avoidance. Nevertheless, it is not possible to en-
tirely rule out quality risks. This applies in particular to 
development work on products with complex produc-
tion structures. This risk is inherently exacerbated by 
the Group’s global orientation and the networking of pro-
duction activities across different continents. For this 
reason, we have adopted precautions to minimize such 
risks throughout the entire Group. 

In order to minimize risks arising from quality prob-
lems attributable to suppliers, Grammer engages in 
intensive supplier development and conducts regular 
supplier audits. Using system-based supplier evaluations 
we continuously analyze and grade specific suppliers for 
their quality and performance in the supply chain. The 
results of these activities provide the key criteria for 
the selection by Grammer of suppliers for project work 
and series production. Even so, we cannot completely 
exclude the possibility of individual risks arising and 
negatively impacting our financial position, earnings 
and assets. 

fInanCIal rIsks 
The Grammer Group is exposed to interest, currency and 
liquidity risks on account of its worldwide activities and 
the economic risks described above. It must primarily 
manage currency risks arising from its exposure to the 
Czech koruna, the Polish zloty, the Mexican peso, the 
US dollar, the Turkish lira, the Brazilian real, the Japa-
nese yen and the Chinese yuan. These risks stem from 
trade accounts receivable and payable as well as from 
local production. The Group addresses currency risks 
through “natural hedging,” i.e. by increasing purchas-
ing volumes in foreign currency regions and simulta-
neously increasing sales in same currency region. In 
addition, currency risks are hedged selectively via the 
financial market. Strong appreciation in the euro against 
the currencies of other exporting nations could nega-
tively impact the Group’s competitiveness. Grammer 
cannot completely shield itself from fluctuations in 
credit markets and this may pose risks to the Group’s 
net assets, financial position and results of operations. It 

minimizes interest rate risks through long-term funding 
(e.g. private placements) and the use of derivatives. High 
priority is also given to ensuring adequate liquidity. In 
2013, the Group’s funding was placed on a firm footing 
with the signing of a syndicated loan agreement for a 
period of five years plus two one-year renewal options 
(see Note 36 of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements). As the second renewal option was exercised 
in 2015, the syndicated loan is now available to us until 
the 4th quarter of 2020. Tranche A of the loan of eUr 100 
million remains. The liquidity situation is monitored 
continuously in a rolling global-wide financial require-
ments plan. Possible risks in connection with a change 
of control are described in the section on the Group’s 
financial condition. Despite the possible disadvantages 
in terms of interest rates, key importance is attached to 
widening our liquidity position; appropriate liquidity 
reserves are maintained. To a certain degree, this ad-
versely affects interest result, a fact that we are willing 
to accept in order to maintain our strategic leeway and 
safeguard our liquidity position. Our customer struc-
ture limits credit risks, which are monitored through 
active receivables management. The funding status of 
our pension plans may be heavily influenced by interest 
rate uncertainties and risks inherent in the market. This 
may cause either an increase or decrease in the present 
value of the  defined-benefit pension plans. Pension 
 obligations are recognized on the basis of actuarial cal-
culations in which the applicable interest rate plays an 
important role. The actual payouts can deviate from the 
computed values since assumptions regarding the main 
valuation parameters such as discount rates, salaries and 
inflation are all uncertain. Consequently, this may pose 
potential risks for our financial position, earnings and 
assets. Group Finance centrally tracks interest, currency 
and liquidity risks. Strategic treasury management, the 
effectiveness of which is reviewed regularly, is used to 
mitigate these risks. However, we cannot completely rule 
out the possibility of these risk adversely affecting our 
net assets, financial position, earnings and assets. 
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leGal rIsks
Grammer is an internationally active Group that is sub-
ject to a variety of legal and regulatory requirements. 
The many legal rules and regulations and constant 
changes in tax rules, among other things, may give rise 
to risks that may adversely impact our financial position, 
earnings and assets. Restrictions of the Group’s inter-
national activities through import/export controls, tar-
iffs or  other regulatory barriers to trade represent a risk 
that, because of the nature of our operations, the Group 
cannot escape. In addition, business activities may be 
adversely impacted or impeded by export control reg-
ulations, trade restrictions and sanctions. Pending and 
threatened legal disputes are continuously monitored, 
analyzed, evaluated with regard to their legal and finan-
cial impact and taken into account in the calculation of 
the risk provisions reported in the balance sheet. How-
ever, as the outcome of legal disputes is uncertain, fur-
ther risks may exist beyond the provisions recognized in 
the balance sheet and these could have a negative impact 
on the financial and earnings targets. A large number of 
company-wide standards, which are subject to continu-
ous further development, are in place to avert legal risks. 
Examples include the standard terms and conditions, 
contract templates for various applications or internal 
guidelines and procedural instructions. In addition, we 
employ a system comprising intensive contract review 
and contract management, as well as systematic docu-
mentation and archiving. Grammer has sufficient insur-
ance to cover normal and going-concern risks.

human resourCe rIsks
Grammer is dependent on highly qualified specialists 
and executives with international experience in all areas 
so that it is able to make efficient use of opportunities 
and extend its competitive lead. For this reason, focused, 
driven employee training and continuing upskilling pro-
grams for as many employees as possible at all levels and 
in all areas of the Company are a top priority. We also 
participate in recruiting events and job fairs at schools 
and universities in Germany and other countries to 
arouse interest in Grammer among motivated, young 
professionals and specialists. Despite all these efforts, 
there is no guarentee now or in the future that the Group 
will be able to recruit and retain the number of qualified 
employees and managers it needs in every business seg-
ment. Consequently, this may pose potential risks for 
our financial position, earnings and assets. Heightened 
fluctuation must particularly be expected in expansion-
ary markets such as China and NaFTa on account of the 
heavy growth and the good employment opportunities 
for qualified experts.

It and InformatIon rIsks 
The security, protection and integrity of our data and 
IT infrastructure are indispensable for proper business 
 operations. Statutory requirements and regulations 
stipulate that technical and organizational measures be 
taken to protect our data centers and ensure highly avail-
able and secure data transfers. In order to meet these re-
quirements, Grammer operates a redundant system with 
the mission critical components of the IT infrastructure 
installed in two data centers. The electricity supply is 
guaranteed, even in emergencies, by separate emergency 
generators. All Grammer sites have redundant connec-
tions to the data centers. Business continuity plans doc-
ument the steps for ensuring the recovery of critical IT 
systems. Grammer has implemented appropriate secu-
rity systems and taken measures to avert any intrusion. 
Firewalls, virus scanners and other activities are regu-
larly reviewed to determine their efficacy and adjusted 
where necessary. A Group-wide IT security organization 
responsible for ensuring the efficacy of all protective 
measures and for neutralizing threats is also in place to 
ensure IT security. The IT services department’s systems 
and security team along with the data protection officers 
and risk management team together make up the secu-
rity/incident team, which is tasked with coordinating 
activities to improve IT security. Nonetheless, our world-
wide activities, along with the general increase in threats 
and attacks, mean that our systems, networks, data and 
solutions are exposed to some level of risk. However, a 
negative impact on net assets, financial position and 
results of operations as a result of data loss, system dis-
ruption and loss of production is not considered likely. 
Even so, this may pose potential risks for the Company’s 
net assets, financial position and results of operations. 
Risks from fraud or cyber attacks are defined as the risk 
of losses caused by the failure of internal processes 
(control risks), human error (personnel risks) or system 
vulnerabilities (IT risks). The growing digitization and 
electronic networking arising from developments such 
as the “Internet of Things”, Industry 4.0 or “Smart Ev-
erything” expose the Group to cyber attacks and offer 
broad scope for eavesdropping, sabotaging business and 
administrative process or criminal enrichment at the ex-
pense of third parties. Cyber attacks involving malware 
or specific attacks on individual employees (e.g. attempt-
ed manipulation) may place Grammer aG’s net assets, 
financial position and results of operations at risk. This 
risk is addressed by analyzing previous loss events that 
become publicly known, taking the necessary precau-
tions and observing specialists’ specific recommenda-
tions on such activities. In addition, these matters under-
go continuous assessment and all relevant processes are 
checked for any vulnerabilities and suitably optimized. 
As well as this, employees are kept regularly informed 
of these matters to heighten their awareness of them.
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eColoGICal rIsks 
Grammer works with an environmental management 
system on the basis of ISO 14001 as well as an energy 
management system on the basis of ISO 50001. The 
Grammer Group’s management system incorporates all 
the requirements of both systems. This system defines 
worldwide environment and energy efficiency standards 
(e.g. environmental programs and targets and energy 
 efficiency goals), which are implemented by local energy 
efficiency and environmental officers and monitored in 
regular audits to minimize ecological impact. In this way 
we minimize ecological risks. We are also continuing 
to pursue certification of our production sites in accor-
dance with ISO 14001 and 50001. Nonetheless, external 
circumstances or misconduct may arise, exposing the 
Group to risks. Consequently, this may pose potential 
risks for our financial position, earnings and assets.

other rIsks
In addition, epidemics (e.g. SarS or the coronavirus) may 
pose considerable risks to the global economy. The rapid 
spread of diseases may have a major impact on the global 
economy and severely disrupt entire supply chains re-
gardless of the industry. The widespread distribution of 
such new types of diseases may cause serious upheavals 
in the economic regions or sectors affected and quickly 
spread to the global economy. This could have a detri-
mental effect on a company’s net assets, financial posi-
tion and results of operations.

8.4  CharaCterIstICs of the Internal Control 
system 

As a capital market-oriented corporation within the 
meaning of section 264d HGB, we are required under sec-
tion 315 (4) HGB to describe the main characteristics of 
the internal control and risk management system as they 
relate to the Group’s accounting process. There is no stat-
utory definition of “the internal control and risk man-
agement system as they relate to the Group’s  accounting 
processes”. We believe the internal control and risk man-
agement system to be a comprehensive system, and we 
base our definitions of the accounting related internal 
control and risk management system on those of the In-
stitute of Public Auditors in Germany (IDW), Düsseldorf. 
Accordingly, an internal control system comprises the 
principles, processes and measures taken in the Compa-
ny by its management for the organizational implemen-
tation of decisions made by management

•  to ensure the effectiveness and viability of the 
Company’s business activities (this also includes 
safeguarding assets, including prevention and 
detection of damage to assets); 

•  to ensure the propriety and reliability of internal 
and external accounting; and 

•  to comply with the legal regulations applicable to 
the Company. 

As described above, the risk management system in-
cludes, in its entirety, all organizational rules and mea-
sures intended to identify risks and control the risks in-
herent in business activities. The Group has  implemented 
the following structures and processes with respect to 
the internal control system for the  accounting process:
The Executive Board holds overall responsibility for the 
internal control and risk management system as it re-
lates to the Company’s accounting process. All strategic 
segments are integrated in this system by means of de-
fined management and reporting structures. The prin-
ciples, the operational and organizational structure and 
the processes involved in the accounting-related internal 
control and risk management system are documented for 
the entire Group in policies and operating procedures 
that are updated at regular intervals to reflect current 
external and internal developments. As they relate to 
the accounting process, we consider the main charac-
teristics of the internal control and risk management 
system to be those that may materially affect financial 
reporting and the overall impression left by the annual 
and consolidated financial statements, including the 
group management report. These include the following 
elements in particular: 

•  Identification of the key risk and control areas 
relevant to the accounting process; 

•  Monitoring of the accounting process and results 
at the level of the Executive Board and at the level 
of the Divisions and responsible departments; 

•  Regular and preventive checks in the financial and 
accounting systems and in operational, perfor-
mance-related business processes that generate 
material information for the preparation of the 
annual and consolidated financial statements, 
including the management report, plus a separa-
tion of functions and defined approval processes 
in relevant departments; 

•  Measures that ensure proper IT-based processing 
of information and data relating to accounting 
processes; 

•  Measures for monitoring the internal control and 
risk management system as it relates to account-
ing processes; 

•  Measures for ensuring due and proper completion 
of the consolidation process. 
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8.5 opportunItIes

market opportunItIes
This section describes the main market opportunities 
which may arise assuming that Grammer’s business 
continues to perform favorably and there is no deterio-
ration in macroeconomic conditions. These comments 
are not exhaustive and the opportunities described here 
are not necessarily the only one which may arise. Con-
versely, it is also possible that opportunities which have 
been identified may fail to materialize.

Global economy – With its global footprint, the 
Grammer Group has an opportunity of continuing to 
benefit from growth in the global economy. Upbeat eco-
nomic conditions in our main sell-side markets and, 
resulting from this, heightened demand for passenger 
and commercial vehicles may offer opportunities for 
Grammer in the form of greater demand for its products 
particularly in countries and regions outside Germany.

Growth in core regions – Generally speaking, the im-
portance of North and Central America as well as China 
has continued to grow sharply for Grammer. In partic-
ular, Grammer’s Automotive Division is increasingly 
operating as a components supplier for local Oems as 
well as its European partners in the premium segment. 
Following the acquisition of the TmD Group, we have ex-
panded our production capacities in North America in 
proximity to the Oems and are confident of being able to 
gain new business as a result. At the same time, the TmD 
Group’s products can now be offered worldwide and, for 
the first time, on a platform basis. In China, success in 
gaining contracts from global and local Oems is giving 
rise to new opportunities. In the Commercial Vehicles 
Division, we operate local production facilities in the 
Chinese truck market for suspended seating systems and 
expect to generate additional growth on the strength of 
positive market effects. Among other things, ergonomics 
and safety as key product characteristics are also yield-
ing opportunities.

Growth through broader customer base – The 
Grammer Group is also able to harness new opportuni-
ties by addressing new customer segments. This is due to 
the global expansion of existing customers as well as the 
heightened penetration of local customers into new mar-
kets. To date, such opportunities have resulted in greater 
customer diversification in the United States and Asia.

Focus on premium segment – With its products, 
Grammer primarily focuses on the premium segment. 
As demand in this segment is less volatile than in the 
market as a whole due to the favorable macroeconomic 
scenarios, it may grow more sharply than in the volume 

segment. Accordingly, Grammer is endeavoring to make 
use of these market opportunities.

Global megatrends – Grammer sees itself as being 
well positioned to capitalize on global secular trends 
such as population growth, heightened demand for 
mobility, increased demand for food and greater wealth 
in the emerging markets. Grammer is attempting to 
make optimum use of the resultant opportunities. Thus, 
heightened demand for mobility may spur sales of our 
Automotive and Commercial Vehicles products. Rising 
demand for food and agricultural produce together with 
increased construction activity may also generate addi-
tional sales in the Commercial Vehicles Division as ag-
ricultural machinery is frequently fitted with Grammer 
seating systems. All told, Grammer is hoping to generate 
a continued rise in business in its products on the basis 
of global megatrends.

Autonomous driving and E-mobility – Grammer is a 
supplier of components for automotive interiors with its 
seating systems and consoles as well as other decorative 
and functional parts. In contrast to the situation with 
respect to drive-train and engine systems, we expect the 
technology and quality of interior components to con-
tinue being upgraded to meet the new needs of driving, 
opening up new opportunities for us.

strateGIC opportunItIes
Alongside market opportunities, strategic opportuni-
ties may also arise for Grammer. These are discussed 
in greater detail below.

Non-organic growth – This entails examining and 
making use of opportunities for exogenous growth. In 
this connection, we continuously observe our markets 
for any opportunities for acquisitions and partnerships. 
If we see any opportunities for reinforcing our market 
position or for expanding or supplementing our product 
range, we explore the options available to us. As oppor-
tunities for non-organic growth depend on many fac-
tors beyond our control, it is not possible to make any 
forecasts on the scope available to us for acting on these 
opportunities.

Efficiency measures – We work permanently on mea-
sures for improving our efficiency and on initiatives for 
cutting costs with a view to improving our strategic 
competitive position. In this connection, Grammer 
also  regularly reviews the appropriateness of its global 
network.

Innovations – Projects in the research and devel-
opment pipeline resulting in products which can be 
launched on the market also harbor opportunities for 
entering new market segments and/or widening  market 
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9.  Business developMent forecast

9.1  reConCIlIatIon of BusIness performanCe In 2019 
wIth the outlook for 2018

The previous year’s forecast for 2019 provided for revenue 
of over eUr 2.1 billion, eBIT substantially above the fig-
ure of eUr 48.7 million posted in 2018, an operating eBIT 
margin (adjusted for exceptional and currency-transla-
tion effects) in excess of the figure for 2018, which had 
come to 4.1%, and a G-rOCe likewise above the 2018 fig-
ure (10.5%).

The forecast was adjusted on November 12, 2019 in 
response to the challenging macroeconomic environ-
ment. In the quarterly statement for the period ending 

September 30, 2019, Grammer adjusted its full-year reve-
nue target for 2019 to roughly eUr 2.0 billion (previously 
roughly eUr 2.1 billion) and its operating eBIT margin to 
3.8% (previously at the 2018 level, i.e. 4.1%). The full-year 
forecast for eBIT in 2019 was not adjusted on the basis of 
the figure posted as of September 30, 2019 and therefore 
remained unchanged at over eUr 48.7 million. 

In 2019, the Grammer Group achieved all of the targets 
that had been modified on November 12, 2019.

G-rOCe for 2019 came to 8.4% (2018: 10.5%). G-rOCe is cal-
culated on basis of operating eBIT and average operating 
assets for the last four quarters. In 2018, the acquisition 
of TmD had only had an impact on average operating 
assets in the final quarter. The figures for the previous 
three quarters had not included the acquisition of TmD. 
Assuming that the fourth quarter of 2018 is used for cal-
culating G-rOCe, the G-rOCe for 2018 stands at 8.4%. On 
the basis of this assumption, the G-rOCe for 2019 of 8.4% 
is unchanged over the previous year. 

9.2. expeCted eConomIC envIronment

9.2.1 maCroeConomIC envIronment
In view of the slowdown in 2019 and the uncertain recov-
ery, the International Monetary Fund (ImF) expects the 
global economy to generally remain unstable in 2020.

It forecasts only a moderate recovery in global eco-
nomic growth from 2.9% to 3.3% in 2020. However, the 
developing and emerging markets in particular are likely 
to gain a little more momentum, with growth acceler-
ating to 4.4% (3.7%). Growth in Brazil is expected to ac-
celerate by 1 percentage point to 2.2%. In China, growth 
will slow to 6.0%, down from 6.1% in 2019. The outlook 
for the American market is also muted, with growth ex-
pected to slow by 0.3 percentage points to 2.0%. 

share. Both Divisions are working on innovative new 
solutions aimed at helping our customers address the 
requirements of the future. Looking forward, Grammer 
will continue to position itself as an innovative premium 
partner for its customers and to tap market potential by 
means of new developments.

8.6 assessment of rIsks and opportunItIes
After a thorough review of the current risk situation, we 
have come to the conclusion that the precautions and 
measures taken by Grammer Group take appropriate 
account of the risks that have been identified. The risks 
currently known to us lead us to assume that we are not 
exposed to any factors that are liable to jeopardize our 
going-concern status and that additional risk-mitigating 
effects may arise from the opportunities available to us. 
In addition, the strategic partnership with Ningbo Jifeng 
can help us to expand our market position, especially in 
China. It is not yet possible to determine the extent to 
which the weakness afflicting the automotive industry 
will continue. However, a recovery in the passenger 
vehicle market is not expected in the near future. Due 
to the volatile forecasts, no conclusive assessment can 
be made as to the risks arising in the commodity markets 
as the possible scenarios entail both opportunities and 
risks. A further risk is being posed by the spread of the 
novel coronavirus. It is currently difficult to assess the 
extent to which this will feed through to the real econ-
omy. Weaker demand in the important sales market of 
China could exert pressure on the automotive industry. 
Assuming that the global economy continues to per-
form favorably in the future, this may yield additional 
opportunities.

foreCast/
key fIG-
ures

foreCast In 
2018 annual 

report

foreCast 
 adJusted In 
quarterly 
statement 
(q3/2019)

annual report 
2019

Revenue > EUR 2.1 bn ~ EUR 2.0 bn  EUR 2.0 bn 

EBIT > EUR 48.7 million > EUR 48.7 million > EUR 48.7 million 

Operating 
EBIT margin > 4.1% ~ 3.8%  3.8%

G-ROCE 1 > 10.5% > 10.5% 8.4%

1  The figure of 10.5% in the first three quarters does not include the assets and liabilities 

acquired through the takeover of TMD.
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The expected weaker growth in China will mainly af-
fect industrialized countries such as Germany due to 
possibly lower exports to the People’s Republic. Overall, 
Eurozone economic output should pick up from 1.2% in 
2019 to 1.3% in 2020. The IMF forecasts an increase of 0.6 
percentage points to 1.1% for Germany.  

At the same time, it states in its forecast that the base 
scenario for 2020 may prove to be too optimistic due to 
various risks. Trade barriers and heightened geopoliti-
cal tensions as well as unresolved Brexit issues such as 
the question of a trade agreement with the United King-
dom could adversely affect international trade flows and 
hinder investment and growth. In the event of any pro-
tracted loss of confidence, the IMF also believes that risk 
appetite on the global markets could change abruptly and 
expose financial weaknesses in the global economy due 
to the low interest rates. 

9.2.2 Sector environment

Automotive DiviSion 

no imminent recovery in the pASSenger vehicle 
mArket
In its forecast, IHS does not expect any rapid recovery 
after the sharp decline in the global passenger vehicle 
market. Instead, it forecasts that 88.6 million vehicles 
will be produced worldwide in 2020, equivalent to a fur-
ther year-on-year decline of 0.2% worldwide. China is 
expected to produce 0.6% fewer vehicles. However, an in-
crease of 2.3% is expected for North America. According 
to forecasts, South America is also expected to end 2020 
with a 4.2% increase in the production of passenger vehi-
cles. However, a decline of 1.6% is projected for Europe. 

commerciAl vehicleS DiviSion

commerciAl vehicle mArket fAcing Another 
weAker yeAr
IHS anticipates a broad-based downturn in commercial 
vehicle production. Both North America and China are 
expected to see what in some cases will be sharp de-
clines. Global production is likely to be down 5.6%. In 
China, production output will contract by 8.1%, with a 
decline of 16.8% also arising in North America. In South 
America, production output is expected to increase by 
5.0%. Experts see stagnation for Europe compared to the 
previous year.

AgriculturAl mAchinery inDuStry muteD
Expectations in the agricultural machinery industry are 
rather cautious for 2020. 

negAtive SignS for conStruction mAchinery 
inDuStry
The forecasts for the construction machinery industry 
are negative for 2020. A decline of 10% is expected for 
Germany, while at 5% the contraction in Europe will 
not be as pronounced. A decline of 5% is also expected 
worldwide. 

mAteriAl hAnDling  
Due to the global political uncertainty and fluctuating 
expectations with regard to the global economy, one ma-
jor OEM expects the world market for material handling 
equipment to remain flat. 

upbeAt outlook for the rAilwAy inDuStry
The outlook for 2020 is favorable in view of the full or-
der books and the German government’s comprehensive 
plans to increase rail transport capacity and passenger 
numbers.

9.3 outlook for the grAmmer group 2020
We expect the challenging economic conditions, partic-
ularly in the markets addressed by GRAMMER, to persist 
in 2020. In all likelihood, the market contraction emerg-
ing in the second half of 2019 will continue unchanged 
in the first half of 2020. In addition, the outbreak of the 
coronavirus has been exerting pressure on the global 
economy since January 2020, triggering further uncer-
tainty. In view of this, the GRAMMER Group expects sub-
stantially lower revenue in 2020 (2019: EUR 2.0 billion), 
substantially lower EBIT (2019: EUR 74.5 million) and an 
operating EBIT margin on a par with the previous year.

Amberg, March 9, 2020

Thorsten Seehars Jurate Keblyte Jens Öhlenschläger
GRAMMER AG Executive Board 
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Consolidated statement oF inCome

January 1 – deCember 31 oF the respeCtive FisCal year

 

eur k

note 2019 2018

Revenue 7 2,038,507 1,861,292

Cost of sales 8.3 -1,807,144 -1,649,485

Gross profit 231,363 211,807

Selling expenses 8.3 -41,824 -37,769

Administrative expenses 8.3 -136,875 -146,527

Other operating income 8.1 21,872 21,228

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 74,536 48,739

Financial income 8.2 3,460 1,506

Financial expenses 8.2 -21,502 -13,501

Other financial result 8.2 -2,365 -2,276

Share of earnings of joint ventures 8.5 9,438 0

Earnings before taxes 63,567 34,468

Income taxes 9 -20,089 -11,256

Net profit 43,478 23,212

Of which attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company 43,676 23,304

Non-controlling interests -198 -92

Net profit 43,478 23,212

Earnings per share

Basic/diluted earnings per share in EUR 10 3.56 1.90
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Consolidated statement oF Comprehensive inCome

January 1 – deCember 31 oF the respeCtive FisCal year

 

eur k

2019 2018

Net profit 43,478 23,212

Amounts not recycled to profit and loss in future periods

Actuarial gains/losses (–) under defined benefit plans 

Gains/losses (–) arising in the current period -17,326 7,170

Tax expenses (–)/tax income 5,039 -2,098

Actuarial gains/losses (–) under defined benefit plans (after tax) -12,287 5,072

Total amount not recycled to profit and loss in future periods -12,287 5,072

Amounts recycled to profit and loss in future periods under certain conditions

Gains/losses (–) from currency translation of foreign subsidiaries

Gains/losses (–) arising in the current period 2,177 -3,964

Gains/losses (–) from currency translation of foreign subsidiaries (after tax) 2,177 -3,964

Gains/losses (–) from cash flow hedges

Gains/losses (–) arising in the current period 1,678 -1,062

Plus amounts recycled to the income statement through profit and loss -263 1,182

Tax expenses (–)/tax income -416 -6

Gains/losses (–) from cash flow hedges (after tax) 999 114

Gains/losses (–) from net investments in foreign operations

Gains/losses (–) arising in the current period 3,019 2,616

Tax expenses (–)/tax income -788 -508

Gains/losses (–) from net investments in foreign operations (after tax) 2,231 2,108

Total amounts recycled to profit and loss in future periods under certain conditions 5,407 -1,742

Other comprehensive income -6,880 3,330

Total comprehensive income (after tax) 36,598 26,542

Of which attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company 36,815 26,650

Non-controlling interests -217 -108
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Consolidated statement oF FinanCial position 

as oF deCember 31 oF the respeCtive FisCal year

assets

eur k

note
deCember 31, 

2019
deCember 31, 

2018

Property, plant and equipment 12 463,305 348,246

Intangible assets 1 12 205,604 214,399

Investments measured at equity 5 611 0

Other financial assets 16 9,421 2,026

Deferred tax assets 9 44,900 40,344

Other assets 17 31,022 27,929

Contract assets 15 70,760 63,388

Non-current assets 825,623 696,332

Inventories 13 191,879 190,992

Current trade accounts receivable 14 206,821 250,009

Other current financial assets 1 16 3,935 7,968

Current income tax receivables 5,455 11,458

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term deposits 18 142,651 204,373

Other current assets 17 37,314 28,438

Current contract assets 15 60,771 51,847

Current assets 648,826 745,085

Total assets 1,474,449 1,441,417

1   Figures for previous year adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49, see Note 4 Business combinations.
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Consolidated statement oF FinanCial position 

as oF deCember 31 oF the respeCtive FisCal year

equity and liabilities

eur k

note
deCember 31, 

2019
deCember 31, 

2018

Subscribed capital 19 32,274 32,274

Capital reserve 19 129,796 129,796

Treasury stock 19 -7,441 -7,441

Retained earnings 19 263,408 228,920

Cumulative other comprehensive income 19 -75,792 -68,931

Equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company 342,245 314,618

Non-controlling interests -3 222

Equity 342,242 314,840

Non-current financial liabilities 21 219,976 162,004

Trade accounts payable 23 1,399 2,273

Other financial liabilities 24 64,375 17,957

Other liabilities 25 1,220 0

Retirement benefits and similar obligations 20 154,176 134,990

Deferred tax liabilities 9 46,298 41,933

Contract liabilities 15 2,606 799

Non-current liabilities 490,050 359,956

Current financial liabilities 21 207,735 295,676

Current trade accounts payable 23 309,000 358,332

Other current financial liabilities 24 20,524 6,181

Other current liabilities 25 73,003 82,693

Current income tax liabilities 7,331 5,079

Provisions 22 23,394 18,018

Current contract liabilities 15 1,170 642

Current liabilities 642,157 766,621

Total liabilities 1,132,207 1,126,577

Total assets 1,474,449 1,441,417
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Consolidated statement oF Changes in equity
For the FisCal year ending deCember 31, 2018

Consolidated statement oF Changes in equity

For the FisCal year ending deCember 31, 2019

eur k

Cumulative other Comprehensive inCome

subsCribed 
Capital Capital reserve

retained  
earnings treasury stoCk Cash Flow hedges

Foreign CurrenCy 
Conversion

net investments 
in Foreign  

operations

aCtuarial gains 
and losses From 
deFined beneFit 

plans total
non-Controlling 

interests
Consolidated 

equity

As of January 1, 2018 before adjustments 32,274 129,796 254,960 -7,441 -446 -7,144 -20,314 -44,373 337,312 349 337,661

Adjustment due to first-time application of IFRS 15 (after tax) 0 0 -33,633 0 0 0 0 0 -33,633 0 -33,633

Adjustment due to first-time application of IFRS 9 (after tax) 0 0 -365 0 0 0 0 0 -365 0 -365

As of January 1, 2018 (adjusted) 32,274 129,796 220,962 -7,441 -446 -7,144 -20,314 -44,373 303,314 349 303,663

Net profit 0 0 23,304 0 0 0 0 0 23,304 -92 23,212

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 114 -3,948 2,108 5,072 3,346 -16 3,330

Total comprehensive income for period 0 0 23,304 0 114 -3,948 2,108 5,072 26,650 -108 26,542

Dividend distributions 0 0 -15,346 0 0 0 0 0 -15,346 -17 -15,363

Transaction involving non-controlling interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -2 -2

As of December 31, 2018 32,274 129,796 228,920 -7,441 -332 -11,092 -18,206 -39,301 314,618 222 314,840

note 19

eur k

Cumulative other Comprehensive inCome

subsCribed 
Capital Capital reserve

retained  
earnings treasury stoCk Cash Flow hedges

Foreign CurrenCy 
Conversion

net investments 
in Foreign  

operations

aCtuarial gains 
and losses From 
deFined beneFit 

plans total
non-Controlling 

interests
Consolidated 

equity

As of January 1, 2019 32,274 129,796 228,920 -7,441 -332 -11,092 -18,206 -39,301 314,618 222 314,840

Net profit 0 0 43,676 0 0 0 0 0 43,676 -198 43,478

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 999 2,196 2,231 -12,287 -6,861 -19 -6,880

Total comprehensive income for period 0 0 43,676 0 999 2,196 2,231 -12,287 36,815 -217 36,598

Dividend distributions 0 0 -9,208 0 0 0 0 0 -9,208 -20 -9,228

Transaction involving non-controlling interests 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 20 12 32

As of December 31, 2019 32,274 129,796 263,408 -7,441 667 -8,896 -15,975 -51,588 342,245 -3 342,242
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eur k

Cumulative other Comprehensive inCome

subsCribed 
Capital Capital reserve

retained  
earnings treasury stoCk Cash Flow hedges

Foreign CurrenCy 
Conversion

net investments 
in Foreign  

operations

aCtuarial gains 
and losses From 
deFined beneFit 

plans total
non-Controlling 

interests
Consolidated 

equity

As of January 1, 2018 before adjustments 32,274 129,796 254,960 -7,441 -446 -7,144 -20,314 -44,373 337,312 349 337,661

Adjustment due to first-time application of IFRS 15 (after tax) 0 0 -33,633 0 0 0 0 0 -33,633 0 -33,633

Adjustment due to first-time application of IFRS 9 (after tax) 0 0 -365 0 0 0 0 0 -365 0 -365

As of January 1, 2018 (adjusted) 32,274 129,796 220,962 -7,441 -446 -7,144 -20,314 -44,373 303,314 349 303,663

Net profit 0 0 23,304 0 0 0 0 0 23,304 -92 23,212

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 114 -3,948 2,108 5,072 3,346 -16 3,330

Total comprehensive income for period 0 0 23,304 0 114 -3,948 2,108 5,072 26,650 -108 26,542

Dividend distributions 0 0 -15,346 0 0 0 0 0 -15,346 -17 -15,363

Transaction involving non-controlling interests 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -2 -2

As of December 31, 2018 32,274 129,796 228,920 -7,441 -332 -11,092 -18,206 -39,301 314,618 222 314,840

note 19

eur k

Cumulative other Comprehensive inCome

subsCribed 
Capital Capital reserve

retained  
earnings treasury stoCk Cash Flow hedges

Foreign CurrenCy 
Conversion

net investments 
in Foreign  

operations

aCtuarial gains 
and losses From 
deFined beneFit 

plans total
non-Controlling 

interests
Consolidated 

equity

As of January 1, 2019 32,274 129,796 228,920 -7,441 -332 -11,092 -18,206 -39,301 314,618 222 314,840

Net profit 0 0 43,676 0 0 0 0 0 43,676 -198 43,478

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0 999 2,196 2,231 -12,287 -6,861 -19 -6,880

Total comprehensive income for period 0 0 43,676 0 999 2,196 2,231 -12,287 36,815 -217 36,598

Dividend distributions 0 0 -9,208 0 0 0 0 0 -9,208 -20 -9,228

Transaction involving non-controlling interests 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 20 12 32

As of December 31, 2019 32,274 129,796 263,408 -7,441 667 -8,896 -15,975 -51,588 342,245 -3 342,242
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Consolidated statement of Cash flows 

January 1 – deCember 31 of the respeCtive fisCal year
 

eur k

note 2019 2018

1. Cash flow from operating activities

Earnings before taxes 63,567 34,468

Reconciliation of earnings before tax with cash flow from operating activities

 Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 12 67,969 40,630

 Amortization and impairments of intangible assets 12 17,296 11,674

 Gains (–)/losses from the disposal of assets 27 530

 Other non-cash changes 1 15,447 12,972

 Financial result 8.2 20,407 14,271

Share of earnings of joint ventures 8.5 -9,438 0

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Decrease/increase (–) in trade accounts receivable and other receivables 1 14, 15, 16, 17 21,872 55,879

Decrease/increase (–) in inventories 13 -886 -19,752

Decrease (–)/increase in provisions and retirement benefit provisions 20, 22 -10,218 -7,939

Decrease (–)/increase in accounts payable and other liabilities 23, 24, 25 -53,332 15,915

Income taxes paid 9 -8,738 -15,081

Cash flow from operating activities 123,973 143,567

2. Cash flow from investing activities

Purchases

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 -104,861 -68,202

Purchase of intangible assets 12 -5,654 -5,737

Purchase of associated companies 5 -613 -1

Purchase of subsidiaries, less acquired cash and cash equivalents 1 4 0 -196,848

Disposals

Disposal of property, plant and equipment 12 4,595 572

Disposal of intangible assets 12 148 9

Payments made for the formation of plan assets 20 –1,326 -898

Interest received 8.2 3,460 1,506

Government grants received 477 225

Cash flow from investing activities -103,774 -269,374

3. Cash flow from financing activities

Dividend payments 19 -9,228 -15,363

Payments received from raising financial liabilities 21 148,228 247,763

Payments made for the settlement of financial liabilities 21 -189,725 -36,847

Decrease (–)/increase in lease liabilities 12 -20,101 -1,676

Interest paid 8.2 -14,861 -9,710

Cash flow from financing activities -85,687 184,167

4. Cash flow components of cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Changes cash and cash equivalents recognized in the cash flow statement  (sub-total of items 1–3) -65,488 58,360

Effects of exchange rate differences of cash flow components of cash and cash equivalents -4,162 -3,088

Cash flow components of cash and cash equivalents as of January 1 193,304 138,032

Cash flow components of cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 123,654 193,304

5. Analysis of cash flow components of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 18 142,651 204,373

Bank overdrafts (including current liabilities under factoring contracts) 21 -18,997 -11,069

Cash flow components of cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 123,654 193,304

1 Previous year’s figures adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49, see Note 4. Business combinations.
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notes to the Consolidated FinanCial statements For 
the FisCal year ending deCember 31, 2019

  1    inFormation about grammer group and basis 
oF reporting

GRAMMER AG is a public listed company incorporated 
under German law. The Company’s registered office 
and business address is Georg-Grammer-Str. 2 in 
92224 Amberg, Germany. The Company’s shares have 
been traded on the Frankfurt/Main and Munich stock 
exchanges via the Xetra electronic trading platform since 
1996. 

GRAMMER AG is listed in the Prime Standard on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

International Securities Identification Number (ISIN): 
DE0005895403 
German Securities ID (WKN): 589540 
Common Code: 006754821
Ticker Symbol: GMM
Commercial register number: HRB 1182, Local Court of 
Amberg

GRAMMER is a global group specializing in the develop-
ment and production of complex components and 
systems for automotive interiors as well as driver 
and passenger seats for trucks, trains and offroad 
commercial vehicles. In 2019, the Company employed an 
average of 14,910 persons (excluding trainees, including 
214 employees in Central Services) at 48 (2018: 48) 
production and logistics sites around the world as well 
as at GRAMMER Group Central Services in Amberg.

The GRAMMER  AG’s Executive Board had three 
members as of December 31, 2019. 

The GRAMMER Group has divided its activities into 
the Automotive and Commercial Vehicles segments. The 
segments are described in greater detail in Note 6. The 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as published by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the 
European Union. The consolidated financial statements 
of GRAMMER AG (the “Company”) were prepared by the 
Executive Board in accordance with section 315 e (1) HGB 
(German Commercial Code) on March 9, 2020.

Since October 8, 2019, GRAMMER  AG has been an 
indirectly held 84.23% subsidiary of Ningbo Jifeng 
Auto Parts Co., Ltd., Ningbo City, China, (Ningbo 
Jifeng) and is included in that company’s consolidated 
financial statements. These can be viewed in Chinese at  
http://www.sse.com.cn. The direct parent company of 
GRAMMER AG is Jiye Auto Parts GmbH, Kitzingen.

  2    aCCounting poliCies

2.1  summary oF signiFiCant aCCounting poliCies 
and use oF estimates and Judgements. 

These consolidated financial statements for GRAMMER 
AG were prepared in accordance with section 315e HGB 
(“consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with international accounting standards”) in 
conjunction with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and related interpretations (SIC/IFRIC 
interpretations) as applicable in the European Union (EU) 
in accordance with Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the 
European Parliament and the Council. The term “IFRS” 
also includes the International Accounting Standards 
(IAS), which continue to apply.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared 
using the historical cost principal, except where 
application of other methods of measurement are 
mandatory. The consolidated financial statements were 
prepared in Euro (EUR). Unless otherwise indicated, all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (EUR k). 
Individual amounts and percentages may not exactly 
equal the aggregated amounts due to rounding 
differences. The consolidated statement of financial 
position (balance sheet) applies the current/non-current 
distinction. Net income is presented in two separate 
statements: an income statement and a statement 
of comprehensive income. The income statement is 
prepared using the cost of sales method.

estimates and Judgements (ias 8)
In certain cases, it is necessary to apply assessments and 
judgments. For instance, in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements, discretionar y decisions, 
assumptions and estimates have to be made to a certain 
degree, which have an impact on the measurement and 
recognition of reported assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses and contingent assets and liabilities of 
the reporting period. The assumptions and estimates 
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are based on presumptions reflecting the currently 
available information. In addition, they may include 
estimates that could have been different in the same 
reporting period for equally plausible reasons. GRAMMER 
cautions that future events often differ from forecasts 
and that estimates are routinely subject to revision. 
Assumptions and estimates consistently relate to the 
parameters in effect at the time of preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. As a result of market 
development and conditions outside Group control, 
however, these may change over time. Such changes 
are only taken into account when they have occurred. 
In particular, estimates and discretionary judgments 
are necessary in connection with impairment testing 
of goodwill, intangible assets and non-current assets 
and the recognition of deferred tax assets and unused 
tax losses as well as the definition of the assumptions 
underlying the actuarial calculations of retirement 
benefit expenses under defined benefit plans. 
Furthermore, estimates and discretionary judgments 
are applied to revenue from contracts with customers 
for the purpose of determining the transaction price 
and also to the formation of portfolios of financial 
instruments in the case of expected credit risks or losses. 
In addition, discretionary decisions must be made 
in assessing whether there is a legal or constructive 
obligation for which a provision must be recognized. 
In particular, all known circumstances, such as 
restructuring provisions, are taken into account to 
determine the existence of a constructive obligation. 
In connection with IFRS 16 “Leases”, estimates and 
discretionary judgments are particularly applied to 
determine the duration of the lease. At the inception of 
the lease, the Group assesses whether it is reasonably 
certain that a contractual option to extend or terminate 
the lease or to purchase the leased asset will be exercised. 
To this end, all relevant factors, such as relocation costs, 
significant leasehold improvements and contractual 
terms, that provide an economic incentive to exercise 
the option are considered. After the provision of the 
leased asset, the duration of the lease is redefined if a 
material event or change in circumstances occurs that 
is within GRAMMER’s control and affects the original 
determination of the duration of the lease.

prinCiples oF Consolidation (iFrs 10)
The consolidated financial statements include 
the financial statements of GRAMMER  AG and the 
financial statements of the consolidated subsidiaries 
as of December 31 of each fiscal year. The financial 
statements of the parent company and the subsidiaries 
are prepared in accordance with uniform accounting 
policies. The reporting date of the financial statements 
of the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements corresponds to the reporting date of the 
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements include 
GRAMMER AG as well as subsidiaries on which 
GRAMMER  AG directly or indirectly exerts control. 
GRAMMER AG is deemed to control a subsidiary if it is 
able to exercise control over it, participates in positive 
and negative returns from these companies and is also 
able to use its power over the subsidiary to affect the 
amount of such returns.

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary which was acquired during the reporting 
period are recorded in the statement of financial position 
and statement of comprehensive income as of the day on 
which GRAMMER AG gains control over the subsidiary 
until the day on which control ceases.

Receivables and liabilities as well as income and 
expenses arising between consolidated companies are 
mutually netted. Intercompany profits from deliveries 
and services as well as dividends distributed within the 
Group are eliminated.

business Combinations (iFrs 3)
Business combinations are accounted for using the 
purchase method. Costs for the acquisition of a company 
are measured as the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair 
value of the consideration transferred and the amount 
of any minority interest. 

Costs incurred in connection with the business 
combination are recognized as expenses in the period 
in which they arise.

In a business combination, all identifiable assets 
acquired, liabilities assumed and contingent liabilities 
of the acquiree are measured at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. Any agreed contingent consideration 
is also recognized at fair value as of the acquisition 
date. Any resulting difference is reported as goodwill. 
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at 
cost less any accumulated impairment cost. Please refer 
to the section on goodwill for details of impairment 
testing. Subsequent changes to the fair value of a 
contingent consideration representing an asset or 
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liability are either recognized in profit and loss or in 
other comprehensive income in accordance with IFRS 9. 
If a contingent consideration is classified as equity, the 
original amount is not remeasured and subsequent 
settlement is taken directly to equity. 

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements by offsetting the carrying amount 
of the shares in subsidiaries against the Group’s share of 
the equity of the respective subsidiary. Non-controlling 
interests refer to the share of results of operations and 
net assets not attributable to the Group. Any profit 
or loss from this share is therefore recognized in the 
income statement separately from the share of results 
of operations attributable to the shareholders of the 
parent company. In the balance sheet, it is recognized 
directly in equity in a line item separate from the equity 
attributable to the shareholders of the parent company.

Joint ventures (iFrs 11) and assoCiates (ias 28)
Joint ventures are companies on which GRAMMER and 
one or more outside parties jointly exercise control. Joint 
control arises if decisions on the main activities require 
the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control 
over the entity in question.

An associate is an entity over which GRAMMER has 
significant influence. Significant influence occurs when 
the Group has the power to participate in the financial 
and operating policy decisions of the investee but does 
not have control or joint control. Where an entity holds 
20% or more of the voting power (directly or through 
subsidiaries) of an investee, it will be presumed that the 
investor exerts significant influence unless it can be 
clearly demonstrated that this is not the case.

The GRAMMER Group’s shares in such joint ventures 
and associates are recognized in accordance with the 
equity method.

Under the equity method, the shares in a joint venture 
or associate are initially recognized at historical cost. 
These costs are adjusted in subsequent periods to reflect 
any changes in the Group’s share in the net assets of the 
joint venture or associate since the acquisition date. If 
the Group’s share of net assets is negative, loss portions 
are recognized only if there is an obligation to offset 
losses. The Group determines on each reporting date 
whether there is any objective evidence suggesting that 
the share in the joint venture or the associate may be 
impaired. In the event of such evidence being found, 

the impairment equals the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the share in the joint venture 
or associate and the carrying amount, upon which 
the resultant loss is recognized through profit and 
loss within the share of earnings of joint ventures and 
associates. The carrying amount forms the upper limit 
of the impairment provided that there is no obligation 
to compensate for any losses.

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of an associate 
or a jointly controlled entity is included within the 
carrying amount of such entities. If such an entity is 
sold, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in 
the determination of the net gain or loss on the sale.

Accordingly, the consolidated statement of income 
includes the Group’s share in the earnings of the joint 
venture or associate for the reporting period provided 
that this is a positive amount. Any adjustments 
recognized within the other comprehensive income 
of a subsidiary are likewise recognized in the Group’s 
other comprehensive income. In addition, any changes 
are recorded directly in the equity of the joint ventures 
or associates in an amount equaling the share held by the 
Group and, as far as necessary, included in the statement 
of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses from 
transactions between the Group and the joint ventures or 
associates are eliminated in accordance with the shares 
held in the joint venture or associates. 

Current/non-Current ClassiFiCation (ias 1)
The Group classifies its assets and liabilities according 
to whether they are current or non-current. An asset 
is classified as current if it is expected to be realized 
within twelve months of the reporting date, the asset 
is held primarily for trading, or it entails cash or cash 
equivalents. All other assets are classified as non-
current. A liability is classified as current if settlement 
of the liability is expected within twelve months of the 
reporting date or the liability is held primarily for trading 
purposes. All other liabilities are classified as non-
current. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified 
as non-current assets or liabilities.



102

GRAMMER   AnnuAl REpoRt 2019

AnnuAl FinAnciAl StAtEMEntS
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CurrenCy translation (ias 21)
The consolidated financial statements were prepared 
in euro, which is GRAMMER AG’s functional currency. 
The Group determines the functional currency for 
each subsidiary. The items included in the financial 
statements of the companies are measured on the 
basis of the relevant functional currency. The assets 
and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries whose functional 
currency is not the euro are translated into euro on 
the basis of their functional currency. The functional 
currency of the subsidiaries is the relevant local currency 
in most cases. The functional currency of the subsidiary 
is translated into the Group’s reporting currency using 
the modified closing rate method under which items 

of the statement of financial position are translated at 
the end-of-year exchange rate and items of the income 
statement at average exchange rates. Any resulting 
translation differences are recognized in profit or loss. 
Excluded from this are currency translation differences 
arising from foreign-currency loans in connection with 
a net investment in a foreign business operation. These 
are recorded directly in equity and recycled to profit and 
loss for the period upon disposal. Currency translation 
differences arising from foreign-currency loans for 
collateralizing a net investment are recorded directly 
within other comprehensive income.

For currency translation purposes, the following 
exchange rates were applied for the major currencies of 
relevance to the Group:

revenue From ContraCts with Customers (iFrs 15)
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized 
when control over the goods or services passes to 
the customer. The revenue recognized equals the 
consideration that GRAMMER expects to receive upon 
the transfer of these goods or services.

The five-step model is used to determine revenue 
recognition from contracts with customers. Within 
the scope of the identified contracts with customers, 
two independently definable performance obligations 
are identified with series development and series 
delivery, particularly for the Group, which are described 
separately below. 

 

average exChange rate end-oF-year exChange rate

2019 2018 2019 2018

Argentina ARS 0.019 0.032 0.015 0.023

Brazil BRL 0.227 0.233 0.221 0.225

China CNY 0.129 0.128 0.128 0.127

United Kingdom GBP 1.138 1.129 1.175 1.118

Japan JPY 0.008 0.008 0.008 0.008

Mexico MXN 0.046 0.044 0.047 0.044

Poland PLN 0.232 0.235 0.235 0.232

South Africa ZAR 0.062 0.065 0.063 0.061

Czech Republic CZK 0.039 0.039 0.039 0.039

Turkey TRY 0.159 0.183 0.150 0.165

USA USD 0.892 0.848 0.890 0.873
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revenue From series development
Customer tools, development services, devices and 
prototypes used in series development have been 
combined to form a performance obligation referred 
to as “series development”, as GRAMMER does not 
believe that the underlying goods and services can be 
independently identified and the goods and services 
are highly interdependent or interrelated. Revenue from 
this performance obligation is recognized over a certain 
period if the resulting asset has no alternative use for 
the Company and it has a legal right to receive payment 
for the service already rendered. Complete satisfaction 
of a performance obligation is determined using the 
input-based method as there is assumed to be a direct 
correlation between the costs already incurred and the 
progress of the development work and is based on the 
ratio of costs already incurred to the total expected 
costs. An expected loss from a performance obligation 
is recognized immediately as an expense. Provisions 
are recognized for expected contract losses from 
project-specific series development (Note Provisions). 
Recognition of this benefit obligation is based on the 
individual contracts with our customers, primarily 
in the Automotive Division. No significant financing 
components for these contracts were identified. 
Customer claims and obligations under contracts for 
series development are recognized as “contract assets” 
or “contract liabilities”, respectively. 

revenue From series deliveries 
In connection with series delivery, the production and 
delivery of series parts are bundled into a performance 
obligation known as “series delivery”. GRAMMER trans-
fers the power of control over the delivered series parts at 
a certain point in time and thus recognizes the revenue 
at the point in time at which the customer receives the 
power of control over these parts and derives the benefit 
from the delivery.

No significant financing components for these series 
delivery contracts were identified. In determining 
the transaction price for series deliveries, the Group 
considers the impact of consideration paid to customers. 
The consideration paid to a customer comprises amounts 
that GRAMMER pays to its customers that do not 
represent payment for an independently identifiable item 
or service delivered by the customer. The consideration 
paid to the customer is recognized by GRAMMER within 
other assets in an amount equaling the prepayment and 
deducted from the transaction price at the time at which 
the revenue in connection with the corresponding series 
delivery is recognized.

Additional costs incurred in connection with the 
fulfillment of series supply contracts with customers 
are recognized as an asset if GRAMMER expects these 
costs to be generated. Capitalized costs are amortized 
on a straight-line basis over the period of the expected 
future benefit and recognized in the cost of sales. 

ContraCt assets
A contract asset is the right to receive consideration in 
exchange for goods or services transferred to a customer. 
If GRAMMER meets its contractual obligations by 
transferring goods or services to a customer before the 
customer remits the consideration or before payment 
becomes due, a contractual asset is recognized for the 
contingent claim for consideration. 

ContraCt liabilities
A contract liability is GRAMMER’s obligation to transfer 
goods or services to a customer for which it has received 
or will receive consideration. If a customer remits 
consideration before GRAMMER transfers the goods or 
services to it, a contract liability is recognized when 
payment is made or becomes due (whichever occurs 
first). Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue 
as soon as GRAMMER has fulfilled its contractual 
obligations. 

trade aCCounts reCeivable (ias 32, iFrs 9)
The unconditional entitlement of the Group to receive 
consideration (i.e. due date occurs automatically as time 
elapses) is shown under trade accounts receivable. The 
accounting policies for trade accounts receivable are 
explained in the note on financial assets.

warranty obligations (ias 37)
The Group normally provides statutory warranties 
for any defects that existed at the time of sale. These 
“assurance-type warranties” are recognized as 
provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets. 
Details of the accounting method for warranty provisions 
can be found in the note on provisions. There are no 
further warranty commitments that can be classified 
as an independently definable service.
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researCh and development expenses (ias 38)
Research expenses are recognized as expense directly 
upon arising. Market-related development expenses 
are recognized as intangible assets if the conditions for 
recognition are satisfied and the Group is able to prove 
this:

• The technical feasibility of completing the 
intangible asset so that it will be available for 
internal use or sale,

• The intention to complete the intangible asset and 
use or sell it,

• How the intangible asset will generate probable 
future economic benefits,

• The availability of resources for purposes of 
completing the asset,

• The ability to reliably measure the expenditure 
attributable to the intangible asset during its 
development.

After initial recognition, development expenses are 
accounted for using the purchase cost model, i.e. at cost 
less cumulative depreciation and impairment expense. 
Depreciation is calculated for the period in which the 
asset is expected to be used. Capitalized development 
expenses are tested for impairment annually as long 
as the asset has not yet been used or if there are any 
indications for impairment during the year. 

interest inCome and expense (ias 1, ias 32)
Interest income and expense are recognized in the 
period in which they arise and are recognized in 
the income statement as part of the financial result. 
Interest income and expenses are calculated using the 
effective interest rate method in the case of all financial 
instruments measured at amortized cost and interest-
bearing financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 
period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset 
or financial liability. 

dividends (ias 1)
Dividend income is recognized upon a legal right to 
payment arising. 

government grants (ias 20)
Government grants are recognized when there is 
reasonable assurance that the grants will be received 
and the eligible Group company complies with the 
conditions attached to them. Grants related to expenses 
are recognized as liabilities and systematically recorded 
as income over the period necessary to net it with the 
corresponding expenses. Government grants related 
to assets are presented in the balance sheet by setting 
up the grant as deferred income that is depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the expected useful life of the 
asset. To the extent that loans or other subsidies from 
governments or their executive agencies are provided 
at an interest rate below the prevailing market rate, the 
resulting benefit is recognized as a government grant.

taxes (ias 12)
Tax items are calculated in the light of the applicable local 
tax legislation and tax rates. Due to their complexity, 
they may be subject to differences in interpretation 
between the tax payers and the local tax authorities. 
The Group recognizes provisions for potential effects 
from tax audits based on estimates. The calculation 
of these provisions is based on various factors, such 
as experience from previous tax audits and different 
official interpretations of tax rules by the authorities. 
Taxes referring to items that are recognized directly in 
equity are also recognized directly in equity. 

The liability method is used to calculate deferred 
tax assets and liabilities with an impact on future 
taxes arising from temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities recognized in 
the statement of financial position and their respective 
tax bases. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences. The following exceptions apply:

• Deferred tax assets from deductible temporary 
differences, which arise from the initial 
recognition of an asset or a liability in a 
transaction other than a business combination 
that at the time of the transaction had no 
influence on the net profit for the period as 
reported in the financial statements or on the 
taxable income are not recognized.
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• Deferred tax assets arising from taxable temporary 
differences in connection with investments in 
subsidiaries and associates and interests in joint 
ventures are recognized only to the extent that 
it is probable that the temporary differences 
will reverse in the foreseeable future and there 
is sufficient taxable income against which the 
temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets are only recognized on unused tax 
losses if the corresponding tax advantages are likely to 
be utilized. In particular, the Group determines whether 
there has been a series of losses in the recent past.

Accordingly, a discretionary judgment by manage-
ment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax 
assets on the basis of the expected timing and amount 
of the future taxable profit Reliable planning of future 
taxable results is also required. The recoverable value 
of deferred tax assets is reviewed annually.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured on 
the basis of tax rates expected to apply in the period in 
which an asset is realized or a liability settled.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted if the 
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current 
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities 
and the deferred income taxes refer to income taxes of 
the same taxable entity levied by the same tax authority.

Value-added tax refunded or paid is recognized under 
“other current assets” or “other current liabilities”, as the 
case may be.

property, plant and equipment (ias 16, ias 36)
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less 
straight-line depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. If the cost of certain components is significant 
in proportion to the overall cost of the item of property, 
plant and equipment and if these components are 
subject to regular replacement, the Group recognizes 
these separately and depreciates them individually on a 
straight-line basis. The useful lives applied correspond 
to the period over which the relevant component is 
expected to be available for use. Any material residual 
values have been included in the calculation of the 
depreciation amounts.

Cost is recognized on the basis of directly attributable 
costs plus any allocable material and production 
overheads, including depreciation, and borrowing 
costs for long-term construction projects or similar 
manufacturing processes, as long as they qualify for 
recognition. Repair costs and interest on borrowed funds 
are recognized as current expenses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated pro 
rata temporis over the expected useful life using the 
straight-line method. Impairments are recognized 
when the carrying amount exceeds the value in use or 
the fair value less costs to sell of the assets. Should the 
reasons for impairments recognized in previous years 
no longer apply, the impairment losses are reversed up 
to the amount of the asset’s original cost.

An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognized upon disposal or when an economic 
benefit can no longer be expected from its continued 
use. Any gains or losses arising from this derecognition 
as the net proceeds from the sale differ from the carrying 
amount are reported through profit and loss.

The residual carrying amounts of the assets, their 
useful lives and the depreciation methods applied are 
reviewed annually and, if necessary, adjusted.

leases (appliCation oF ias 17 up  
until deCember 31, 2018)
Leases in which GRAMMER AG or a subsidiary is the lessee 
are classified as either as operating leases or finance 
leases. The determination of whether an arrangement 
contains a lease is based on the economic substance of 
the arrangement at the time at which it is established 
and requires a judgment as to whether the performance 
of the contractual arrangement depends on the use of 
a specific asset and whether the arrangement conveys 
the right to use the asset. With regard to leased items 
of property, plant and equipment, the requirements of 
finance leases in accordance with IAS 17 are met when 
all significant risks and opportunities of ownership have 
been transferred to the respective Group company. In 
this case, economic ownership rests with the Group 
companies concerned and the asset is recognized at its 
fair value or, if lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. Depreciation is recognized on the 
asset on a straight-line basis over its expected life or, 
if shorter, the duration of the lease. The corresponding 
lease payment is recognized as a liability and the 
repayment component of the lease payments already 
made is deducted.
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Any lease or rent payments under operating leases 
involving Group companies as the lessee are recognized 
as an expense directly in the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the duration of the lease.

Leases may also include sale-and-lease-back 
transactions, entailing the sale of an asset by the vendor 
and the leasing of the same asset back to the vendor. 

leases (appliCation oF iFrs 16 From January 1, 2019)
A lease is a contract that transfers the right to use an 
asset (leased asset) for an agreed period of time in return 
for payment. As the lessee, GRAMMER recognizes a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability over 
the duration of the lease calculated at its present value 
using the effective interest method. The judgment as to 
whether a contract constitutes or contains a lease is made 
at the inception of the lease. Right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities are recognized on the commencement 
date, i.e. the date on which the leased asset becomes 
available for use.

The following lease payments are included in the 
measurement of the lease liability:

• fixed payments, less any leasing incentives to be 
provided;

• variable lease payments that are tied to an index or 
interest rate;

• expected payments under residual value 
guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option where 
exercise is reasonably certain;

• penalties for terminating the lease if the 
calculation of the duration of the lease takes into 
account the exercise of an option to terminate the 
lease.

Lease payments are discounted at the incremental 
borrowing rate as it is generally not possible for 
GRAMMER to readily determine the interest rate on which 
the lease is based. 

Right-of-use assets are recognized at historical cost 
and are composed of:

• the amount derived from the initial measurement 
of the lease liability;

• lease payments made on or before the leased 
asset becomes available less any lease incentives 
received;

• initial direct costs and
• dismantling obligations.

They are subsequently remeasured at amortized cost. 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the duration of the lease or the expected 
useful life of the leased asset, whichever is the shorter. 
The guidance contained in IAS 36 on recognizing and 
measuring impairments also applies to right-of-use 
assets.

In the case of short-term leases (leases with a 
maximum duration of 12 months with no purchase 
option) and leases for low-value assets (office and 
business equipment, such as printers and small 
electronic devices), GRAMMER recognizes the lease 
payments on a straight-line basis through profit and 
loss. This procedure is also applied to intangible assets.

The duration of the lease comprises the non-
cancellable term of a lease together with the periods 
resulting from an option to extend or terminate the 
lease as well as a purchase option if it is reasonably 
certain that this option will be exercised. All relevant 
facts and circumstances that provide an economic 
incentive to exercise or not to exercise the option are 
taken into account, including any changes in those facts 
and circumstances that are expected to occur between 
the commencement date and the exercise of the option.

The lease liability is remeasured if the expected 
lease payments change, e.g. in the case of index-linked 
lease payments or due to new estimates regarding 
contractual options. The change to the carrying amount 
is recognized through equity by making a corresponding 
adjustment to the right-of-use asset. 
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intangible assets (ias 38)
Intangible assets are initially recognized at historical 
cost. The costs of such intangible assets acquired under 
business combinations equal their fair value on their 
date of acquisition. They are subsequently recorded at 
historical cost less cumulative amortization and any 
cumulative impairment expense. A distinction is drawn 
between intangible assets with a definite useful life and 
those with an indefinite useful life. With the exception 
of goodwill, the GRAMMER Group does not have any 
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life. Intangible 
assets with a definite useful life are amortized over their 
useful lives using the same method as for depreciation 
of property, plant and equipment. They are also tested 
for impairment as soon as there is any indication that 
they might be impaired. If the expected useful life of 
the asset or the expected amortization schedule has 
changed, a different amortization period or amortization 
method is chosen. Such changes constitute a change of 
estimate. Intangible assets include patents and licenses. 
Patents may be either generated internally or acquired 
and are recognized at historical cost. Licenses for the 
use of intellectual property are issued for individual use 
for a period of one to ten years. Patents and licenses are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their respective 
useful life. 

goodwill (ias 38, ias 36)
Goodwill arising from a business combination is initially 
measured at cost and is defined as the excess of cost over 
the Group’s share in the fair values of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and debt of the entity acquired. 
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured 
at cost less any accumulated impairment expense. 
Goodwill is not subject to systematic amortization, but 
is tested for impairment annually or whenever there are 
any indications of impairment. 

In such a test, impairment is measured by establishing 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
that relates to the goodwill. The recoverable amount 
is the higher of the fair value of the asset less costs to 
sell and value in use. If the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, 
an impairment loss is recognized. First, the carrying 
amount of the goodwill allocated to the cash-generating 
unit and then, in proportion to the total carrying amount 

of the cash-generating unit, the carrying amount of the 
other assets of the unit is impaired. Impairment losses 
on goodwill are not reversed. 

Impairment testing is carried out annually at the 
level of segments, which are the Group’s cash-generating 
units and represent the lowest level at which goodwill 
is monitored for internal management purposes. This 
requires an estimate to be made of the value in use of 
the cash-generating units to which the goodwill has 
been attributed. In order to estimate the value in use, 
the Group must estimate the expected future cash flows 
from the cash-generating unit as well as an appropriate 
discount rate in order to determine the present value 
of these cash flows. Forecasts of cash flows are based 
on historical data and management’s best estimate 
of future events over the next three years. Cash flows 
beyond the forecast period are extrapolated on the basis 
of individual growth rates. The assumptions underlying 
the fair value less costs to sell and value in use entail 
estimated growth rates, weighted average cost-of-capital 
rates and tax rates. These estimates and the methods 
used to arrive at them may exert considerable influence 
on the applicable figures and ultimately also the amount 
of a possible impairment of goodwill. 

inventories (ias 2)
Inventories are valued at cost under strict application 
of the lower-of-cost-and-market principle. Costs of 
purchase are measured in the Group using a moving 
average price and an adequate portion of the costs 
associated with the procurement of goods. In addition 
to directly attributable costs, the costs of conversion 
include reasonable portions of manufacturing 
and materials overheads as well as depreciation. 
Administrative expenses are included insofar as they 
relate to production. General administrative expenses 
and interest expenses are not recognized. Due to 
the elimination of intercompany profits, the cost of 
inventories from intercompany deliveries is calculated 
on the basis of retrograde discounts on the internal 
transfer prices. If, as result of decreased prices on the 
market, the net realizable value on the reporting date 
is lower, the inventories are recognized at such lower 
prices.
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Cash, Cash equivalents and short-term  
deposits (ias 7)
Cash and short-term deposits, as reported in the balance 
sheet, include cash in hand, bank balances and short-
term deposits with original terms to maturity of less 
than three months. These are recognized at amortized 
cost.

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow 
statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash and 
short-term deposits, as defined above, plus overdraft 
facilities that have been drawn on.

treasury stoCk (ias 32)
If the GRAMMER AG or a Group company acquires any 
treasury stock, this is carried at cost and deducted from 
equity. The purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of own 
shares is recognized directly in equity. Any differences 
between the carrying amount and the consideration paid 
are recognized in equity.

retirement beneFits and other post-employment 
beneFits (ias 19)
The actuarial measurement of retirement benefit 
provisions is based on the projected unit credit method 
in respect of defined benefit plans in accordance with 
IAS 19 (revised 2011). This valuation method is based not 
only on retirement benefit payments and vested benefits 
known as of the reporting date but also reflects future 
salary and pension increases. 

Actuarial gains or losses result from changes in the 
number of beneficiaries and differences between actual 
trends (e.g. salary or pension increases) compared to the 
assumptions on which the calculations were based. They 
are reported within other comprehensive income and 
subsequently no longer recycled to profit and loss. 
Current service cost, past service cost, gains and 
losses from plan curtailments and extraordinary 
plan settlements are recognized within cost of sales, 
administrative costs or selling costs depending on their 
function. 

Past service cost is recorded as expense upon the 
plan change taking effect. With respect to defined 
benefit plans, the GRAMMER Group only has plan 
assets in connection with one deferred compensation 
commitment. The net interest expenses and interest 
income on defined benefit plans resulting from the 
plan assets are recorded in net financial result. Other 
post-employment benefits for employees are measured 
in accordance with IAS 19 (revised 2011).

Actuarial calculations are based on material 
assumptions including on discount rates, expected 
wage and salary trends and mortality rates. The 
discount factors applied are determined on the basis 
of market yields on the reporting date on investment-
grade corporate bonds with the appropriate maturity 
and currency denomination. Changes in market and 
economic conditions, particularly interest rates, may 
cause the underlying assumptions to differ from actual 
performance. Given the complexity of the measurements 
and their long-term nature, defined benefit obligations 
react extremely sensitively to any changes in the 
underlying assumptions. These assumptions are 
reviewed on each reporting date. The GRAMMER Group 
does not have any defined-contribution pension plans. 
Further details on retirement benefit obligations can be 
found in Note 20.

provisions (ias 37)
In accordance with IAS 37, provisions are recognized 
insofar as the Group, as a result of a past event, has 
present obligations towards third parties that will likely 
cause an outflow of resources and a reliable estimate can 
be made with respect to the amount of the obligation.

Where the Group expects at least a partial reimburse-
ment of a provision (e.g. in the case of an insurance 
policy) for a particular matter, the reimburse ment 
is recognized as a separate asset when it is virtually 
certain that reimbursement will be received. The 
expense relating to the provision is presented in the 
income statement net of the amount recognized for the 
reimbursement. Where the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are discounted at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. When 
discounting, the increase in the amount of a provision 
reflecting the time value of money is recognized as 
interest expense. Provisions for warranty costs are 
recognized at the time of sale of the relevant products 
or performance of the relevant services. The amount 
recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present obligation.

The measurement of provisions for warranties and 
litigation is largely based on estimates and assumptions. 
For warranty estimates, a significant number of 
assumptions are made relating to technical disruptions, 
costs and possible claims, which to some extent rely 
on operating management’s past experience. These 
may change over time as more specific information 
becomes available. Restructuring costs are provided for 
if the general criteria for the recognition of provisions 
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in accordance with IAS 37 are satisfied. The Group is 
confronted with various legal disputes and regulatory 
processes in different countries. These can result in civil 
sanctions or monetary fines for the Group. The Group 
recognizes provisions for such litigation costs if it is 
probable that an obligation will arise from them that is 
likely to result in future cash outflows. If the Group has 
an onerous contract, the present contractual obligation is 
recognized and measured as a provision. However, before 
establishing a separate provision for an onerous contract, 
the Group recognizes any impairment loss that has 
occurred on assets dedicated to that contract. An onerous 
contract is a contract under which the unavoidable costs 
(i.e. the costs that the Group cannot avoid because it 
has the contract) of meeting the obligations under the 
contract exceed the expected economic benefits. The 
unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the minimum 
net cost of exiting the contract, which is the lower of 
the cost of fulfilling it or any compensation or penalties 
arising from failure to fulfil it.

share-based payment (iFrs 2)
The remuneration system for the Executive Board 
includes share-based remuneration as part of the 
variable performance-related remuneration. The share-
based compensation is included in the total shareholder 
return (“TSR”) as part of the long-term incentive (“LTI”) 
and is calculated by comparing the GRAMMER share’s 
performance over the four years of the performance 
period relative to the SDAX. The share-based payment 
is settled in cash and measured at fair value on the 
reporting date. Pending payment of the LTI, the liability 
for the performance-related compensation is remeasured 
on each reporting date and on the settlement date and 
any changes in fair value are recognized through profit 
and loss under administrative expenses.

FinanCial assets (iFrs 9) 
Financial assets are recognized on their settlement 
date.
After initial recognition, financial assets are 
subsequently measured either at amortized cost, at fair 
value through other comprehensive income or at fair 
value through profit and loss.

Financial assets are classified on the basis of the 
characteristics of the cash flows associated with them 
(cash flow criteria) and the GRAMMER Group’s business 
model for managing financial assets (business model 
criteria). Financial assets that meet the cash flow 
criteria by generating cash flows that represent only 

payments of principal and interest on the outstanding 
principal amount can be measured at amortized cost 
or at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
This assessment is made on the basis of the individual 
financial instrument.

Financial assets are assigned to the following 
categories:

• Financial assets at amortized cost (FAAC)
• Financial assets at fair value through other 

comprehensive income without reclassification of 
the cumulative gains and losses on derecognition 
(equity instruments) (FVOCI)

• Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVtPL) 

“Financial assets at amortized cost (FAAC)” include cash, 
cash equivalents and short-term deposits, trade accounts 
receivable, loans and receivables (other financial assets). 
They are held for the purposes of the GRAMMER Group’s 
business model of which is to hold assets to generate 
contractual cash flows. The cash flow criteria are met for 
these financial assets. Gains and losses are recognized as 
profit or loss in the period when they are derecognized 
or written down or are reduced through amortization. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are recognized 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
method less possible impairment losses. Trade accounts 
receivable are recognized at their invoice amount. 

Impairments of loans and receivables (other 
financial assets) are recognized in accordance with 
general principles. If their credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, an impairment 
loss is recognized equaling the credit losses that are 
expected to occur within the next twelve months 
(12-month expected credit loss; Level 1). Expected 
credit losses are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows payable under the contract 
and the total cash flows expected to be received by 
the Group discounted using an approximation of the 
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows 
include the cash flows from the sale of collateral held 
or other credit collateral that is an integral part of 
the terms of the contract. If credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, an impairment 
loss is recognized equaling the expected lifetime credit 
losses (total lifetime expected credit loss; Levels 2 and 3). 
The expected credit loss is deducted from the carrying 
amount of the financial asset and recorded through 
profit and loss in a separate impairment account. 



110

GRAMMER   AnnuAl REpoRt 2019

AnnuAl FinAnciAl StAtEMEntS
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The simplified impairment model is applied to trade 
accounts receivable and contract assets and the 
lifetime expected losses duly recognized. The Group 
has drawn up an impairment matrix based on its 
past experience with credit losses and adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to borrowers and the 
economic environment. The practical simplification 
option for financial instruments is applied to cash, cash 
equivalents and short-term deposits as they are exposed 
to only a minor credit risk. On each reporting date, it 
assesses whether the financial instrument has a low 
credit risk using all reasonable and reliable information 
available without unreasonable expense or time.

“Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVtPL)” include financial assets classified 
as held for trading, financial assets initially recognized 
at fair value through profit and loss and financial assets 
which must be recognized at their fair value. Financial 
assets are classified as held for trading if they have been 
purchased for the purpose of selling or repurchasing 
in the near future. Derivatives, including embedded 
derivatives recognized separately, are also classified as 
held for trading with the exception of those derivatives 
that are designated as a hedge and are effective as such. 
They are initially recognized at fair value. Any gains 
and losses arising from them are not netted and are 
recognized through profit and loss in financial result. 
Trade accounts receivable that are to be sold as part of 
factoring operations also fall into this category. In the 
year under review, the Group did not have any financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Upon initial recognition, the Group may make an 
irrevocable decision to measure its equity instruments at 
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
when they satisfy the definition of equity in IAS 32 and 
are not held for trading. Each individual instrument 
is classified separately. Gains and losses arising upon 
derecognition of the financial asset remain within other 
comprehensive income (OCI). Gains and losses from 
investments in equity instruments are recognized in 
other comprehensive income. 

If the contractual rights to cash flows generated 
by an asset have lapsed or materially all risks and 
opportunities under the financial asset are transferred, 
it is derecognized. Trade accounts receivable and other 
financial assets are derecognized before the settlement 
date as soon as it is established that they are no longer 
recoverable. 

FinanCial liabilities (iFrs 9)
Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are 
classified as financial liabilities recognized at fair 
value through profit or loss, as loans, as liabilities or as 
derivatives that are designated as hedges and effective 
as such. All financial liabilities are measured at fair 
value upon initial recognition. In the case of loans and 
liabilities, directly attributable transaction costs are 
deducted.

Financial liabilities are assigned to the following 
categories:

• Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC)
• Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 

loss (FVtPL)

“Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVtPL)” include financial liabilities held for trading and 
other financial liabilities designated as measured at fair 
value through profit or loss upon initial recognition 
and derivates with a negative market value that are not 
designated as hedges or are ineffective as such. Financial 
liabilities are classified as held for trading if they were 
entered into for the purpose of being repurchased in the 
near future.

The financial liabilities assigned to this category are 
measured at fair value not only upon initial recognition 
but also in subsequent periods. Any resultant gains and 
losses are recorded through profit and loss. The portion 
of the fair value changes attributable to the change in 
the GRAMMER Group’s own credit risk is not recognized 
through profit and loss but in other comprehensive 
income. In 2019, the Group did not make use of the 
option to allocate financial liabilities to this category.
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“Financial liabilities at amortized cost (FLAC)” comprise 
financial liabilities that are not assigned to any other 
category of financial liabilities. This category usually 
includes mainly loans. They are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. In the case of 
current financial liabilities, amortized cost equals the 
repayment or settlement amount. Gains and losses 
are recognized as profit or loss when the liabilities 
are derecognized or as part of write-downs using the 
effective interest method. 

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or has expired. The exchange of an existing 
financial liability with another financial liability from 
the same lender with fundamentally different terms or 
a subsequent modification of the terms of an existing 
financial liability is accounted for as a derecognition of 
the original financial liability and recognition of the new 
financial liability. The difference between the carrying 
amounts is recognized in profit or loss for the period.  

derivative FinanCial instruments and hedge 
aCCounting
The Group makes use of derivative financial instruments, 
such as currency forwards and interest rate swaps to 
hedge interest rate, exchange rate and other price risks. 
These derivative financial instruments are recognized 
at fair value at the time of agreement and remeasured 
at their fair value in subsequent periods. Depending 
on whether the fair value is positive or negative, they 
are recognized either as financial assets or as financial 
liabilities. 

The GRAMMER Group classifies hedge relationships as 
cash flow hedges for accounting purposes. This hedges 
exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable 
to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset 
or liability, a highly probable forecast transaction or the 
foreign currency risk attributable to an unrecognized 
firm commitment.

At the inception of the hedge there is formal 
designation and documentation of the hedging 
relationship and the Group’s risk management objective 
and strategy for undertaking the hedge.

Hedges that meet all the criteria for hedge accounting 
are accounted for as follows: The effective portion of 
the gain or loss from a hedge is recognized in other 
comprehensive income, whereas the ineffective portion 
is recognized through profit and loss. Cumulative other 
comprehensive income is adjusted to the lower of the 
following amounts: the cumulative gain or loss on the 
hedge since its inception or the cumulative change in 
the fair value of the hedged item.

The Group uses forward exchange contracts to hedge 
the currency risk resulting from an expected transaction 
and forward commodity contracts to address the 
volatility risk of commodity prices. GRAMMER also uses 
interest rate swaps to hedge cash flows from variable-rate 
financial liabilities. As of the reporting date, the portfolio 
included forward exchange contracts and interest rate 
swaps, but no commodity futures contracts. In addition, 
there were fully effective hedging relationships for the 
interest rate swaps and forward exchange contracts. 
If the hedges do not satisfy the requirements of hedge 
accounting or they constitute the ineffective part of 
another effective hedge relationship, the change in fair 
value is recognized through profit and loss. 

2.2  appliCation oF new iFrss in 2019
The IASB has published the following standards and 
interpretations, the application of which was not 
yet mandatory in 2019. Only those standards and 
interpretations of material relevance for GRAMMER’s 
consolidated financial statements are described below. 
Other standards are not relevant for the Group and are 
therefore not included here.

iFrs 16: leases 
GRAMMER has been applying the new guidance 
contained in IFRS 16 “Leases” since January 1, 2019, using 
the modified retrospective method. This means that 
cumulative conversion effects were recognized from the 
date of initial application on January 1, 2019, while the 
comparison periods were not restated. IFRS 16 replaces 
IAS 17 “Leases” and all interpretations relating to lease 
accounting (IFRIC 4; SIC-15 and SIC-27).
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The main effects arising from initial application of 
IFRS 16 for the GRAMMER Group as a lessee arise from 
the fact that assets and liabilities are now recognized 
in lieu of the former operating leases (including rental 
contracts) for administration and production buildings, 
warehouses, vehicles and technical equipment and 
machinery.

In line with expectations, the impact on the 
consolidated income statement arises from the 
replacement of straight-line monthly expenses for 
operating leases with the depreciation of right-of-use 
assets and interest expenses from the recognition of 
lease liabilities.

For the purposes of the initial application of IFRS 16, 
GRAMMER is making use of the practical expedient and 
did not redetermine as of January 1, 2019 whether a 
contract constitutes or contains a lease. Furthermore, 
an impairment test was dispensed with. Instead, an 
assessment was made immediately before the date 
of initial application as to whether the contract was 
onerous. The initial direct costs were not taken into 
account in initial application. In the case of short-
term leases (leases with a maximum duration of 12 
months and no purchase option) and leases for low-
value assets, GRAMMER recognizes the lease payments 
on a straight-line basis as expense through profit and 
loss. Furthermore, the practical expedient under which 
IFRS 16 is not applied to intangible assets is applied to 
all classes of intangible leased assets. In addition, use is 
made of the option of accounting for non-lease and lease 
components as a single lease component.

In the consolidated financial statements for 2018 
GRAMMER recognized lease liabilities of EUR 55.6 million 
in accordance with the new definition on the basis of 
payments of EUR 68.3 million under operating leases 
as a lessee reported as of December 31, 2018. Including 
options to extend and terminate leases considered to be 
reasonably certain, lease liabilities of EUR 56.0 million 
were recognized in the opening balance sheet as of 
January 1, 2019. 

The initial application of IFRS 16 had the impact 
described below on the following items of the statement 
of financial position as of January 1, 2019:

• Property, plant and equipment – increase of 
EUR 55,988 thousand

• Other financial liabilities – increase of 
EUR 43,384 thousand

• Other current financial liabilities – increase of 
EUR 12,604 thousand

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities under 
former finance leases that existed in accordance with 
IAS 17 immediately before the date of initial adoption 
of IFRS 16 were not changed on the date of initial 
application and were accounted for in accordance with 
IFRS 16 from January 1, 2019. In connection with the 
first-time application of IFRS 16 to operating leases, the 
right-of-use assets were measured at the amount of the 
lease liability. 

The operating lease obligations as of December 31, 
2018 were reconciled as follows with the opening value 
of the lease liabilities as of January 1, 2019:

The incremental borrowing rate was applied to measure 
the right-of-use assets as of the date of initial application. 
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate was 
3.48%. To determine the incremental borrowing rate, 
the reference interest rates for corporate bonds for 
a period of up to 20 years were derived from risk-free 
interest rates (swap rate) and a risk premium (spread) 
matching that of the GRAMMER Group’s credit rating in 
the applicable respective currency area. In the case of 
currency areas for which these figures were not available, 
interest rates of corporate bonds with ratings matching 

reConCiliation

eur k

January 1, 2019

Obligations under operating leases 
as of December 31, 2018 68,252

Practical expedients for 
 short-term leases -6,803

Practical expedients for 
minor-value leases -215

Options to extend or terminate leases 
exercise of which is reasonably certain 417

Gross lease liabilities as of January 1, 2019 61,651

Discount -5,663

Lease liabilities after initial application of IFRS 16 
as of January 1, 2019 55,988

Present value of liabilities under finance leases 
 as of December 31, 2018 21,087

Total lease liabilities 
as of January 1, 2019 77,075
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that of the GRAMMER Group were used. Where necessary, 
estimates were applied.

iFriC 23: unCertainty over inCome tax treatments 
The interpretation is effective for accounting periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The interpretation 
clarifies how the recognition and measurement 
requirements in IAS 12 “Income Taxes” should be 
applied if there are any uncertainties with regard to 
income tax treatments. In assessing uncertainty, an 
entity needs to determine whether the authority is likely 
to accept the uncertain tax treatment. An entity must 
decide whether to assess each uncertain tax treatment 
separately or together with one or more other uncertain 
tax treatments. The approach chosen will be the one 
which permits a better prediction of the resolution of 
the uncertainty. The application of IFRIC 23 did not have 
any impact on the consolidated financial statements.

amendments to ias 19: plan amendment, 
Curtailment or settlement
The amendments to IAS 19 relate to the recognition of 
plan amendments, curtailments and settlements. As a 
result of these amendments, the current service cost 
and the net interest for the remaining year must be 
recalculated using the current actuarial assumptions 
applied for the necessary remeasurement of the net 
liability (asset) when a defined benefit plan is amended, 
curtailed or settled. The amendments did not have any 
material impact on the Group as this calculation had 
already been applied in previous retirement benefit 
reports.

2.3  published standards whiCh are not yet 
subJeCt to mandatory appliCation

endorsed by the eu but not yet applied
In 2019, the IASB published the following standards and 
interpretations which have already been integrated in EU 
law as part of the comitology procedures but for which 
application was not yet mandatory in 2019:

• Amendments to the cross-references to the 
framework in IFRS standards

• Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 – Definition of 
materiality

• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 – Interest 
Rate Benchmark Reform

Only those standards and interpretations of relevance 
for GRAMMER’s consolidated financial statements are 
described below in greater detail. The other standards 
published by the IASB and IFRIC are not relevant for the 
Group and are therefore not included here.

amendments to iFrs 9, ias 39 and iFrs 7:  
interest rate benChmark reForm
The amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 relating to 
the interest rate benchmark reform were published in 
September 2019. They constitute the first phase of the 
IASB’s work on the impact of the reform of interbank 
offered rates (IBOR). The reforms, which are being 
implemented internationally, triggered uncertainty 
as to the long-term viability of the previous IBOR. 
The amendments provide for temporary relief in 
IFRS 9 allowing hedge accounting to be retained in the 
period before the formal replacement of existing interest 
rate benchmarks with alternative, almost risk-free 
interest rates (RFR). The accounting conveniences apply 
to all hedging relationships that are directly affected 
by the interest rate benchmark reform. In determining 
the accounting treatment of a cash flow hedge, it can be 
assumed that the reforms will not result in any changes 
to the interest rate benchmarks. The same thing applies 
to an assessment of the economic relationship under 
IFRS 9. The amendments must be applied retrospectively 
for the first time from January 1, 2020. However, hedging 
relationships that have already been de-designated 
cannot be restored. GRAMMER has identified the IBOR-
based contracts and is evaluating their effects on an 
ongoing basis and has already adjusted some of them. 

not yet endorsed by the eu
The IASB published further standards and interpretations 
in 2019. However, these have not yet been integrated 
in EU law as part of the comitology procedures. As 
GRAMMER does not expect any material amendments, 
they are not listed below.
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  3   Companies Consolidated

inFormation on subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the 
financial statements of GRAMMER AG as the parent and 
the following subsidiaries: 
 

equity interest %

name oF subsidiary domiCile main aCtivity 2019 2018

1. Consolidated subsidiaries

1. GRAMMER do Brasil Ltda. Atibaia, Brazil Automotive/Commercial Vehicles 100.00 100.00

2. GRAMMER Seating Systems Ltd. Bloxwich, United Kingdom Distribution company 100.00 100.00

3. GRAMMER Koltuk Sistemleri Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S. Bursa, Turkey Commercial Vehicles 99.40 99.40

4. GRAMMER Inc. Hudson (WI), USA Automotive/Commercial Vehicles 100.00 100.00

5. GRAMMER CZ s.r.o. Tachov, Czech Republic Automotive/Commercial Vehicles 100.00 100.00

6. GRAMMER Japan Ltd. Tokyo, Japan Distribution company 100.00 100.00

7. GRAMMER AD Trudovetz, Bulgaria Commercial Vehicles 98.84 98.80

8. GRAMMER System GmbH Amberg, Germany Automotive 100.00 100.00

9. GRAMMER Automotive Metall GmbH Amberg, Germany Automotive 100.00 100.00

10. GRAMMER Automotive Slovenija d.o.o. Slovenji Gradec, Slovenia Automotive 100.00 100.00

11. GRAMMER Automotive Española S.A. Olérdola, Spain Automotive 100.00 100.00

12. GRAMMER Industries Inc. Greenville (SC), USA Automotive 100.00 100.00

13. GRAMMER Automotive Puebla S.A. de C.V. Puebla, Mexico Automotive 100.00 100.00

14. GRAMMER Automotive Polska Sp. z o.o. Bielsko-Biala, Poland Automotive 100.00 100.00

15. GRAMMER Seating (Xiamen) Ltd. Xiamen, China Automotive 100.00 100.00

16. GRAMMER Interior (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. Tianjin, China Commercial Vehicles 100.00 100.00

17. GRAMMER Interior (Changchun) Co., Ltd. Changchun, China Automotive 100.00 100.00

18. GRAMMER Interior (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. Shanghai, China Automotive 100.00 100.00

19. GRAMMER System d.o.o. Aleksinac, Serbia Automotive 100.00 100.00

20. GRAMMER Railway Interior GmbH Amberg, Germany Commercial Vehicles 100.00 100.00

21. GRAMMER Technical Components GmbH Kümmersbruck, Germany Commercial Vehicles 100.00 100.00

22. GRAMMER Electronics N.V. Aartselaar, Belgium Commercial Vehicles 100.00 100.00

23. GRAMMER Interior (Beijing) Co., Ltd. Beijing, China Automotive 100.00 100.00

24. GRAMMER Automotive CZ s.r.o. Česká Lípa, Czech Republic Automotive 100.00 100.00

25. GRAMMER Seating ( Jiangsu) Co., Ltd. Jiangyin, China Commercial Vehicles 100.00 100.00

26. GRAMMER Automotive South Africa (Pty) Ltd. Bedfordview, South Africa Automotive 100.00 100.00

27. GRAMMER Argentina S.A. Buenos Aires, Argentina Commercial Vehicles 99.96 99.96

28. GRAMMER Italia srl. Jesi, Italy Commercial Vehicles 100.00 100.00

29. GRAMMER Interior Components GmbH Hardheim, Germany Automotive 100.00 100.00

30. GRAMMER Seating (Shaanxi) Co., Ltd. Weinan City, China Commercial Vehicles 90.00 90.00

31. Toledo Molding & Die Inc. Toledo (OH), USA Automotive 100.00 100.00 1

32. TMD Mexico LLC Wilmington (DE),  
United States

Automotive 100.00 100.00 1

33. TMD International Holdings LLC Wilmington (DE), USA Automotive 100.00 100.00 1

34. TMD WEK LLC Wilmington (DE), USA Automotive 100.00 100.00 1

35. TMD Tennessee LLC Fayetteville (TN), USA Automotive 100.00 100.00 1

36. TMD Wisconsin LLC Beloit (WI), USA Automotive 100.00 100.00 1

37. Toledo Molding de Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V. Queretaro, Mexico Automotive 100.00 100.00 1

38. TMD CZR s.r.o. Prague, Czech Republic Automotive 100.00 100.00 1

39. TMD WEK North LLC Jefferson (OH), USA Automotive 100.00 100.00 1

2. Consolidated joint ventures and associated companies

1. GRA-MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC London (OH), USA Commercial Vehicles 50.00 50.00

2. ALLYGRAM Systems and Technologies Private 
Limited

Pune, India Development company 30.00 2  – 

1 The TMD Group was acquired in full and consolidated for the first time effective October 1, 2018.  

2 Allygram Systems and Technologies Private Ltd. was included as a joint venture in the consolidated financial statements for the first time from August 29.
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In addition to GRAMMER AG, five domestic and 34 foreign 
companies that are directly or indirectly controlled 
by GRAMMER  AG within the meaning of IAS  10 are 
consolidated. 

The companies accounted for at equity are the joint 
venture GRA-MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC, London, 
OH, United States (GRA-MAG LLC), in which GRAMMER AG 
holds 50% of the voting rights, and for the first time in 
2019, the associate ALLYGRAM Systems and Technologies 
Private Limited, Pune, India (ALLYGRAM), in which 
GRAMMER AG holds 30% of the voting rights.  

The uniform reporting date for all of the consolidated 
companies is December 31, 2019.

Within GRAMMER Group, investments are held in all 
subsidiaries that ensure a controlling influence.

The companies GRAMMER System GmbH, GRAMMER 
Automotive Metall GmbH, GRAMMER Railway Interior 
GmbH, GRAMMER Technical Components GmbH and 
GRAMMER Interior Components GmbH make partial use 
of the conveniences provided for in section 264 (3) HGB.

  4   business Combinations

Purchase price allocation in connection with the 
acquisition of Toledo Molding & Die, Inc. (TMD) was 
adjusted within a year of the acquisition date due to 
the availability of final information in accordance 
with IFRS 3.49. On May 22, 2018, GRAMMER AG signed a 
contract to acquire 100% of the shares in Toledo Molding 
& Die, Inc. (TMD), Toledo, Ohio, United States, and its 
subsidiaries. GRAMMER AG completed the acquisition of 
the TMD Group on October 1, 2018, as a result of which it 
was consolidated from this date. Further details on the 
acquisition of the TMD Group effective October 1, 2018 can 
be found in Note 4 of the annual report for 2018.

2019

germany
interna-

tional total

Fully consolidated 
 companies  
(including GRAMMER AG) 6 34 40

Companies accounted  
for at equity 0 2 2

Companies 6 36 42

 

2018

germany
interna-

tional total

Fully consolidated 
 companies  
(including GRAMMER AG) 6 34 40

Companies accounted  
for at equity 0 1 1

Companies 6 35 41
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For the purposes of final purchase price allocation, the 
purchase price and, hence, historical costs were adjusted. 
The following overview sets out the fair value as of the 
date of first-time consolidation after provisional and 
final purchase price allocation for the TMD Group:

Within the first twelve months after acquisition, the 
purchase price for the acquisition of the TMD Group 
as of October 1, 2018 was reduced as part of the final 
purchase price allocation in accordance with the terms 
of the purchase agreement. This resulted in a reduction 
of EUR 1,356 thousand in goodwill to EUR 71,521 thousand 
reported within intangible assets. USD exchange-rate 
changes resulted in a reduction of EUR 1,371 thousand 
as of December 31, 2018. At the same time, other 
receivables included in current other financial assets 
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 
position increased by this amount as GRAMMER held a 
reimbursement claim for the purchase price payment 
already remitted as of this date (October 1, 2018). 
Accordingly, the correction was made retrospectively 
from October 1, 2018. For this reason, the comparison 
figures for 2018 were duly adjusted. 

  5    investments in Joint ventures and assoCiates

gra-mag llC
GRAMMER AG holds a 50% share in the capital of GRA-
MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC, London, OH, United 
States (GRA-MAG LLC), a jointly controlled entity in the 
United States, which is active in the Commercial Vehicles 
Division and primarily develops and assembles seats 
and seating systems for trucks. As in the previous year, 
the Group’s shares in GRA-MAG LLC are recognized in 
accordance with equity method of accounting. 

The share in GRA-MAG LLC is recognized at equity and 
has a value of EUR 0 as the cumulative losses exceed the 
carrying amount of the investment. As GRAMMER AG is 
not under any obligation to settle the loss, the negative 
equity is not recognized as a liability.

 

eur k

assets
Final Fair value at 

date oF aCquisition

Property, plant and equipment 83,184

Intangible assets 81,845

Deferred tax assets 1,447

Other assets 351

Non-current assets 166,827

Inventories 13,221

Current trade accounts receivable 45,161

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term deposits 9,870

Other current assets 9,075

Current contract assets 26,491

Current assets 103,818

Assets 270,645

Other financial liabilities -66,399

Deferred tax liabilities (of which from 
 remeasurement: EUR 16,429 thousand) -27,192

Non-current financial liabilities -93,591

Current trade accounts payable -26,084

Other current liabilities -17,128

Current liabilities -43,212

Liabilities -136,803

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 133,842

Goodwill from business combinations 1 71,521

Consideration provided 1 205,363

Cash and cash equivalents acquired with 
subsidiary 9,870

Outflow of cash and cash equivalents 
(before purchase price adjustment) -206,719

Actual cash outflow as a result of business 
combination -196,849

1 Figures for previous year adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49.
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The aforementioned items include cash, cash equivalents 
and short-term deposits of EUR 1,331 thousand (2018: 
EUR 459 thousand) as well as current financial liabilities 
of EUR 149 thousand (2018: EUR 4,321 thousand).

GRA-MAG LLC’s unrealized losses break down as 
follows: 

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the joint venture 
did not have any contingent liabilities or capital 
commitments. The GRAMMER Group is not involved in 
any joint activities coming within the scope of IFRS 11. 

The summarized financial information corresponds to 
the amounts reported in the annual financial statements 
of the joint venture as of December 31, 2019 prepared in 
accordance with IFRS.

 

EUR k

StatEmEnt of financial poSition 100% 2019 2018

Non-current assets 938 484

Current assets 9,176 10,625

Assets 10,114 11,109

Non-current liabilities 21,554 25,409

Current liabilities 5,933 7,054

Liabilities 27,487 32,463

Equity -17,373 -21,354

Share held by the Group 50% 50%

Goodwill from first-time consolidation 2,043 2,043

Carrying amount of the investment in 
associate 0 0

 

 

EUR k

incomE StatEmEnt 100% 2019 2018

Revenue 52,855 42,538

Cost of sales including systematic 
 depreciation of EUR 105 thousand  
(2018: EUR 353 thousand) -43,055 -34,457

Selling expenses -11 -42

Administrative expenses -4,383 -4,207

Interest expenses -941 -926

Earnings before taxes 4,465 2,906

Income taxes -65 -50

Net profit 4,400 2,856

Group’s share of profit or loss (50%) 2,200 1,428

 

 

EUR k

UnREcognizEd gainS/loSSES (50%) 2019 2018

Unrecognized losses of GRA-MAG LLC  
as of January 1 -10,622 -12,050

Unrecognized gains of GRA-MAG LLC  
in the period under review 2,200 1,428

Unrecognized losses of GRA-MAG LLC  
as of December 31 -8,422 -10,622
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other immaterial investments aCCounted For 
using the equity method
On November 16, 2018, GRAMMER signed an agreement 
with Allygrow Technologies Private Limited to 
establish an associated company for the provision of 
development services for GRAMMER’s global plants. On 
August 29, 2019, GRAMMER acquired 30% of the share 
capital of EUR 613 thousand in ALLYGRAM Systems and 
Technologies Private Limited, Pune, India, through a 
capital increase. ALLYGRAM is accounted for at equity as 
an associate with a carrying amount of EUR 611 thousand 
as of December 31, 2019. Accordingly, pro rata net profit 
of EUR 28 thousand was recognized in profit and loss 
and foreign currency differences of EUR 30 thousand 
recognized in cumulative other comprehensive income.

  6   segment reporting

The segments described below cover the internal 
reporting and organizational structure of GRAMMER 
Group. Determination of the Company’s key management 
indicators is based on the data contained in the IFRS 
consolidated financial statements. For the purpose 
of management, the Group is organized into product 
segments by relevant products and services, comprising 
the following two reportable operating segments:

The Automotive Division is the largest of the two 
reportable segments within the GRAMMER Group. Based 
on the total revenue of the two reporting segments 
(excluding eliminations across segments), 70.9% (2018: 
68.6%) of revenue was generated in the Automotive 
Division in 2019. In this segment, the GRAMMER Group 
operates as a supplier to the automotive industry, 
developing and producing headrests, armrests, center 
console systems, high-quality interior components and 
operating elements as well as innovative thermoplastic 
solutions. The Group sells these products to automotive 
OEMs in the upper and premium segments in particular. 

The Commercial Vehicles Division generated 29.1% 
of Group revenue in 2019 (2018: 31.4%). It develops and 
produces driver and passenger seats for trucks as well as 
driver seats for offroad vehicles (tractors, construction 
machinery and forklift drives), as well as seats and 
seating systems for trains and buses. In this segment, 
GRAMMER is active as a supplier to the commercial 

vehicle industry, marketing driver and passenger seats to 
commercial vehicle OEMs or as an aftermarket supplier. 
It also markets driver and passenger seats and markets 
them to bus and rolling stock OEMs, as well as railway 
operators. 

The revenue and earnings before interest and tax 
(EBIT), operating EBIT and the operating EBIT margin 
generated by the operating segments are monitored 
separately by management in order to make decisions 
on resource allocation and determine the earnings 
strength of the units. Group financing (including 
financing income and expenses) as well as income taxes 
are managed uniformly and autonomously within the 
Group and not allocated to the individual segments. 
Similarly, expenses for the Central Service departments 
are not broken down by segment. The Central Services 
division carries out Group-wide functions in Financial 
Controlling, Corporate Communications, Procurement, 
Product Development, Operations, Finance, Internal 
Control, Investor Relations, Marketing, IT, Human 
Resources, Accounting and Legal Affairs.

Transfer prices between the Group’s operating 
segments are based on market prices established at 
arm’s length. Segment income, expenses and earnings 
include intragroup transactions between the segments. 
These transfers within the segments are eliminated at 
the segment level and transfers between the segments 
upon consolidation.

Alongside the two segments, Central Services 
comprises the higher-level general corporate functions, 
which are allocated to GRAMMER AG. 

reporting segments
The following tables include information on income and 
earnings as well as selected information on the assets 
and liabilities of the Group’s business segments.



119

GRAMMER   AnnuAl REpoRt 2019

AnnuAl FinAnciAl StAtEMEntS
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ending december 31, 2018

eUr k

commercial 
Vehicles aUtomotiVe

central  
serVices eliminations

grammer  
groUp

Revenue from sales to external customers 561,594 1,299,698 0 0 1,861,292

Inter-segment revenue 38,185 12,900 0 -51,085 0

Revenue 599,779 1,312,598 0 -51,085 1,861,292

Segment EBIT 55,514 37,706 -44,473 -8 48,739

Financial income 1,506

Financial expenses -13,501

Other financial result -2,276

Earnings before taxes 34,468

Income taxes -11,256

Net profit 23,212

Other segment information

Capital expenditure

Property, plant and equipment 13,416 39,230 15,556 0 68,202

Intangible assets 3,163 571 2,003 0 5,737

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation -11,077 -28,298 -1,255 0 -40,630

Amortization of intangible assets -2,316 -7,510 -1,849 0 -11,675

Non-cash items

Changes in retirement benefit provisions 4,560 1,388 783 0 6,731

 

Fiscal Year ending december 31, 2019

eUr k

commercial 
Vehicles aUtomotiVe

central  
serVices eliminations

grammer  
groUp

Revenue from sales to external customers 572,702 1,465,805 0 0 2,038,507

Inter-segment revenue 34,736 13,947 0 -48,683 0

Revenue 607,438 1,479,752 0 -48,683 2,038,507

Segment EBIT 44,107 50,968 -20,585 46 74,536

Financial income 3,460

Financial expenses -21,502

Other financial result -2,365

Share of earning of joint ventures 9,438

Earnings before taxes 63,567

Income taxes -20,089

Net profit 43,478

Other segment information

Capital expenditure

Property, plant and equipment 15,887 69,938 41,281 0 127,106

Intangible assets 4,729 272 654 0 5,655

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation -14,260 -51,400 -2,309 0 -67,969

Amortization of intangible assets -1,993 -13,775 -1,528 0 -17,296

Non-cash items

Changes in retirement benefit provisions 5,011 1,428 924 0 7,363
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inFormation on geographiC areas
The following tables include information on externally 
generated revenue and non-current assets of the Group’s 
geographical segments for the fiscal years ending 
December 31, 2019 and 2018. The geographical breakdown 
is based on the region of registration of the companies.

The EMEA region (Europe, Middle East, Africa) comprises 
all European companies including the companies in 
Turkey and South Africa. The Americas include all 
companies in North, Central and South America, while 
APAC (Asia Pacific) is made up of all Chinese and Japanese 
companies. 

The GRAMMER Group’s revenue in Germany stands at 
EUR 905 million (2018: EUR 963 million); non-current 
assets in Germany were valued at EUR 232 million (2018: 
EUR 184 million). 

2018

eur k

by plaCe oF domiCile emea ameriCas apaC group

Automotive Division revenue 793,391 287,565 231,642 1,312,598

Commercial Vehicles revenue 441,252 86,053 72,474 599,779

Eliminations -43,286 -7,200 -599 -51,085

Revenue 1,191,357 366,418 303,517 1,861,292

Non-current assets  
(property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets) 269,984 264,796 29,236 564,016

 

2019

eur k

by plaCe oF domiCile emea ameriCas apaC group

Automotive Division revenue 715,506 534,572 229,674 1,479,752

Commercial Vehicles revenue 439,766 83,233 84,439 607,438

Eliminations -39,942 -8,344 -397 -48,683

Revenue 1,115,330 609,461 313,716 2,038,507

Non-current assets  
(property, plant and equipment as well as intangible assets) 340,688 285,454 42,767 668,909
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  7   revenue From ContraCts with Customers

The GRAMMER Group generates revenue from the transfer 
of goods and services both over time and on a point-in-
time basis in the following segments:

The net contract liabilities of EUR 1,441 thousand report-
ed as of December 31, 2018 were recognized in full as 
revenue in 2019 (2018: EUR 0 thousand).

In 2019 and 2018, there was likewise no material 
revenue from performance obligations which had been 
fulfilled in part or in full in earlier periods.

  8   other inCome and expenses

8.1 other operating inCome
Other operating income primarily included income from 
recharged handling costs of EUR 3,632 thousand (2018: 
EUR 4,586 thousand), income from the sale of metal 
waste of EUR 2,471 thousand (2018: EUR 2,871 thousand) 
and miscellaneous other income of EUR 5,750 thousand 
(2018: EUR 6,514 thousand). Other operating income 
additionally comprises government grants of 

EUR 972 thousand (2018: EUR 2,277 thousand) and 
income from recharged expenses and rental income 
of EUR 2,811 thousand (2018: EUR 486 thousand). It 
additionally includes a refund claim for miscellaneous 
taxes of EUR 2,002 thousand (2018: EUR 0 thousand) in 
connection with the quasi-VAT levies PIS and Confins 
(Programa de Integração Social/Contribuição para o 
Financiamento da Seguridade Social) in Brazil. The 
government grants were received for the acquisition of 
certain items of property, plant and equipment as well as 
in the form of income subsidies. The conditions for these 
grants were satisfied in full and there is currently no risk 
that they will not be observed in the future. 

2018

eur k

point in time oF revenue reCognition
CommerCial 

vehiCles automotive eliminations
grammer  

group

Goods transferred at a specific point in time 597,864 1,206,769 -48,632 1,756,001

Goods and services transferred over time 1,915 105,829 -2,453 105,291

Intragroup transactions -38,185 -12,900 51,085 0

Total revenue from contracts with customers 561,594 1,299,698 0 1,861,292

2019

eur k

point in time oF revenue reCognition
CommerCial 

vehiCles automotive eliminations
grammer  

group

Goods transferred at a specific point in time 604,773 1,362,494 -45,702 1,921,566

Goods and services transferred over time 2,665 117,258 -2,981 116,941

Intragroup transactions -34,736 -13,947 48,683 0

Total revenue from contracts with customers 572,702 1,465,805 0 2,038,507
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8.2 FinanCial result
The following table breaks down financial result:

The deterioration in the financial result is mainly due to 
the higher borrowing costs due to the financing of the 
acquisition of the TMD Group and the interest expenses 
on leases, which were recognized in 2019 for the first 
time following initial application of IFRS 16. Other 
financial assets include interest income on the refund 
claim for miscellaneous taxes of EUR 1,817 thousand 
(2018: EUR 0 thousand) in connection with the quasi-VAT 
levies PIS and Confins (Programa de Integração Social/
Contribuição para o Financiamento da Seguridade 
Social) in Brazil. Further details can be found in Note 8.1.

8.3  amortization, depreCiation and impairment; 
Foreign exChange diFFerenCes, historiCal 
Cost and amortized Cost 

Cost oF sales
The cost of sales includes the manufacturing costs 
attributable to sales and the cost of merchandise of 
EUR 1,734.290 thousand (2018: EUR 1,579.798 thousand). 
This item also includes costs for operating below 
capacity and any other production-related overheads 
and administrative expenses. The set up of reserves 
for warranty purposes is covered by this item as well. 
This item also includes the cost of additions to warranty 
provisions. Expenses relating to the development and 
expansion of individual plant locations in preparation 
for forthcoming series production (“industrialization 
costs”) are included in the cost of sales to the extent 
that these expenses cannot be deferred. Expenses in 
the Commercial Vehicles Division for “design to market” 
developments are also included here. 

selling expenses
The selling expenses of EUR 41,824 thousand (2018: 
EUR 37,769 thousand) relate to expenses of the sales 
and distribution function and primarily refer to costs 
incurred by the Sales, Advertising and Marketing 
departments as well as overheads allocated to these 
functions or activities. Freight, commissions and 
forwarding charges are also included in selling expenses. 

administrative expenses
Administrative expenses include all administrative 
expenditure which cannot be assigned directly to 
other functions, including expenditure on general 
administration, management and central departments. 
Other administrative expenses also include income 
from exchange rate movements in the amount of 
EUR  15,551  thousand (2018: EUR 24,473 thousand) 
and mainly relate to foreign exchange gains 
between the origination and settlement of foreign 
currency receivables and liabilities as well as foreign 
exchange gains resulting from measurement at the 
reporting date. Foreign exchange losses amounting 
to EUR  13,057  thousand (2018: EUR 21,681 thousand) 
are also recognized under other administrative 
expenses. Administrative expenses also include 
various special charges of EUR 6,915 thousand in 2019 

 

eur k

2019 2018

Interest income on bank balances 1,157 973

Financial assets available for sale 2,284 178

Proceeds from loans 19 355

Financial income 3,460 1,506

Loans and overdrafts -14,861 -9,710

Other interest costs -105 -60

Interest cost of retirement  
benefit provisions -2,720 -2,648

Loss from financial assets and liabilities  
at fair value through profit or loss -410 -765

Interest element of lease payments -3,406 -318

Financial expenses -21,502 -13,501

Currency-translation gains/loss from  
cash at bank and in hand -4,162 -3,088

Exchange-rate differences from  
intercompany finance 1,797 812

Other financial result -2,365 -2,276

Financial result -20,407 -14,271
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(2018: EUR 29,886 thousand) arising from one-off 
business transactions. In 2019, these include expenses 
of EUR 1,744 thousand in connection with the ex-post 
exercise of change-of-control rights on the part of 
individual managers, non-recurring trailing legal and 
consulting costs of EUR 752 thousand in connection 
with the takeover of the Company by the majority 
shareholder, trailing transaction costs of less than 
EUR 90 thousand for the acquisition of TMD, as well as 
project expenses of EUR 1,067 thousand for medium-
term future restructuring efforts in response to the 
market situation (efficiency enhancement program) 
and the resultant relocation and restructuring costs 
of EUR 3,262 thousand arising in Europe and China. 
In 2018, they included the non-recurring legal and 
consulting costs of EUR 12,893 thousand in connection 
with the successful takeover offer to the shareholders of 
GRAMMER AG by the majority shareholder. Also included 
were expenses of EUR 11,527 thousand resulting from the 
exercise of the change-of-control clause by members of 
GRAMMER AG’s Executive Board, exceptional expenses 
of EUR 3,787 thousand in connection with the closure 
of the Langenfeld facility and non-recurring legal and 
consulting costs of EUR 1,679 thousand for the acquisition 
of the TMD Group.

amortization and depreCiation
A mor t i z at ion of  int a ng ible a sset s  tot a le d 
EUR 17,296 thousand (2018: EUR 11,674 thousand) and 
is recognized in the income statement under the cost 
of sales, selling expenses and administrative expenses 
depending on origin. This item also contains capitalized 
development costs of EUR  2,290  thousand (2018: 
EUR 2,291 thousand) that are included in the cost of sales. 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
a mounte d to EUR  67,96 9  t hous a nd (2018: 
EUR 40,630 thousand), including systematic depreciation 
of EUR 18,864 thousand (2018: EUR 1,411 thousand) for 
right-of-use assets. This increase is due to the initial 
application of IFRS 16 from January 1, 2019. As in 2018, no 
impairment losses were recognized in 2019. Depreciation 
and amortization are recognized in the income 
statement under the cost of sales, selling expenses and 
general administrative expenses.

8.4 personnel expenses
Personnel expenses are presented in the following table:

8.5  share oF earnings oF Joint ventures
The loan provided to GRAMMER AG to the joint venture 
GRA-MAG LLC, which is accounted for using the equity 
method, was recognized in recent years as part of the net 
investment in foreign operations, as repayment was not 
planned or considered likely in the foreseeable future. As 
a result of the cumulative losses recorded, the carrying 
amount of the investment was EUR 0 in both 2019 and 
2018 following the initial adoption of IFRS 11 in 2013 and 
the transition from proportionate consolidation to the 
application of equity method. 

In view of the positive payment practices of GRA-MAG 
LLC with respect to receivables from operating activities 
in recent years and the favorable payment forecast for 
the future, repayment of the loan to GRAMMER AG is now 
planned and also probable. Since November 1, 2019, the 
loan has therefore no longer been included in the net 
investment in GRA-MAG LLC and is reported as a loan 
of EUR 9,438 thousand within other financial assets 
from this date. It is valued at EUR 9,371 thousand as of 
December 31, 2019 due to currency-translation effects.

 

eur k

2019 2018

Wages and salaries 395,137 349,887

Social security contributions 91,206 75,344

Employee benefit expenses 486,343 425,231
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  9   inCome taxes

The key components of income taxes for 2019 and 2018 
break down as follows:

The increase in current income tax expense in Germany 
is attributable in particular to the significantly higher 
tax result of GRAMMER AG, which was impacted by the 
non-recurring effects arising in 2018. 
The higher foreign income tax expense relates to a 
substantially higher tax result at several companies in 
APAC and several of the TMD Group companies.

Deferred tax assets of EUR 7.1 million, a large portion 
of which was attributable to a correction of the probable 
utilization of the unused tax losses of two US, one 
Chinese and two European companies, were adjusted in 
2019. As the aforementioned companies have sustained 
a series of losses over the last three/four years, there 
is no substantive compelling evidence indicating that 
sufficient taxable income towards which the unused 
losses can be applied will arise in the future. 
In 2018, the deferred tax liabilities outside Germany 
in 2018 arose from an impairment and partial 

non-recognition of deferred tax assets of EUR 2.3 million 
at subsidiaries in the United States. This was due to loss 
deduction restrictions under US tax regulations in the 
event of a change of control.

If the Group had been able to recognize all excluded 
deferred tax assets from 2019 and preceding years, net 
profit and equity would have increased by a total of 
EUR 13.5 million (2018: EUR 7.6 million).

Reconciliation between the income tax expenses 
reported in the consolidated income statement and the 
product of the reported net profit for the period and the 
applicable tax rate for the Group for fiscal years 2019 and 
2018 is as follows:

 

eur k

2019 2018

Consolidated Statement of Income

Current income taxes

Current tax expenses – Germany -1,420 -917

Current tax expenses – international -14,733 -8,962

Total current tax expenses -16,153 -9,879

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax liabilities (–)/deferred tax assets – Germany -754 236

Deferred tax liabilities (–)/deferred tax assets – international -3,182 -1,613

Deferred tax liabilities (–)/deferred tax assets -3,936 -1,377

Tax income/expenses (–) reported in the consolidated statement of income -20,089 -11,256
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Deferred tax assets broke down as follows as of the 
relevant reporting dates:

 

EUR k

2019 2018

Earnings before tax 63,567 34,468

Income taxes at the effective rate in Germany of 29.2% (2018: 29.2%) -18,561 -10,065

Effects from minimum taxation and withholding taxes -1,366 -1,548

Current income taxes relating to previous years 1,178 529

Effects of the non-recognition of deferred taxes for the current year -886 -3,201

Change in deferred taxes from previous years -7,108 -247

Tax-exempt government grants/tax relief 1,291 61

Non-deductible expenses -7,377 -2,479

Other tax effects 2,363 -449

Effects of changes in tax rate/legislation 467 -297

Share of earnings of joint ventures 2,749 0

Effect of foreign tax groups on tax rate 7,161 6,440

Income taxes at the effective tax rate of 31.6% (2018: 32.7%) -20,089 -11,256

 

 

EUR k

2019 2018

Property, plant and equipment (excluding right-of-use assets, 2018: leased assets) 1 -21,140 -21,142

Right-of-use assets (2018: leased assets) 1 -6,439 0

Intangible assets -26,737 -28,670

Other assets -4,775 -4,587

Inventories -1,042 -1,250

Current trade accounts receivable 6 -27

Contract assets -1,380 -175

Other current financial assets -136 -128

Non-current financial liabilities -43 -73

Other current assets -141 -300

Others -859 -477

Deferred tax liabilities (non-netted) -62,686 -56,829

Retirement benefits and similar obligations 26,913 21,430

Provisions 1,552 752

Tax losses carried forward 7,175 12,734

Other financial assets 365 346

Contract assets 1,316 4,360

Property, plant and equipment 2,851 2,918

Intangible assets 4,794 4,104

Other current liabilities 2 745 3,260

Current trade accounts receivable 1,709 762

Other financial liabilities 3 4,675 416

Other current financial liabilities 2 1,520 37

Inventories 3 4,013 2,203

Others 3 3,659 1,918

Deferred tax assets (non-netted) 61,288 55,240

Net deferred tax liabilities(–)/deferred tax assets -1,398 -1,589

1 Right-of-use assets (2018: leased assets) included in property, plant and equipment in 2018. 

2 Other current financial liabilities included in other current liabilities in 2018. 

3 Other financial liabilities and inventories included in “Others” in 2018. 
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The change in deferred tax liabilities (gross) results 
primarily from the recognition of right-of-use assets of 
EUR 6.4 million as a result of the application of IFRS 16. 
The offsetting effect on deferred tax assets (gross) is 
included in other financial liabilities and other current 
financial liabilities.

The change in the deferred taxes is described below:

The statutory rate of corporate income tax in Germany 
was 15% for the 2019 and 2018 assessment periods, plus 
a solidarity surtax of 5.5%. Together with municipal 
trade tax, which is not deductible as a business expense 
in Germany, this results in a tax rate of approximately 
29.2% for 2019 (2018: 29.2%). 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated using 
the tax rates that are expected to apply when the asset is 
realized or the liability settled. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities were measured on the basis of the overall tax 
rate of 29.2% (2018: 29.2%). The local income tax rates 
for foreign entities varied between 10% and 34%. In the 
previous year, these were between 10% and 34%. 

Deferred tax assets are only recognized if the 
management deems their recoverability to be probable. 
Relevant value adjustments are based on all known 
positive and negative factors relating to future taxable 
income. The estimates made may change over time. 
Assessment of the value of deferred tax assets is based 
on the probability of measurement differences being 
reversed and the recoverability of unused tax losses that 
led to their creation. 

The Group assumes that it will have sufficient taxable 
income to make use of existing unused tax losses for 
which deferred tax assets have been recognized. 
The  unused tax losses in individual countries may 
be carried forward for periods of 5 to 20 years or also 
indefinitely and in some cases carried back. 

Deferred income taxes were not recorded on outside 
basis differences (i.e. differences between net assets, 
incl. goodwill at subsidiaries or the relevant tax value 
of interests in subsidiaries), as reversal of differences, 
e.g. through distributions, are taxable and because no 
significant tax effects are expected in the foreseeable 
future. The outside basis differences stand at 
EUR 146,546 thousand as of December 31, 2019 (2018: 
EUR 93,572 thousand). The distribution of dividends to 
the shareholders did not have any consequences for 
income tax in 2019 or 2018. 

 

eur k

2019 2018

As of January 1 -1,589 16,810

Deferred tax liabilities (–)/deferred tax assets through profit and loss -3,936 -1,376

Deferred tax liabilities(–)/tax income in the statement of comprehensive income 4,624 -2,103

Deferred taxes acquired through first-time consolidation 0 -25,745

Recognition of deferred taxes in retained earnings as a result of first-time application of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 0 11,460

Currency-translation effects -497 -635

As of December 31 -1,398 -1,589
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 10  Consolidated earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing 
consolidated net profit by the nominal number of 
shares outstanding during the fiscal year, less the 
Company’s own shares that were bought back in 2006 
(330,050 shares). The Company’s share capital amounts 
to EUR 32,274,229.76 and is divided into 12,607,121 shares. 
All shares with the exception of treasury stock accord 
the same rights; shareholders have a right to receive 
payment of the approved dividend and may exercise 
one vote for each share at the Annual General Meeting. 
The number of outstanding shares is calculated based 
on the weighted average. In addition to basic earnings 
per share, diluted earnings per share must be disclosed 
if a company has potential shares (i.e. financial 
instruments and other contracts entitling the holders 
to subscribe to no-par value shares of the Company, 
such as convertible bonds and options). As the GRAMMER 
Group did not issue any such financial instruments or 
enter into any such contracts as of December 31, 2019, 
its basic and diluted earnings per share are identical.

 11  dividends paid and proposed

Appropriation of profit by GRAMMER Group is based 
on net profit/loss in the financial statements of 
GRAMMER AG, which are prepared in accordance with 
the German Commercial Code. On December 31, 2019, 
GRAMMER  AG posted net profit of EUR  37.7 million 
(2018: EUR 41.6 million). This includes the profit of 
EUR 32.4 million carried forward from the previous 
year and the net profit for the year of EUR 5.3 million. 
The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board will 
be proposing to the shareholders that a dividend of 
EUR 0.11 (2018: EUR 0.75) per share will be distributed. 
This translates into a total dividend of EUR 1.4 million 
(2018: EUR 9.2 million), which was not recognized as 
a liability as of December 31, 2019. In this connection, 
allowance was made for the fact that Company holds 
a total of 330,050 of its own shares, which are not 
dividend-entitled. If the number of dividend-entitled 
shares changes before the expected date of the Annual 
General Meeting on July 8, 2020, the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG will present a duly 
adjusted dividend proposal to the meeting. A dividend of 
EUR 9.2 million was paid in the year under review (2018: 
EUR 15.3 million). 

Further details can be found in Note 19.
Dividends approved and distributed during the fiscal 

year:

Consolidated earnings per share

basiC/diluted earnings per share 2019 2018

Weighted average number of no-par value 
shares used to calculate basic/diluted 
earnings 12,277,071 12,277,071

Earnings in EUR k  
(excluding non-controlling interests) 43,676 23,304

Basic/diluted earnings per share in EUR 3.56 1.90

 

dividends on ordinary shares

eur k

2019 2018

Dividend for 2019: EUR 0.11  
(2018: EUR 0.75) 1,350 9,208
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 12    ProPerty, Plant and equiPment and  
intangible assets

 

eur k

amount on december 31, 2019 Historical cost dePreciation and amortization carrying amount

amount on  
January 1, 

2019

adJust-
ment due 
to initial 

aPPlica-
tion of 
ifrs 16

amount on  
January 1,  

2019 
 (adJusted) additions disPosals

effects 
from 

excHange- 
rate dif-
ferences

effects 
from 

business 
combina-

tion
reclassifi-

cations

amount on 
 december 

31, 2019

amount on  
January 1, 

2019

adJust-
ment due 
to initial 

aPPlica-
tion of 
ifrs 16

amount on  
January 1,  

2019 
 (adJusted) additions disPosals wirite uP

effects 
from 

excHange- 
rate dif-
ferences

reclassifi-
cations

amount on 
 december 31, 

2019
January 1, 

2019

January 1, 
2019 

 (adJusted)
december 31, 

2019

Land and buildings 126,155 0 126,155 11,647 -19 551 0 872 139,206 47,433 0 47,433 4,706 -19 0 37 -12 52,145 78,722 78,722 87,061

Manufacturing plant and equipment 290,219 0 290,219 32,585 -22,513 3,025 0 6,316 309,632 136,721 0 136,721 27,105 -21,662 0 603 -2,119 140,648 153,498 153,498 168,985

Operating and business equipment 241,412 0 241,412 19,061 -44,482 599 0 8,274 224,863 177,466 0 177,466 17,294 -43,889 0 242 2,220 153,333 63,946 63,946 71,530

Prepayments made and assets under 
construction 30,718 0 30,718 41,568 -83 129 0 -15,321 57,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,718 30,718 57,010

Right-of-use assets 25,759 55,988 81,747 22,246 -3,541 1,144 0 -163 101,433 4,397 0 4,397 18,864 -445 0 0 -102 22,714 21,362 77,350 78,719

Property, plant and equipment 714,263 55,988 770,251 127,107 -70,638 5,448 0 -23 832,145 366,017 0 366,017 67,969 -66,016 0 883 -13 368,840 348,246 404,234 463,305

Concessions, industrial rights 142,418 0 142,418 997 -844 1,836 0 23 144,430 50,498 0 50,498 15,006 -697 0 242 13 65,062 91,920 91,920 79,369

Goodwill 121,187 0 121,187 0 0 1,390 0 0 122,577 10,636 0 10,636 0 0 0 0 0 10,636 110,551 110,551 111,941

Capitalized development costs 33,301 0 33,301 4,657 -1 12 0 0 37,969 21,373 0 21,373 2,290 0 0 12 0 23,675 11,928 11,928 14,294

Prepayments made 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Intangible assets 296,906 0 296,906 5,654 -845 3,238 0 23 304,976 82,507 0 82,507 17,296 -697 0 254 13 99,373 214,399 214,399 205,604

Property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets 1,011,168 55,988 1,067,156 132,761 -71,483 8,686 0 0 1,137,121 448,525 0 448,525 85,265 -66,713 0 1,137 0 468,213 562,645 618,633 668,909

 

 

eur k

amount on december 31, 2018 Historical cost dePreciation and amortization carrying amount

as of 
 January 1, 

2018

adJust-
ment due 
to initial 

aPPlica-
tion of 
ifrs 15

amount on 
January 1,  

2018 
 (adJusted) additions disPosals

effects 
from 

excHange- 
rate dif-
ferences 1

effects 
from 

business 
combina-

tion 1
reclassifi-

cations

amount on 
december 31, 

2018

as of 
 January 1, 

2018

adJust-
ment due 
to first-
time aP-

Plication 
ofifrs 15

amount on 
January 1,  

2018 
 (adJusted) additions disPosals wirite uP

effects 
from 

excHange- 
rate dif-
ferences

reclassifi-
cations

amount on 
december 31, 

2018
January 1, 

2018

January 1, 
2018 

 (adJusted)
december 31, 

2018

Land and buildings 108,267 0 108,267 2,708 0 -1,069 15,968 281 126,155 43,924 0 43,924 3,936 0 0 -427 0 47,433 64,343 64,343 78,722

Manufacturing plant and equipment 227,148 0 227,148 21,231 -7,405 -1,129 46,075 4,299 290,219 125,585 0 125,585 19,523 -6,828 0 -1,618 59 136,721 101,563 101,563 153,498

Operating and business equipment 226,287 0 226,287 19,502 -4,368 -1,871 477 1,385 241,412 167,102 0 167,102 15,760 -3,877 0 -1,519 0 177,466 59,185 59,185 63,946

Prepayments made and assets under 
construction 8,687 0 8,687 24,761 -34 0 3,165 -5,861 30,718 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,687 8,687 30,718

Finance leases 8,273 0 8,273 0 -91 261 17,499 -183 25,759 3,123 0 3,123 1,411 -91 0 13 -59 4,397 5,150 5,150 21,362

Property, plant and equipment 578,662 0 578,662 68,202 -11,898 -3,808 83,184 -79 714,263 339,734 0 339,734 40,630 -10,796 0 -3,551 0 366,017 238,928 238,928 348,246

Concessions, industrial rights 92,935 -34,284 58,651 2,400 -1,240 680 81,845 82 142,418 58,460 -16,020 42,440 9,383 -1,231 0 -94 0 50,498 34,475 16,211 91,920

Goodwill 1 48,879 0 48,879 0 0 787 71,521 0 121,187 10,636 0 10,636 0 0 0 0 0 10,636 38,243 38,243 110,551

Capitalized development costs 29,984 0 29,984 3,334 0 -17 0 0 33,301 19,098 0 19,098 2,291 0 0 -16 0 21,373 10,886 10,886 11,928

Prepayments made 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 -3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Intangible assets 171,798 -34,284 137,514 5,737 -1,240 1,450 153,366 79 296,906 88,194 -16,020 72,174 11,674 -1,231 0 -110 0 82,507 83,604 65,340 214,399

Property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets 750,460 -34,284 716,176 73,939 -13,138 -2,359 236,550 0 1,011,169 427,928 -16,020 411,908 52,304 -12,027 0 -3,661 0 448,525 322,532 304,268 562,646

1   Figures for previous year adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49, see Note 4 Business combinations.
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EUR k

AmoUnt on DEcEmbER 31, 2019 HistoRicAl cost DEpREciAtion AnD AmoRtizAtion cARRying AmoUnt

AmoUnt on  
JAnUARy 1, 

2019

ADJUst-
mEnt DUE 
to initiAl 

ApplicA-
tion of 
ifRs 16

AmoUnt on  
JAnUARy 1,  

2019 
 (ADJUstED) ADDitions DisposAls

EffEcts 
fRom 

ExcHAngE- 
RAtE Dif-
fEREncEs

EffEcts 
fRom 

bUsinEss 
combinA-

tion
REclAssifi-

cAtions

AmoUnt on 
 DEcEmbER 

31, 2019

AmoUnt on  
JAnUARy 1, 

2019

ADJUst-
mEnt DUE 
to initiAl 

ApplicA-
tion of 
ifRs 16

AmoUnt on  
JAnUARy 1,  

2019 
 (ADJUstED) ADDitions DisposAls wiRitE Up

EffEcts 
fRom 

ExcHAngE- 
RAtE Dif-
fEREncEs

REclAssifi-
cAtions

AmoUnt on 
 DEcEmbER 31, 

2019
JAnUARy 1, 

2019

JAnUARy 1, 
2019 

 (ADJUstED)
DEcEmbER 31, 

2019

Land and buildings 126,155 0 126,155 11,647 -19 551 0 872 139,206 47,433 0 47,433 4,706 -19 0 37 -12 52,145 78,722 78,722 87,061

Manufacturing plant and equipment 290,219 0 290,219 32,585 -22,513 3,025 0 6,316 309,632 136,721 0 136,721 27,105 -21,662 0 603 -2,119 140,648 153,498 153,498 168,985

Operating and business equipment 241,412 0 241,412 19,061 -44,482 599 0 8,274 224,863 177,466 0 177,466 17,294 -43,889 0 242 2,220 153,333 63,946 63,946 71,530

Prepayments made and assets under 
construction 30,718 0 30,718 41,568 -83 129 0 -15,321 57,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,718 30,718 57,010

Right-of-use assets 25,759 55,988 81,747 22,246 -3,541 1,144 0 -163 101,433 4,397 0 4,397 18,864 -445 0 0 -102 22,714 21,362 77,350 78,719

Property, plant and equipment 714,263 55,988 770,251 127,107 -70,638 5,448 0 -23 832,145 366,017 0 366,017 67,969 -66,016 0 883 -13 368,840 348,246 404,234 463,305

Concessions, industrial rights 142,418 0 142,418 997 -844 1,836 0 23 144,430 50,498 0 50,498 15,006 -697 0 242 13 65,062 91,920 91,920 79,369

Goodwill 121,187 0 121,187 0 0 1,390 0 0 122,577 10,636 0 10,636 0 0 0 0 0 10,636 110,551 110,551 111,941

Capitalized development costs 33,301 0 33,301 4,657 -1 12 0 0 37,969 21,373 0 21,373 2,290 0 0 12 0 23,675 11,928 11,928 14,294

Prepayments made 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Intangible assets 296,906 0 296,906 5,654 -845 3,238 0 23 304,976 82,507 0 82,507 17,296 -697 0 254 13 99,373 214,399 214,399 205,604

Property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets 1,011,168 55,988 1,067,156 132,761 -71,483 8,686 0 0 1,137,121 448,525 0 448,525 85,265 -66,713 0 1,137 0 468,213 562,645 618,633 668,909

 

 

EUR k

AmoUnt on DEcEmbER 31, 2018 HistoRicAl cost DEpREciAtion AnD AmoRtizAtion cARRying AmoUnt

As of 
 JAnUARy 1, 

2018

ADJUst-
mEnt DUE 
to initiAl 

ApplicA-
tion of 
ifRs 15

AmoUnt on 
JAnUARy 1,  

2018 
 (ADJUstED) ADDitions DisposAls

EffEcts 
fRom 

ExcHAngE- 
RAtE Dif-
fEREncEs 1

EffEcts 
fRom 

bUsinEss 
combinA-

tion 1
REclAssifi-

cAtions

AmoUnt on 
DEcEmbER 31, 

2018

As of 
 JAnUARy 1, 

2018

ADJUst-
mEnt DUE 
to fiRst-

timE Appli-
cAtion of 

ifRs 15

AmoUnt on 
JAnUARy 1,  

2018 
 (ADJUstED) ADDitions DisposAls wiRitE Up

EffEcts 
fRom 

ExcHAngE- 
RAtE Dif-
fEREncEs

REclAssifi-
cAtions

AmoUnt on 
DEcEmbER 31, 

2018
JAnUARy 1, 

2018

JAnUARy 1, 
2018 

 (ADJUstED)
DEcEmbER 31, 

2018

Land and buildings 108,267 0 108,267 2,708 0 -1,069 15,968 281 126,155 43,924 0 43,924 3,936 0 0 -427 0 47,433 64,343 64,343 78,722

Manufacturing plant and equipment 227,148 0 227,148 21,231 -7,405 -1,129 46,075 4,299 290,219 125,585 0 125,585 19,523 -6,828 0 -1,618 59 136,721 101,563 101,563 153,498

Operating and business equipment 226,287 0 226,287 19,502 -4,368 -1,871 477 1,385 241,412 167,102 0 167,102 15,760 -3,877 0 -1,519 0 177,466 59,185 59,185 63,946

Prepayments made and assets under 
construction 8,687 0 8,687 24,761 -34 0 3,165 -5,861 30,718 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,687 8,687 30,718

Finance leases 8,273 0 8,273 0 -91 261 17,499 -183 25,759 3,123 0 3,123 1,411 -91 0 13 -59 4,397 5,150 5,150 21,362

Property, plant and equipment 578,662 0 578,662 68,202 -11,898 -3,808 83,184 -79 714,263 339,734 0 339,734 40,630 -10,796 0 -3,551 0 366,017 238,928 238,928 348,246

Concessions, industrial rights 92,935 -34,284 58,651 2,400 -1,240 680 81,845 82 142,418 58,460 -16,020 42,440 9,383 -1,231 0 -94 0 50,498 34,475 16,211 91,920

Goodwill 1 48,879 0 48,879 0 0 787 71,521 0 121,187 10,636 0 10,636 0 0 0 0 0 10,636 38,243 38,243 110,551

Capitalized development costs 29,984 0 29,984 3,334 0 -17 0 0 33,301 19,098 0 19,098 2,291 0 0 -16 0 21,373 10,886 10,886 11,928

Prepayments made 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 -3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Intangible assets 171,798 -34,284 137,514 5,737 -1,240 1,450 153,366 79 296,906 88,194 -16,020 72,174 11,674 -1,231 0 -110 0 82,507 83,604 65,340 214,399

Property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets 750,460 -34,284 716,176 73,939 -13,138 -2,359 236,550 0 1,011,169 427,928 -16,020 411,908 52,304 -12,027 0 -3,661 0 448,525 322,532 304,268 562,646

1   Figures for previous year adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49, see Note 4 Business combinations.
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12.1  property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets

Depreciation is based generally on the following useful 
economic lives:

As in the past, property, plant and equipment are 
depreciated and intangible assets amortized using the 
straight-line method over the expected useful life of the 
assets in question. 

Intangible assets comprise concessions, industrial 
property rights, patents and customer orders. Capitalized 
development costs comprise internally generated 
patents, which are amortized on a straight-line basis 
over an average expected useful life of ten years. In 
2019, total research and development costs stood at 
EUR  68,776  thousand (2018: EUR 63,967 thousand), 
including an amount of EUR  4,657  thousand (2018: 
EUR 3,334 thousand) which satisfied the criteria for 
recognition under IAS  38. Most of this amount was 
recognized in the income statement.

12.2 leases
GRAMMER has entered into various leases for buildings, 
manufacturing plant and equipment, other plant and 
equipment as well as motor vehicles with terms between 
three and 25 years. Most of the leases do not provide for 

Land No depreciation

Buildings and fixtures 10–40 years

Building fittings 5–40 years

Manufacturing plant and equipment 5–25 years

Other equipment, operating and business 
equipment 2–15 years

Leased assets  
(finance leases) 3–25 years

Concessions, industrial rights 3–12 years

Capitalized development costs 7–10 years

 

 

eur k

amount on  
deCember 31, 2019 historiCal Cost depreCiation and amortization Carrying amount

amount 
on  

January 1, 
2019

adJust-
ment due 
to initial 

appliCa-
tion oF 
iFrs 16

amount 
on  

January 1, 
2019  

(adJusted) additions disposals

eFFeCts 
From 

exChange- 
rate diF-
FerenCes

eFFeCts 
From 

business 
Combina-

tion
reClassiFi-

Cations

amount 
on deCem-

ber 31, 
2019

amount 
on  

January 1, 
2019 additions disposals

eFFeCts 
From 

exChange- 
rate diF-
FerenCes

reClassiFi-
Cations

amount 
on 

 deCember 
31, 2019

January 1, 
2019

January 1, 
2019  

(adJusted)
deCember 

31, 2019

Land and buildings 18,400 48,336 66,736 17,319 -1,498 1,070 0 0 83,627 481 13,492 -155 -4 0 13,814 17,919 66,254 69,812

Manufacturing plant and 
equipment 5,335 1,568 6,903 1,064 -1,550 29 0 -163 6,283 2,815 1,776 -187 0 -62 4,342 2,520 4,088 1,941

Operating and business 
equipment 1,945 2,326 4,271 713 -300 27 0 0 4,712 1,066 1,285 -54 2 -40 2,259 879 3,205 2,452

Motor vehicles 79 3,758 3,837 3,150 -194 18 0 0 6,812 35 2,311 -49 1 0 2,298 44 3,802 4,514

Leased assets 25,759 55,988 81,747 22,246 -3,541 1,144 0 -163 101,433 4,397 18,864 -445 0 -102 22,714 21,362 77,350 78,719

 

 

eur k

amount on  
deCember 31, 2018 historiCal Cost depreCiation and amortization Carrying amount

as oF 
 January 1, 

2018

Changes 
in aC-

Counting 
poliCies

amount 
on 

January 1, 
2018  

(adJusted) additions disposals

eFFeCts 
From 

exChange- 
rate diF-
FerenCes

eFFeCts 
From 

business 
Combina-

tion
reClassiFi-

Cations

amount 
on deCem-

ber 31, 
2018

as oF 
 January 1, 

2018 additions disposals

eFFeCts 
From 

exChange- 
rate diF-
FerenCes

reClassiFi-
Cations

amount 
on 

deCember 
31, 2018

January 1, 
2018

January 1, 
2018  

(adJusted)
deCember 

31, 2018

Land and buildings 2,056 0 2,056 0 0 274 16,070 0 18,400 246 217 0 18 0 481 1,810 1,810 17,919

Manufacturing plant and 
equipment 4,435 0 4,435 0 0 -9 1,092 -183 5,335 2,036 842 0 -4 -59 2,815 2,399 2,399 2,520

Operating and business 
equipment 1,605 0 1,605 0 0 3 337 0 1,945 721 344 0 1 0 1,066 884 884 879

Motor vehicles 177 0 177 0 -91 -7 0 0 79 120 8 -91 -2 0 35 57 57 44

Leased assets 8,273 0 8,273 0 -91 261 17,499 -183 25,759 3,123 1,411 -91 13 -59 4,397 5,150 5,150 21,362
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any options for extending the lease or purchasing the 
leased asset, with the exception of buildings or limited 
items of equipment. In the case of buildings, these are 
largely standard renewal options, which provide either 
for a renewal option which may be unilaterally exercised 
by GRAMMER or for renegotiation for continued use after 
expiry of the lease. Expense of EUR 2,041 thousand for 
short-term leases and EUR 308 thousand for low-value 
leases was recognized through profit and loss in 2019. 
The right-of-use assets shown in Note 12 (2018: leased 
assets) under which GRAMMER has a right to use the 
corresponding assets in accordance with IFRS 16 (2018: 
which are attributable to GRAMMER for economic 
purposes under IAS 17) break down as follows:

 

eur k

amount on  
deCember 31, 2019 historiCal Cost depreCiation and amortization Carrying amount

amount 
on  

January 1, 
2019

adJust-
ment due 
to initial 

appliCa-
tion oF 
iFrs 16

amount 
on  

January 1, 
2019  

(adJusted) additions disposals

eFFeCts 
From 

exChange- 
rate diF-
FerenCes

eFFeCts 
From 

business 
Combina-

tion
reClassiFi-

Cations

amount 
on deCem-

ber 31, 
2019

amount 
on  

January 1, 
2019 additions disposals

eFFeCts 
From 

exChange- 
rate diF-
FerenCes

reClassiFi-
Cations

amount 
on 

 deCember 
31, 2019

January 1, 
2019

January 1, 
2019  

(adJusted)
deCember 

31, 2019

Land and buildings 18,400 48,336 66,736 17,319 -1,498 1,070 0 0 83,627 481 13,492 -155 -4 0 13,814 17,919 66,254 69,812

Manufacturing plant and 
equipment 5,335 1,568 6,903 1,064 -1,550 29 0 -163 6,283 2,815 1,776 -187 0 -62 4,342 2,520 4,088 1,941

Operating and business 
equipment 1,945 2,326 4,271 713 -300 27 0 0 4,712 1,066 1,285 -54 2 -40 2,259 879 3,205 2,452

Motor vehicles 79 3,758 3,837 3,150 -194 18 0 0 6,812 35 2,311 -49 1 0 2,298 44 3,802 4,514

Leased assets 25,759 55,988 81,747 22,246 -3,541 1,144 0 -163 101,433 4,397 18,864 -445 0 -102 22,714 21,362 77,350 78,719

 

 

eur k

amount on  
deCember 31, 2018 historiCal Cost depreCiation and amortization Carrying amount

as oF 
 January 1, 

2018

Changes 
in aC-

Counting 
poliCies

amount 
on 

January 1, 
2018  

(adJusted) additions disposals

eFFeCts 
From 

exChange- 
rate diF-
FerenCes

eFFeCts 
From 

business 
Combina-

tion
reClassiFi-

Cations

amount 
on deCem-

ber 31, 
2018

as oF 
 January 1, 

2018 additions disposals

eFFeCts 
From 

exChange- 
rate diF-
FerenCes

reClassiFi-
Cations

amount 
on 

deCember 
31, 2018

January 1, 
2018

January 1, 
2018  

(adJusted)
deCember 

31, 2018

Land and buildings 2,056 0 2,056 0 0 274 16,070 0 18,400 246 217 0 18 0 481 1,810 1,810 17,919

Manufacturing plant and 
equipment 4,435 0 4,435 0 0 -9 1,092 -183 5,335 2,036 842 0 -4 -59 2,815 2,399 2,399 2,520

Operating and business 
equipment 1,605 0 1,605 0 0 3 337 0 1,945 721 344 0 1 0 1,066 884 884 879

Motor vehicles 177 0 177 0 -91 -7 0 0 79 120 8 -91 -2 0 35 57 57 44

Leased assets 8,273 0 8,273 0 -91 261 17,499 -183 25,759 3,123 1,411 -91 13 -59 4,397 5,150 5,150 21,362
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The following lease payments (including guaranteed 
residual values) are payable in subsequent periods under 
the right-of-use assets recognized (2018: finance leases):

Possible future cash outflows of EUR 7,902 thousand for 
options to extend leases the exercise of which is not yet 
reasonably certain are not included in lease liabilities. 
Possible future cash outflows of EUR 400 thousand arise 
from leases that have not yet begun.

Under the former finance leases in accordance with 
IAS 17, the following payments (including guaranteed 
residual values) were due in subsequent periods in 2018: 

12.3 goodwill
The Commercial Vehicles Division and the Automotive 
Division are the reporting operational segments and the 
cash-generating units (CGUs¹) of the GRAMMER Group. For 
the purposes of impairment testing in accordance with 
IAS 36, goodwill acquired in the past or recognized in 
Group accounting is allocated to the CGUs.

 

eur k

less than 1 year 1 to 5 years
more than 

5 years

2019

Lease payments 19,788 43,528 33,529

Less interest expense from discounting -3,023 -7,679 -5,007

Present value (statement of financial position) 16,765 35,849 28,522

2018

Lease payments 4,025 7,383 16,118

Less interest expense from discounting -895 -2,634 -2,910

Present value (statement of financial position) 3,130 4,749 13,208

 

 

eur k

less than 1 year 1 to 5 years
more than 

5 years

2018

Lease payments 21,893 33,346 13,013

 

 

eur k

Cash  
generating unit

goodwill  
in 2019

goodwill  
in 2018

growth rate  
in 2019 1

growth rate  
in 20181

disCount FaCtor 
in 2019

disCount FaCtor 
in 2018

CGU I
Commercial 
Vehicles 4,423 4,423 1% 1% 5.9% 6.3%

CGU II Automotive 2 107,518 106,128 1% 1% 5.9% 6.3%

Goodwill 111,941 110,551

1 Perpetual annuity. 

2 Figures for previous year adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49, see Note 4 Business combinations.
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Goodwill attributable to the CGUs breaks down as follows 
as of December 31, 2019:

As described in Note 4, the goodwill attributable to 
CGU Automotive was adjusted retroactively from October 
1, 2018 due to adjustments to the goodwill arising from 
the business combination with Toledo Molding & Die, 
Inc. (TMD), Toledo, Ohio, United States, in accordance 
with IFRS 3.49. Accordingly, the goodwill attributable 
to GCU Automotive was adjusted by an amount of 
EUR 1,371 thousand as of December 31, 2018.

Goodwill is generally tested for impairment at the 
level of the CGUs (cash generating unit) annually as of 
December 31. The recoverable amount from the cash-
generating units is determined on the basis of the 
present value of estimated future cash flows less costs 
to sell based on the budgets approved by management 
for a period of three years. These budgets are particularly 
based on assumptions with respect to macroeconomic 
trends and trends in sell-side and commodity prices. In 
addition to these market forecasts, historical data is also 
taken into account. To arrive at the perpetual annuity 
extending beyond the three-year time horizon, the 
cash flow was extrapolated in the light of the expected 
sustainable growth rate of 1% (2018: 1%). The Group uses 
the same calculation methods and parameters for both 
segments when testing for impairment.

The key assumptions used in determining the value 
in use of a CGU are the free cash flows, the discount rate 
together with the related parameters and the sustainable 
growth rate. Free cash flows are calculated on the basis 
of the average budget of the last three years adjusted for 
expected efficiency improvements. The discounting 
factor is calculated on the basis of a cost of equity and a 
cost of debt rate. The cost of equity rate applied is based 
on a risk-free interest rate of 0.2% after tax (2018: 1.0%) 
and a risk premium for general market risks of 7.0% after 
tax (2018: 7.0%). For the determination of operating and 
leverage risks, individual beta factors are derived from a 
group of comparable companies (peer group) and used to 
measure the positive cash flows of the specific CGU. The 
cost of debt rate is determined by reference to the peer 
group of relevance for GRAMMER. The cash flows were 
discounted at a pre-tax interest rate of 5.9% (2018: 6.3%). 
A growth rate of 1% (2018: 1%) was assumed.

The impairment tests performed in 2019 confirm that 
the value of all goodwill is fully recoverable and that the 
goodwill attributable to the CGUs is not impaired. 

Within the Automotive Division, an increase of 
0.15 percentage points in the discount factor would 
result in the recoverable amount equaling the carrying 
amount. A reduction of 0.22 percentage points in the 
sustainable growth rate in this Division would result 
in a goodwill impairment. Within the Commercial 
Vehicles Division, a change of 3.33 percentage points 
in the discount factor would result in the recoverable 
amount equaling the carrying amount. A reduction in 
the sustainable growth rate in this Division to 0% would 
not result in any goodwill impairment.

1 Cash generating units.

 13  inventories

Inventories break down as follows:

All inventories are carried at cost. Impairments of 
EUR 5.9 million (2018: EUR 5.6 million) were recognized 
for inventories. 

 14   trade aCCounts reCeivable 

Generally, trade accounts receivable are non-interest-
bearing and have a term of 30–60 days. 

 

eur k

deCember 31, 
2019

deCember 31, 
2018

Raw materials, supplies  
and consumables 135,899 141,238

Work in progress 17,520 16,467

Finished goods and services 37,233 31,053

Prepayments made 1,227 2,234

Inventories 191,879 190,992

 

 

eur k

deCember 31, 
2019

deCember 31, 
2018

Trade accounts receivable – gross 209,937 252,942

Impairment -1,152 -1,128

Provisions for verity risks -1,964 -1,805

Trade accounts receivable 206,821 250,009
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The decline in trade accounts receivable is due to 
the greater use of factoring, among other things. As 
of the reporting date, trade accounts receivable of 
EUR 69,310 thousand (2018: EUR 42,301 thousand) were 
reduced as a result of non-recourse factoring. The 
risks arising from the factored receivables relevant 
for risk assessment are credit risk as well as the risk 
of delayed payment. With regard to a contract with a 

bank, the Group continues to recognize trade accounts 
receivable in the amount of its continuing exposure, 
i.e. the amount of the maximum default reserve 
and thus recognizes a corresponding liability. As of 
December 31, 2019, impairments of EUR 1,152 thousand 
(2018: EUR 1,128 thousand) were recognized on trade 
accounts receivable. There is also a provision for verity 
risks based on an individual valuation discount. Details 
are given in the table below: 

The following table shows the default risk position for 
trade accounts receivable and contract assets determined 
using an impairment matrix:

 

eur k

total

neither past 
due nor 

impaired

not impaired but past due in the  
Following periods

up to 
30 days 31–60 days 61–90 days 91–180 days 

more than 
180 days  

2019

Trade accounts receivable – gross 209,937 187,021 13,513 3,435 1,332 1,148 3,488

Contract assets – gross 131,531 131,531 0 0 0 0 0

Impairment 1,152 306 30 34 31 20 732

2018

Trade accounts receivable – gross 252,942 226,916 17,127 4,495 1,014 928 2,462

Contract assets – gross 115,235 115,235 0 0 0 0 0

Impairment 1,128 199 47 24 90 48 720

 

 

eur k

impairment
provisions For 

verity risks total

As of January 1, 2019 1,128 1,805 2,933

Additions 200 193 393

Utilization -139 -34 -173

Write-backs -24 0 -24

Effects from exchange-rate differences -13 0 -13

As of December 31, 2019 1,152 1,964 3,116

As of January 1, 2018 1,253 2,590 3,843

Adjustment for initial application of IFRS 9 516 0 516

As of January 1, 2018 (adjusted) 1,769 2,590 4,359

Additions 281 140 421

Utilization -513 0 -513

Write-backs -342 -925 -1,267

Effects from exchange rate differences -67 0 -67

As of December 31, 2018 1,128 1,805 2,933
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 15   balanCes oF ContraCt assets and ContraCt 
liabilities

Contract assets as defined in IFRS 15 break down as 
follows:

As of December 31, 2019, performance obligations of 
EUR 77,590 thousand (2018: EUR 60,308 thousand) for 
series development were not satisfied in part or in full 
in line with plans. One third of these is expected to be 
recognized as revenue within one year. 

ContraCt FulFilment Costs
In addition to the aforementioned balances of contract 
assets and contact liabilities, GRAMMER recognized 
an asset in connection with contract fulfilment costs 
for series deliveries. As of 31 December 2019, this was 
recognized at a value of EUR 4,774 thousand (2018: 
EUR 2,969 thousand). In 2019 and 2018, the contract 
fulfilment costs were not subject to any depreciation or 
impairment. 

Contract liabilities break down as follows:

Contract liabilities arise from customer prepayments for 
series development activities.

 16  other FinanCial assets

Other financial assets break down as follows:

In 2018, non-current other financial assets included 
the purchase price payments of EUR 1,975 thousand due 
in installments for the sale of the land and buildings 
in Immenstetten in 2015. These were reclassified in 
full as current other assets in 2019. Other receivables 
result primarily from current accounts receivable from 
associates, creditors with debit accounts and amounts 
due from employees. They are due for settlement in 
roughly 30 days. Financial assets are neither past due 
nor impaired. Loans include the loan to GRA-MAG LLC, 
a joint venture accounted for using the equity method, 
which was written up by EUR 9,438 thousand in 2019. 
It had a carrying amount of EUR 9,371 as of December 
31, 2019 due to negative currency-translation effects 
of EUR 67 thousand. Further details can be found in 
Note 8.5.

 

eur k

deCember 31, 
2019

deCember 31, 
2018

Outstanding loans 9,371 0

Investments in associates 50 51

Other receivables 0 1,975

Non-current other financial assets 9,421 2,026

Other receivables 1 2,724 7,700

Derivative financial assets 1,211 268

Current other financial assets 3,935 7,968

1   Figures for previous year adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49, see Note 4 Business 

combinations.

ContraCt assets

eur k

deCember 31, 
2019

deCember 31, 
2018

Non-current contract assets 70,760 63,388

Current contract assets 60,771 51,847

Contract assets 131,531 115,235

eur k

deCember 31, 
2019

deCember 31, 
2018

Contract liabilities 2,606 799

Current contract liabilities 1,170 642

Contract liabilities 3,776 1,441
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 17  other assets

Other assets break down as follows:

Other non-current assets include security deposit 
agreements, which are classified as long-term depending 
on the term of the underlying contract. This also include 
assets that have also been recognized for consideration 
paid to customers, which are recognized on a straight-
line basis over the duration of the series as a reduction 
in revenue. If necessary, impairment is recognized. 
Other assets include consideration paid to customers 
of EUR 25,369 thousand (2018: EUR 24,480 thousand). 
The majority of these assets are classified as non-
current other assets. Of these assets, an amount of 
EUR 5,431 thousand was recognized as a reduction in 
revenue in 2019 (2018: EUR 4,800 thousand).

Other current assets are chiefly made up of receivables 
of TEUR 25,070 thousand (2018: EUR 17,707 thousand) 
arising from pass-through taxes such as value added 
tax and other taxes as well as temporary security 
deposit agreements of EUR 200 thousand (2018: 
EUR 98 thousand).

There were no material ownership or alienation 
restrictions with respect to the other receivables and 
assets reported. There were no impairments.

 18  Cash, Cash equivalents and short-term 
deposits

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term deposits break 
down as follows as of the reporting date:

The Group has balances at different banks in various 
currencies that are translated at the end-of-year 
exchange rate as of the reporting date.

The bank balances have variable interest rates and can 
be withdrawn on demand. Short-term deposits are made 
for various terms of between one day and three months 
depending on the Group’s current liquidity requirements. 
The deposits accrue interest at the current interest rates 
for demand deposits.

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow 
statement, holdings of cash and cash equivalents as of 
December 31 are as follows:

 19  subsCribed Capital and reserves

subsCribed Capital 
As of December  31,  2019, the subscribed capital of 
GRAMMER Group amounted to EUR 32,274 thousand 
(2018: EUR 32,274 thousand) divided into 12,607,121 no-
par value shares (2018: 12,607,121). All shares accord the 
same rights. The shareholders have a right to payment 
of the approved dividend (with the exception of the 
Company’s own shares) and may exercise one vote for 
each share at the Annual General Meeting. 

 

eur k

deCember 31, 
2019

deCember 31, 
2018

Other assets 30,036 26,533

Deferrals 986 1,396

Non-current other assets 31,022 27,929

Current other assets 32,197 22,285

Deferrals 5,117 6,153

Current other assets 37,314 28,438

 

 

eur k

deCember 31, 
2019

deCember 31, 
2018

Cash, cash equivalents and  
short-term deposits 142,651 204,373

Bank overdrafts (including current 
liabilities under factoring contracts) –18,997 –11,069

Cash flow components of cash and 
cash equivalents 123,654 193,304

 

 

eur k

deCember 31, 
2019

deCember 31, 
2018

Cash, cash equivalents and  
short-term deposits 142,651 204,373
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Capital reserve 
The capital reserve totaled EUR 129,796 thousand as 
of December 31, 2019 (2018: EUR 129,796 thousand). It 
includes premiums from the capital increases in 1996, 
2001, 2011 and 2017, less transaction costs. 

retained earnings 
Retained earnings comprises the statutory reserve of 
GRAMMER AG, which totaled EUR 1,183 thousand on both 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 and is not available for the 
payment of dividends.

Retained earnings additionally include income 
earned in the past by the consolidated companies 
not paid out as dividends. This item increased from 
EUR 228,920 thousand to EUR 263,408 thousand. The 
Company’s net profit after tax of EUR 43,676 thousand 
(2018: EUR 23,212 thousand) is not fully reflected in 
retained earnings due to the dividend payment of 
EUR 9,208 thousand (2018: EUR 15,346 thousand). 

Cumulative other Comprehensive inCome 
Accumulated other comprehensive income mainly 
comprises adjustments arising from the currency 
translation of the financial statements of foreign 
subsidiaries and the effects of the subsequent 
measurement of financial instruments in equity, as well 
as the related deferred taxes.

In addition, it includes changes in connection with 
actuarial gains and losses in accordance with IAS 19 
and cumulative foreign-currency translation effects in 
connection with the loans classified as net investments 
in a foreign operation in accordance with IAS 21. 

treasury stoCk 
As of December 31, 2019, GRAMMER AG holds a total 
of 330,050 shares as treasury stock, all of which 
were acquired in 2006 for a total purchase price of 
EUR 7,441 thousand. These shares have a total value of 
EUR 844,928 and represent 2.618% of share capital. 

aCquisition oF treasury stoCk 
On August 16, 2006, the Executive Board of GRAMMER AG 
decided to make use of the authorization of the Annual 
General Meeting of June 28, 2006 to acquire treasury 
stock in accordance with section 71 (1) number 8 AktG. 
The Company has been authorized by its shareholders 
to acquire up to 10% of its share capital, i.e. up to 
1,049,515 of its own shares. The share repurchase is for 
the purposes set out in the resolution adopted by the 
Annual General Meeting, which provides for both the 
acquisition of companies or participating interests, 
sale through the stock exchange or through an offer 

directed to all shareholders as well as the recall of 
shares. This authorization was valid from August 16, 
2006 until December 1, 2007. The repurchase of the 
shares under this Executive Board resolution complies 
with the safe haven rules of sections 14 (2), 20a (3) of the 
German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) in conjunction 
with Commission Regulation (EC) no. 2273/2003 
dated December 22, 2003. The 330,050 shares were 
purchased on the stock exchange at the price specified 
in the resolution of the Annual General Meeting and the 
transaction was published on the Company’s website. 
The Executive Board has not yet proposed how the shares 
will be utilized.

As of December 31, 2019, 12,607,121 ordinary shares 
(2018: 12,607,121) were floating. 

non-Controlling interests 
Non-controlling interests in equity relate primarily to 
shareholders in GRAMMER Koltuk Sistemleri Sanayi ve 
Ticaret A.S., Turkey, GRAMMER AD, Bulgaria, GRAMMER 
Seating (Shaanxi) Co. Ltd., China, and GRAMMER 
Argentina S.A., Argentina. 

authorizations 
At the Annual General Meeting held on May 28, 2014, 
a resolution was passed to grant authorization to 
issue bonds with warrants and/or convertible bonds 
on or before May 27, 2019 subject to the exclusion of 
the shareholders’ preemptive subscription rights. The 
share capital was increased on a contingent basis by 
up to EUR 14,777,182.72 for this purpose (Contingent 
Capital 2014/I). Following partial utilization, Contingent 
Capital 2014/I stood at EUR 12,057,318.40 as of December 
31, 2018. The Executive Board did not make any further 
use of Contingent Capital 2014/I in 2019. Accordingly, 
the Executive Board’s authorization to issue bonds 
with warrants and/or convertible bonds subject to the 
exclusion of the shareholders’ preemptive subscription 
rights duly expired on May 27, 2019. No new authorization 
to issue bonds with warrants and/or convertible bonds or 
to increase the Company’s share capital on a contingent 
basis was granted at the Annual General Meeting held 
in 2019. 
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 20   retirement beneFits and other post-
employment beneFits

The GRAMMER Group has defined benefit plans, mostly 
in Germany. 

Provisions for retirement benefit obligations are 
calculated on the basis of benefit plans for the provision 
of old-age, invalidity and surviving dependents benefits. 
Benefits paid by the Group vary in accordance with the 
legal, tax and economic factors in the relevant countries 
and generally depend on the length of employment and 
the remuneration paid to the employee.

In the case of the foreign subsidiaries, the provisions 
primarily contain other post-employment benefits.

The present value of the defined benefit obligations 
and the related current and past service cost have been 
calculated in accordance with IAS 19 (revised 2011) using 
the projected unit credit method. Under this method, the 
necessary expense for the accrued benefits is allocated 
to the period which is attributable to the unit of accrued 
benefits arising in the year in question in the light of 
vesting conditions.

When retirement benefit obligations are measured, 
assumptions regarding the relevant factors affecting the 
amount of the benefit are made. These assumptions are 
based on actuarial calculations performed by an actuary 
for the GRAMMER Group. 

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) 
for retirement benefit commitments is based primarily 
on the following actuarial assumptions:

The measurement parameters also include liabilities 
from other countries that tend to have higher interest 
rates than Germany due to different structures. For 
example, the interest rate is 7.25% (2018: 10.0%) and the 
salary trend 4.5% (2018: 4.5%) in Mexico, while Turkey 
has an interest rate of around 13.0% (2018: 13.0%).

As in the previous year, the AON Hewitt interest rate 
was applied in fiscal year 2019. This interest rate is 
derived from the vested obligations in the light of the 
specific structure of the payment flows. The calculation 
is based on the GRAMMER companies’ retirement benefit 
obligations which underlie the retirement benefit 
provisions as of December 31.

dbo measurement parameters

in %

2019 2018

Interest rate 1.20 1.90

Salary trend 2.30 2.30

Income trend for individual commitments 2.30 2.30

Inflation rate/pension trend 1.50 1.50

 

measurement parameters For other beneFits

in %

2019 2018

Interest rate 1.20–7.25 1.90–10.00

Salary trend  2.30–4.50  2.30–4.50

Inflation rate 1.50–13.00 1.50–13.00
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The calculation of the interest rate is based on the yield 
structure curve of investment-grade EUR-denominated 
corporate bonds, the coupon yields of the iBoxx € 
Corporates AA index for various maturity classes and the 
yield structure curve for (fictitious) zero-coupon bonds 
with no credit risk (source: Deutsche Bundesbank). The 
calculations are performed on the basis of the end-of-day 
prices as of December 31, 2019.

Mortality and disability are calculated on the basis 
of the 2018G Heubeck biometric tables, which were 
published in 2018, or comparable foreign mortality 
tables. Reflecting the persistently low interest and 
inflation rates, the inflation rate/pension trend remained 
at the previous year’s level of 1.5%. The probability of 
fluctuation was computed specifically for the Group.

In 2019, annuities were paid on retirement benefit 
commitments in an amount of EUR  3,707  thousand 
(2018: EUR 2,777 thousand). Other post-employment 
benefits paid totaled EUR  140  thousand (2018: 
EUR 579 thousand). 

The following amounts were recognized in the 

income statement:

Service cost includes current and past service cost. Past 
service cost corresponds to the gains or losses from 
plan adjustments or curtailments which are recognized 
immediately upon arising.

As there are no plan assets for funding future 
retirement benefit obligations under defined benefit 
plans, net interest expense for the defined benefit plans 
is identical to interest expense.

Service cost is generally contained in personnel costs 
in the different segments; interest expense for pension 
commitments is recognized in the financial result.

The following items were recorded within other 
comprehensive income
 

eur k

pension 
plan

other 
beneFits

2019

Cumulative amount recognized in  
other comprehensive income as of  
January 1, 2019 55,482 0

Amount recognized in the year under 
review 17,326 0

Cumulative amount recognized in  
other comprehensive income as of  
December 31, 2019 72,807 0

 

 

eur k

pension 
plan

other 
beneFits

2019

Current service cost 3,786 828

Current service cost 3,883 828

Past service cost -97 0

Net interest expense 2,617 103

Service cost and net interest expense 6,403 931

 

eur k

pension 
plan

other 
beneFits

2018

Current service cost 3,221 863

Current service cost 3,221 863

Past service cost 0 0

Net interest expense 2,544 104

Service cost and net interest expense 5,765 967

 

 

eur k

pension 
plan

other 
beneFits

2018

Cumulative amount recognized in  
other comprehensive income as of  
January 1, 2018 62,652 0

Amount recognized in the year under 
review -7,170 0

Cumulative amount recognized in  
other comprehensive income as of  
December 31, 2018 55,482 0
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The changes in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligations break down as follows:

Retirement benefits for the members of the Executive 
Board take the form of a capital account plan, to which 
the Company adds an annually calculated amount for 
each member of the Executive Board. Provided that 
the applicable conditions for eligibility are satisfied, 
retirement benefits are paid to the member of the 
Executive Board as retirement capital or invalidity 
capital and to the spouse in the form of surviving 
dependents capital. Named partners living in marriage-
like cohabitation have the same status as spouses.

The retirement benefit scheme for the members of the 
Executive Board is a defined benefit plan.

In 2018, the retirement benefit model installed 
for the Executive Board members was extended to 
all GRAMMER employees at the German locations in 
different configurations. 

Similarly, the existing contractual trust agreement 
was extended in 2018 to include the new employees. 
As of December 31, 2019, the capital payments 
deposited in a trust account thus amounted to 
EUR 5,904 thousand (2018: EUR 4,467 thousand), which 
also includes an amount of EUR 4,407 thousand (2018: 
EUR 4,100 thousand) for present and former members 
of the Executive Board and management. This capital 
benefit represents plan assets and is netted with the 
retirement benefit obligations reported in the statement 
of financial position. The assets of the contractual trust 
agreement have been invested in a fund comprising 
global shares, fixed-income securities and cash. The 
funds are exposed to the general risks of the equity and 
fixed-income markets. 

Changes in the fair value of the plan assets are shown 
in the following table: 

The material actuarial assumptions used to calculate 
the defined benefit obligation entail the discount rate, 
expected salary increases and mortality. The following 
sensitivity analyses have been performed in the light of 
the possible changes which may reasonably occur in the 
individual assumptions as of the reporting data, with all 
other assumptions remaining constant.

 

eur k

2019 2018

Fair value of plan assets on January 1 4,467 3,655

Interest expenses on plan assets 85 66

Adjustments 26 -150

Contributions to plan assets 1,326 897

Fair value of plan assets on December 31 5,904 4,467

 

 

eur k

pension 
plan

other 
beneFits

As of January 1, 2019 136,383 3,074

+ Current service cost 3,786 828

+ Interest expense 2,617 103

Changes in estimates: gains (–)/losses (+) 17,352 0

Changes in demographic assumptions 0 0

Changes in financial assumptions 17,775 0

Changes based on historical data -423 0

– Current payments -3,707 -140

Exchange rate differences 46 -262

As of December 31, 2019 156,477 3,603

As of January 1, 2018 140,683 3,510

+ Current service cost 3,221 863

+ Interest expense 2,544 104

Changes in estimates: Gains (–)/losses (+) -7,320 0

Changes in demographic assumptions 117 0

Changes in financial assumptions -6,050 0

Changes based on historical data -1,387 0

– Current payments -2,777 -579

Exchange rate differences 32 -824

As of December 31, 2018 136,383 3,074
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As most of the defined benefit obligations relate to the 
German companies, the sensitivity analysis is confined 
to these companies.

In the above sensitivity analyses, the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation was calculated using the 
projected unit credit method as of the reporting date, i.e. 
the same method as that used to calculate the defined 
benefit liability recorded in consolidated balance sheet.

It can be assumed that the above sensitivity analysis is 
not representative of the actual change which would 
occur in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely 
for deviations from the assumptions applied to arise in 
isolation in view of the fact that some of the assumptions 
are linked to each other.

The following table sets out the expected future cash 
outflows for the existing pension plans:

expeCted Cash outFlows

eur k

2019 2018

Short-term (<1 year) 3,155 2,898

Medium-term (1 to 5 years) 15,194 13,858

Long-term (>5 years) 132,602 115,099

 

disCount FaCtor

eur k

2019 2019 2018 2018

1% reduCtion 1% inCrease 1% reduCtion 1% inCrease

Effect on DBO 31,103 -23,843 26,414 -20,358

Effect on current service cost 530 -395 471 -354

Effect on net interest expense -1,406 786 -1,048 696

 

inFlation rate

eur k

0.5% reduCtion 0.5% inCrease 0.5% reduCtion 0.5% inCrease

Effect on DBO -9,600 10,619 -8,067 8,901

 

Future salary inCreases

eur k

0.5% reduCtion 0.5% inCrease 0.5% reduCtion 0.5% inCrease

Effect on DBO -9,000 3,760 -3,006 3,407

mortality rate

eur k

10% reduCtion 10% inCrease 10% reduCtion 10% inCrease

Effect on DBO 5,406 -4,790 4,352 -3,882
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 21  Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities break down as follows:

The existing facility under the syndicated loan 
agreement of EUR 100.0 million (2018: EUR 180.0 million) 
entered into in 2013 secures GRAMMER’s Group funding. 
The syndicated loan is divided into a facility of EUR 
100.0 million (tranche A) for general corporate finance 
and a facility of EUR 80.0 million (tranche B) for 
acquisition finance, which was terminated in 2018 in 
connection with the acquisition of the TMD Group and 
the funding of this transaction. The syndicated loan 
contract was entered into between the main German 
GRAMMER companies and six commercial banks. The 
credit facility for general corporate finance can be 
drawn on either as an overdraft facility or in the form 
of fixed-rate loans with interest periods of up to six 
months. Interest is charged on the basis of a money 
market rate plus a fixed credit margin. The syndicated 
loan contract has an original term of five years plus two 
one-year renewal options. The second renewal option 
was exercised in September 2015. The term thus expires 
on October 31, 2020. The participating GRAMMER Group 
companies bear joint and several liability for the credit 
facility. Beyond this, no other collateral backing exists. 

The acquisition of Toledo Molding & Die, Inc. in 2018 
was financed via a limited number of banks under the 
existing syndicated loan in 2018. The acquisition finance 
for USD 260.0 million had a term of 12 months plus one 
six-month renewal option to be exercised by GRAMMER. 

GRAMMER exercised the renewal option in 2019. Once 
they have been repaid, amounts disbursed cannot be 
drawn on again. 

In addition, long-term, mortgage-backed (develop-
ment) fixed-rate loans totaling EUR 50.0 million 
(2018: EUR 41.0 million) were taken out to finance the 
construction of the new GRAMMER campus and were 
disbursed in full in 2019. 

OverdraFts 
Overdrafts are primarily amounts drawn under 
corresponding credit facilities as well as current 
bank borrowings under factoring agreements due for 
settlement within a very short space of time. 

lOans 
This item includes short and medium-term bilateral 
loans. Depending on the facility, the loans are structured 
to allow revolving utilization.

bOnded lOans 
In addition to deferred interest and the discount, this 
item includes bonded loans and private placements 
of EUR 209.8 million (2018: EUR 181.0 million). The 
amount of the bonded loans increased in 2019 as they 
were successfully refinanced and topped up by means 
of long-term private placements upon falling due. The 

eUr k

cUrrent
nOn- 

cUrrent tOtal

2018

Bank overdrafts (including current liabilities under factoring contracts) 11,069 0 11,069

Loans 236,919 25,152 262,071

Bonded loans 47,688 136,852 184,540

Financial liabilities 295,676 162,004 457,680

 

eUr k

cUrrent
nOn- 

cUrrent tOtal

2019

Bank overdrafts (including current liabilities under factoring contracts) 18,997 0 18,997

Loans 104,199 93,236 197,435

Bonded loans 84,539 126,740 211,279

Financial liabilities 207,735 219,976 427,711
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bonded loans have fixed or variable interest rates and 
differing maturity dates until 2025. Deferred interest for 
the existing bonded loans is included in the current part. 

In line with the presentation of changes in financial 
liabilities in the consolidated statement of cash flows, 
the current liabilities shown in the table do not include 
current account overdrafts or current liabilities under 
factoring agreements with banks. 

The other non-cash changes arise from changes in 
discounts and interest. 

Financial liabilities under leases comprise other non-
cash changes arising from the initial application of IFRS 
16 of EUR 43,384 thousand in the case of non-current 
financial liabilities and EUR 12,604 thousand in the case 
of current financial liabilities under leases.

recOnciliatiOn OF changes in Financial liabilities FOr the year ending december 31, 2019

eUr k

december 31, 
2018

change 
recOgnized 

in the  
cash FlOw 
statement

reclassiFica-
tiOn

change dUe 
tO cUrrency- 
translatiOn 

eFFects

Other 
 nOn-cash 

changes

eFFects FrOm 
bUsiness 

 cOmbinatiOn
december 31, 

2019

Current financial liabilities 284,608 -182,623 83,153 5,271 -1,671 0 188,738

Current financial liabilities 
from leases 3,130 -20,101 16,210 34 17,492 0 16,765

Non-current financial liabilities 162,004 141,125 -83,153 -85 85 0 219,976

Non-current financial liabili-
ties from leases 17,958 0 -16,210 186 62,438 0 64,372

Total 467,700 -61,600 0 5,406 78,344 0 489,851

 

recOnciliatiOn OF changes in Financial liabilities FOr the Fiscal year ending december 31, 2018

eUr k

december 31, 
2017

change 
 recOgnized 
in the cash 
FlOw state-

ment
reclassiFi-

ca-tiOn

change dUe 
tO cUrrency- 
translatiOn 

eFFects

Other  
nOn-cash 

changes

eFFects FrOm 
bUsiness cOm-

binatiOn
december 31, 

2018

Current financial liabilities 39,902 204,346 35,000 2,899 2,461 0 284,608

Current financial liabilities 
under finance leases 1,253 -1,676 2,098 350 0 1,105 3,130

Non-current financial liabilities 190,331 6,570 -35,000 0 103 0 162,004

Non-current financial liabili-
ties under finance leases 3,552 0 -2,098 110 0 16,394 17,958

Total 235,038 209,240 0 3,359 2,564 17,499 467,700
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 22  PrOvisiOns

Provisions break down as follows: 

Market-related obligations include provisions for post-
development risks from the sale of parts and products. 
For the most part, this comprises warranty claims 
calculated on the basis of previous claims and estimated 
future claims. 

These encompass Group liability for the proper 
functioning of the products sold and obligations to 
compensate buyers for damages and costs caused by 
use of the products. Personnel provisions contain 
obligations related to personnel and social benefits 
such as anniversary bonuses. As of December 31, 2019, 
restructuring provisions of EUR 2,300 thousand were 
set aside. 

Other provisions refer to a number of identifiable 
specific risks and contingent liabilities, for instance 
provisions for litigation costs, which are recognized at 
their probable amounts. 

 

eUr k

as OF 
 JanUary 1, 

2018 additiOn UtilizatiOn

amOUnts 
nOt Used 

and written 
back

eFFects 
FrOm ex-

change-rate 
diFFerences

amOUnt On 
december 31, 

2018

cUrrent 
PrOvisiOns 

2018

nOn- 
cUrrent 

PrOvisiOns 
2018

Market-related  
provisions 13,171 4,690 -1,483 -3,105 -347 12,926 12,926 0

Obligations relating to 
personnel 3,785 1,663 -925 0 0 4,523 4,523 0

Other provisions 530 160 0 -117 -4 569 569 0

Provisions 17,486 6,513 -2,408 -3,222 -351 18,018 18,018 0

 

 

eUr k

amOUnt On  
JanUary 1, 

2019 additiOn UtilizatiOn

amOUnts 
nOt Used 

and written 
back

eFFects 
FrOm ex-

change-rate 
diFFerences

amOUnt On 
 december 31, 

2019

cUrrent 
PrOvisiOns 

2019

nOn- 
cUrrent 

PrOvisiOns 
2019

Market-related  
provisions 12,926 9,233 -3,366 -3,342 -65 15,386 15,386 0

Obligations relating to 
personnel 4,523 3,921 -851 -197 1 7,397 7,397 0

Other provisions 569 286 0 -251 7 611 611 0

Provisions 18,018 13,440 -4,217 -3,790 -57 23,394 23,394 0
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 23  trade accOUnts Payable

Trade accounts payable break down as follows: 

Trade accounts payable and other liabilities refer to 
outstanding payment obligations for goods and services 
and well as running costs. Outstanding invoices and 
liabilities for deliveries received are recognized in 
accordance with their characteristics under trade 
accounts payable. Generally, trade accounts payable are 
non-interest-bearing and have a term of up to 90 days. 
Non-current trade accounts payable in particular include 
liabilities under closed-end leasing agreements with 
maturities of up to five years. Customary retention of 
title by suppliers applies in relation to trade payables.

 24  Other Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities break down as follows: 

Other financial liabilities mainly comprise non-current 
and current liabilities under leases. The increase over 
2018 is mainly due to the initial application of IFRS 16. 
In the previous year, liabilities from finance leases had 
been recognized in accordance with IAS 17. Further 
details can be found in Note 2.2 and Note 12.2.

 25  Other liabilities

Other liabilities break down as follows:

Social security obligations are largely obligations 
to social security agencies. Other liabilities mainly 
comprise liabilities to employees from outstanding 
annual leave, overtime, flex-time or similar benefits. The 
item also includes liabilities relating to value-added tax 
and for short-term accrued expenses.

 

eUr k

december 31, 
2019

december 31, 
2018

Non-current trade accounts payable 1,399 2,273

Current trade accounts payable 309,000 358,332

Trade accounts payable 310,399 360,605

 

 

eUr k

december 31, 
2019

december 31, 
2018

Derivative financial liabilities 377 851

Liabilities from leases 16,765 3,130

Liabilities to associated companies 1,871 1,042

Miscellaneous other current financial 
liabilities 1,511 1,158

Other current financial liabilities 20,524 6,181

Liabilities from leases 64,371 17,957

Liabilities to participations 4 0

Other non-current financial liabilities 64,375 17,957

 

 

eUr k

december 31, 
2019

december 31, 
2018

Other liabilities 55,642 59,982

of which personnel-related 
 liabilities 35,044 42,598

of which liabilities for consulting 1,878 1,675

Liabilities from other taxes and 
charges 9,200 13,420

Prepayments received 363 374

Social security obligations 5,402 5,401

Deferred income 2,396 3,516

Other current liabilities 73,003 82,693

Miscellaneous other liabilities 1,220 0

Other non-current liabilities 1,220 0

Other liabilities 74,223 82,693
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 26  cash FlOw statement

The cash flow statement presents the Group’s cash 
flow situation broken down into cash inflows and 
outflows from operating activities, investing activities 
and financing activities, irrespective of the balance 
sheet classification of the respective items. Cash flow 
from operating activities is derived indirectly from 
net profit before taxes, which is adjusted for non-cash 
expenses (primarily depreciation, amortization and 
impairment) and income. Cash flow from operating 
activities is calculated under consideration of the 
change in working capital. Investing activities comprise 
payments for property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets and financial assets, but not additions to 
capitalized development costs and right-of-use assets. 
Financing activities include cash outflows for dividend 
payments and repayments of loans, as well as changes 
in other financial liabilities and lease liabilities. At the 
GRAMMER Group, the cash flow components of cash and 
cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term money 
market funds, less overdraft liabilities (including current 
liabilities under factoring contracts) to banks.

 27  legal disPUtes

As protection against legal risks, a system of intensive 
contract review, contract management and systematic 
archiving is used. Sufficient insurance cover has been 
taken out for normal risks and risks to the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. In its capacity as 
shareholder Cascade International Investment GmbH 
(“Cascade”) filed a lawsuit on June 26, 2017 to set aside 
or, alternatively, nullify the resolution adopted at the 
annual general meeting on May 24, 2017 to ratify the 
actions of the members of the Executive Board and the 
Supervisory Board for 2016. On July 13, 2018, Cascade 
filed an action for rescission, or alternatively an action 
for nullity, against the resolution adopted at the annual 
general meeting on June 13, 2018 to ratify the actions of 
the members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory 
Board for 2017 by way of an extension of the action. 
In addition, it sought the annulment of the negative 

resolutions passed at this annual general meeting 
regarding the dismissal of the meeting chairman and 
a special audit to review and assert claims for damages 
against the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board. 
The lawsuit was pending before the Regional Court 
of Nuremberg-Fürth. Cascade and GRAMMER AG have 
agreed on an out-of-court settlement to the dispute. 
Cascade declared the dispute settled in a notice served 
on the court on February 5, 2020. GRAMMER accepted 
this settlement declaration in a written statement of the 
same date. Thereupon, the Regional Court of Nuremberg-
Fürth declared the dispute settled in a ruling dated 
February 6, 2020.

 28  cOntingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities break down as follows: 

Guarantees have been issued primarily as performance 
bonds.

 29  related Party disclOsUres

Information on the Group structure, subsidiaries and the 
parent company can be found in Note 3.

terms OF related Party transactiOns
This section describes the sales to and purchases from 
related parties on arm’s length terms. Outstanding 
amounts at the end of the fiscal year are unsecured, 
non-interest bearing and are settled by cash payment. 
No guarantees exist for receivables from or liabilities 
to related parties. An impairment test is performed 
annually by reviewing the financial position of the 
related party and the market in which it operates. 
As in the previous year, no impairment losses were 
recognized on accounts receivable from related parties 
as of December 31, 2019.

 

eUr k

2019 2018

Guarantees 2,546 1,911
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The following table specifies the amounts of transactions 
between related parties for the reporting year. 

gra-mag trUck interiOr systems llc
The Group holds an interest of 50% in the capital of   
GRA-MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC (GRA-MAG) (2018: 
50%). GRA-MAG LLC had 60 employees as of December 31, 
2019 (2018: 62). The receivables from GRA-MAG LLC 
include a loan of EUR 9,371 thousand. Further details can 
be found in Note 8.5 and Note 16.

ningbO JiFeng aUtO Parts cO., ltd./JiFeng 
aUtOmOtive interiOr gmbh/JiFeng aUtOmOtive 
interiOr cz s.r.O./ningbO JiFeng technOlOgy cO., ltd. 
Like GRAMMER AG’s direct parent company (Jiye Auto 
Parts GmbH), Jifeng Automotive Interior CZ s.r.o., Ningbo 
Jifeng Technology Co., Ltd. and Jifeng Automotive 
Interior GmbH are controlled by Ningbo Jifeng Auto 
Parts Co., Ltd. In the previous year, these companies 
had been ultimately indirectly controlled by the Wang 
family. GRAMMER maintains direct relations for the 
delivery of goods and the provision of services with these 
companies.

In 2018 and 2019, Jiye Auto Parts GmbH, Ningbo Jiye 
Investment Co., Ltd. and GRAMMER AG entered into a cost 
coverage agreement with the Ningbo Jifeng Group for the 
reimbursement of expenses incurred in the provision 
and management of information in connection with 
the preparation of the annual financial statements as 
well as support for a due diligence audit of GRAMMER 
Group for submission to the Ningbo Jifeng Group. 
GRAMMER AG invoiced Ningbo Jifeng Auto Parts Co, Ltd. 
and Ningbo Jiye Investment Co, Ltd. for internal and 

external costs totaling EUR 2,697 thousand in 2019 (2018: 
EUR 1,778 thousand). No further billable costs arose in 
2019. Accordingly, all internal costs and all external costs 
were recharged in full by GRAMMER AG. Internal costs 
are determined on the basis of the hours worked by the 
department concerned and external costs incurred.

Jiye aUtO Parts gmbh 
In 2019 and 2018, GRAMMER AG invoiced Jiye Auto Parts 
GmbH for internal and external costs arising from a 
contractual obligation under the business combination 
agreement to provide and manage information and 
support a due diligence review. 

allygram systems and technOlOgies  
Private limited 
The Group has held an interest of 30% in the capital of 
ALLYGRAM Systems and Technologies Private Limited 
(ALLYGRAM) since August 29, 2019. ALLYGRAM had 88 
employees as of December 31, 2019.

disclOsUres relating tO the execUtive bOard/
sUPervisOry bOard 
No companies in GRAMMER Group entered into any 
significant transactions with members of the Executive 
Board or the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG or with 
any companies on whose management or supervisory 
boards such persons are represented. This also applies 
to family members of such persons. The remuneration of 
the Management Board is presented in Note 33.

 

eUr k

related Parties
sales tO related 

Parties
PUrchases FrOm 
related Parties

accOUnts FrOm
related Parties

accOUnts Payable 
tO related Parties

GRA-MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC
2019 9,879 0 9,863 0

2018 10,255 0 4,700 0

Ningbo Jifeng Auto Parts Co., Ltd.
2019 2,894 298 2,701 2,809

2018 772 261 104 1

Jiye Auto Parts GmbH
2019 -647 0 0 527

2018 1,778 0 384 0

Jifeng Automotive Interior GmbH
2019 12 0 10 0

2018 0 0 0 0

Jifeng Automotive Interior CZ s.r.o.
2019 0 200 0 152

2018 0 12 0 7

Ningbo Jifeng Technologiy Co., Ltd
2019 0 2,520 0 1,218

2018 0 1,856 0 685

ALLYGRAM Systems and Technologies 
Private Limited

2019 0 1,960 0 622

2018 0 0 0 0
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 30   additiOnal inFOrmatiOn On  
Financial instrUments

The following table shows all of the Group’s financial 
instruments classified according to measurement 
category, carrying amount and fair value:
 

eUr k

measUrement 
categOry in 
accOrdance 

with iFrs 9  

carrying 
amOUnt On 

december 31, 
2019 measUred in accOrdance with iFrs 9

measUred in 
accOrdance 
with ias 16

Fair valUe On 
december 31, 

2019

amOrtized 
cOst

Fair valUe 
thrOUgh 

 Other  
cOmPrehen-

sive  
incOme 

Fair valUe 
thrOUgh 
 PrOFit Or 

lOss 

Assets

Cash, cash equivalents and short-
term deposits FAAC 142,651 142,651 142,651

Trade accounts receivable FAAC 206,821 206,821 206,821

Other financial assets

Loans and receivables FAAC 12,097 12,097 12,097

Investments in associates FVOCI 50 50 50

Financial assets held for 
trading FVtPL 0 0 0

Derivatives with hedge  
relationship n.a. 1,211 1,211 1,211

Equity and liabilities

Trade accounts payable FLAC 310,399 310,399 310,412

Current and non-current financial 
liabilities FLAC 427,711 427,711 433,612

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities FLAC 3,386 3,386 3,386

Liabilities from finance leases n.a. 81,136 81,136 81,136

Derivatives with no hedge  
relationship FVtPL 0 0

Derivatives with hedge  
relationship n.a. 377 377 377

Of which aggregated by category 
in accordance with IFRS 9:

Assets

Financial assets at amortized cost FAAC 361,569 361,569 361,569

Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income FVOCI 50 50 0 50

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss FVtPL 0 0 0

Equity and liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortized 
cost FLAC 741,496 741,496 747,410

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss FVtPL 0 0 0
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eUr k

measUrement 
categOry 

iFrs 9

carrying 
amOUnt On 

december 31, 
2018 measUred in accOrdance with iFrs 9

measUred in 
accOrdance 
with iFrs 17

Fair valUe On 
december 31, 

2018

amOrtized 
cOst

Fair valUe 
thrOUgh 

 Other  
cOmPrehen-

sive  
incOme 

Fair valUe 
thrOUgh 
 PrOFit Or 

lOss

Assets

Cash, cash equivalents and short-
term deposits FAAC 204,373 204,373 204,373

Trade accounts receivable FAAC 250,009 250,009 250,009

Other financial assets

Loans and receivables FAAC 9,675 1 9,675 9,6751

Investments in associates FVOCL 51 51 51

Financial assets held for 
trading FVtPL 0 0 0

Derivatives with hedge  
relationship n.a. 268 268 268

Equity and liabilities

Trade accounts payable FLAC 360,605 360,605 360,552

Current and non-current financial 
liabilities FLAC 457,680 457,680 459,342

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities FLAC 2,200 2,200 2,200

Liabilities from finance leases n.a. 21,087 21,087 19,415

Derivatives with no hedge  
relationship FVtPL 0 0 0

Derivatives with hedge  
relationship n.a. 851 851 851

Of which aggregated by category 
in accordance with IFRS 9:

Assets 

Financial assets at amortized 
cost FAAC 464,0571 464,057 464,0571

Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income FVOCI 51 51 51

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss FVtPL 0 0 0

Equity and liabilities 

Financial liabilities at amortized 
cost FLAC 820,485 820,485 822,094

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income FVOCI 0 0 0

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss FLtPL 0 0 0

1 Figures for previous year adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49, see Note 4 Business combinations.
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The maximum credit risk as of the reporting date 
corresponds to the carrying amount of each category of 
financial assets listed.

Because of the short term-nature of cash and short-
term deposits, trade accounts receivable and other 
current receivables, it is assumed that the carrying 
amounts equate to their fair values.

The fair value of other non-current receivables with 
remaining terms of over one year equate to the present 
value of the payments associated with the assets taking 
account of the prevailing interest rate parameters.

Trade accounts payable and other liabilities usually 
have short residual maturities. Longer-term trade 
accounts payable were determined on the basis of the 
respective yield curves and the risk premium applicable 
for GRAMMER.

The fair values of liabilities to banks, debenture 
bond and other non-current financial liabilities are 
determined as the present values of the payments 
associated with the liabilities calculated on the basis 
of the respective yield curves and the risk premium 
applicable for GRAMMER. 

Fair valUe measUrement 
The following table sets out the quantitative parameters 
for measuring the fair value of the assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the fair value hierarchy as of 
December 31, 2019: 

The following table sets out the quantitative parameters 
for measuring the fair value of the assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the fair value hierarchy as of 
December 31, 2018: 

The levels of the fair value hierarchy reflect the level 
of judgment involved in estimating fair values. The 
hierarchy is broken down into three levels as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: Valuation of assets or liabilities is based on 
direct or indirect market observables, which are not 
quoted prices in accordance with level 1.

Level 3: Valuation techniques are based upon inputs 
that are not observable in the market. There were no 
changes between Level 1 and Level 2 in the year under 
review.

No assets or liabilities were assigned to Level 3. 

 

eUr k

tOtal level 1 level 2 level 3 

Assets recognized at fair value

Derivative financial assets

Currency forwards 1,211 0 1,211 0

Interest rate swaps 0 0 0 0

Liabilities recognized at fair value

Derivative financial liabilities

Currency forwards 0 0 0 0

Interest rate swaps 377 0 377 0

Liabilities recognized at fair value

Interest-bearing  liabilities

Obligations under  finance 
leases and hire purchase 
 contracts 2,278 0 2,278 0

Current and non-current 
financial liabilities 433,612 0 433,612 0

 

 

eUr k

tOtal level 1 level 2 level 3 

Assets recognized at fair value

Derivative financial assets

Currency forwards 268 0 268 0

Interest rate swaps 0 0 0 0

Liabilities recognized at fair value

Derivative financial liabilities

Currency forwards 136 0 136 0

Interest rate swaps 715 0 715 0

Liabilities recognized at fair value

Interest-bearing  liabilities

Obligations under  finance 
leases and hire purchase 
 contracts 22,777 0 22,777 0

Current and non-current 
financial liabilities 459,342 0 459,342 0
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The following table shows the gains and losses on 
financial instruments: 

Net gains or losses from financial assets at amortized 
cost include currency-translation gains or losses, 
changes to impairments through profit and loss, gains 
or losses from the derecognition of receivables and 
reversals of previously impaired receivables.

Net gains or losses from financial assets and 
liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 
include changes in the fair value of derivative financial 
instruments to which hedge accounting is not applied, 
including interest income and interest expenses. 

The net gains or losses from financial liabilities at 
amortized cost primarily include currency-translation 
gains and losses from financial liabilities.

The GRAMMER Group has entered into master 
contracts with several banks. The derivative assets and 
liabilities outstanding as of the reporting date do not 
satisfy the offsetting criteria provided for in IAS 32.42. 
Accordingly, they are reported separately in the balance 
sheet. However, the master contracts include offsetting 
arrangements that apply in the event of insolvency.

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of 
the financial instruments which are subject to these 
agreements. 

As these amounts are not netted, the gross and net 
amounts are combined in a single column.

 

 

eUr k

grOss and 
net amOUnts 
OF Financial 

instrUments in 
the statement 

OF Financial 
POsitiOn

OFFsetting 
agreement net amOUnt

December 31, 
2018

Financial assets

Currency  
forwards 268 -86 182

Interest rate 
swaps 0 0 0

Financial liabilities

Currency  
forwards -136 86 -50

Interest rate 
swaps -715 0 -715

 

 

eUr k

grOss and 
net amOUnts 
OF Financial 

instrUments in 
the statement 

OF Financial 
POsitiOn

OFFsetting 
agreement net amOUnt

December 31, 
2019

Financial assets

Currency  
forwards 1,211 0 1,211

Interest rate 
swaps 0 0 0

Financial liabilities

Currency  
forwards 0 0 0

Interest rate 
swaps -377 0 -377

 

 

eUr k

2019 2018

Financial assets at amortized cost -4,628 2,232

Financial assets and financial liabilities at 
fair value through profit and loss 0 -42

Financial liabilities at amortized cost 2,839 -1,688

Net gains/losses from financial  
instruments -1,789 502
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 31  Financial derivatives and risk management

The main originated financial liabilities used in the 
Group encompass bonded loans, private placements, 
bank loans, overdrafts, finance leases and trade accounts 
payable. The Group has various financial assets such as 
trade accounts receivable and cash, which result directly 
from operating activities.

In addition, the Group has derivative financial 
instruments which it uses for risk management, 
primarily to hedge interest rate and currency risks. 

Financial risks
The Group is exposed to market, credit and liquidity risks 
as well as currency and interest rate risks Consequently, 
the Executive Board has implemented a risk management 
system which is also monitored by the Supervisory 
Board. The risk management system is integrated in the 
Chief Financial Officer’s area of responsibility while the 
Executive Board bears ultimate overall responsibility. 
The rules are designed to promote responsible treatment 
of risks and prudent actions among all Group employees. 
Management of risk is the responsibility of the Company 
management. Together with experts for financial risk, 
the management of the Company prepares a suitable 
framework for managing financial risks. This framework 
ensures that the activities of the Company that entail 
financial risk are carried out with the relevant guidelines 
and procedures, and that financial risks are identified, 
assessed and managed in line with these guidelines, 
taking into account the Company‘s receptivity to risk.

All derivative transactions entered into for risk 
management purposes are managed by expert teams 
that have the necessary knowledge and experience and 
are subject to adequate supervision. The guidelines for 
management of the risks set out below have been audited 
and approved by the Company management. 

credit risk
Credit risk is defined as the risk of the Group suffering 
a loss (risk of default) because a counterparty fails to 
fulfill its obligations. The Group guidelines stipulate that 
transactions may only be entered into with creditworthy 
third parties to reduce the risks of non-performance. 
The creditworthiness of major customers, especially 
in the Automotive Division, is subject to particular 

monitoring due to risks from deliveries of goods. If no 
rating information is available, the Group uses other 
available financial information and its own records 
to assess major customers. Customers, who wish to 
conclude credit-based transactions for the first time, 
are also regularly subjected to a creditworthiness check. 
Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure 
that the Group is not exposed to any material credit risk. 
The Group does not see any significant concentrations 
of credit risks as major transactions are characterized 
by short-term maturity structures and the high credit 
ratings of the key-account customers. 

market risk
Market risk refers to the risk that the fair value or 
future cash flows of financial instruments vary due to 
fluctuations in market prices. Market risk encompasses 
the following three risk types: exchange rate risk, 
interest rate risk and other price risks, such as share price 
risk. Financial instruments exposed to market risks 
include interest-bearing loans, deposits, financial assets 
at fair value through other comprehensive income as 
well as derivative financial instruments. The sensitivity 
analyses in the sections below relate to the situation 
as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. They were prepared 
on the basis of the hedging transactions outstanding 
on December  31,  2019, subject to the assumption of 
constant figures for net gearing, the ratio of fixed to 
variable interest rates on liabilities and derivatives and 
the proportion of financial instruments denominated in 
foreign currencies.

All depictions of the potential financial effects are 
approximations and are based on the assumptions of 
the relevant sensitivity analyses and method. The actual 
effects on the Group may deviate considerably as a result 
of actual market developments. 

cOmmOdity Price risk
Procurement prices, especially for commodities such 
as steel, foam and plastics, are subject to significant 
fluctuations depending on the market situation. As these 
cannot always be passed on to customers, this results 
in price risks. To hedge these risks, the Company seeks 
long-term supply contracts and consolidates volumes to 
limit volatility. Commodity futures contracts recognized 
as derivatives under IFRS 9 can also be transacted 
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in order to hedge price risks arising from purchases 
of raw materials. The Group carefully monitors the 
development of markets as a basis for decision making 
about the implementation of hedging.

There were no commodity forwards for hedging price 
risks for raw materials as of the reporting date in 2019 or 
2018, and no such contracts were concluded in either of 
these two years. 

CurrenCy risk
As a consequence of its international focus and business 
activities, GRAMMER is exposed to currency risks. 
Currency risks primarily arise from sales transactions 
in the ordinary course of business in international 
markets outside the euro zone and through the assets 
and liabilities of GRAMMER Group. The main currencies 
in GRAMMER Group are the euro, the Czech koruna, the 
Polish złoty, the Mexican peso, the Serbian dinar, the US 
dollar, the Turkish lira, the Brazilian real, the Japanese 
yen and the Chinese yuan. By transacting business in 
currencies other than the functional currencies of the 
respective Group companies, risks may arise from future 
payment flows. Exchange rate fluctuations may lead to 
unforeseeable and unfavorable earnings and cash flow 
volatilities.

Individual cash flows in the respective currency are 
aggregated in accordance with the GRAMMER Group’s 
currency management guidelines, resulting in a net 
currency overhang or shortfall in periodic observations. 
Aggregated currency overhangs or currency 
requirements are hedged in advance on a rolling basis 
within the framework of the currency management 
guideline on the basis of the budgeted business plan. The 
hedging ratios of the respective currency exposures are 
increased over time.

The risk is mitigated by the fact that business 
transactions are mainly settled in the respective 
functional currency of the invoicing unit. In addition, 
where it is possible and cost-effective, commodities and 
services are purchased in the corresponding foreign 
currency and production takes place in local markets. 
A shortfall or surplus of foreign currency holdings is 
hedged by means of forward exchange transactions after 
all the measures already mentioned have been carried 
out. The aim of hedging transactions is to offset the 
volatility that can arise from cash inflows and outflows.

The operating units are not permitted to raise or 
invest financial resources in foreign currencies for 
speculative purposes. 

Cash flow hedges
During the reporting period, there were currency hedges 
in PLN and CZK for which the conditions for cash flow 
hedging were satisfied. The following foreign currency-
related hedges broken down by maturity are held: 

duration

1–6 months 7–12 months total

2019

Currency forwards (sales expected with a high probability)

Nominal amount (in EUR k) 29,991 27,489 57,480

Average forward exchange rate (EUR/CZK) 25,955 26,105 –

Currency forwards (sales expected with a high probability)

Nominal amount (in EUR k) 7,639 7,302 14,941

Average forward exchange rate (EUR/PLN) 4,307 4,355 –

2018

Currency forwards (sales expected with a high probability)

Nominal amount (in EUR k)  31,850    29,867    61,717   

Average forward exchange rate (EUR/CZK)  25,775    25,924   –

Currency forwards (sales expected with a high probability)

Nominal amount (in EUR k)  8,147    8,096    16,243   

Average forward exchange rate (EUR/PLN)  4,356    4,401   –
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As of December  31,  2019, currency forwards with a 
positive market value of EUR  1,211  thousand (2018: 
EUR 132 thousand) were designated as cash flow hedges. 
The settlement results are recognized under the financial 
result. There were no significant ineffective portions of 
hedging transactions to report in the income statement 
in the year under review. The effects of foreign currency-
related hedges on the Group’s net assets, financial 
position and results of operations are as follows: 

The sensitivity analysis of changes in currency is based 
on the following assumptions:

• All monetary financial instruments not held in 
the functional currency are taken into account. 
The analysis is based on the original balance sheet 
items of the subsidiaries subject to a significant 
risk from functional currencies other than the 
Group’s.

• Changes in foreign exchange rates relating to 
financial instruments that are part of a net 
investment in foreign operations have an impact 
on equity.

• Derivatives for the purpose of currency hedging 
that are designated as hedges in the context of 
cash flow hedges have an effect on equity and are 
taken account of in the sensitivity analysis.

• Currency derivatives that are not designated as 
hedges in the context of cash flow hedges have an 
effect on period income and are taken account of 
accordingly in the sensitivity analysis.

• In order to determine sensitivity to exchange rate 
risks, a change in the exchange rate of +/– 10 (2018: 
+/– 10) percentage points on the reporting date is 
assumed. All other variables remain constant. 

eUr k

december 31, 
2019

december 31, 
2018

Carrying amount  
(other current financial assets) 1,211 268

Carrying amount  
(other current financial liabilities) 0 136

Nominal value 72,421 77,960

Hedge relationship 1 1:1 1:1

Change in the fair value of  
outstanding hedges since January 1 1,211 132

Change in the value of the  
hedged transaction to determine the 
effectiveness of the hedge relationship -1,211 -132

Effect on cumulative other  
comprehensive income: 2019 2018

Cash flow hedge –  
amount on January 1 172 340

Change in the fair value of the hedge 
(effective part) 1,732 -709

Recycled from other comprehensive 
income to profit and loss -655 431

Tax expenses (–)/tax income -317 110

Cash flow hedge –  
amount on December 31 932 172

1  Currency forwards have the same currency as the highly probable future sales  

(accordingly 1:1 hedge relationship).
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interest rate risk
The Company pursues a strategy of hedging interest 
rate fluctuation arising from floating-rate non-current 
financial liabilities. To achieve this, GRAMMER uses 
receiver interest rate swaps. The market rates prevailing 
on the date on which the loan is taken out apply in the 
case of loans, meaning that the interest rate risk is 

limited to fluctuations in the market on the date on 
which the loan is drawn. Interest on overdrafts is agreed 
on a roll-over basis. To optimize interest expenses 
and minimize risk, Group Treasury manages this risk 
centrally for all companies in the Group. To the extent 
permitted, GRAMMER AG Group Treasury makes funding 
available to all Group companies in the form of loans. 

The following table shows the sensitivity of consolidated 
net income before taxes and equity to a reasonably 
possible change in the exchange rate:
 

eUr k

changes in the Usd exchange rate eFFect Onearnings beFOre tax eFFect On eqUity

2019 +10% 2,999 -1,378

-10% -2,996 1,378

2018 +10% -13,412 -1,353

-10% 13,410 1,352

changes in the try exchange rate eFFect Onearnings beFOre tax eFFect On eqUity

2019 +10% 310 0

-10% -310 0

2018 +10% 633 0

-10% -634 0

changes in the czk exchange rate eFFect Onearnings beFOre tax eFFect On eqUity

2019 +10% 4,778 6,515

-10% -4,778 -5,330

2018 +10% 6,115 6,862

-10% -6,117 -5,614

changes in the Pln exchange rate eFFect Onearnings beFOre tax eFFect On eqUity

2019 +10% -787 1,676

-10% 787 -1,372

2018 +10% 66 1,823

-10% -66 -1,492

changes in the mxn exchange rate eFFect Onearnings beFOre tax eFFect On eqUity

2019 +10% 4,769 3,781

-10% -4,769 -3,781

2018 +10% 2,760 3,781

-10% -2,759 -3,781

changes in the cny exchange rate eFFect Onearnings beFOre tax eFFect On eqUity

2019 +10% 843 0

-10% -826 0

2018 +10% 1,129 0

-10% -1,123 0
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The following interest-related hedges broken down by 
maturity are held: 

As of December 31, 2019, there were interest rate 
swaps with a nominal volume of EUR 49 million 
(2018: EUR 75 million) in connection with the euro-
denominated bonded loans issued to hedge the interest 
rate risks arising from the floating-rate tranches. 
These interest rate swaps qualify as cash flow hedges. 
As of December  31,  2019, interest rate swaps with a 
negative market value of EUR  377  thousand (2018: 
EUR 715 thousand) were designated as cash flow hedges.

The effects of interest-related hedges on the Group’s 
net assets, financial position and results of operations 
of the Group are as follows:

The interest rate sensitivity analysis is based on the 
following assumptions:

• Financial instruments measured at amortized 
cost with a fixed rate of interest are not subject 
to interest rate risks and thus not included in the 
sensitivity analysis.

• Variable-rate originated financial instruments, 
payments under which are not designated as 
hedged transactions for cash flow hedges against 
interest rate risks, have an effect on net profit 
for the period and are included in the sensitivity 
analysis.

• Variable-rate originated financial instruments, 
payments under which are designated as hedged 
items for effective cash flow hedges against 
interest rate risks, have synthetic fixed rates 
and thus are not subject to interest rate risks. 
Accordingly, they are not taken into account for 
sensitivity analysis.

• Interest rate derivatives not designated as cash 
flow hedges have an effect on net profit for the 
period and are thus included the sensitivity 
analysis.

• Interest rate derivatives that are designated as 
cash flow hedges have an affect on equity and are 
thus included in the sensitivity analysis.

• The interest rate risk from currency derivatives is 
deemed insignificant and thus not included in the 
sensitivity analysis.

• The determination of the sensitivity of interest 
rate derivatives assumes a parallel shift along the 
yield curve of +/– 50 (2018: +/– 50) basis points. 
The interest rate on deposits was reduced on 
interest-bearing current account balances to a 
minimal level of 0.001%.

dUratiOn

Until 
2019

Until 
2020

Until 
2022 tOtal

2019

Nominal amount (EUR k)  –  42,500   6,500  49,000   

Weighted interest rate 
(%) – 0.502 0.810 0.543

2018

Nominal amount (EUR k)  26,000    42,500    6,500    75,000   

Weighted interest rate 
(%) 1.013 0.502 0.810 0.706 

eUr k

december 31, 
2019

december 31, 
2018

Carrying amount  
(other current financial liabilities) 377 715

Nominal value 49,000 75,000

Maturity date 2020, 2022
2019, 2020, 

2022

Hedge relationship 1:1 1:1

Change in the fair value of outstanding 
hedges since January 1 -338 -398

Change in the value of the hedged 
transaction to determine the effective-
ness of the hedge relationship 338 398

Weighted average hedge for the year 0.543% 0.706%

Effect on cumulative other 
 comprehensive income: 2019 2018

Cash flow hedge -  
amount on January 1 -504 -786

Change in the fair value of the hedge 
(effective part) -54 -353

Recycled from other comprehensive 
income to profit and loss 392 751

Tax expenses (–)/tax income -99 -116

Cash flow hedge –  
amount on December 31 -265 -504
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ineFFectiveness OF hedging relatiOnshiPs
The effectiveness of hedging relationships is determined 
at the inception of each hedging relationship and 
through regular prospective assessments to ensure that 
there is a commercial relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedge.

To hedge foreign currency transactions, the 
Group enters into hedging relationships in which the 
contractual terms of the hedge match those of the item 
hedged in the applicable month on average. The dollar 
offset method is used to assess the effectiveness of the 
hedging relationship.

Hedges of foreign currency transactions may be 
ineffective if the timing of the planned transaction 
changes from the original estimate or if there are 
any changes in the credit risk of GRAMMER or the 
counterparty to the derivative. In 2019 and 2018, there 
was no ineffectiveness with respect to foreign currency 
derivatives.

When interest rate risks are hedged, there is a 
commercial relationship between the floating-rate loan 
(the hedged item) and the interest rate swap (the hedge) 
as the terms of the interest rate swap correspond to those 
of the floating-rate loan (this applies to the notional 
amount, maturity, payment dates and repricing dates). 
The underlying risk of the interest rate swap is identical 
to that of the hedged risk component. Therefore, the 
hedging relationship has a hedging ratio of 1:1. The dollar 

offset method is also used to assess the effectiveness of 
the hedging relationship.

The ineffectiveness of hedges with interest rate 
swaps is assessed according to the same principles as for 
foreign currency sales. One reason for the ineffectiveness 
of a hedging relationship may be adjustments to the 
credit value/debit value adjustments of the parties to 
the interest rate swap that are not offset by changes in 
the value of the hedged loan. Differences in contractual 
terms between interest rate swaps and secured loans 
may also lead to ineffectiveness. In 2019 and 2018 there 
was no ineffectiveness with respect to interest rate 
swaps. 

liqUidity risk
The Group manages liquidity risks by means of 
appropriate bank credit facilities of EUR 148.2 million 
(2018: EUR 417.0 million), by constantly monitoring 
projected and actual cash flows and by matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. The 
aim is to achieve a balance between covering the need for 
financial resources at all times and ensuring flexibility 
through the use of overdraft facilities, loans, bonds, 
factoring, leases (2018: finance leases) and closed-end 
leasing agreements.

As of December 31, 2019, the Group had unutilized 
credit facilit ies of EUR  134.9  million (2018: 
EUR 174.6 million), for which all the conditions required 

The following table shows the sensitivity of consolidated 
profit before tax to a reasonably possible change in 
interest rates. All other parameters remain constant.
 

eUr k

increase/redUctiOn  
(basis POints)

imPact On earnings  
beFOre taxes eFFect On eqUity

2019 -50 -51 -2

50 342 116

2018 -50 151 -52

50 565 295
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for drawing had been met. The following table shows 
the contractually agreed (undiscounted) interest and 
principal payments from primary financial liabilities 
and derivative financial instruments with negative fair 
values: 

All instruments in the portfolio on the reporting date 
for which payments were already contractually agreed 
were included. Budget figures for future new liabilities 
are not included. Amounts in foreign currency are 
converted at the spot rate on the reporting date. Financial 
liabilities repayable on demand are always allocated to 
the earliest maturity band. Variable interest payments 
under primary financial instruments were established 
on the basis of the interest rates last fixed before the 

reporting date. In the case of interest rate derivatives, 
the net payments are recorded based on calculation of 
payment flows on the variable side using the relevant 
forward interest rates. 

For currency derivatives, both the payments made and 
corresponding payments received are recorded, since 
net cash settlement is not generally possible for these 
derivatives, which must be settled through provision of 
the countercurrency. 

 

eUr k

carrying 
amOUnt cash FlOw

2019 2020 2021–2023
2024 and 

thereaFter

Bonded loans 211,279 87,900 52,592 97,577

Bank loans 197,435 107,100 64,674 34,127

Bank overdrafts (including current liabilities under factoring contracts) 18,997 18,998 0 0

Current and non-current financial liabilities 427,711 213,998 117,266 131,704

Current and non-current trade accounts payable 310,399 309,028 1,420 0

Liabilities from finance leases 81,136 19,788 35,583 41,475

Other originated financial liabilities 3,386 3,382 4 0

Current and non-current other financial liabilities 84,522 23,170 35,587 41,475

Interest rate derivates 377 270 107 0

Derivatives 377 270 107 0

823,008 546,466 154,380 173,179

 
 

eUr k

carrying 
amOUnt cash FlOw

2018 2019 2020–2022
2023 and 

thereaFter

Bonded loans 184,539 47,492 119,305 25,424

Bank loans 262,072 267,578 864 186

Bank overdrafts (including current liabilities under factoring contracts) 11,069 11,069 0 0

Current and non-current financial liabilities 457,680 326,139 120,169 25,610

Current and non-current trade accounts payable 360,605 358,378 2,069 249

Liabilities from finance leases 21,087 4,025 5,736 17,765

Other originated financial liabilities 2,200 2,200 0 0

Current and non-current other financial liabilities 23,287 6,225 5,736 17,765

Interest rate derivates 715 435 345 0

Currency derivates 136

Incoming payments 49,375

Outgoing payments -49,259

Derivatives 851 551 345 0

842,423 691,293 128,319 43,624
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caPital management
Capital management serves the purpose of ensuring a 
high credit rating and establishing an appropriate return 
on equity. The Group manages its financial structure in 
line with this objective and, taking account of general 
economic conditions, adapts it to the objective.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reference 
to leverage and gearing.

Net financial liabilities include current and non-
current financial liabilities less cash, cash equivalents 
and short-term deposits. Gearing is defined as the ratio 
of net financial liabilities to equity. The syndicated loan 
agreement provides for financial covenants which the 
Group observed at all times during the reporting period. 

 32   disclOsUre OF sharehOldings in the cOmPany 
in accOrdance with sectiOn 33 wPhg

Under section 33 (1) or (2) of the Securities Trading Act 
(WpHG), any person whose shareholding in a listed 
company reaches, exceeds or falls below certain 
percentages of the voting rights by purchase, sale or 
by any other means must notify the Company and the 
Federal Financial Supervisory Authority immediately, 
however in no less than four trading days. The lowest 
notification threshold is 3%. The Company was notified 
of the following shareholdings as of December 31, 2019 
in accordance with section 33 WpHG (the percentage and 
number of shares shown refers to the share capital in 
existence as of the date of the notification; the number of 
shares is taken from the most recent notification served 
on GRAMMER AG and may therefore no longer apply).

In notices dated October 14, 2019 and December 11, 
2019, Ms. Bifeng WU, Mr. Yiping WANG and Mr. Jimin 
WANG, China, informed us pursuant to section 33 (1) 
WpHG that their voting rights in GRAMMER AG (ISIN: 
DE0005895403) continued to exceed the 75% threshold 

and amounted to 84.23% (10,618,681 voting rights). Of 
this, 84.23% (10,618,681 voting rights) are attributable 
to Ms Bifeng WU, Mr Yiping WANG and Mr Jimin WANG 
pursuant to section 34 WpHG. Voting rights are allocated 
by the following company: Jiye Auto Parts GmbH, 
Kitzingen, Germany, an indirect subsidiary of Ningbo 
Jifeng Auto Parts Co., Ltd., Ningbo, China.
(published on December 16, 2019)

All notifications served on GRAMMER AG in 
accordance with sections 33 ff WpHG can be inspected 
at the Company’s website and at the platform operated 
by Deutsche Gesellschaft für Ad-hoc-Publizität mbH.

 33  Other inFOrmatiOn

emPlOyees
Annual average number of employees:

hyPerinFlatiOn
IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies” provides guidance on assessing whether the 
economy of a particular jurisdiction is hyperinflationary. 
However, the IASB does not name specific jurisdictions. 
The International Practices Task Force (IPTF) of the US 
Institute Centre for Audit Quality monitors the status 
of “high-inflation” countries. Its criteria for identifying 
such countries are similar to those for identifying 
“hyperinflationary economies” under IAS 29. Argentina 
was among those countries in which cumulative 
inflation over the last three years was forecast to 
exceed 100%. 

Based on this assessment, we reviewed the effects 
of the application of IAS 29 from January 1, 2018. The 
application of IAS 29 resulted in an increase in revenue 
of EUR 0.3 million and a reduction in EBIT and net profit 
of EUR 0.1 million in the 2019 financial year. There was 
no material impact on the Group’s net assets, financial 
condition or results of operations in 2018. 

 

eUr k

december 31, 
2019

december 31, 
2018

Non-current financial liabilities 219,976 162,004

Current financial liabilities 207,735 295,676

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term 
deposits -142,651 -204,373

Net financial liabilities 285,060 253,307

Equity 342,242 314,840

Equity ratio 23% 22%

Gearing 83% 80%

 

 

2019 2018

Wage-earning employees 11,974 10,750

Salaried employees 2,936 2,689

Employees 14,910 13,439
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aUditOrs’ Fees within the meaning OF 
sectiOn 314 (1) nO. 9 hgb
Fees paid to the auditor of the consolidated financial 
statements, Ernst & Young GmbH, Wirtschafts-
prüfungs gesellschaft, Nuremberg, which are recognized 
as expenses in the reporting year, amounted to 
EUR  859.0  thousand, including an amount of EUR 
227.5 thousand attributable to the previous year’s audit. 
In the previous year, auditors’ fees of EUR 678.8 thousand, 
including EUR 141.3 thousand attributable to the previous 
year’s audit (2017) had been recognized. No fees for tax 
consulting or miscellaneous attestation or valuation 
services arose in the year under review or in the previous 
year. No miscellaneous services were provided in the 
year under review (2018: EUR 4.6 thousand). 

Additional expenses for the group auditor Ernst & 
Young GmbH in connection with the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the Ningbo Jifeng 
Group amounted to EUR 105.0 thousand in 2019 and are 
not included in the auditor’s fee as they were directly 
recharged to Ningbo Jifeng Auto Parts Co, Ltd, Nignbo, 
China.

execUtive bOard and sUPervisOry bOard 
remUneratiOn
The remuneration paid to the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board is set out in the following table:

Of the total remuneration paid to the Executive 
Board, EUR  85  thousand (2018: EUR 546 thousand) 
is attributable to performance-related components 
and EUR -372  thousand (2018: EUR 769 thousand) to 
components with a long-term incentive effect. The 
components with a long-term incentive effect amounting 
to EUR -372 thousand within the remuneration of the 
Executive Board represent a reduction in entitlement 
expected after the end of the performance period, i.e. 
2021 at the earliest.

Individual remuneration paid to the members of the 
Executive Board was as follows in 2019 and 2018:

As of December 31, 2019, provisions of EUR 133 thousand 
were recognized for retirement benefit obligations to the 
members of GRAMMER AG’s Executive Board appointed 
in 2019 backed by plan assets of EUR 133 thousand. As 
of December 31, 2019, provisions of EUR 3,549 thousand 
(2018: EUR 3,842 thousand) were recognized for 
retirement benefit commitments to former members 

 

eUr k

2018

nOn- 
PerFOrmance- 

related  
cOmPOnents

PerFOrmance- 
related  

cOmPOnents

lOng-term 
incentive  

cOmPOnents
tOtal  

remUneratiOn
settlement 

Payments

tOtal  
inclUding 

settlement 
Payments

Hartmut Müller 714 262 394 1,370 5,445 6,815

Gérard Cordonnier 452 142 187 781 3,041 3,822

Manfred Pretscher 425 142 188 755 3,041 3,796

1,591 546 769 2,906 11,527 14,433

 

 

eUr k

2019

nOn- 
PerFOrmance- 

related  
cOmPOnents

PerFOrmance- 
related  

cOmPOnents

lOng-term 
incentive  

cOmPOnents
tOtal  

remUneratiOn
settlement 

Payments

tOtal  
inclUding 

settlement 
Payments

Thorsten Seehars 238 23 0 261 0 261

Jurate Keblyte 141 13 0 154 0 154

Jens Öhlenschläger 335 32 0 367 0 367

Manfred Pretscher 381 17 -372 26 0 26

1,095 85 -372 808 0 808

 

 

eUr k

2019 2018

Total remuneration paid to the Executive 
Board amounted to 808 2,906

The Supervisory Board received total 
remuneration of 557 631
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of the Executive Board as of December  31, 2018, 
backed by plan assets of EUR 3,953 thousand (2018: 
EUR 3,787 thousand).

Payments of EUR 709 thousand (2018: EUR 271 thousand) 
were made to former members of the Executive Board 
and their surviving dependants under retirement 
benefit commitments. This includes the dissolution of 
the retirement benefit obligation of EUR 435 thousand 
(2018: EUR 0 thousand) towards the former Executive 
Board member Mr. Gerard Cordonnier in the year under 
review. In addition, a reduction in the entitlement to 
remuneration components with a long-term incentive 
effect amounting to EUR 1,154 thousand was recognized 
for former members of the Executive Board. This results 
from a scheduled annual assessment of the performance 
periods ending in 2020 and 2021. A final assessment of the 
entitlement will be made at the end of the performance 
period.

Retirement benefit obligations towards former 
members of management and the Executive Board and 
their surviving dependents are valued at a total of EUR 
10,293 thousand (2018: EUR 6,140 thousand) as of the 
reporting date and corresponding provisions have been 
recognized under IAS 19 (revised). 

In addition, current service costs of EUR 133 thousand 
arose for members of the Executive Board as of December 
31, 2019 for additions to the retirement benefit provisions. 
Of this, an amount of EUR 45 thousand is attributable 
to Mr. Thorsten Seehars, EUR 26 thousand to Ms. Jurate 
Keblyte and EUR 62 thousand to Mr. Jens Öhlenschläger. 
Current service costs of EUR 495 thousand had arisen for 
former members of the Executive Board as of December 

31, 2018 for additions to the retirement benefit provisions. 
Of this, EUR 230 thousand was for Mr. Hartmut Müller, 
EUR 181 thousand for Mr. Manfred Pretscher and EUR 84 
thousand for Mr. Gérard Cordonnier. Executive Board 
members receive no loans from the Company. Advances 
on the components with a long-term incentive effect may 
be made.

target remUneratiOn in the execUtive bOard 
remUneratiOn system: 100% target achievement, 
minimUm and maximUm remUneratiOn
The basic elements of the remuneration system for 
the members of the Executive Board are described in 
the section entitled “Principles of the remuneration 
system” in the 2019 remuneration report in the Group 
management report. 

Annual total target remuneration comprising fixed 
remuneration, a short-term incentive (“STI”) target and 
a long-term incentive (“LTI”) target is agreed upon with 
each member of the member of the Executive Board. The 
minimum remuneration equals the amount of the fixed 
remuneration. The degree of achievement for STI and LTI 
may be between zero (“floor”) and 200% (“cap”) of the 
target remuneration.

Whereas the remuneration actually received by the 
members of the Executive Board for 2019 and the previous 
year are set out above in the tables entitled “Executive 
Board remuneration”, the following table shows the 
range of possible remuneration for a member of the 
Executive Board as well as the annual remuneration for 
2018 for Mr. Manfred Pretscher in his capacity as Chief 
Operating Officer (COO).

in eUr

thOrsten seehars/ceO  
August 1, 2019 – December 31, 2019   

(5 months)
thOrsten seehars/ceO  

(full-year remuneration)

target remUneratiOn 2019 2019 (min) 2019 (max) 2019 2019 (min) 2019 (max)

Target achievement for STI/LTI of 100% 0% 200% 100% 0% 200%

Fixed remuneration 229,167 229,167 229,167 550,000 550,000 550,000

STI (including bonus/penalty) 130,208 -22,917 283,334 312,500 -55,000 680,000

LTI 161,458 0 322,917 387,500 0 775,000

Total remuneration 520,833 206,250 835,417 1,250,000 495,000 2,005,000

in eUr

JUrate keblyte/cFO  
August 1, 2019 – December 31, 2019  

 (5 months)
JUrate keblyte/cFO  

(full-year remuneration)

target remUneratiOn 2019 2019 (min) 2019 (max) 2019 2019 (min) 2019 (max)

Target achievement for STI/LTI of 100% 0% 200% 100% 0% 200%

Fixed remuneration 132,000 132,000 132,000 316,800 316,800 316,800

STI (including bonus/penalty) 75,000 -13,200 163,200 180,000 -31,680 391,680

LTI 93,000 0 186,000 223,200 0 446,400

Total remuneration 300,000 118,800 481,200 720,000 285,120 1,154,880
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Individualized remuneration for the Supervisory Board 
breaks down as follows:

No compensation was paid to former members of the 
Supervisory Board, and no such payments constitute 
a component of Supervisory Board remuneration. The 
Supervisory Board did not receive any performance-
based remuneration in 2019.

 34   grOUP cOrPOrate gOvernance declaratiOn

The Group corporate governance statement pursuant 
to section 315d in connection with section 289f of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) and the declaration 
of conformity with the German Corporate Governance 
Code (section 161 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG)) 
have been released and are permanently available 
on the company website at www.grammer.com 
in the “Investor Relations” section under “Facts on the 
Company”. 

disclOsUres On the execUtive bOard
and the sUPervisOry bOard

 

eUr k

net Fixed 
 remUneratiOn

net  
meeting Fees tOtal

Dr.-Ing. Klaus Probst 60.0 28.0 88.0

Horst Ott 45.0 18.0 63.0

Andrea Elsner 30.0 16.0 46.0

M.A. Tanja Fondel 
(until September 15, 
2019) 21.0 5.0 26.0

Dipl.-Betriebswirt (FH) 
Wolfram Hatz 30.0 16.0 46.0

Martin Heiß 30.0 12.0 42.0

Lic. oec. HSG Ingrid 
Hunger 30.0 7.0 37.0

Dipl.-Betriebswirt (FH) 
Harald Jung 30.0 7.0 37.0

Dipl.-Kaufmann  
Dr. Peter Merten 30.0 10.0 40.0

Lars Roder 30.0 12.0 42.0

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Birgit 
Vogel-Heuser 30.0 7.0 37.0

Antje Wagner (from 
September 16, 2019) 9.0 2.0 11.0

Dr. Bernhard Wankerl 30.0 12.0 42.0

405.0 152.0 557.0

members OF the execUtive bOard

Dipl.-Ing. (FH)
manFred Pretscher, Meine

Member of the Executive Board 
until August 31, 2019 
CEO and CFO until July 31, 2019

Dipl.-Wirtschaftsingenieur
thOrsten seehars, Munich

Member of the Executive Board 
(CEO) since August 1, 2019

Dipl.-Ing.
Jens Öhlenschläger, Amberg

Member of the Executive Board 
(COO) since January 1, 2019

M.Sc. 
JUrate keblyte, Munich

Member of the Executive Board 
(CFO) since August 1, 2019

in eUr

Jens Öhlenschläger/cOO  
January 1, 2019 – December 31, 2019  

 (12 months)
Jens Öhlenschläger/cOO  

(full-year remuneration)

target remUneratiOn 2019 2019 (min) 2019 (max) 2019 2019 (min) 2019 (max)

Target achievement for STI/LTI of 100% 0% 200% 100% 0% 200%

Fixed remuneration 316,800 316,800 316,800 316,800 316,800 316,800

STI (including bonus/penalty) 180,000 -31,680 391,680 180,000 -31,680 391,680

LTI 223,200 0 446,400 223,200 0 446,400

Total remuneration 720,000 285,120 1,154,880 720,000 285,120 1,154,880

in eUr

manFred Pretscher/ceO/cFO  
until July 31, 2019;  

August 1, 2019 – August 31, 2019  
member OF the execUtive bOard  

(8 months) 
manFred Pretscher/ceO/cFO  

(full-year remuneration)

target remUneratiOn 2019 2019 (min) 2019 (max) 2018 2019 2019 (min) 2019 (max)

Target achievement for STI/LTI of 100% 0% 200% 100% 100% 0% 200%

Fixed remuneration 366,667 366,667 366,667 404,000 550,000 550,000 550,000

STI (including bonus/penalty) 208,333 -36,667 453,334 171,450 312,500 -55,000 680,000

LTI 258,333 0 516,667 209,550 387,500 0 775,000

Total remuneration 833,333 330,000 1,336,667 785,000 1,250,000 495,000 2,005,000
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PrOFessiOns and Other OFFices OF the members OF the 
execUtive bOard within the meaning OF sectiOn 285 (1) 
nO. 10 hgb

execUtive bOard

manFred Pretscher
Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO), Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) and HR Director 
until July 31, 2019 
Member of the Executive 
Board until August 31, 2019

-  Member of the Board of Directors of  
GRA-MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC, 
London (OH)/USA until August 31, 
2019

thOrsten seehars
Chief Executive Officer  
HR Director 
(Member of the Executive 
Board since August 1, 2019)

-  Member of the Board of Directors of  
GRA-MAG Truck Interior Systems LLC, 
London (OH)/USA since September 1, 
2019

Jens Öhlenschläger
Chief Operating Officer 
(Member of the Executive 
Board since January 1, 2019)

-  Member of the Board of Directors of 
Allygram Systems and Technologies 
 Private Limited, Pune/India since 
August 29, 2019

-  Member of the Board of Directors of 
GRAMMER Japan Limited, Tokio/Japan 
since January 1, 2019

-  Supervisory Board of GRAMMER 
 Interior (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Shanghai/
China since August 21, 2019

-  Supervisory Board of GRAMMER 
 Interior  (Tianjin) Co., Ltd., Tianjin/China  
since July 26, 2019

-  Supervisory Board of GRAMMER 
 Seating ( Jiangsu) Co., Ltd., Jiangyin/
China since August 2, 2019

-  Supervisory Board of GRAMMER 
Interior (Beijing) Co., Ltd., Beijing/China 
since August 1, 2019

-  Supervisory Board of GRAMMER 
Seating (Shaanxi) Co., Ltd., Weinan City/
China since August 2, 2019

-  Member of the Board of Directors of 
GRAMMER Automotive South Africa 
(Pty) Ltd., Bedfordview/Southafrica 
until March 1, 2019

-  Member of the Board of Directors of 
GRAMMER Automotive Puebla S.A. de 
C.V., Puebla/Mexico until February 12, 
2019

-  Member of the Board of Directors of 
GRAMMER Interior (Beijing) Co., Ltd., 
Beijing/China until Mai 30, 2019

-  Member of the Board of Directors of 
GRAMMER Interior (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., 
Shanghai/China until August 20, 2019

JUrate keblyte
Chief Financial Officer 
(Member of the Executive 
Board since August 1, 2019)

-  Member of the Advisory Board of 
Baltics Yachts OY Ab Ltd., Jakobstad, 
Finnland

-  Member of the Supervisory Board of 
HAWE Hydraulik SE, Aschheim/Munich

 

members OF the sUPervisOry bOard
Dr.-Ing. 
klaUs PrObst, 
Heroldsberg

Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board

hOrst Ott, 
Königstein

Deputy Chairman of the  
Supervisory Board,  
employee representative

andrea elsner, 
Ebermannsdorf

Employee representative

M.A. 
tanJa FOndel, 
Frankfurt a. M. (Member of 
the  Supervisory Board until 
 September 15, 2019)

Employee representative

Dipl.-Betriebswirt (FH) 
wOlFram hatz, 
Ruhstorf a. d. Rott

martin heiss, 
Sulzbach-Rosenberg

Employee representative

Lic. oec. HSG 
ingrid hUnger, 
Lohr a. M.

Dipl.-Betriebswirt (FH) 
harald JUng, 
Nabburg

Employee representative

Dipl.-Kaufmann 
dr. Peter merten, 
Heppenheim

lars rOder,
Illschwang

Employee representative

Prof. Dr.-Ing. 
birgit vOgel-heUser, 
Garching 

antJe wagner, 
Frankfurt a. M. (Member of 
the Supervisory Board since 
 September 16, 2019)

Employee representative

dr. bernhard wankerl, 
Bodenwöhr
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 35   cOmbined seParate nOn-Financial rePOrt

In addition, the combined separate non-financial 
report pursuant to sections 289b (3) and 315b (3) HGB is 
published no later than four months after the reporting 
date on the Company’s website at www.grammer.com 
under “Sustainability”, “Non-financial report” in the part 
entitled “COMPANY”.

 36  events sUbseqUent tO the rePOrting date

The syndicated loan agreement obtained by GRAMMER 
AG in 2013 was successfully refinanced ahead of schedule 
in February 2020 and increased from EUR 100.0 million 
to EUR 150.0 million in a an A tranche. The B tranche of 
the new syndicated loan for USD 80 million constitutes 
the final component in the funding for the acquisition 
of TMD. The new syndicated loan contract has a term of 
five years plus two one-year renewal options. 

PrOFessiOns and OFFices in accOrdance with sectiOn 125 ParagraPh 1 sentence 5 aktg and Other OFFices held 
by members OF the sUPervisOry bOard

sUPervisOry bOard
OFFices in accOrdance with sectiOn 125 (1) sentence 5 
aktg Other OFFices

Dr.-Ing. 
klaUs PrObst 
Former Chief Executive Officer  
of LEONI AG

 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg
 Chairman of the Supervisory Board of LEONI AG, Nuremberg
 Member of the Supervisory Board of Zapp AG, Ratingen

 Member of the Advisory Board of Lux-Haus GmbH & Co. KG,  
Georgensmünd
 Member of the Advisory Board of Deutsche Bank AG, Munich 
(southern region)
Member of the Advisory Board of Diehl Stiftung & Co. KG,  
Nuremberg
Member of the Advisory Board of Richard Bergner  
Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Schwabach

hOrst Ott
First Representative of IG Metall 
Amberg

 Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, 
Amberg 

No other offices

andrea elsner 
Business Management Assistant

 Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg No other offices

M.A. 
tanJa FOndel
Trade union secretary, IG Metall 
Management Board (Member 
of the Supervisory Board until 
 September 15, 2019)

 Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg Member of the Supervisory Board of DMG MORI AG, Bielefeld

wOlFram hatz 
Chairman of the Advisory Board 
of Motorenfabrik Hatz GmbH & 
Co. KG

  Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg Member of the Advisory Board of Commerbank AG, Frankfurt a. M.

martin heiss
Management assistant for data 
processing

  Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg No other offices

ingrid hUnger
Chief Executive Officer of Walter 
Hunger GmbH & Co. KG and 
 majority shareholder of the   
Hunger Hydraulik Group

 Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg No other offices

harald JUng
Vice President Division Controlling 
Consoles & Armrests

 Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg No other offices

dr. Peter merten
Management consultant 

 Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg 
 Member of the Supervisory Board of Nanogate SE, Göttelborn 

 Member of the Advisory Board of Deutsche Bank AG, Mannheim
 Member of the Advisory Board of KAMAX Holding GmbH & Co. KG, 
Homberg (Ohm)

lars rOder 
Mechanical engineering technician

 Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg No other offices

Prof. Dr.-Ing.
birgit vOgel-heUser
Electrical Engineer, Professor 
of automation and information 
systems at the Technical University 
of Munich

 Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg
 Member of the Supervisory Board of SMS group GmbH, 
 Düsseldorf and SMS Holding GmbH, Düsseldorf
 Member of the Supervisory Board of HAWE  Hydraulik SE, 
Aschheim/Munich 

No other offices

antJe wagner
Trade union secretary, IG Metall 
Management Board (Member 
of the Supervisory Board since 
September 16, 2019)

Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg No other offices 

dr. bernhard wankerl
Attorney, law firm Dr. Wankerl  
and  colleagues

Member of the Supervisory Board of GRAMMER AG, Amberg No other offices
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“indePendent aUditOr’s rePOrt

To GRAMMER Aktiengesellschaft

rePOrt On the aUdit OF the cOnsOlidated Financial 
statements and OF the grOUP management rePOrt

OPiniOns
We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of GRAMMER AG, Amberg, and its subsidiaries (the Group) 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as of 31 December 2019, the consolidated income 
statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
fiscal year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019, 
and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
In addition, we have audited the group management 
report of GRAMMER AG for the fiscal year from 1 January 
2019 to 31 December 2019. In accordance with the 
German legal requirements, we have not audited the 
content of the Corporate Governance Report and Group 
Corporate Governance Declaration pursuant to Sec. 
315d HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial 
Code] in conjunction with Sec. 289f HGB, which are 
published on the Company’s website and referred to in 
the management report.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge 
obtained in the audit,  

• the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements comply, in all material respects, with 
the IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant 
to Sec. 315e (1) HGB and, in compliance with these 
requirements, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities and financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2019 and of its financial 
per for mance for the fiscal year from 1 January 2019 
to 31 December 2019, and

• the accompanying group management report 
as a whole provides an appropriate view of the 
Group’s position. In all material respects, this 
group management report is consistent with 
the consolidated financial statements, com plies 
with German legal requirements and appro-
priately presents the opportunities and risks of 
future develop ment. Our opinion on the group 
management report does not cover the content 
of the Corporate Governance Report or the Group 
Corporate Governance Declaration referred to 
above.

Pursuant to Sec. 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare 
that our audit has not led to any reservations relating 
to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial 
statements and of the group management report.

basis FOr the OPiniOns  
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and of the group management report 
in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and the EU Audit 
Regulation (No 537/2014, referred to subsequently as 
“EU Audit Regulation”) and in compliance with German 
Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement 
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our 
responsibilities under those requirements and principles 
are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements and of 
the group management report” section of our auditor’s 
report. We are independent of the group entities in 
accordance with the requirements of European law and 
German commercial and professional law, and we have 
fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. In addition, in 
accordance with Art. 10 (2) f) of the EU Audit Regulation, 
we declare that we have not provided non-audit services 
prohibited under Art. 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinions on the consolidated financial statements and 
on the group management report.  

key aUdit matters in the aUdit OF the 
cOnsOlidated Financial statements
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements for 
the fiscal year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon; we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 



166

GRAMMER   AnnuAl REpoRt 2019

RepoRt of the independent auditoR

Below, we describe what we consider to be the key audit 
matters:

1. imPairment testing OF gOOdwill

reasOns why the matter was determined  
tO be a key aUdit matter
Pursuant to IAS 36.90, cash-generating units to which 
goodwill has been allocated are subject to an annual 
impairment test in which the carrying amount of the 
unit including goodwill is compared with its recoverable 
amount. These tests are based on the present value of 
future cash flows of the cash-generating unit to which 
goodwill is allocated. Valuations are based on the 
budgets for every cash-generating unit, which in turn 
are based on the budgets approved by management and 
the Supervisory Board and thus subject to judgment. 
They are discounted on the basis of the weighted average 
cost of capital (WACC) for the respective cash-generating 
unit. The inputs used to calculate the discount rate are 
partly based on estimated market expectations and are, 
therefore, also subject to judgment.  

In light of the planning uncertainty resulting from 
the future-oriented character of the measurement and 
the judgment exercised in the impairment test for cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated, 
the impairment of goodwill was a key audit matter.

aUditOr’s resPOnse
To assess the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating 
units determined by the executive directors, we examined 
the underlying processes for the determination of the 
recoverable amounts and performed substantive audit 
procedures. We also involved our valuation specialists 
in the audit in order to methodically and arithmetically 
assess the valuation model and the calculation inputs 
used. We examined whether the valuation models were 
applied consistently. We also examined whether the 
budget planning reflects general, regional and industry-
specific market expectations. In our assessment, we 
considered the corresponding market expectations as 
well as the explanations given by management on the 
main value drivers underlying the budgets. To determine 
the reliability of the budgets, we compared historical 
budget data with actual figures on a sample basis. 

The inputs used in the determination of the recoverable 
amounts such as the estimated growth rates were 
assessed based on an analysis of general market 
indicators. We assessed the derivation of the weighted 
average cost of capital (WACC) by evaluating the beta 
factors used for the benchmark companies involved 
and comparing the interest rates for equity and debt 
with available market data. In order to detect possible 
impairment risks, we performed our own sensitivity 
analyses on the results of the impairment tests to 
determine the changes to certain measurement 
parameters that would result in a different opinion on 
the existence of an impairment at the level of the cash-
generating unit. 

As part of our audit procedures we especially assessed 
whether the effects from the first-time application of 
IFRS 16 “Leases” on impairment testing are in accordance 
with the requirements of IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. 
Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations 
regarding the impairment of goodwill. 

reFerence tO related disclOsUres  
With respect to the accounting and measurement 
policies applied to goodwill and the related disclosures 
on the Executive Board’s use of judgment and sources 
of estimation uncertainties, reference is made to 
the disclosure in Note 2.1 “Summary of significant 
accounting policies” and the disclosures on goodwill 
in Note 12.3 “Goodwill” of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

2.  revenUe recOgnitiOn Over time FrOm 
develOPment cOntracts with cUstOmers

reasOns why the matter was determined  
tO be a key aUdit matter
The GRAMMER Group companies generally fulfill 
their performance obligations from customer-specific 
development contracts over time and recognize the 
resulting amount of revenue arising pursuant to 
IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, in 
accordance with the stage of completion of the respective 
performance obligation. The progress with regard to 
the satisfaction of the performance obligation in full 
is determined on an input basis and based on the costs 
incurred. 
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Revenue recognition over time is therefore highly 
dependent on the executive directors’ estimation of 
total contract revenue and total contract costs and, 
through the determination of the stage of completion, 
has a significant impact on the items of the consolidated 
financial statements. We therefore considered the 
recognition of revenue from development contracts 
over time to be a key audit matter entailing the risk of 
material misstatement in the consolidated financial 
statements, including the inherent risk of management 
bypass or override of the internal control system.  

aUditOr’s resPOnse
During the reporting period, we performed tests to 
assess the design and operating effectiveness of the 
significant controls implemented by the executive 
directors in contract acceptance and performance and 
in the accounting for customer contracts, especially 
in connection with the identification of performance 
obligations, the determination of the transaction 
price and its allocation to the identified performance 
obligations and the estimation of contract costs 
including the identification of contract-related risks. In 
this context, we tested both transaction-level controls 
and entity-level controls, such as regular review 
meetings. 

For development contracts that were significant due 
to their technical or commercial complexity or their 
financial significance given the recognized assets from 
customer contracts, we also performed the substantive 
tests presented below:

We obtained an understanding of the substance of the 
contracts and the requested development service as well 
as the status of contract fulfillment through inquiries 
of those responsible in group project controlling. We 
examined the information obtained to determine 
whether they were consistent with the externally 
available evidence such as customer correspondence and 
contracts. We also examined the various components 
of the transaction price of the performance obligations 
by comparing those components with the underlying 
contracts. 

We analyzed the reported revenue from development 
contracts to determine, among other things, whether 
the planned and realized margin from the contracts is 
consistent with our expectation of the progress of each 
project based on the performance of comparable projects. 
Our audit procedures did not lead to any reservations 
regarding the recognition of revenue from development 
contracts over time. 

reFerence tO related disclOsUres  
Regarding the information provided by the Company 
on the recognition of revenue over time, reference is 
made to Note 2.1 “Summary of significant accounting 
policies, Revenue from contracts with customers”, 
Note 7 “Revenue from contracts with customers” as 
well as Note 15 “Contract balances” of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.

3.  revenUe recOgnitiOn in relatiOn  
tO the delivery OF serial PrOdUcts

reasOns why the matter was determined  
tO be a key aUdit matter
The revenue reported in the consolidated financial 
statements is one of the main financial performance 
indicators used by the executive directors of GRAMMER 
AG. As a general rule, revenue is recognized upon 
satisfaction of the respective performance obligation, 
namely the date on which the customer obtains control 
over the underlying asset. 

The recognition of revenue is subject to the risk that 
revenue is recognized at a wrong time and thus, leads to 
a presentation in the wrong period, or the recognition 
of fictitious revenue. Revenue results from a range 
of individual transactions in the form of separate 
deliveries. Moreover, continuous price negotiations 
with customers lead to regular changes in transaction 
prices and, hence, to changes in the measurement of 
the revenue recognized. The recognition of revenue is 
exposed to the risk of material misstatement including 
the inherent risk of management bypass or override 
of the internal control system. As recognized revenue 
has a material impact on GRAMMER AG’s consolidated 
financial statements, the recognition of revenue from 
serial production was considered a key audit matter. 
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aUditOr’s resPOnse
During our audit, we obtained an understanding of 
the contractual arrangements with the customers, 
especially the arrangements governing the time of 
obtaining control, as well as the arrangements regarding 
the billing procedure, and assesses them based on our 
understanding of the business and process. Against this 
backdrop, we examined the internal procedures and 
controls implemented for revenue recognition and the 
accrual basis of accounting and for recording the amount 
of revenue. 

We performed tests of design and operating 
effectiveness in this context, examining the revenue 
recognized for the fiscal year from 1 January 2019 to 
31 December 2019 with respect to how it was recorded 
in the accounts. We analyzed any deviations from our 
expectation regarding the posting logic by performing 
additional substantive audit procedures, obtaining audit 
evidence, for example proof of delivery or third-party 
confirmations, with regard to the transfer of control to 
the customer and the recording of the correct amount of 
revenue on an accrual basis. We checked that the revenue 
had been entered in the right amount in particular by 
comparing a sample of the transaction prices with 
their applicable contractual bases. We also determined 
whether the corresponding trade receivables had been 
settled by the customer by paying the invoice amount 
in the customary business cycle. At the same time, we 
checked a sample of incoming payments against the 
corresponding bank statements. 

In order to identify unexpected fluctuations in 
the gross margin reported, which might imply the 
recognition of fictitious revenue, among other things, we 
performed a margin analysis at a monthly level. Our audit 
procedures did not lead to any reservations regarding the 
recognition of revenue from serial production. 

reFerence tO related disclOsUres  
The Company’s disclosures on revenue recognized at 
a point in time are presented in Note 2.1 “Summary of 
significant accounting policies, Revenue from contracts 
with customers” and in Note 7 “Revenue from contracts 
with customers” of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Other inFOrmatiOn  
The Supervisory Board is responsible for the Report of 
the Supervisory Board. The executive directors and the 
Supervisory Board are responsible for the Corporate 
Governance Report and the Group Corporate Governance 
Declaration pursuant to Sec. 315d HGB in conjunction 
with Sec. 289f. HGB. In all other respects, the executive 
directors are responsible for the other information. 

The other information comprises the following 
components to which reference is made in the 
management report:

• the combined separate non-financial report 
pursuant to Sec. 289b (3) and Sec. 315b (3) HGB, and

• the Corporate Governance Report and Group 
Corporate Governance Declaration pursuant to 
Sec. 315d HGB in conjunction with Sec. 289f HGB.

The other information further comprises the following 
elements of the annual report, which were provided to 
us prior to us issuing this auditor’s report:

• the section “GRAMMER Group Five-year Overview”;
• the responsibility statement;
• the section “GRAMMER AG Financial Statements”.
 

The other information also comprises the following 
remaining components of the annual report, which 
are expected to be provided to us after us issuing the 
auditor’s report:

• the section “Key Figures”;
• the section “Overview of Divisions”;
• the section “Company Profile + Map of Locations”;
• the section “Foreword of the CEO”;
• the section “Highlights of 2019”;
• the section “GRAMMER Image Section”;
• the section “Report of the Supervisory Board”;
• the section “GRAMMER Share”;
• the section “Financial Calendar 2019 and  

Trade Fair Dates”.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements 
and on the group management report do not cover the 
other information, and consequently we do not express 
an opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.
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In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in so doing, to consider 
whether the other information

• is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, with the group management 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

• otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

resPOnsibilities OF the execUtive directOrs  
and the sUPervisOry bOard FOr the  
cOnsOlidated Financial statements and the  
grOUP management rePOrt
The executive directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315e (1) HGB, and that 
the consolidated financial statements, in compliance 
with these requirements, give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial 
performance of the Group. In addition, the executive 
directors are responsible for such internal control as they 
have determined necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
the executive directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They 
also have the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern. In addition, they are 
responsible for financial reporting based on the going 
concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention 
to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is 
no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the group management report that, 
as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s 
position and is, in all material respects, consistent with 
the consolidated financial statements, complies with 
German legal requirements, and appropriately presents 
the opportunities and risks of future development. In 
addition, the executive directors are responsible for 
such arrangements and measures (systems) as they 
have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a 
group management report that is in accordance with the 
applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to 
provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the assertions 
in the group management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
and of the group management report. 

aUditOr’s resPOnsibilities FOr the aUdit  
OF the cOnsOlidated Financial statements  
and OF the grOUP management rePOrt
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and whether the group management report 
as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s 
position and, in all material respects, is consistent 
with the consolidated financial statements and the 
knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the 
German legal requirements and appropriately presents 
the opportunities and risks of future development, as 
well as to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions on the consolidated financial statements and 
on the group management report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with Sec. 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in 
compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards 
for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the 
Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect 
a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements and this 
group management report. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ment of the consolidated financial statements 
and of the group management report, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements and of arrangements 
and measures (systems) relevant to the audit 
of the group management report in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
these systems; 
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used by the executive directors and the 
reasonableness of estimates made by the executive 
directors and related disclosures; 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive 
directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements and in the group management report 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our respective opinions. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to be able to continue as a going concern; 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements present the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that the consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the assets liabilities, finan-
cial position and financial performance of the 
Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
EU and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315e (1) HGB; 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express 
opinions on the consolidated financial statements 
and on the group management report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinions;

• Evaluate the consistency of the group manage-
ment report with the consolidated financial 
statements, its conformity with [German] law, and 
the view of the Group’s position it providesM;

• Perform audit procedures on the prospective 
information presented by the executive directors 
in the group management report. On the basis of 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, 
in particular, the significant assumptions used 
by the executive directors as a basis for the 
prospective information, and evaluate the proper 
derivation of the prospective information from 
these assumptions. We do not express a separate 
opinion on the prospective information and on the 
assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial 
unavoidable risk that future events will differ 
materially from the prospective information;

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with the relevant 
independence requirements, and communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and 
where applicable, the related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter.
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Other legal and regUlatOry reqUirements

FUrther inFOrmatiOn PUrsUant tO article 10  
OF the eU aUdit regUlatiOn  
We were elected as auditor of the consolidated financial 
statements by the Annual General Meeting on 12 July 
2019. We were engaged by the Supervisory Board 
on 30  July 2019. We have been the group auditor of 
GRAMMER AG without interruption for at least 25 years. 
GRAMMER AG has been classified as a capital market-
oriented company as defined by Sec. 264d HGB since 
fiscal year 1996.

We declare that the opinions expressed in this 
auditor’s report are consistent with the additional report 
to the audit committee in accordance with Art. 11 of the 
EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report). 

In addition to the financial statement audit, we have 
provided to group entities the following services that are 
not disclosed in the consolidated financial statements or 
in the group management report: 

• Support services as component auditor for the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
Ningbo Jifeng Auto Parts Co., Ltd. (China);

• Advisory and support services with regard to the 
planning of central processes and systems in the 
supply chain environment.

german PUblic aUditOr resPOnsible FOr the 
engagement 
The German Public Auditor responsible for the engage-
ment is Oliver Sieger.” 

resPOnsibility statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with 
the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of 
the Group, and the Group Management Report includes 
a fair review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Group, together with 
a description of the principal opportunities and risks 
associated with the expected development of the Group. 

Amberg, March 9, 2020 

GRAMMER AG
The Executive Board



172

GRAMMER   AnnuAl REpoRt 2019

GRammeR GRoup multi-yeaR oveRview

grammer grOUP mUlti-year Overview in accoRdance with ifRs

 

in eUr m

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Group revenue 2,038.5 1,861.3 1,786.5 1,695.5 1,425.7

Automotive Division revenue 1,479.8 1,312.6 1,291.2 1,270.8 1,008.1

Commercial Vehicles Division revenue 607.4 599.8 540.2 473.6 458.4

Income Statement

Gross profit 231.4 211.8 215.1 198.7 152.1

EBIT 74.5 48.7 66.5 73 42.7

EBIT margin (in %) 3.7 2.6 3.7 4.3 3.0

Financial result -20.4 -14.3 -10.6 -10.3 -6.9

Earnings before taxes 63.6 34.5 55.9 62.7 35.7

Income taxes -20.1 -11.3 -23.5 -17.5 -11.9

Net profit 43.5 23.2 32.4 45.2 23.8

Consolidated statement of financial position

Total assets 1,474.4 1,441.4 1,107.0 1,050.6 992.1

Non-current assets 825.6 696.3 372.3 379.6 373.7

Current assets 648.8 745.1 734.6 671.0 618.4

Equity 342.2 314.8 337.7 271.2 253.4

Equity ratio (in %) 23 22 31 26 26

Net financial liabilities 285.0 253.3 92.2 139.1 155.5

Statement of Cash Flows

Capital expenditure (without M&A and financial assets) 132.8 73.9 59.1 56.2 47.9

Depreciation and amortization 85.3 52.3 49.5 47.2 40.5

Cash inflow/outflow from operating activities 124.0 143.6 69.2 85.8 28.8

Employees

Annual average 14,910 13,439 12,483 12,144 10,995

Domestic employees 3,227 3,315 3,201 3,170 2,457

Non-domestic employees 11,683 10,124 9,282 8,974 8,538

Personnel costs 486.3 425.2 375.4 352.4 301.8

Share data

Prices (Xetra closing price in EUR) 31.95 37.70 51.85 47.55 27.32

Market capitalization (EUR m) 402.8 475.3 653.7 548.9 315.4

Dividend (EUR) 0.11 1 0.75 1.25 1.30 0.75

Earnings per share (EUR) 3.56 1.90 2.67 4.01 2.10

1 Proposed. 

2 Adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49, see Note 4 in the 2016 annual report Business combinations. 

3 Adjusted in accordance with IFRS 3.49, see Note 4. Business combinations. 
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AnnuAl FinAnciAl StAtEMEntS
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial statements OF grammer ag
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financial statements of GRammeR aG
GRAMMER AG’s results of operations

grammer ag’s resUlts OF OPeratiOns

grammer aktiengesellschaFt  statement OF incOme1 FOr the year FrOm JanUary 1 tO december 31

eUr k

2019 2018

Revenue 670,653 692,885

Increase in inventories of finished goods and work in progress -2,562 -24,192

Other own work capitalized 45 64

Other operating income 17,612 12,141

Total revenues 685,748 680,898

Cost of materials 527,327 528,316

Personnel costs 92,987 106,194

Depreciation and amortization 7,897 8,472

Other operating expenses 84,903 91,019

Earnings before taxes -27,366 -53,103

Net investment income  
-of which from affiliated companies EUR 13,044 thousand (2018: EUR 13,988 thousand) 13,044 13,988

Income from profit transfer agreements 
-of which from affiliated companies EUR 37,881 thousand (2018: EUR 54,189 thousand) 37,881 54,189

Income from other securities and loans of financial assets 
-of which from affiliated companies EUR 5,573 thousand (2018: EUR 3,938 thousand) 5,926 4,272

Other interest and similar income 
-of which from affiliated companies EUR 565 thousand (2018: EUR 384 thousand) 
-of which from discounting EUR 28 thousand (2018: EUR 87 thousand) 869 709

Impairment of financial assets and securities held as current assets 421 7

Expenditure from the absorption of loss 
-of which from affiliated companies EUR 2,508 thousand (2018: EUR 3,342 thousand) 2,508 3,342

Interest and similar expenses 
-of which to affiliated companies EUR 84 thousand (2018: EUR 67 thousand) 
of which discount factor unwind EUR 8,008 thousand (2018: EUR 7,467 thousand) 20,468 16,418

Income taxes 1,408 925

Net profit 5,549 -637

Other taxes 226 119

Net profit for the year (2018: net loss for the year) 5,323 -756

Profit carried forward from the previous year 32,351 42,315

Unappropriated surplus 37,674 41,559

1 Financial statements prepared in accordance with German GAAP (HGB).
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Net assets of GRAMMER AG

net assets OF grammer ag

grammer aktiengesellschaFt statement OF Financial POsitiOn1 as OF december 31 OF the resPective Fiscal year

assets

eUr k

2019 2018

A. Non-current assets

I. Intangible assets 14,702 15,757

II. Property, plant and equipment 74,642 38,775

III. Financial assets 522,928 546,787

612,272 601,319

B. Current assets

I. Inventories 66,762 70,368

II. Receivables and other assets 145,041 141,640

III. Cash at bank and in hand 37,350 104,685

249,153 316,693

C. Prepaid expenses 2,240 2,437

Total assets 863,665 920,449

eqUity and liabilities

eUr k

2019 2018

A. Equity

I. Subscribed capital 32,274 32,274

   Notional amount of treasury stock -845 -845

Issued capital (Contingent capital EUR 0 thousand; 2018: EUR 12,057 thousand) 0 31,429

II. Capital reserve 131,931 131,931

III. Retained earnings 94,484 94,484

IV. Unappropriated profit 37,674 41,559

295,518 299,403

B. Provisions

1. Provisions for retirement benefits 77,678 72,167

2. Tax provisions 447 362

3. Other provisions 19,600 23,951

97,725 96,480

C. Liabilities

1. Liabilities to banks 415,682 438,525

2. Prepayments received 0 414

3. Trade accounts payable 26,499 28,321

4. Liabilities to affiliated companies 22,547 45,264

5. Liabilities to companies in which an equity interest is held 502 0

6. Other liabilities 5,192 12,042

470,422 524,566

Total assets 863,665 920,449

1 Financial statements prepared in accordance with German GAAP (HGB).
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financial calendaR 2020

Financial calendar FOr 20201

imPOrtant dates FOr sharehOlders and analysts

Annual Report 2019 March 30, 2020

Analyst and financial press conference March 30, 2020

Quarterly statement 1st quarter of 2020 April 29, 2020

Annual general meeting 2020 
Venue: ACC (Amberger Congress Centrum), 92224 Amberg July 8, 2020

Interim Report, 2nd quarter and 1st half of 2020 August 13, 2020

Quarterly Statement 3rd quarter of 2020 October 29, 2020

1 All dates are tentative and subject to change. Subject to change without notice.
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